for a sustainable future

:; KELLER Building the foundations

Annual Report and Accounts 2021

*AB7PYZ(HH*
A18 #41

07/07/2022
COMPANIES HOUSE

THURSDAY



Kelier Group plc

Resilient delivery

Contents

Strategicreport

1 Highlights

2  Ataglance

4 Investment case

6  Chairman's statement

16 Our market

12 Business model

14 Chief Executive Officer's review

18 Our strategy

20 North America

22 Europe

24  Asia-Pacific, Middle Fast and Africa (AMEA}
26 Chief Financial Officer's review

32  Principal risks and uncertainties

42 ESG and sustainability

66 Non-financial reporting statement

Governance
68 Chairrman's introduction
70 Board of Directors
72 Executive Committee
74  Boardleadership and purpose
76 Section 172 statement
78 Governance framework
82 Board composition, succession
and evaluation
84 Environment Cormmittee report
86 Sodial and Community Cormmittes report
88 Nomination and Governance Committee
report
90 Audit and Risk Committee report
96 Annual staterent from the Chair
of the Remuneration Committee
98 Remunerationin context
100 Remuneration at a glance
102 Annual rermuneration report
112 Directors' report
115 Statement of Directors' responsibilities

Financial statements

116 Independent auditor's report to
the members of Keller Group plc

127 Consolidated income statement

128 Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

129 Consolidated balance sheet

130 Consclidated statement of
changes in equity

131 Consolidated cash flow statement

132 Notes to the consolidated financial
staterments

175 Company balance sheet

176 Company statement of changes in equity

177 Notes to the company financial
statements

Other information
185 Adjusted performance measures
188 Financial record

Every day, people around

the world live, work and play on
ground prepared by Keller, the
world’s largest geotechnical
specialist contractor.

Whatever the size of the project,
we have the people, expertise,
experience and financial stability
to respond quickly with the
optimum solution, execute it
safely and seeit throughto a
successful conclusion.

keller.com/investors
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Group highlights

E2,224.4m

Revenue
(2020: £2,062.5m}

E1.3bn

Order book
{2020: £1.0bn)

30%

E92.8m

Underlying operating profit
{2020: €£110.1m)

16%

E62.1m

Statutory profit after tax
{2020: £41.1m)

51%

4. 2%

Underlying operating margin
(2020:5.3%)

110bps

E1194m

Net debt!
(2020 £120.9m}

1%

33.4p

55.9p

8% Ne change
Diluted underlying earnings per share Dividend
{2020:56.3p} {2020:35.9p)
- - L] L]
Financial highlights
Underlying Statutory
z021 2020 2021 2020
Operating profit (Em) 92.8 110.1 80.5 77.0
Operating margin (%} 4.2 53 3.6 37
Return on capital ermnployed (%) 14.4 16.4 12.5 11.5
Profit after tax (Em) 63.8 68.6 62.1 41.1
Net debt (Em) 115.47 1209 193.32 192.5°

1

Nat dakht i€ An a rrvenant kacie Racanciliatinn ta etatitorg nombers s satr oot intha adincted narfarmanca measi rec sachan nnnane 1745



02 Keller Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2021 Strategic Report

At a glance

At its simplest, we get ground ready to build on, providing
solutions to geotechnical challenges across the entire
construction sector. We have the people, expertise,
experience and financial stability to respond quickly

and see projects through safely and successfully.

L I

= ad ol
1860 c10,000 |25
established / employees / acquisitions since 2000 /

Our purpose Our vision
Building the foundations To be the leading provider of

for a sustainable future. specialist geotechnical solutions.

Strategy

To be the preferred international geotechnical

specialist contractor focused on sustainable W - bolanced portfolio 4 Cperational excellence
markets and attractive projects generating

sustained value for our stakeholders. v Engineered solutions 4 Expertise and scale
Ourlocal businesses willleverage the Group's S Formore information

scale and expertise to deliver engineered Seeprgels

solutions and operational excellence,
driving market share leadership in our
selected segments.

Our values

Qur values are what we have judged as most
important to how we wark with cclleagues
and customers across the globe.
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What we do Our organisation

Using our industry-leading portfolic
of techniques, our engineers can
design the best solutions that
reduce materials, cost and time

for our clients.

For more information

Seepage 12
Deep Grouting Earth ” North America F Europe ¥ AMEA
foundations retention (Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africal
North-East Central Europe ASEAN
South-East North-East Europe Austral
Florida South-East Eurcpe and india
Central Nordics Keller Australia
West South-West Europe Middle East and Africa
K
Canada Y E For more information
Ground Marine Instrumentation Specialty Services For more information Seepage 24
. . . N Seepage 22
improvement and monitoring Moretrench Industrial
Suncoast
For morainformation
Seepage 20
Post-tension Industrial
systems services

19 6,000 £25kto £10m £375k

business units contracts executed typicalrange in average project value
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Resilient
revenues

» Operating globally in a number of
sectors gives us the resilience to trade
through national cyclicality

» Good access to all markets with no
overweight exposure

« Geopoliticaily secure

Diverse geographies (2021}
Q 20 40 60 20 100

W North America M Curope N AMEA

Diverse market sectors {2021):
Q 20 40 60 80 100

B \nfrastructure/ Public buildings
B Power/Industrial B Office/Commercial

W Residential B Marine
Diverse products (2021):
0 20 40 60 80 100

B DeepFoundations
M EarthRetention
W Marine

M Post-tensioning

M Specialty grouting
I Groundimprovement

W instrumentation and
montoring

Diverserange of contract values (2021);
0 20 a0 60 80 100

W Below £250k
W £imtoesm

B £250ktoflm
M Abovefsm

Diverse number of contracts
by value [2021):

[ ]
0 20 40 &0 80 100

W Below 250k
B fimtoEsm

M £250kto€lm
M Abovetsm

Firm foundations

Sustainable
margins

Specialist project profile

» Geotechnical solutions: niche
sub-sectar with operating margins
of 5%+ (10-year average)

+» Typically geotechnical contracting is
around 0.5% of the construction market

Operating margin
Keller has a higher margin versus
general contractors (10-year average)

8%
]

2%

Keller5% Generalcontractors 0.9%

Keller versus general contractor -
business model

Keller ground General construction

engineering » Longer, larger

» Early stage projects

« Lower cyclicality » Natonal focus

- Speciahst design + Higher cyclicality
capability « Integration

- A mix of cortracts of multiple

- Higher margin suppliers and

subcontractors

+ Resource base
+ Positive working
capital

Low asset base

Lowto negative
waorking capital

Market Size=Room to grow

£35bn £2bn

Global geotechnical Keller today
contracting market

Proprietary equipment and specialist skills

+ World's largest equipment fleet with flexibility
to move between markets to match focal
dermand

+ 1.500 geotechnical engineers; over 200
focused purely on gesign

~ 50% of projects are ‘design and bulld” where
value engineering can reduce cost by up to
40% and save time

+ Manufacturing and servicing of our own
equipment where there is competitive

Cash
generative

Inherently strong cash flow characteristics

£260m 140%

£0 0%
2012 2021

[ Netcashfromoperaung activites
before non-underlyingiterns

M UnderyngERBITOA I Cashconversion

= 10-year cash conversion rate of 100%

= 10-year aggregate underlying EBITDA
of £1.610m

« 10-year aggregate cash from operations
before non-undertying tems of €1,618m

Robust asset backed balance sheet

with significant funding headroom

Balance sheet strength

+ Strongwaorking capital controls aligned to
performance targets

+ Historically strong cash conversion

Comparisonto general contractor

« Virtually no advance/prepayments received
from customers

» High volume short duration contracts

+ Mimimalinventory

Clientrisk management

« Large and geggraphically/industry diverse
client base

« Thorough credit review process and strong
customer relationships

« Creditinsurance cover

Creditrating

« NAIC 2c rating lequivalent to lnvestment Grade}

Quality lender base and strong liquidity

- £375mRCF funding

- $75m US Private Placement

- £76m other borrowing facilities

27 years of uninterrupted dividend
payments sincelisting
Dividend per share (p)

44
CAGR8%

0
1994 2021
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Sustainable future
Favourable Focused Strong
market trends strategy governance

s Conslruction sector relevant
post-COVID

« Growing urbanisation
« Growinginfrastructure spend
+ Increased focus on ESG

« Urbanisation and renewal demand
more sophisticated solutions

— Peopulation growth and aging infrastructure

— Larger taller structures requiring
techrically demanding foundations

— Crampedinner-city construction
requiring inncvative and sustainability
technigues

— Geotechnical scluticns key to
development potential of brownfield sites

We operate in nearly all major
metropolitan areas around the world
and have the resources and skills to
deliver to this scale and complexity.

To be the preferred international
geotechnical specialist contractor focused
on sustainable markets and attractive
projects, generating long term value for
our stakeholders

QOur local businesses will leverage the
Group's scale and expertise to deliver
engineered sclutions and operational
excellence, driving market share
leadership in our selected segments

Strong Board and experienced
management

Diverse and experienced teams in
place for next phase of growth

Board

- Seepages 70,71 and 82
for Board experience

+ Four nationalities

+ 57% female representation

Executive Cornmittee

- Seepages 72 and 73 for Executive
Committee experience

« Five nationalities

» 18% fermale representation

Our objectives

Balanced portfolio

We select sustainable markets (geography,
sector and products) in which to set up base
businesses, and attractive projects

Engineered solutions
We offer the best selutions to our customers

by providing alternatives and value engineering,

and invest in innovation and digitisation

Industry leading health and safety
performance (See pages 58 to 61)

Accident frequency rate

1.2
OIIIIII...ﬂ

2012 2021

Operational excellence

We are the operational leader providing
safe, efficient, on-time and high quality
delivery and relentiessky strive to improve
our operational capability

Expertise and scale

We develop our people, pracesses and assets

and leverage tha global strength of our

technical, operational, commercial and
FAmameial rmm -

Sustainability — our definition and focus
(See page 42 for our ESG and
sustainability report)
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Chairman’s statement

Peter Hill CBE

44

2021 demonstrated the remarkable
resilience of our company, this
stands us in good stead for 2022

and the years ahead.

Add

Strategic Report

Aresilient year

Keller undoubtedly proved its resiiience in 2021,

overcoming the many challenges posed by

COVID-19 whilst further rationalising the '
business portfolio, completing a number of '
bolt-on acquisitions, delivering another strong
set of results which were ahead of market
expectations and maintaining the dividend.

This time last year, the world was gripped by the

challenges of the global pandemic, and we were '
correct when we said that the late cycle nature .
of vur business made us cautious about the '
associated short-term economic impact as

we want into 202 1. Whilst the pandemic

continued to impact the Group during the year, .
we successfully navigated our way through a ,
myriad of challenges across our geographies,
protecting our emplcyees at the same time

as progressing our projects, large and small,
while still delivering on our strategy. We made
good progress during the year, delivering 2
strong financial perforrmance above market
expectations and demanstrating the resilience
of aur operating model,

Led and executed by cur leadership team, we
have made good progress delivering on our
strategy, to be the preferred international
geotechnical specialist contractor focused

on sustainable markets and attractive projects,
generating long-term value for our stakeholders.
We have made further strides inrationalising the
portfalio as well as a small number of attractive
bolt-on acquisitions that all help advance our
strategy. In what was operationally another
challengmg year, aur successes can be attributed
to ourleaders globally and their focus of leading
by example and employing our core values of
integrity, collaboration, a drive for results and
overall excellence. | would ke to thank our
exceptional pecple around the world, not onty for
their hard work, but alsc for their resilience and
determination which have ensured that we are
emerging stronger from the pandemic.

Keller continued to generate healthy cash flows
that we have re-invested In our business as well
as delvering sustainable cashreturns inthe form
af dividends to our shareholders
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Health, safety and wellbeing

The health, safety and wellbeing of our
employees is of utmost importance, and the
rigour that is deployed in this area is reflected

in our continued overall improving trends. The
Group's accident frequency rate {AFR) reduced
by 42% compared with 2020, and our AMEA
Division bad an outstanding year, achieving an
AFR of zero. We are very proud of our industry-
leading perforrmance and improving track record.

However, at the beginning of the year, a tragic
fatality occurred following an accident onasite in
Austriain which we lost a long-serving and valued
employee. Whilst it has been determined Keller
was not at fault for the accident, the incident has
caused us to redouble cur efforts and we have
continued to advance our safety programmes.

The global COVID-19 pandemic continued to
create operaticnal challenges in 2021. The
Group has actively encouraged and supported
employees to become vaccinated against
COVID-19 wherever possible. However, I'm
greatly saddened that as a Group we have lost
eight colleagues due to COVID-19 related iiness.
Whilst we believe none of these cases were
related to the workplace, we have taken great
care in supporting the families through their
tereavements. The vaccination status of those
that have died is consistent with the external
tenchmark globally and supports our active
approach to encourage our workforce in
becoming vaccinated.

Inrecognition of the benefit of free vaccination
that many of the Group's employees and their
families have received from their national
governments, the Board approved a funding
contribution of £300,000 to UNICEF's COVID-19
Vaccines Appeal. This amount approximately
equates to the cost of vaccinating the Keller
workforce and their immediate families andis
helping UNICEF deliver 1.9 billion doses of
vaccines for frontline health workers, social
workers, teachers and those at highest risk.

In an ever-changing world, it has never been
more important to support employee health and
wellbeing. We recognise this and therefore
taunched our first-ever Wellbeing Foundations,
which helps our business units support and
develop the body, mind, community, growth

and financial security wellbeing of our
employees worldwide.

Building on our Environmental,
Social and Governance {(ESG) agenda

As the Director responsible for ESG and
sustainability on the Board, | am passionate and
committed to this topic. To reflect the growing
importance of ESG matters and to provide
greater focus and oversight, we announced in
July that the Board had established two new
Board Committees: the Environment Committee
and the Social and Community Committee.

In addition, the Audit and the Nomination
Committees were renamed the Audit and Risk
Committee and the Nomination and Governance

Section 172 statement
and Code compliance

The Directors have acted to promote the
success of the company for the benefit of
shareholders, whilst having regard to the
matters listed in section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006 during 2021.

In addition, the Board and the company
fully applied the principles and complied
with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code.

Committee respectively, to better reflect
their remits. Further detail with regard to the
membership and terms of reference for these
Committees can be found on page 78.

For more information
Seepages 69and 76

We define ESG and sustainability accerding to
our four Ps: Planet, People, Principles, and
Profitable preojects. Beneath each P we have a
nurriber of global and local initiatives aligned to
the UN Sustainable Cevelopment Goals (SDGs).
These provide a common language for us to
communicate sustainability initiatives to our
stakehoiders worldwide_ In terms of global
initiatives, under Planet we focus on carbon
reduction (SDG 13}, under People, we focus on
safety (SDG 3) and gender equality (SDG 5); and
under Principles we focus on good governance
(SDG 16). In addition there are a number of other
SDG initiatives that are being supported at local
business level that are relevant and appropriate
to their community context. Further detail can be
found onpage 42.

Importantly, in respect of carbon reduction,

we have set ambitious and achievable net zero
targets by 2050. We believe that carbon targets
are essential to mitigate global climate-related
risks while we pursue climate-related
opportunities in our cperations and contracts.
We divide our emission targets using the scopes
set out in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. We will
be net zero across all three emission scopes by
2050; net zerc on Scope 2 by 2030, net zero on
Scope 1 by 2040 and net zero by 2050 on
Operational Scope 3. We have begun
implementing the short, medium and long-term
actions required to achieve these goals, helping
the Group live up to its purpose of ‘building the
foundations for a sustainable future’ Our full
report on ESG and sustainabllity is set out on
pages 42 to 65.
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Strategic Report

We have many ongoing initiatives under our
People agenda. Having launched our Inclusion
Commitments, our focus in 2021 was on giving
our teams the understanding and the means 1o
contrnbuie to our aspiration to become a diverse,
equitable and inclusive workplace.

Animportant part of good governance s
listening to and understanding the views of our
stakeholders. Towards the end of the year we
commissioned a third party to undertake an
independent audit of a number of investment
managers. The outcome has nat only enabled
the Board ta obtain a deeperievel of
understanding of the views of our sharehoiders
and potentialinvestors, but also gives the
Executive management additional nput as they
formulate the strategy for the medium term.
We will repeat the exercise in the future so that
we can maintain a momenturn of continuous
improvement and monitor our progress.

Developing our Board

Whenlarrivedin 2016, { set out an ambition

to have a Board from mutiple industries and
geographies that had varied and valuable
experiences as well as gender and ethnic diversity.
We have achieved that goal. | believe that different
viewpoints and experiences ensure that better
informed decsions are made when applying
judgementsin challenging circurmstances. We have
made great strides in achieving a diverse Board,
particularly in respect of fernale representation
which will stand at 43% foliowing the AGM.

44

We have met or exceeded the diversity targets we
set ourselves in the Board's Diversity Policy and as
recommended by the Harmpton-Alexander and
Parker Reviews, which set targets of a 33% fernale
share of Board Directors by 2020 and a minimum
of one Board Director frorm an ethnic rminority
background by 2022,

On 1 February, we announced the appointment
of Juan G. Herndndez Abrarns, wha has joined
the Board as an nidependent Non-executive
Director and will be Chair of the Environment
Committee. His biography is set out onpage 70,
Juan brings rich and diverse experience to the
Board and I warmiy welcome him to Kelier,

On behalf of the Board twould tike to pay trioute
to Nancy Tuor Moore for her significant
contribution since joining the Boardas a
Non-executive Director in 2014 and her valuable
input at various committees ~ the Audit,
Nomination, Remuneration and Workforce
Fngagernent and Chair of the Health, Safety,
Ervironment and Quality Committee. The Board
and the wider Group have benefitted greatly
from her extensive knowledge and experience,
particularty of the US engineering and
construction sector, and we wish her well.

Maintaining the dividend

We are all very proud of our dividend history
and recognise its importance to shareholders.
Even through very challenging times we have
consistently increased or maintained the
dividend over the last 27 years since first listing
onthe London Stock Exchange, one of only a
few UK listed companies to have achieved this.

We are very proud of our dividend history,
we have consistently increased or
maintained the dividend over the last

27 years since first listing on the London
Stock Exchange, one of only a few UK
listed companies to have achieved this.

44

The centinuation of dividend payments during
the challenging macro environment of 2020
and 2021 reflected the financial strength of the
Group, its significant liquidity position and the
longer-term confidence in the performance

of the business. As we advance through 2022
the Board will review recommencing a
progressive dividend.

The Board s recommending the payment of @
2021 final dividend of 23.3p per share (2020:
23.3p per share} to be paid on 1 July 2022 to
shareholders on the register as at the close of
business on b June 2022.

Peter Hill CBE
Chairman

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for 1ssug on 7 March 2022.
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Case study

Cutting carbon on Europe’s largest project

Keller is trialling carbon reduction measures
on HS2, the next phase of the UK's
high-speed rail network and Europe's
largest infrastructure project,

Improvements include running static plant
with electricity where possible rather than
diesel and replacing diesel with hydrotreated
vegetable oil (HVO) in several drilling rigs.
HVO can be used in regular diesel engines
and reduces CQ, by a massive 30%.

Another carbon saving has come from
optimising the design of some of the
foundational elements to reduce the use of
cerment, which has a large carbon footprint.
The teamreduced the thickness of the
diaphragmwall panels from 1.2mto 1m,

withan it FAmrramicina Analite Thic alen bhod

The team has alsc reduced cement
consumption when grouting rock fissures
ahead of bored pile and diaphragm walt
construction. Instead of using microfine
cement grout to reduce permeability, they
used a cement bentonite grout and onty
targeted the largest fissures where leakage
cf the bentonite support fluid was arisk. This
meant much less cement was used overall.

Where Keller is installing large-diameter bored
piles, the team has found ways to recycle and
reuse waste bentonite, drastically reducing the
amount going to landfill and the associated
carbon emissions of transportation.

All the lessons learnt frorm these trials have
been captured in a carbon reduction guide.

Thic will ha charad itk tha aidar nraanicatinn

4 4

As alarge-scale, long-term project,
with a sustainability-focused client,
HS52 provides the perfect
opportunity to explore various
carbon-reduction methods.
Sharing the lessons learnt will

help inform our colleagues on
other projects around the world
what is possible.”

David De Sousa Neto
Deputy UK Managing Director
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Our purpose is to build the
foundations for a sustainable future.

While we are the world's largest geotechnical specialist contractor,
we still have potential to grow our market share in our chosen
regions. Our business units are designed to understand their local
markets whilst leveraging the Group’s scale and expertise. This
combination delivers the engineered solutions and operaticnal
excellence that drive market leadership.

A strong position but
plenty of rocmto grow

[

Global geotechnical
contracting market
£35bn

2. Addresszable markets
£22hn

3. Core markets where
we choose to operate
£16bn

Ead

Keller today
E2bn

Non-addressable markets are mainly China,
North and South Korea, Japan and Russia.

1US0=0.75GBP
Global construction market €8,500bn 2020

Share of addressable market £22bn?

Keller
Soletanche/Backhy/Menard
Baver (contracting)
Trevilcantracting}

General contracting-owned

Countryfregionalspecific,
smaller players

Market potential

Variety of projects
and sectors

6,000

projects peryear

Gur projects are spread across all
construction sectors and vary in scale,
iocation, enduse and geatechnical
technique. Project value is typically
between £25k and £10m, usually short
duration and with an average value

of £375,000.

Diverse global market

13%

market share in core markets

Operating giobally in differing countries
and across the construction sectars,
from residential to infrastructure, gives
us the resilience to trade through
national cyclicality. The gestechnical
market is estimated” to be around

£ 35bn waorldwide, which includes China,
Japan, Korea and other regions of the
world where we are not prasent. inthe
countries where we choose to operate
our core markets are arcund £ 16bn.
We choose to operate in sustainable
markets that appreciate the value of the
products and services Keller provides,
have a consistent material demand for
those services, and an acceptable level
of risk. With an annual turnover of more
than £2bn, we have a 13% share of
those core markets today, and plenty
of opportunity to secure greater
market share.
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Diverse customer base

3%

revenue from largest customer

We have a large client spread which
means were not overlyrelianton a
few customers. We have many repeat
customers and, consistent with the
prior year, in 2021 our largest
customer represented 3% of the
Group's revenue. We mostly serve as
a subcentractor working for a general
contractor; however, sometimes we
also contract directly with ultimate
client organisations.

Fragmented competition

£22bn

addressable markets

We have three types of competitor.
Type one is the global gectechnical
contractor, of which there are three,
but net all are present in all markets.
Type twa 15 general contracting-
owned. Type three is local
competition with low overheads
operating in a small region.

Niche sub-sector

4.2%

Keller's underlying operating
rmargin {(2020: 5.3%)

Geotechnical specialist contracting
is animportant but niche sub-sector
that cormmands higher margins than
general construction, Typically
geotechnical contracting is areund
0.5% of the construction market.

Our sectors

Share of our 2021 revenue

Infrastructure/public builldings 36%
Powerfindustrial 21%
Residents=l 21%
Officefcommercial 20%
Marine 2%

Favourable market trends

Despite the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
long-term trends in the global construction market
rernain positive. Qur Group strategy is designed tc

capitalise onthese trends.

Infrastructure renewal

As populaticns grow and
infrastructure ages, there's an
imperative to invest in new and greater
capacity. Geotechnical solutions are
often complex and sophisticated and
large-scale and cramped metropolitan
environments can present additional
technical challenges. We have the
resources and skills to deliver to this
scale and complexity, a reputaticn for
delivery and the proven ability to team
up successfully with cur customers
and partners.

Demand for complete solutions

Geotechnical solutions increasingly
require muitiple products. Our broad
preduct portfolic ensures we can
design an effective and efficient
solution while cur project management
capabilities mean we can integrate
other subcontractors and deliver
‘turnkey’ contracts. This reduces

the number of interfaces for aur
customers to manage and reduces risk.

Technical complexity

The construction market is becoming
more digital and sites are increasing in
sophistication and complexity, We
have a strong history of innovation.

We leverage our in-house equipment

systems to control and record our
processes, and share Infarmation
with our customers and the rest of
the supply chain. We canintegrate
instrumentation and monitering
solutions and are Building Information
Madelling (BIM} capable.

Urbanisation

As cities expand they require more
sophisticated solubtions. Larger, taller
structures need more technically
demanding foundations to withstand
the building loads and provide
resilience against climate change and
acts of nature such as rising water
levels or earthquakes. We have a
comprehensive network of regional
offices located in major metropolitan
areas. This local presence keeps us
close to our customers and the
oppoertunities.

Development land shortage

Thereis a desire tc convert maore
brownfield and marginal land.
Geatechnical solutions are at the fore
in releasing the development potential
of otherwise sterile or derelict areas.
Cur world-feading geotechnical
engineering team, broad portfolic and
near shore marine capability, mean we
can cope with the most complex
challenges when working on
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We are at the beginning of
the construction cycle and
often one of the first
contractors on site.

Getting the project ‘aut of the ground'is critical to our customers in controfling the
early phases of the project, managing risks, saving time and money, and providing
a sound platfarm for the remaining work.

We often assist in the design and development phase with our customers, providing
value engineering input and advising on construction processes.

Qur products and services are not used just for foundations, they are also used for
other appiications including earth retention, urban redeveloprment and near shore
marine structures.

Our key resources
and relationships

What we need to make our business model waork

How we create and capture value

Qur people

QOur track record of successful projects is only possible
because of the passion, commitment and enthusiasm of the

10,000 people who work for Keller worldwide. With extensive

product knowledge and a deep understanding of their local
markets, custorners and ground conditions, our teams are
empowered to make decisions 'close to the ground’ This is
a significant motivator which enables us to attract and retain
some of the industry's best talent. Gnce peopie choose

to join us, they generally choose to stay, many for their
entire career.

Qur customers

QOur network of branches ensures that we build strong, local
relationships with our customers that give us insight into
market developments and help us stay responsive and
competitive. We aim to engage from the earliest stage of a
project so we can apply our engineering expertise to drive for
high-value solutions that reduce the cost for clients, whilst
improving our own profitability.

QOur technology

We have a market-leading portfolio of products and services
backed with full Computer Aided Design [CAD) and Buiding
Information Madeling {BiM) capability. We have a fleet

comprising more than 1,200 rigs and cranes and the flexibiiity

to move equipment between markets to match focal
demand. We also manufacture and service our own specialist
equipment which provides us with a competitive advantage
in particular product streams,

Our market focus

Targeting profitable markets that value geotechnical
solutions generates long-term value for our stakehalders.

Our financial strength

Our strong balance sheet and cash generation allow us to
maintain key resources through the market cycle, reinvest
for growth and maintain shareholder distributions.

What we do

Qur Project Lifecycie
Management (PLM)
Standard ensures that
we mplement adequate
procedures, reviews and
controls at all phases of
the project iifecycle.

v

Opportunity
identification ’

Proposal
preparation ’

« Ourlocal businesses
close to their
markets and with
enduring custormer
relationships identify
demand.

« Aglobal network
supports cross-
border coliaboration
on opportunities
{espedidlly important
for major projects).

Project Lifecycie Management

What differentiates us?

Clobai strength and local focus

Locaifocus

- Our unrivalied branch network and
knowledge of local markets and
ground conditions means we re
ideally placed to understand and
respong 1o a particular local

engineering challenge.

« Design engineers
and cost estimators
with local ground
knowledge and
capacity create
optimurn solutions.

A significant portion
of work is won based
on design and build
tenders.

Supported by a
global network who
assist with solution
development.

Global strength

« Qur global knowledge base allows us
1o tap into a wealth of expenence, and
the brightest minds in the industry,
to find the optimum solution, often
combining multiple products. This

improves resuits for customers and
prafitability for Keller,
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The value created

Long-term sustainable value
Feedback

Contract Project
’ > andlearning

agreement execution

Employees

+ Commercial teams

« Product-specific

« Project leaderslap

trained in elevant operations teams, secures client « Commitment to provide a safe workplace and promote mental
local laws set up often using sign-off and health and wellbeing
contracts. specialist payment. _ ) . . . i .
- - Adiverse, inclusive environment in which employees can thrive
equipment, deliver . Lessons learnt . .
efficiently and regardless of background, identity and circumstances.

effectively (to are retainedand » Stable employment with opportunities to develop and progress,

transferredto the including internationally.

quality and rest of the Group.

schedule} and
respond te any
issues that arise.

Customers

fcontract

- A'one-stop shop' for cost-effective geotechnical solutions
reducing the interface risk for clients of deaiing with muitiple
suppliers.

+ In-depth knowledge of local markets and ground conditions
combined with a wealth of experience through our global
knowledge base.

+ Leading health, safety and environmental performance.

Shareholders

£25.9m

{totalpro uli-year dividend)

» Stable business with arobust balance sheet.
+ Inherently strong cash flow characteristics.
+ Aquality lender base and substantial facilities.

« A 27-year history of uninterrupted dividends.

The best solutions

- Through knowledge transfer,
development of existing and
acquisition of new techniques,
innovation and digitisaticn, cur
engineers have access to the
widest range of solutions to
solve challenges across the
entire construction sector.

We take a leadershiproleinthe
gectechnical industry with many
of cur team playing key roles in

rrefrecianal accnciakinne and

Safety and sustainability

+ Qur experience of project contracting
buitt over many decades, cormbined
with our Group scale, make us a trusted
and reliable partner.

We have a proven track record of cne
of the lowest accident frequency rates
inour inclustry.

We are commiitted to better understand
our contribution to sustainable
development and work collaborativety
with our customers and stakehclders

Continued growth opportunities.

Communities

B

[CDP score — above secter average)

Local employment opportunities, directly and indirectly.

Afocus on the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals

where we can have the greatest impact.

A commitment to reducing the carbon intensity of our work and

increasing the quality and granularity of our carbon reporting.

Farticipation in many community and charitable events locally.
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Chief Executive Officer's review

Michael Speakman

ry

In a year that has seen COVID-19 continue
to challenge our business in so many ways,

| am proud of how the Keller team have
worked together, demonstrating resilience
and agility in safeguarding our people, while
supporting the continuing performance and
development of our business.

Ad

Overview

In a year that has seen COVID- 19 continue to
challenge ourbusiness in so many ways. j arm
proud of how the Keller team have worked
together, dermonstrating resilience and agility
in safeguarding our people, while supporting
the continuing performance and development
of our business. We have had a successful year,
delivering financial results ahead of market
expectations and successfully executing our
strategy in very challenging market conditions.
We also made further progress in operational
safety with a 42% improverment in our overall
accident frequency rate.

As we predicted in the summer of 2020, the
effect of the COVID- 19 pandemic impacted
Keller most markedly in 2021, later than other
sectors, evidenced by reduced market demand
and an associated operating margin
compressian. We anticipated correctly the timing
of the inflection point marking the upturnin
demand at arcund the half way point in the year,
We delivered a stronger volume growth than
anticipated, particulary in the second half, with
significant centract wins and helped by
acquisitions, both of which will benefit
performance in 2022 However, our 2021
aperating profit was negatively impacted,
primarity by the COVID-19 adverse pressure

on market pricing and operational disruption
Although the Group has suffered higher material
and wage inflation, our businesses have been
largely successful in passing the majority of these
increased costs to our customers, with the
exception of steel strand in the Suncoast
High-Rise business.

Notwithstanding the tougher market conditions,
the Group delivered aresilient performance and
further significant strategic progress In the year.
continuing to bring more focus to the portfolic by
exiting non-core businesses and executing
several acquisitions that build our market share in
our chosen markets. We have continued the
progressive transformation of

the Group into a more efficient, more focused,
higher-quality business, with industry-leading
marging, achieving sustainable operational
delivery and cash generation. We expect {o see
further benefits from these in 2022, Our record
order hook, now standing at £1.3bn, also gives
us confidence for the future
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Financial performance

Group revenue was £2,224.4m, 13% up onthe
prior year on a constant currency basis, driven
by increased activity as markets began to
recover, particularly during the secondhalf,
with significant contract wins tegether with the
benefit of several belt-on acquisitions that are
expected 1o bonefit the bottomn ling in 2022,

Underlying operating profit decreased to
£92.8m, areduction of 10% at constant
currency, impacted primarily by the COVID-19
adverse pressure on market pricing and
cperational disruption across our businesses.
Although the Group has seen higher than
expected material and wage inflation, our
businesses have been largely successfulin
passing the majority of these increased costs
to our customers, with the exception of steel
strand inthe Suncoast High-Rise business.

InNorth America, disruption, supply chain issues
and labour availability caused adverse pressure
on prefitability, and these are expectedto ease
going forward. Qur Eurcpe Division recovered

in performance compared with 2020 and
benefitted particularly from large contract wins.
In AMEA, our Australia business was impacted
significantly by COVID-18 imposed travel
restrictions. Our Middle East and Africa business
also had an extremely tough year, largely due to
COVID-19, despite our successful claim on our
Mozambigue LNG contract. We are taking action
to improve profitability in that business in 2022.

As aresult of these factors, the underlying
operating margin was 4.2% compared with 5.3%
in 2020. We expect a recovery towards our
historical margin profilein 2022.

Underlying diluted earnings per share decreased
by 8% to 88.4p per share (2020: 56.3p per share),
reflecting a decrease in operating profit. This was
partially offset by lower financing cests and a
lower tax rate reflecting the recognition of a prior
year research and development tax credit

in North America.

Despite the increased working capital
requirement the growth in revenue demanded,
the Group continued to generate a strong cash
flow performance in the year. The free cash flow
funded all the acquisitions in the year and
marginally reduced the Group's net debt (on a
bank covenant IAS 17 basis) to £119.4m (2020:
£120.9m). This resulted in a net debt/EBITDA
leverage ratio of 0.8x (2020: 0.7x) (on a bank
covenant IAS 17 basis), comfortably within our
target range of 0.5x-1.5x and compared to our
covenant limit of 3.0x.

Operational performance

The market effects of COVID-19had a
significant impact on the business, particularly
early on in the year, with the macro uncertainty
driving customer hehavicur te halt or delay a
large number of projects. We anticipated
correctly the timing of the inflection point
marking the upturn in demand at arcund the
halfway pcint in the year. This was reflected in
our record order book at the year end of £1.3bn.
Whilst we delivered a stronger volume growth
than anticipated, particularly in the second half,
our operating profit was negatively impacted by
adverse pressure onmarket pricing and
operational disruption. Although the business
has suffered higher than expected materal and
wage inflation, our businesses have been largely
successfulin passing the majority of these
increased costs to our customers, with the
exception of steel strand in the Suncoast
High-Rise business.

In North America, led by Eric Drooff, President
North America, revenue increased by 15% (at
constant currency} to £1,323.1m and underlying
operating profit decreased by 5.6% {at constant
currency) to £73.0m, The first half performance
benefitted strongly frorn the resolution of a
historical claim, whilst trading activity generally
was impacted by the COVID- 19 slowdown in the
construction market. Business activity increased
as the year pregressed following the success of
vaccination and lockdown containment
prograrnmes. This led to increased business
confidence andimproved market demand.
Sunceast was impacted by the continued higher
cost of steet strand, partially mitigated by strong
demand from the residential single family home
market. The higher cost of steel strand has been
unprecedented and directly impacted the
profitability of the High-Rise segment during
the year given the market practice of fixed price
contracts. We expect the adverse impact on
profitability to unwind during 2022. North
American performance benefitted from the
inclusion of several acquisitions in the second
half of the year, the largest being RECON
Services, Inc (RECON]), a gectechnical and
industrial services company headquartered in
Houston, Texas. Similar to Keller's existing
Florida-based Moretrench Industrial business,
RECON is focused on environmental
remediation activities.

In Europe, led by Jirn De Waele, President Europe,

revenue increased by 5% {at constant currency)
to £549.2m and operating profit ncreased 38%
{at constant currency) to £24.3m. its markets
recovered during the course of the year with the
easing of COVID- 18 related shutdowns and
travel restrictions resulting in higher levels of

activity and contract perfermance. Performance
also benefitted from improved efficiencies on
site, cost savings following the restructuring
activity inthe previous year, as well as the
advancement of the large High Speed 2 (H52} rail
project inthe UK and Sandbukta-Moss-5astad
(SMS52) rail project in Norway. We compieted
further restructuring with the formation of the
new South West Europe Business Unit, further
streamlining the Europe Division. Inline with our
strategy, our joint venture in Finland, KFS Finland
Oy, acquired NordPile, a driven and drilling

piling contractor.

In AMEA (Asia-Pacific, Middie East and Africa),
led by Peter Wyton, President AMEA, revenue
increased by 20% (at constant currency) to

£352 1m, while operating profit decreased 77%
(at constant currency) te £3.4m. The division
was the mostimpacted by COVID-18 of all our
businesses during the year with countries and
regions, particularly Australia and the Middie
East and Africa, suffering lockdown restrictions
in advance of vaccination programmes.
Operational challenges caused by border
restrictions in Keller Australia, and a difficult
trading environment in the Middle East and
Africa, resulted in both business units reporting
aloss for the year. Notwithstanding the wider
Issues in Australia, Austral had a strong
performance, driven by mining and port-related
projectsin the Pilbara region. in the seccend half
of the year, a substantial settlement agreement
was signed with our client in Mozambiquein
relation to the suspended liquefied natural gas
{LNG) project. This largely reversed the contract
loss incurred to date and protects the Groupin
the event that the contract does not resume

in the shart to medium term, justifying the
approachwe took to this contract and the

risk assessment undertaken.

Strategy

The Group's corporate purpose reflects both
the evolution of our strategy and the changing
environment in which we operate and ‘building
the foundations for a sustainable future’ wil
be at the heart of everything we do in the future.

Cur vision to be the leading provider of
specialist geotechnical solutions is

unchanged and, despite the disruptive impact of
the pandemic on change management activities,
we have made good progress with our objective
for Keller to become a more focused, higher-
quality business achieving both sustainable
operational delivery and cash generaticn

whilst building on our industry-leading margins.



16  Keller Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Chief Executive Officer’'s review continued

Strategic Report

We have continued to successfully execute on
our strategy, to be the preferred international
gectechnical specialist contractor focused on
sustainable markets and attractive projects,
generating long-term value for our stakeholders.
Our local businesses leverage the Group's scale
and expertise to deliver engineered solutions
and operational excellence, driving market

share leadership in our selected segments.

Qur dversified model of operating in a number
of sectors, applications and geographies helps
to generate revenues that are resilient whilst
lessening the tmpacts that can arise from
business cycles and geopolitics. In line with
our strategy we have continued tc focus

on increased market penetration and

cost reguction.

Progress on strategic
priorities for 2021

In Nerth Arnerica, we furthered our drive to gain
market share in our chosen markets with the
acquisition in July of RECON Services, Inc
(RECON), a gectechnical and industrial services
company headquartered in Houston, Texas.
Similar to Keller's existing Florida-based
Moretrench Industrial business, RECON is

focused on environmental remediation activities.

The gecgraphic proximity of the two businesses
provides revenue synergies from cross-selling
opportunities, both between the two businesses
and also the Keller foundations businesses, and
some, primarily volurme-based, cost synerges.
The additicnal revenue synergies provide the
opportunity to increase the Group's overall
market share in the important Guif Coast area
where Keller has historically been relatively
under-represented. The cash consideration on
an erterprise value basis was US$23m (€17m},
and an original maximum earn-out of US$15m
(£11rn} refating to specific future contract wins.
As we anticipated, RECON was awarded one of
the specific contracts in December, worth
appraximately US$160m {£120m} in reveriue
over two years, in connection with the
development of an energy facllity in the

Gulf Coast region of the USA.

In October, the North America Division acguired
Subterranean (Manitcbal Ltd, a small market-
leading geotechnical foundation business in
Manitoba, Canada. In November 2021, the
aniston acquired Voges Drilling, a geotechinical
foundation company based in Texas

In Europe, as well as rightsizing the divisional
head office, we simplified the structure of the
division by reducing the number of business units
following the merger of French Speaking
Caountries with Iberta and Latin America, by
forming one new South West Europe Business
Unit; this became effective on 1 July 2021, Early
wins from this strategic action include securing
work as a combined business unit that Keller
would not have won previcusly, and a reduction
in costs.

Curjoint venture in Finland, KFS Finland Oy,
acquired NordPile, a driven and drilling piting
contractor, in September. This acquisition
reinforces KFS's pasition as the largest
gectechnical specialist contractor inthe
region offering the widest range of solutions.

Strategic priorities for 2022

Market-leading aperational execution is
imperative in order to remain competitive and
therefore enhancing operational excellenceis a
key focus for the Group. During 2021 we
established a muilti-functional team of experts,
drawn frorn across the Group to identify and
develap best practice in project management
and site support Dusiness processes that are
currently deployed within Keller. This bank of
knowledge wil be teveraged by implementing
best practice standard templates across the
Group using a proven, cloud-based enterprise
resource planning (ERP) system. In doing so the
intiative will embed operational excellence in
project execution across the whole Group,
together with the associated financial benefits.
It will allow the full integratiom of project
management, supply chain, human resources,
equipment, operations which will all seamiessty
feed through to financials, and provide a single,
standardised platform for robust, systernic,
pre-emptive management controls, and a
convenient solution to the emerging requirement
for UK SOX. The initiative will be implemented
progressively over five years by a project team
that consists of seasoned business leaders,
subject matter experts and experienced ERP
gicbal system implementers. We will ieverage our
risk management processes to help contral the
challenges associated with implementing the
programme of work.

As we execute aur strategy and further penetrate
our chosenocal markets, we will continue to
pursue suitable bolt-on acquisition opporturities
and integrate them into the Group. RECON s
integrating well and during 2022 wil. together with
Moretrench industriat, be developed as we
establish and build our new enwironmental,
geotechnical and industrial services business that
will leverage our position in this large and growing
sector We will continue to be focused and

Environmental, Social and
Governance [ESG)

We define ESG and sustainability according

to our four Ps: Planet, People, Principles and
Profitable projects. Beneath each P we have a
number of global and local initiatives aligned to
the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
These provide a comman language for us ta
communicate sustainability initiatives to our
stakeholders warldwide. In terms of global
initiatives, under Planet we focus on carbon
reduction (S0G 13], under People, we focus on
safety {SDG 3) and gender equality [SDG 5); and
under Principles we focus on good governance
{SDG 18). In addition there are a number of other
SDG initiatives that are being supported at local
busmness tevel that are relevant and appropriate
to their community context.

Thae safety of every individual is our priority. While
our safety performance has improved, we are
notyet where we need to be. Making sure every
employee returns home safely at the end of each
day drives our thinking and behaviours across
the Group. It 1s with this approach that we have
reduced the Group's accident frequency rate
(AFR} by 42% compared with 2020, and our
AMEA Division had an outstanding year achieving
an AFR of zera. Our total recordable incident rate
(TRIR} alsc improved by 32%.

Led by John Raine Group HSEQ Director, we
have a number of safety initiatives underway to
leverage our experience and safety knowledge
across the Group. As our number of recordable
incidents decreases. it is more important than
ever to focus on proactive reporting measures
to identify and address hazardous situations
pre-emptively, before accidents occur witt their
inherent potential for adverse consequences,
Year-on-year near miss reports are increasing as
aconsequence of this increased emphasis and
leadership site interaction s strong, even with
the site access challengas created by COVID-15.
Overall the safety culture and awareness
continues to improve, and is clearly evidenced

in recent employee engagement surveys.

We are very proud of our industry-leading
performance and improving track record, and
were devastated to lose along-serving and
valued employee early in 2021 following an
accident on a site in Austria. Whilst it has been
determined Keller was not at fauit for the
accident, the incident has caused us to re-double
our efforts and we have continued to further
advance our safety prograrmmes. We continue
o share our safety best practices with trade
associations, so that the whole sector can
continue to improve heaith and safety.
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The glebal COVID-19 pandemic continued

to create operational challenges in 2021, The
Group has actively encouraged and supported
employees to become vaccinated against
COVID-19 wheraver possible. However, 'm
greatly saddened that across the Group we have
lost eight colleagues due to COVID-19 related
ilness. Whilst we believe none of these cases
were related to the workplace, we have taken
great care in supparting the families through
their bereaverments. The vaccination status of
those that have died is consistent with the
external benchmark globally and supports cur
active approach to encourage our workforce in
becoming vaccinated.

At Keller, we recognise safety and wellbeing is
maore than just avoiding accidents and this year
we launched our first-ever wellbeing framework.
This helps our business units support and
develop the aspects of wellbeing important

to our employees worldwide - body, mind,
community. growth and financial security
wellbeing.

Having launched our Inclusion Commitments,
our focus in 2021 was on giving our teams the
understanding and the means to contribute to
our aspiration to become a diverse, equitable
and inclusive workplace,

Inrespect of carbon reduction, the Group has
set ambitious but achievable net zerc targets
by 2050. We will be net zero across all three
emission scopes by 2050; net zero on Scope 2
by 2030, net zero on Scepe 1 by 2040 and net
zero by 2050 on Operational Scope 3 {covering
business travel, material transport and waste
disposal}. We have already begun implementing
the substantive short-term actions to address
Scope 2 and are developing the medium and
long-term actions for Scope 1 and 3 that are
required to achieve these goals.

Good governance plays an essential role in how
we operate the business. During 2021, despite
the challenging backdrop, we continued to take
anumber of steps to strengthen our leadership,
our management controls, and our
understanding of the needs of our stakeholders.
This included listening to the views of our past,
current and potential investors. At the end of the
year we completed an investor audit of a number
of key institutions, enabling us to deepen aur
understanding of the views of investors.
Participation by those that took part was greatly
appreciated and we will actively use the feadback
as we move forward. We will repeat the exercise
in the future so that we can maintain a
momentum of continucus improvernent

and monitor our progress.

People

Our people are the major differentiator of

our business and pivotal to everything we do.

I continue to be immensely impressed by the
dedication and tenacity of our team. Despite
the prolonged attrition of COVIQ-19.interms
of social isolation and legistical challenges,
employees have continued to go to extraordinary
lengths to continue to safely deliver projects for
our customers. | would like to acknowledge this
endeavour and thark all Keller employees for
their commitment, hard work and expertise
during another very challenging year.

On the Executive team, James Hind, Divisional
President of Keller North America, retired at the
end of 2021, after 18 years’ service. James was
a highly effective member of the Executive tearm,
from his appointment in 2003 as Finance
Director of Keller Group plc and an Executive
Director on the Board until 2020, through 1o his
mast recent appointment as Divisional President
of Keller North America, a post he held since
2018. Under his leadership and with the support
of a strong Executive team, Keller North America
has undergone significant transfarmation, with
greatly enhanced crganisational capability and
accelerated collaboration. Eric Drooff, previously
Chief Cperating Officer, Keller Nerth America,
has succeeded James. Over the 29 years Erc
has been with Keller North America he has
dermonstrated his strong leadership capabilities
across the organisation and his dedication,
passion and depth of gectechnical experience
made him the best person to lead Xeller

North America.

We are deeply concerned about the military
invasion of Ukraine and the unfolding
humanitarian crisis, Whilst we have no projects in
the country, and therefore there is no material
impact on our business, we have two employees
based in Ukraine and over 20 Ukrainian nationals
working for us in our North East Europe Business
Unit. Furthermore, many colleagues across Keller
have connections with people in Ukraine. Our
first thoughts are with themn and their families.
Our team in Poland has been providing practical
support including help at the border with
transport, accommedation and medical supplies.
Events are unfolding rapidly on the ground, and
accordingly we continue to evaluate where to
best deploy cur Group support to most
effectively assist the humanitarian refief effort.

Dividend

The Board is recommending the payment of a
2021 final dividend of 23.3p per share (2020:
23.3p per share} to be paid on 1 July 2022 to
shareholders on the register as at the close
of business on 6 June 2022. We are very
nraad af cwir dividend history and reconnise

Even through very challenging times we have
consistently increased or maintained the
dividend over the last 27 years since first listing
on the London Stock Exchange, one of only a
fewlisted companies to have achieved this.

The centinuation of dividend payments during
the challenging macro environment of 2020 and
2021 reflected the financial strength of the
Group, its significant liquidity position and the
longer-term confidence in the performance of
the business. As we advance through 2022 the
Board will review the progression of our dividend.

Outloock

We have had a successful year given the
extremely challenging business environment.
The year developed largely as we anticipated at
our 2020 interim results, and whilst inflationary
impacts were larger than expected, the resilience
of the Group has meant that the financial
performance for the year was still ahead of
market expectations. We have continued to
implerment strategic actions to shape Keller's
future, while delivering robust operational and
financial results built on a strong balance sheet.
We have a clear strategy andincreasing
operational momentum with a recerd order book
of £1.3bn. This, together with the maintenance
of the dividend, evidences our confidence inthe
medium term,

Whilst we are mindful of the recently increased
geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainty and
inflationary pressures, our expectations for 2022
are unchanged. We remain strategically well
placed to benefit from the anticipated
macroeconomic recovery and increasing levels
of public infrastructure spending in our chosen
markets, although this recovery will naturaily vary
by geography as countries progressively manage
COVID-19 as an endemic rather than pandemic
challenge.

QOur leading market positions and the strategic
actions we have taken to improve the Group's
performance, together with our financial
resilience, will allow us to benefit from the
longer-term structural growth drivers for global
infrastructure and urbanisation in the years
ahead. We therefore remain confident in our
ahility to deliver increasing shareholder returns
through underlying profit growth and cur
progressive dividend policy.

Michael Speakman
Chief Executive Officer

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue on 7 March 2022.
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Keller's strategyis tobe

the preferred international
geotechnical specialist contractor
focused on sustainable markets
and attractive projects.

Qur local businesses will leverage the Group’s scale and expertise to
deliver engineered solutions and operational excellence, driving market
share leadership in our selected segments.

In 2021, we continued to make progress in generating sustainable
long-term value for our stakeholders.

Sustainable markets are those markets that appreciate the value of
the products and services Keller provides, have a consistent, material
demand for those services, and an acceptable level of geopolitical risk.

Strategiclever

We select sustainable
markets {geography,
sector and products)
in which to set up base
businesses and
attractive projects.

A balanced
portfolio

We offer the best
solutions to our
customers by providing
alternatives and value
engineering, and invest
ininnovation and
digitisation.

Engineered
solutions

We are the operational
leader providing safe,
efficient, on-time and
high-quality delivery,

and relentlessly strive

to improve our operational
capability.

Operational
excellence

We develop our people,
processes and assets and
leverage the global
strength of our technical,
operational, commercial
and financial resources.

Expertise
and scale

What we achievedin 2021

Established Europe and AMEA divisicns to better refiact portfolio
of markets and major project oppaortunities in these regions.
Acquired RECON in the U5, adding to our existing remediation
environmental offering,

Acquired Subterranean, strengthening our pesition in the
Canadian Prairies.

Acquired Voges Drilling, a geotechnical foundation company
basedin Texas.

Our joint venture in Finland, KF$ Finland Qy, acquired NordPile,
a driven and drilling piling contractor.

Executed an Impressive 6,000 projects around the world despite
the challenge of COVID-19.

Achieved significant milestones on H52 in the UK.

Delivering Cape Lambert major project.

Improved productivity through the Vibrocat double lock system.
Launched our field app InSite across the Group.

Reduced our accident frequency rate, achieving an all-time low
of 0.07.

Invested more than £45min new plant and equipment with the
fatest Tier 4 and Tier 5 engines.

Continued to embed 55 and other lean manufacturing tools on
our sites and in our yards,

Continued sharing product and safety knowledge and innovations
through our global product teams.

Continued our efforts on workfarce engagerment, completing
engagernent surveys and team action planning in multiple business units.

+ Continued to embed our diversity, equity and inclusion strategy.

Started a reverse mentoring programme.
Launched wellbeing framework and leadership toolkit.
Delivered both face-to-face and online training programmes.
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Outlook

We will

.

Remain customer focused through eur branch structure
and drive for aleading share in our chosen markets.

Aim to be profitable through trading cycles as we sustain
our revenue streams.

Continue to introduce new products where we are already
established.

Continue to offer our customers alternative designs and
engineered solutions that meet their specifications whilst
reducing costs.

Retain our technical advantage by investing in our pecple
and continuing to influence across our sector.

Continue to secure complex, high-value projects.

Make continuous, incremental improvements to remain
competitive in our chosen markets.

Deliver Platform For Success as we migrate to one integrated
D365 solution across the Keller world.

Continue to share best practice in operations, technical
knowledge, governance and compliance.

KPIs

Market share in core markets

Share of our core markets

13.3%

{2020. 13.7%)

Operating margins®
Underlying operating profit expressed
as a percentage of revenue

4.2%

(2020: 5.3%)

Return on capital employed?

Underlying operating profit as a net return
on capital employed

14.4%

{2020: 16.4%)

Accident frequencyrate
Accident frequency per 100,000 hours; lost time
injuries are calculated as any incident over one day

0.07

(2020:0.12)

2.9%

21%

12%

42%
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Business units

North-East Canada

South-East Specialty Services
Florida Moretrenchlindustrial
Central Suncoast

Waest

KPis

Revenue (Em)

Undertying operating profit (Em}

Underlying operating margin (%] Order baok (Em])
Accident frequency rate
2021 2020 Constart
Em fm currency
Revenue 1,323.1 1,2275 +15.4%
Underlying operating profit 73.0 8352 -5.6%
Underlying operating margin 5.5% 6.8%
Order boak’ 787.0 593.9 +32.5%

1 Comparative order book stated at constant currency.

In North America, revenue increased by 15.4%,
on aconstant currency basis, with improved
mementurm across all markets and the addition
of the recently acquired RECON Services, Inc
(RECON) business in Texas, which will contribute
1o profits in 2022, Underlying operating profit
decreased by 5.6% on 3 constant currency basis
to £73.0rm, driver by market pricing pressures and
the impact of nigher costs of maternials and labour.
These were partly offset by the benefit fromthe
resolution of a historical claim (c£7m)in H1 and
strong growth at Moretrench Industrial. The
underlying operating margin decreased to 5.5%
from 6.8% in the pricr year prirmarily due to the
impact of the increased cost of steel strandin the
Suncoast High-Rise business and pressure on
profitability due to labour and material shortages
and the associated operational disruptions, Our
continued focus on safety saw our key metric,
accident frequency rate, fall from 0.08 in 2020 to
0.03 for 2021, a 63% improvernent.

On a fike-for-like basis, excluding acguisitions and
disposals on a constant currency basis, revenue
for the year increased by 11%, and operating
profit decreased by 14%,

In 2021 the construction industry inthe US
grew 8%, driven by a 12% increase in residential
construction. Non-residential construction
grew 2%.

As anticipated, we had a slow start to the year
following the continued impact of the COVID-19
pandemic which curtailed sentiment and activity
in the second half of 2020 through to early 2021.
Irs March, trading accelerated and we began to
operate more normally given the combination
of increased vaccination rates across the North
American population and reduced restrictions
and lockdowns.

The foundations business demonstrated

its resilience with a flat year-on-year profit
performance with margins impacted by market
pricing pressure and higher input costs.

Our Canadian business delivered a strong
perfarmance in terms of revenue and profit,
benefitting from a restructuring and a
strengthening of the management team in
2020 as well as the acquisition of Subterranean
(Manitoba) Ltd, a small, market-leading
geotechnical foundations business, for

acash consideration of £7.8m.

Suncoast, the Group's post-tension business
serving mostly the residential construcoonmarket,
experienced high volumes with revenue ahead of
the prior vear. The high-rise sector continued to be
chalienged by the increased cost of imported, as
well as domestic, steel strand, Suncoast’'s main raw
rmaterial, which negatively impacted operating
profit. The recent unprecedented increase in the
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Moretrenchindustrial, which operates inthe
highly regulated industrial and power segments,
performed wellwith increased revenue and
profit driven by the Florida industrial market.

The Hampton Roads Bridge Tunnel Expansion
Project in Virginia, USA, cUS$120m two-year
contractis c65% complete. Work on the South
Island has concluded and the tearm has
commenced work on the North Island.

In July 2021, we announced the acquisition of
RECON, an environmental, gectechnical and
industrial services company headquarterad in
Houston, Texas. RECONis a specialist
geotechnical environmental remediation and
industrial services contractor working principally
for industrial clients, many in the petrochemical
sector, predominantly aleng the Gulf and East
coasts of the United States. Similar to Keller's
existing Florida-based Moretrench Industral
business, RECON is focused on environmental
remediation activities and the geographic
proximity of the two businesses provides
revenue synergies from cross-seling
opportunities, both between the two businesses
and also the Keller foundations businesses.

The additional revenue synergies provide the
oppertunity to increase the Group's overall
rmarket share in the important Gulf Coast area
where Keller has historically beenrelatively
under-represented and where a significant
pipeline of new projects is projected by the
petrochemical sector. Cost synergies will also
be achieved through this acquisition. The cash
consideration on an enterprise velue basis was
US$23m (£17rm), and an original maximum
earn-out of US$15m (£11m) related to specific
future contract wins. As we anticipated, in
December 2021 RECON was awarded a contract
worth approximately US$160m {£120rm}in
revenue over g two years, in connection with the
development of an energy facility in the Gulf
Coast region of the USA. RECON is integrating
well and, during 2022, will together with
Moretrench Industrial, be develcped as we
establish and build cur new environmental,
geotechnical and industrial services business
that will leverage our position in this large and
growing sector.

On 1 Novemnber 2021, the division acquired
Voges Drilling, a gectechnical foundation
company based in Texas, for cash consideration
of £1.4m and a further deferred consideration
of £0.8m Is payable over three years.

The order book for North America at the period
end was at £787.0m, up 32.5% {on a constant
currency basis) from the closing position at the
end of 2020. The increase year-cn-year is
predominantly driven by the newly signed
RECON contract worth £120m ($160m) over

Case study

Keller Canada: A clear plan for the future

Keller's Canadian business has seena
remarkable turnaround over the last 18
months, moving from a struggling business
to a profitable, focused company.

We acquired our Canadian business in 2013
whenthe region was riding the crest of an ol
boom. Just a few years later, the price of cil
fell by half and, with a fraction of the work,
our revenues fell too.

The Prairie, Vancouver and Toronto
businesses were restructured and merged
with our Geo Foundations business. And, with
the retirement of the former president at

the end of 2019, Curtis Cook, who previously
oversaw Hayward Baker operations in Florida
and the Gulf Coast, took over.

Aunitedteam

"Getting all our offices and branches pushing
in the same direction was key,” says Curtis,
“We aligned key processes and developed

a national team that shares resources and
collaborates on key issues. This included
rightsizing our equipment fleet and offloading
under-used, unreliable equipment.

“With 5 focus on quality and safety, we're now
making sure we're bidding on the right kind of
work where we have a competitive advantage.
That means projects where we can play to our
strengths: more early-contract involvement
and value engineering to bulld strong client
partnerships.

Building cellaboration

Keller Canada is also increasing collaboration
with other business units in North America
and looking at acquisitions where they make
sense. In October, it acquired Subterranean
{Manitoba} Ltd, another highly respected
geotechnical contractor with more than

50 years of experience.

4 4

We have a great team who are
proud to work for Keller and that's
made it easier to move the business
forward. Combined with lower
overheads, a clear strategy that
everyone works to, and alarger
footprint in our target markets, we
have made arecord profit this year.”

Curtis Cook
Senior Vice President
Canada
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Business units

Central Europe
North-EastEurope UK

South-EastEurope
and Nordics

South-WestEurope

KPIs

Revenue (Em)

549.2

Underlying operating profit (Em)

538.5

Underlying operating margin (%)

Order book {Em}

2021 332.7

Accident frequency rate

0.24

0.18

2021 2020 Constant

£m £m currency

Revenue 549.2 5385 +5.2%

Underiying operating profit 24.3 18.4 +38.2%
Underlying operating margin 4.4% 3.4%

Order book? 3327 220.3 +51.0%

1 InNovember 2020t was announced thal from 1 Jenuary 2021 tre MEA busness wolld be transfered to the APAC dwision,
crestmg the Asia-Pacific. Middle East and Africa IAMEA) Division. and the remaining EMEA Division becarming turope The:

In Europe, revenue increased by 5.2% on a
constant currency basis as markets recoverad
with the COVID-18 related shutdowns and trave!
restrictions easing as the year progressed.
Underlying operating profit was £24.3m, up
%8.2% on a constant currency basis, reflecting
the higher level of activity, improved efficiencies
on site, enhanced contract profitadifity and cost
savings following the prior year restructuring
activity. As a result, the underlying operating
rarginincreased to 4.4% (2020: 3.4%).

Inearly 2021, a tragic fatality occurred following
an accident on a site in Austria in which we lost

a long-serving employea. Whilst a thorough
investigation has determined Keller was

not at fault for the accident, we have continued
to advance our safety programmes. The accident
frequency rate was up slightly at 0.24 from 0.18
in 2020,

Following a relatively slow start to the year due
to some harsh winter weather in some parts

of Europe and the continued impacts of the
pandemic, momentum built as markets opened
up with pecople and equipment permitted to
cross borders more easily and the year finished
more strongly. Whilst the division was impacted
by both material and labour shortages, which
were operationally challenging, and the
widely-publicised inflationary pressures
continued to be felt across the continent, the
division generated an exceptional performance
from several major prajects.

South-East Europe and Nordics delivered record
revenuc with significant increases in activity
levels in Austria and italy. The Scandinavian
region also continued to grow, and benefitted
from the Sandbukta-Moss-5astad rail project
(SMS2] in Norway. In September 2021, our joint
venture in Finland, KFS Finland Oy, acquired
NordPile, a driven and drilling piling contractor,
This acquisition reinforces KFS's position as the
largest geotechnical specialist contractor in the
region offering the broadest range of solutions
and is consistent with our wider strategy of
building market-leading shares in the regions
that pfay o our strengths.

The UK business, which was adversely impacted
in 2020 by the hesitant investment climate
following the 2019 general election and
uncertainty around Brexit, reported good
reveniue growth, including the benefit fram
several contract awards on the High Speed 2 rail
project (H32). Particularly noteworthy are the
C1 package at a value of cE84m, awarded in
February 2021, and the main packages of work
on C2/3 at a value of c£48m which were
securedin April.
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Qur businesses in Central Europe and North East
Europe were impacted by lower volumes at the
start of the year due to the weather and project
delays related to COVID-19. However, both
businesses finished the year with improved
activity levels and strong order books. At the end
of 2021 North East Europe secured a €26m piling
contract for work at an ¢il refinery in Poland
which is expected to be delivered during 2022.
We are also exploring the Baltic region for
potential expansion with some attractive

future projects in the pipeline.

In July 2021, the new South West Europe
Business Unit was formed following the
successful merger of our French Speaking
Countries and Iberia and Latin America
businesses. South West Europe was our
business most affected by the impact of
CQOVID-19 in the period, with extended country
lockdowns and delays to contract starts. In
addition, the completion in earty 2021 of an ol
refinery project in Mexico contributed to reduced
revenue and profits compared to the prior year.
The combined business unit is now being
integrated and is better positioned to benefit
from growth opportunities in its dormestic and
overseas markets.

The European portfolic is more focused following
the exit from South America and the disposal of
non-core businesses during 2020, As a result of
these actions, we were also able to reduce the
divisicnal overhead. Moving forward, we will
continue to review our varicus Eurcpean markets
to ensure that we focus only on sustainable
rmarkets and attractive projects that generate
long-term returns.

The European core business continues to
recover steadily, and we have benefitted from
anumber of larger projects across theregion,
particularly in infrastructure. Looking forward,
our success in the region will require those larger
projects to be replaced. However, our strong
regional approach coupled with our divisional
support will ensure we are well placed to pursue
new contract oppoertunities.

The Europe order book at the end of the peried
was £332.7m, up 51% (on a constant currency
basis) on the prior year, largely due to the HS2
cantracts.

A treatment developed by Keller in the US
to improve the stability of swelling clay soils
has been trialted in France. If successful,

it could open up a major hew market in the
country — and tackle a growing problem,

Clay soils that swell and shrink due to moisture
are a major cause of structural foundation
damage. Although watertight membranes,
drainage and the removal of nearby vegetation
can provide initial protection, mere drastic
underpinning methods are often needed.

One cormmon answer to the problem is
rmicropiling, but a less well-known and
potentially cheaper alternative involves
injecting sails with a potassium and
ammonium ion solution. This reacts with the
clay, modifying its behaviour and making it less
sensitive to swelling and has passed rigorous
safety and environmental tests to satisfy
European regulators.

Keller has recently cornpleted the first trial of
its newly patented RemediaClay” technelogy in

Framra am taes 100 ctratehae ~f 3

Keller brings RemediaClay® to Europe

4 4

As climate change increasingly
affects clays, causing more
problems in roads and structures,
its remediation is becoming more
important. RemediaClay’ could
be significant for us in a market
dominated by micropilingand

soil substitution.”

Serge Lambert

Head of the Technical Department,
South-West Europe
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Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa (AMEA)? '

Business units

ASEAN Keller Aystralia
Austral Middle East and Africa
India

KPls

Revenue {Em) Underlying operating profit {Em)
Underlying operating margin (%} Order book (Em}
Accident frequency rate
2021 1]
zon 2020 Canstant
Em £m currency
Revenue 352.1 256.5 +20.4%
Underlying operating profit 3.4 15.5 -77.1%
Underlying operating margin 1.0% 5.2%
Orger book? 177.3 182.2 -27%

1 i November 2020 it was announced that sur nevdy formed Middle East and Africa Business Umit would combme with APAC with
effect from 1 January 2021, to create an Asia-Pacific. Miadle East ana Africa (AMEA] division This brings together under one

In AMEA revenuesincreased by 20.4% ana
constant currency basis, driven predominantly by
Austral in Australia and India, partly offset by a
decline in the Middle East and Africa business
which was transferred into the division at the
beginning of 2021. Operating profitin the
division as a whole decreased by 77.1%ona
constant currency basis to £3.4m, driven by
operational disruption as a result of COVID-19,
particularly in Keller Australia and an extremely
challenging trading environment in the Middle
East and Africa. The division had a notable
achievernent in its safety record with no
significant accidents reported in the period,
resulting in a zero accident frequency rate.

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic were felt
across all our markets in the division to varying
degrees. The ASEAN business continued to feel
the Impact of COVID-19 through the
postponerment of contracts and border closures.
Howewver, trading levels improved in the second
half and the business delivered revenue growth
for the year. The business continued to benefit
from the restructuring activity in 2019 and is well
placed for the future with a strong focus on
ground improvement projects across the region.

Austral in Australia had another strong

performance interms of revenue and profit

growth as it nears completion of Ric Tinto's

Cape Lambert Portin the Pilbara, Australia.

The business has secured a strong pipeline of

projects, including a number of other mining and

port-related projects in the Pilbara region, and '
continues its diversification strategy with key

selected projects on Australia’s east coast.

Qur Keller Australia business had a particularly
difficult year, making a'oss in the period. The
challenges posed by the COVID-15% travel
restrictions and state border restrictions in
Australia had a very significant impact on
operations and profits, amid a continued
softness in some markets. The workforce model
relies on the fluid movernent of employees and
equipment around the country and the travel
restrictions made movement impossible for long
periads of time. Many ernployees made huge
personal sacrifices including long periods away
from home due to the strict lockdown rules.
Tendering activity has subctantialy improver! the
management team has been strengthened and
the outlook is more positive as border
restrictions ease.



Keller Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Strategic Report 25

Qur India business performed strongly in terms
of revenue and profit growth with management
successfully managing the business in a country
that has been severely impacted by the effects
of COVID-18. Tendering levels improved and
there are a number of gocd prospectsin the
pipeline.

The Middle Fast and Africa business hds been
the most challenged region in terms of market
clarity and recovery from the impacts of
COVID-19, with many countries relying on
lockdowns and restrictions in advance of
vaccination programmes. At the end of the year,
we signed a substantial agreement with our
client in Mozambigue in relation to the
suspended LNG project. This largely reversed
the contract loss Incurred to date and protects
the Group in the event that the contract does
not resume. Despite the successful Mozambique
resolution, the Middle East and Africa business as
awhole recorded aloss in the year. The focus s
now on turning this business around post
COVID-19 and actions are being taken to deliver
this. Tendering activity in the region continues to
strengthen, though with more variability than
cther areas of AMEA,

The AMEA order book strengthened strongly
through the second half and at the end of the
pericdwas £177.3m, down 2.7% {on a constant
currency basis} on the prior year.

Case study

Keller ASEAN keeps busy
oninfrastructure projects

Every day across the world, Keller helps
construct major infrastructure projects that
drive economies and improve miltions of
lives. One region where Keller is bringing

its expertise to power plants, highways,

rail lines and more is ASEAN.

In Indonesig, Keller already has huge
experience of high-profile infrastructure
projects. having contributed to the 1,000km-
long main Java highway and Jakarta airport
upgrade in recent years.

At the start of 2021, we finished a heavy
foundation project for a major high-speed
railway, and more recently, secured a
significant contract for a power plant in Java.

“Thus is a hugely important and complex
project of nationalimportance,” says Yerikhe
Purba, Deputy Project Manager. "Criginally the
project was designed for piling, but by offering
stone columns as an alternative, we were able
to reduce the cost by a quarter and provide
greater earthquake mitigation.”

Alsoin 2021, on one of our biggest-ever
projects in Indonesia, we installed foundations
for aliguid natural gas plant mn a remote area of
West Papua, using 6,000 bored piles and 700
corrugated sheet piles.

In neighbouring Malaysia, Keller worked on
a ground-improvement project for alarge
petrochemical plant in the northwestern
state of Sarawak, installing 60,000m of
stone columns and 45 000m of hybrid
concrete columns.

Anocther huge project involved providing
ground improvement for a mass rapid
transport system that will significantly upgrade
Malaysia's public transport and generate huge
economic benefit. The team worked on the
first line between 2012 and 2014 and has been
involved in the second for the past five years.

We also helped support the embankments
for ancther rapid transit system projectin
Singapore this year using deep soil mixing
for the first time.

4 4

We are very proud to be
participating in projects that make
s0 many people’s lives better...

It's good to make a difference
inthe world.”

KJ Tan
Business Development Manager
ASEAN
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Chief Financial Officer’s review

David Burke Revenue
Revenue of £2,224.4m (2020: £2,062.5m) was
7.8% up on 2020, driven by increased activity
as markets began to recover, particdlarly in
the second half, with significant contract wins
together with the benefit of several bolt-on
acquisitions, At constant currency, revenue
increased by 13.4% and increased across all
three divisions.

North America reported an incréase inrevenue
af 15.4% {at constant currency}, with improved
momenrtum acress all markets and the addition
of several bolt-on acquisitions, the largest being
RECON Services, Inc (RECON). Of the 15.4%
increase in revenue, 4.1% was derived from
businesses acquired in 2021 and 11.3% from
the existing business, Europe revenue increased
by 5.2% (at constant currency) as markets
recovered with the COVID- 19 related shutdowns
and travel restrictions easing as the year
progressed. AMEA revenue increased by 20.4%
(at constant currency) driven predominantly by
Austral in Australia and India, partly offset by a
decline in the Middle East and Africa business.

We have a consistently diversified spread of
revenues across geographies, product lines,
market segments and end customers.
Custorners are generally market specific and,
consistent with the prior year, the largest
customer represented less than 3% of the
Group's revenue. The top 10 customers
represent 15% of the Group's revenue (2020
11%). The Group worked on mare than 6,000
projects in the year with 60% of contracts having
avalue between £25,000 and £250,000,
demonstrating a iow customer concentration
and a wide project portfolio.

Underlying operating profit

The underlying operating profit of £92.8m was
15 7% down on prioryear {2020: £110.1mj,
which on a constant currency basis was 9.7%
down, impacted primarily by the COVID-19
adverse pressure on market pricing and
operational disruption across our businesses.

2021 2020
i o North America underlying constant currency

Revenue 2,224.4 20625 operating profit decreased by 5.6% to £73.0m
Underiying operating profit! 9z.8 1101 driven by market pricing pressures and the
Underlying operating profit % 4.2% 5 2%, impact of higher costs of materials and labour.

. in particular, operating profit at Suncoast
Nen-underlyingitems 2.3} (33.1 reguced by El%jm, lgrge!y due to the increased
statutory operating profit 80.5 770 cost of steel strand in High-Rise. Europe
Statutory operating profit % 3.6% 37% constant currency operating profit increased

38.2%, reflecting the higher level of activity,
1 Detals of non-undertying itermns are set out In note 8 1o the consolidated financial statements. Reconclations mproved efficiencies on site, enhanced contract

to statutory numbers are set out In the adi.sted performance measures section on page 135 proﬁtability and cost Savmgs fC)NOwing the prior

year restructuring activity. AMEA constant
currency operating profit decreased by 77.1%
to £3.4m. driven by operational disruption
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Share of post=taxresults
from joint ventures

The Group recognised an underlying post-tax
profit of £0.4minthe year (2020: £0.8m) fromits
share of the post-tax results from jeint ventures.

Revenue split hy geography

The share of the post-tax arortisation charge
of £0.6m arising from the acquisition of NordPile
by cur joint venture KFS Oy is included as a
non-underlying item. No dividends {2020: £0.4m)
were received from joint ventures in the year.

Statutery operating profit

Statutory operating profit comprising underlying
operating profit of £92.8m (2020: £110.1m) and
non-underlying items comprising net costs of
£12.3m (2020 £33.1m), increased by 4.5% to
£80.5m (2020: £77.0m).

€m Narth America Europe? AMEA? Total
2021

H1 581.7 242.0 160.4 984.1
H2 741.4 307.2 191.7 1,240.3
Total 1,323.1 549.2 352.1 2,224.4
2020

H1 636.5 254.7 147.9 1.039.1
H2 5510 283.8 1486 1,023.4
Total 1,227.5 538.5 296.5 2,062.5

Revenue Underlying oparating prafit Underlying operating prafit margin®
€m £m %

Year ended 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Division

North America 1,323.1 1,227.5 73.0 83.2 2.5% 6.8%
Europe? 549.2 538.5 24.3 18.4 4.4% 2.4%
AMEA? 352.1 296.5 3.4 155 1.0% 5.3%
Central - - (7.9} (7.0} - -
Group 2,224.4 2,0682.5 92.8 110.1 4.2% 5.3%

2 From 1 January 2021 Middle East and Africa businesses transferred to APAC Division, to create the Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa (AMEA) Division. The rermaining EMEA division became our
Europe Division The comparative financials for 2020 are on a proforma basis, aligned with our new structure.

3 Detals of non-underlying tems are set outin note 8 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue increased to
£2,224.4m,up 13% (at
constant currency) as a
result ofincreased trading
activity, particularly during
the second half, and several
bolt-on acquisitions.

Yy

Net finance costs

Net finance costs decreased by 32.6%to £8.9m
{2020 £13 2m}. The reduction has been driven
by the decrease in US LIBCR, which reduces the
cost of the Group's private placement debt, and
adecrease in the average net debtlevels through
the year. The average net borrowings, excluding
IFRS 16 lease libilities, during the year were
£147.6m (2020: £183.5m).

Taxation

The Group's underlying effective tax rate
decreased to 24% (2020: 25%!, largely due

to a prior year benefitin North America from
research and development tax credits. Cash
tax paid in the year of £15.9m (2020: £24.9m)
was a decrease of £9.0m over the prior year
andwas mainly attributable tc the impact of the
additional research and development tax credits.

Cther differences are mainly due to the timing
and phasing of tax payments which do not
necessarily relate to the period in which the
profits are earned. Further details ontax are
set outinnecte 11 of the censolidated
financial statements.

Non-underlyingitems

The iterns on page 28 have been excluded from
the underlying results and further detalls of
non-underlying items are included innote 8

to the financial staternents. The total pre-tax
non-underlying items in the year decreased to
£12.3m (2020: £33.1m), due to the reduction

in restructuring activity during the year.
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Non-undertyingitems

2021 2020

€m £m

Excepticnal restructuring costs 7.3 16.6
Loss ondisposal of operations a.5 11.6
Acquisition costs 0.5 03
Contingent consideration: additional amounts provided 1.3 [oX:]
Goodwillimpairment - 03
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 2.8 4.2
Amortisation of joint venture acquired intangibles 0.6 -
Contingent consideration received 0.7} -
Exceptional contract dispute - (0.7]
Total non-underlying items in operating profit 12.3 331
Non-underlying taxation {10.6) (5.6]
Tetal non-underlying items 1.7 275

Non-underlying items in operating profit

Total exceptional restructuring costs of €7.3m
have been incurred in AMEA and Europe as the
final costs on the project to rationalise the Middle
East and Africa businesses and the restructuring
costs incurred in KGS, the in-hause equipment
marnufacturer, following a review of overheads.

The loss on disposal of operations comprises
£0 Ernloss on disposal arising from the disposal
of the non-core Cyntech Anchors business in
Canada and the finalisation of the sale price for
the disposal of the Brazi business in 2020,
Acquisition costs of £0.5m relate ta professional
fees and other related costs incurred through
the acquisitions of RECCON and Subterranean.

Additional contingent consideration payable

of £1.3mrelates to the acauisition of the Geo
Construction Group (Bencor} in 2015, following
finalisation of iterns referenced inthe sale and
purchase agreement,

The £2.8m charge for amartisation of acquired
intangible assets relates to the RECON.
Moretrench and Austral acquisitions.
Amortisation of joint venture intangibles of
£0.6m relates to the NordPife acquisition
undertaken by our joint venture investment
KFS Finland Oy during the year.

Caontingent consideration of £0.7m was recelved
inrespect of the 2020 Wannenwetsch disposal.

Non-underlying taxation

A non-underlying tax credit of £10.6m

{2020 £5 6m) included the £1.5m (2020: £3.7m)
tax impact of the non-underlying loss. The
remaining £9.1m (2020: £1.9mj tax credit

arose from the partial reversal of the valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets in Canada
and Australia that was recogrised through the
non-underlying tax charge in prior years.

Earnings per share

Underlying diluted earnings per share decreased
ty 8.2% 10 88.4p (2020: 96.3p] driven by lower
operating profit partially offset by the reduction
in finance costs and the effective taxrate
reduction. Statutory diluted earnings per share
was 86.1p {2020: 58.5p) which reflects the
reduction in non-underlying iterns in
comparison to the prior year.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a fina! dividend of
23.3p per share [2020. 23.3p per share) which,
following the interim dividend for 2021 of 12.6p
{2020 12.6p}, brings the total dividend for the
yearto 3590 (2020, 35.9p). The 2021 dividend
earnings cover, before non-underlying items,
was 2.5x{2020: 2.7x}.

The Group's divideng policy is to increase the
dividend sustainably whilst alfowing the Group
to be abie to grow, or as a minimum, maintain,
the level of dividend through market cycles.
The continuation of dividend payments during
the challenging macro ervironment of 2020
and 2021 reflects the financial strength of the
Group, its significant liquidity position and the
longer-term confidence in the performance
of the business. As we advance through 2022
the Board will review recommencing the
progressive dividend.

Keller Group plc had distributabie reserves of
£122.9m at 31 Decernber 2021 that are avaiiable
to support the dividend policy, which comfortably
covers the proposed full-year dividend for 2021
of £16.8m. Keller Group plcis a non-trading
investment cormpany that derives its profits

from dividends paid by subsidiary companies
The dividend policy is therefore impacted by the
petformance of the Group which is subject to the
Group's principal risks and uncertainties as well
as the level of headroam on the Group's
borrowing facilities and future cash
commitments and investment plans.
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Acquisitions

On 13 July 2021, the Greup acquired RECCN
Services Inc. for an initial cash consideration of
£20.2m and £9.5m of contingent consideration,
of which £1.5m had been paid at year-end.

The business is a geotechnical erwironmental
remediation and industrial services company
basedin Texas, US andis included in the North
Arnerica Division.

On 28 September 2021, the Group acquired

the business of Subterranean (Manitoba) Ltd.

for cash consideration of £7.8m. Subterranean

Is a geotechnical contractor in Manitoba, Canada.

On 1 November 2021, the Group acquired
the business of Voges Drilling, a geotechnical
foundation company basedin Texas, for cash
consideration of £1.4m. Further deferred
consideration of £0.8mis payable over a
three-year period.

Prior-year balance sheet
reclassification

Asnotedin the Audit and Risk Committee report,
during 2021, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC)
included the Group's annual report and accounts for
the year ended 31 December 2020in their
thematic review of IAS 37, 'Provisions, Contingent
Liabilitles and Contingent Assets’ which resultedin
the FRC requesting further informationinrespect
of provisions for insurance and legal claims. The
Groupresponded fully to the matters raised inthe
correspondence and have concluded that the
insurance reimbursernent receivables of the Group
should be separately presented gross onthe
consolidated balance sheet, rather than netted off
against the insurance and legal provision.

The Group has restated the relevant sections

of this year's accounts to reflect this. The
restatement impacted the balance sheet
reported in the 2020 annuai repert and accounts
as detailed in the accounting policies note on
page 133, The restatement did not result in any
changestoreported profit, earnings per share,
net assets or the cash flows reported inthe 2020
fnancial year.

Working capital

Net working capital increased by £3.1m

(2020: decrease of £38.2m] reflecting the
reversal of the working capitat timing benefit
achieved in 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19
on business activity and cash collections. The
net movement comprised of an £18.3mincrease
ininventories and a £104.4mincrease in trade
and other receivables, offset by anincrease in
trade and other payables of £115.6m.

A reduction in provisions and retirement benefit
Ilabilities increased the cash outflow in respect
of working capital by £7.8m (2020: increase of
£13.9m). This mainly comprises of payments in
respect of retirement benefits. The increase in
insurance provisions that offsets with anincrease
in insurance recenables does notimpact the
cash flow staterment. The £7.8m outflow
excludes the cash outflow on restructuring
provisions which fs presented within non-
underlying items in the free cash flow calculation.

Free cashflow
2021 2020
£m £m
Underlying operating prefit 92.8 110.1
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 97.4 949
Underlying EBITDA 190.2 205.0
Nan-cashitems - 1.9
Dvidends from joint ventures - 0.4
Decrease/(increase] in working capital (3.1) 38.2
Increase/{decrease}in provisions and retirement beneft liabilities (7.8) 139
Net capital expenditure (74.6) (65.6)
Additions to right-of-use assets (23.4) (22.7)
Free cash flow before interest and tax 81.3 1711
Free cash flow before interest and tax to underlying cperating profit 88% 155%
Netinterest paid (5.3) (12.0)
Cash tax paid {15.9) {24.9)
Free cashflow 60.1 134.2
Dividends paid to shareholders (25.9) (259)
Purchase of own shares {3.7) -
Acquisitions (31.3) -
Business disposals 7.1 2.2
Non-underlying items (2.0) {11.0)
Right-of-use assets/lease liability modifications (4.0) (1.1)
Foreign exchange moverments (1.1) {1.1)
Movement in net debt (0.8) 973
Opening net debt {192.5) {289.8)
Closing net debt {193.3) {192.5)
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Capital expenditure

The Group manages capital expenditure tightly
whiist investing in the upgrade and replacement
of equipment where appropriate. Net capital
expenditure, excluding leased assets, of £74.6m
(2020: £65.6m) was net of proceeds from the
sale of equiprnent of £9.8m {2020. €£7.4m). The
asset replacerment ratic, which is calculated by
dividing gross capital expenditure, excluding sales
proceeds on disposai of items of property, piant
and equipment and those assets capitalised
under }FRS 16, by the depreciation charge on
owned property, plant and equipment, was 127%
(2020: 109%).

Free cash flow

The Group's free cash flow of £60.1m (2020:
£134.2m}is more than sufficient to fund, in cash
terrns, the full value of the payment inrelation

to the total 2021 dividend of £25.9m (2020
£25.9m). The basis of dertving free cash flow

is set out on page 29.

Financing facilities and net debt

The Group's total net debt of £193.3m (2020.
£192.5m) comprises loans and borrowings and
related derivatives of £200.6m (2020: £185.0m),
lease liabilities of £75.4m (2020: £73.8m) net of
cashand cash equivalents of £82.7m (2020
£66.3m). The Group's term debt and committed
facilities principalty comprise US private
placements of $75m (£58.1m) which mature in
2024 and a £375m multi-currency syndicated
revolving credit facility, which matures in
Novermber 2025 During the year, $50m{£36.2m)
of US private placements matured and were
repaid and in March 2021 the Group's unused
E300m Covid Corporate Financing Facility {CCFF)
was withdrawn. At the year end, the Group

had undrawn comrmitted and uncommitted
borrowing faciiities totalling £251.9m

(2020: €672.6m).

The most significant covenants in respect of the
main borrowing facilities relate to the ratio of net
debt to underlying EBITDA, underlying EBITDA
interest cover and the Group's net worth, The
covenants are required to be tested at the half
year and the year end. The Group operates
comfortably within all of its cavenant limits. Net
debt to underlying EBITDA leverage, calculated
excluding the impact of IFRS 16, was 0.8x (2020:
0.7x), well within the mit of 3.0x and at the lower
end of the leverage target of between 0.5x~-1.5x.
Calculated on a statutory basis, including the
impact of IFRS 16, net debt to EBITDA leverage
was 1.0xat 31 December 2021 (2020 0.9x).
Underlying EBITDA, excluding the impact of IFRS
16, to net finance charges was 30.5x (2020:
21.7x), well above the limit of 4.0x.

On aniFRS 16 basis, year-end gearing was 44%
(2020: 47%).

The average month-end net debt duning 2021,
excluding IFRS 16 lease liabilities, was £147.6m
{202C: £183.5m} and the minimum headroorm
during the year on the Group's main banking
facility was £164.2m (2020: £129.4m), 1n addition
1o a cash balance at that time of £82.0m (2020:
£80.8m). The Group had no matenial discounting
or factoring in place during the year. Given the
relatively iow value and short-term nature of the
majority of the Group's prajects, the tevel of
advance payments is typically not significant.

At 31 December 2021 the Group had drawn
upon uncormmitted overdraft facilities of £0.9m
{2020 £4 7m} and had drawn £150.4m of bank
guarantee facilities (2020: E167.5m).

Provision for pension

The Group has defined benefit pension
arrangements in the UK, Germany and Austria.

The Group's UK defined benefit scheme is
closed to future benefit accrual. The most recent
actuarial valuation of the UK scheme was as at

5 April 2020, which recorded the market value of
the scheme's assets at £49.7m and the scheme
being 77% funded on an ongoing basis. The level
of contributions are £2.7m a year with effect
from 1 January 2021 and will increase by 3.6%
per annum on 1 January going forward to

5 August 2024. Contributions will he reviewed
following the next triennial actuarial valuation

to be prepared as at 5 April 2023. The 2021
year-end IAS 19 valuation of the UK scheme
showed assets of £63.7m liabilities of £58.3m
and a pre-tax surplus of £5.4m before an IFRIC
14 adjustment to reflect the minimum funding
requirement for the scheme, which adjusts the
clasing position to a deficit of £6.8m.

In Germany and Austria, the defined benefit
arrangernents only apply to certain employees
who joined the Group before 1997, The [AS 19
valuation of the defined benefit obligation
totalled £15.9m at 31 December 2021 (2020
£19.0m). There are no segregated funds to
cover these defined benefit obligations and the
respective iabilities are included on the Group
balance sheet,

All other pension arrangerments in the Group
are of a defined centribution nature.

The Group has a number of end of service
schemes in the Middle East as required by Jocal
laws and reguiations. The amount of benefit
payable depends on the current salary of the
employee and the number of years of service.
These retirement obligations are funded onthe
Group’s balance sheet and obligations are met

as and when required by the Group. The IAS 19
valuation of the defined benefit obligation totalled
£3.0mat 31 December 2021 {2020: £2.9m).

Currencies

The Group is exposed to both transiational and,
to alesser extent, transactional foreign currency
gains and losses through rmovements in foreign
exchange rates as a result of its global
aperations. The Group's primary currency
exposures are US dollar, Canadian dollar,

euro, Singapore dallar and Australian doliar.

As the Group reports in sterling and conducts
the majority of its business in other currencies,
movernents in exchange rates can result in
significant currency translation gains or losses.
This has an effect on the primary staterments
and associated balance sheet metrics, such as
net debt and working capital.

Alarge proportion of the Group's revenues are
matched with carresponding operating costs in
the same currency. The impact of transactional
foreign exchange gains or lasses are
consequently mitigated and are recognised

in the period in which they arise.

The following exchange rates applied during
the current and pricr year:

2021 2020
Closing Avarage Clasing Average
usD 1.35 1.38 1.37 1.28
CaD 1.71 1.72 174 172
EUR 1.19% 1.16 112 1.12
SGD 1,82 1.85 181 177
AUDL 1.86 1.83 178 1.86
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Treasury policies
Currency risk

The Group faces currency risk principally on its
net assets, most of which are in currencies
other than sterling. The Group aims to reduce
the impact that retranslation of these net assets
might have on the consolidated balance sheet,
by matching the cunency of its borrowings,
where possible, with the currency of its assets.
The majority of the Group's borrowings are

held in sterling, US dollar, Canadian dollar,

euro, Australian dotlar and Singapore dollar.

The Group manages its currency flows to
minimise transaction exchange risk. Forward
contracts and other derivative financial
instruments are used to hedge significant
individual transactions. The rmajority of such
currency flows within the Group relate to
repatriation of profits, intra-Group loan
repayments and any foreign currency cash
flows associated with acquisitions. The Group's
treasury risk management is performed at
the Group's head office.

The Group does not trade in financial
instruments, nor does it engage In speculative
derivative transactions.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk 1s managed by mixing fixed and
floating rate borrowings depending upon the
purpose and term of the financing.

Creditrisk

The Group's principal financial assets are trade
and other receivables, bank and cash balances
and a lirmited number of iInvestments and
derivatives held to hedge certain Group
liabilities. These represent the Group's
maximum expasure to credit risk in relation

to financial assets.

The Group has procedures to manage
counterparty risk and the assessment of
customer credit risk is embedded in the contract
tendering processes. The counterparty risk on
hank and cash balances is managed by limiting
the aggregate amount of exposure to any one
institution by reference to its credit rating and

by regular review of these ratings.

Return on capital employed

Return on capital employed is defined at Group
level as underlying operating profit divided by the
accounting value of equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent plus net debt ptus
retirement benefit fiabilities. Return on capital
emplovedin 2021 was 14.4% {2020: 16.4%).

David Burke
Chief Financial Officer

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for 1ssue on 7 March 2022.
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QOur risk governance framework (see below) has been built to identify,
evaluate, analyse and mitigate significant risks, including climate-related risks
and opportunities, to the achievement of our strategy. We have processes that
seek to identify risks from both a top-down strategic perspective and a bottom-

up local operating company perspective.

Important developments in2021 :

Continued strengthening of our risk
management framework was a key priority for
2021, adding functionality to accommodate the
new Task Force on Climate-refated Financial
Disclosures {(TCFD) risk reporting requirements.
During the year we undertock several initiatives
to achieve this:

- Continued to strengthen our intarnal
control environment, measured against
acomprehensive set of Group Finarice
Standards across @ number of disciplines
including financial reporting, accounting.
audtt, taxation and treasury, reinforcing
a culture of strong governance and
risk management. This has been
independently vaiidated through
the internat gudit programme.

Successfully developed a solution to capture
climate-related risks and opportunities iniine
with the recommendations of TCFD.

Continued ta improve the quaiity of data on
risk reporting across the Group, including, as
mentioned above, the capture of climate-
related risks and opportunities data in line with
TCFD requirements leading to more robust
and engaging management reviews of risk
throughout the organisation.

Key areas of focus for 2022

We will continue to focus on deepening the
understanding and use of our risk management
data consistently across the Group.

We will further strengthen our Group risk

managernent framework, continuing to
henchmark against currert best practice

to support the organisation in effective
decision-making supporting delivery of the
Group strategy. This will include further refining
our rigk process to fully incorporate all elernenits
of TCFD risk reporting requirernents, including
aligning our risk reporting for all climate-related
risks to short, mediurm and fong-term horizons,
as per TCFO recommendations.

We will provide training on the updated Group
risk managemertt framework to ensure a
consistent methodology is used when
assessing, managing and reporting on risks.

We will assess the resilience of our business
strategy to clirmate change by develaping a
climate-related scenario analysis in line with
TCFD requirements.

These changes will lead to continued
improvernant and consistency of nsk reporting
and in turn support a timefy and robust
decision-making process.

There will also be considerable focus on both
the new ERP systerm and on the steps required
to address proposed UK 50X requirements,

Our risk governance framework

Board

Top~down

Sets tone onrisk management culture

Approval of Group's nsk appetite

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
Reviews the effectiveness of our risk
managerment andnternal controls systems

Monitors nsk exposures against risk appetite

Formal and transparent policies and procedures for risk ranagernent and internal controls J

r Determination of the nature and extent of the company's principal and emerging nisks, including chmate-related risks and opportunities ]

Approval of Interim and year end risk
disclosures, including clirmate -related risks
and oppertunities and viabllity staternent

A

Executive Committee

Robust assessment of the Group's
principal and emerging risks, including
climate-related risks and opportunities

Recommendation of iterim and year end
risk disclosures, including climate-related
risks and opportunities and viability
statement

A

Group Head of Risk

Bottom-~-up

ldentification, reporting and ongong
management of nsks. including cimate-
related nisks and epportunities

Operational executive responsibility for
the risk management appraach

Irmplementation of internal cantrols

Internal Audit (1A) }
Provision of assurance on the
key risks mitigating controls

Execution of nsk-based audit plan

and Internal Audit
Supports the ARC in evaluating the
effectiveress of risk mitigation strategies
and internat controls implemanted by
management

Managernent of outsourced IA function

Regular review of divisional nskregisters

A

A

[dentification and management of risks, including chmate-related risks and opportunities, at abusiness unit level

Risk awareness and safety cutture in day-to-day operations

Divisions, business units and functions

Internal cortrols monitoring
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Qurrisk appetite

The Group's risk appetite drives high standards
of health, safety and environmental compliance,
and a focus on cormmercial risks and
opportunities. This approach is understood
across the organisation, allowing us to
collectively build a profitable and leading market
share whilst lImiting the Group's risk exposires to
an acceptable level. This level of risk is considered
appropriate for Keller to accept in achieving
strategic objectives.

Riskidentification and impact

The Group's principal risks are analysed on an
inherent (pre-mitigation} and residual {post-
mitigation) basis.

Risk trends

The ongoing review of the Group's principal risks
focuses on how these risks may evolve as well as
a consideration of emerging and climate-related
risks, which under TCFD requirements we
identified and impact-assessed over the short,
medium and long term. As such, horizon
scanning and reviewang emerging potential
legislation will form key elements of the risk
review process. [hese elements will be adopted
and embedded within the Group's day-to-day
management of nsk and its current risk reporting
processes. The Audit and Risk Committee and
the Board reviewed the Group's principal risks
and uncertainties at their meetings n July 2021
and December 2021, Following a robust
discussion, the Audit and Risk Committee
concluded that a number of our principal risks
and uncertainties have changed since the
publication of last year's annual report.

These include ncreasing risk around:

+ changing environmental factors;
- not having the right skills to deliver; and

- falure to procure new contracts on
satisfactory terms.

Information on these and the Group's other
principal risks is set out on page 34 onwards,

Developing the viability statement

In developing the viabllity statement,
management reviewed the principal risks and
considered which of these risks might threaten
the Group's viability. It was determined that none
of the individual risks would in isclation
compramise the Group's viability, andsc a
number of different severe but plausible principal
risk combinations were considered. A downside
sensitivity analysis, as well as a censideration of
any mitigating actions avadable to the Group,
was applied to the Group's three-year cash flows
forecasted as part of the business planning

process and presented to the Board for
discussion, further to review by the Audit and
Risk Committee. The Board discussed the
process undertaken by management, and also
reviewed the results of stress testing performed
to ensure that the sensitivity analysis was
sufficiently rigorous. The Board alse carried out
arocbust assessment of the principal nisks facing
the Group, including those that would threaten
its business model. future performance. solvency
or liguidity.

Viability statement

In accordance with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code, the Directors
have assessed the prospects cf the Group
over athree-year period.

i} The Board selected the three-year period as:

» the Group's business planning and budget
processes are carried out over a three-year
period which provides the relevant estimates;
and

+ three yearsis a reasonable approximation of
the maxirnum time taken from procuring a
project to completion and therefore reflects
our current revenue earning cycle.

i} The review included cash flows and other
key financial ratios over the three-year penod.

These metrics were subject to sensitivity
analysis which involves flexing a number of the
main assumptions underlying the forecast both
individually and collectively. Downside sensitivity
analysis was carried out to evaluate the
potential impact on the Group of a globat
downturn in the construction/gectechnical
market. Revenues in 2023 and 2024 were
assumed to decrease by 10% year on year with
an cperating margin deterioraticn in proportion.
A number of other downside risks were also
modelled including worsening working capital
performance, inability to finance the Group's
busmess and unforeseen settiements arising
from solution failures or rectifications. As well as
combining multiple scenarios and modelling the
downside, we also considered scenarios where
covenants would be breached.

The circumstances giving rise to these scenarios
were considered extreme and remote. Further
details of the assumptions can be foundin note 2
to the consolidated financial staterments.

The Directors’ assessment has been made with
referance to the Group's current position and
prospects, the Group's strategy, the Board's risk
appetite and the Group's principal risks and how
these are managed, as detailed in the

Strategic report.

On the basis of the above and other matters
considered and reviewed by the Board during the
year, the Board has reasonable expectations that
the Group will be able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the
next three years. In doing so, 1t is recognised that
such future assessments are subject to a level
ol uncertainty that increases with time and.
therefore, future outcomes cannot be
guaranteed or predicted with certainty.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with
the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out in the
Strategic report. The financial position of the
Group, its cash flows and liquidity position are
describedin the Chief Financial Officer's review,
with details of the Group's treasury activities,
long-term funding arrangements and exposure
to financial risk included in note 25 to the
consohdated financial statements.

The Group has sufficient financial resources
which, together with internally generated cash
flows, will continue to provide sufficient sources
of liquidity to fund its current operations,
including its contractual and commercial
commitments and any propoesed dividends.
The Group is therefore well placed to manage
its business risks. After making enguiries, the
Directors have formed the judgement at the
time of approving the financial statements, that
there is areasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the 12 months from
the date of this Annual Report and Accounts.
For this reason, they continue te adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the financial statements.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The table on the following pages lists the
principal risks and uncertainties as determined by
the Board that may affect the Group and
highlights the mitigating actions that are being
taken. The content of the table, however, is not
intended to be an exhaustive list of all the risks
and uncertainties that may arise.

The COVID-1% pandemic is having and will
continue to have an impact across the entire
organisation. We have incorporated commentary
into affected principal risks and we will continue
to manage mitigation centrally as well

as regionally. We have also taken account of the
impact of climate-related risks and opportunities
on our principal risks and uncertainties.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Potentialimpact Demonstrable mitigation Risk movement [since 2020}

Inability to finance Alack of available funds Mixture of long-term committed debt with varying O
our business restricts investmentin rmaturity dates which comprise 2 £375mrevolving
Insufficient levels of growth opportunities, credit facitity with a maturity extended ta November )
funding, whether from whether through 2025 and a US private placement debt of $75m LO‘?’?"hg forward, as new
operating cash flaw or acquisition or maturing in 2024, The $5Gm note maturingin 2021 facilities are either required
external financing facilities,  nnovation. was redeemed from existing facilities. ‘é;rgqi:‘jg}t’:d‘"";“ iook at
=h 1!

that are necessary to in an extreme Active and open communication with the revolving aslongside traditLongz;[
support the business. circumstance, the fack credit facility banking group ensures that it funding alternatives.

of available funds could understands the Group’s financial performance

leadto afailure of the andis supportive of funding requirements.

ink to strat d
Link to strategiclever. Group to continue as

[ ] T2]4] ) Strong free cash flow profile with the abifity to turn
agoing concern. ) -
off capital expenditure and reduce dividends.

Embedded procedures to monitor the effective
management of cash and dabt, including weekly
cashreports and regular cashflow ferecasting
to ensure compliance with borrowing limits and
lender covenants.

Culture focused on ac trvely managing our working
capital; the annuai bonus plan is linked to executive
remuneration through an operating cash flow metric.
Please see the Directors remuneration report for
further information on metrics.

Monitoring of and response to externai factors that
may affect funding availability; as aresult of the
continued strong cash management. even taking
account of the ongoing impact of COVID-13, the
Board announced in November 2021 that it expected
leverage to be at the bottom end of the 0 5x~1 5x
guidedrange at 31 December 2021
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Key: Strategic lever
B Balanced portfolic

B Engineered solutions

B Operational excellence

n Expertise and scale

Key: Risk movement

Increased risk
Constant risk

Reducedrisk

Link to viability

Potential impact

Demenstrable mitigation

Risk movement [since 2020)

A rapid downturn in
our markets

Inability to maintain a
sustainable level of financial
performance throughout
the constructionindustry
market cycle, which grows
more than many other
industries during periods of
economic expansion and
falls more harder than many
other industries whenthe
economy contracts.

Link to strategic lever:

Reductioninthe
demand for cur
products and services
may lcad to a significant
detericration infinancial
performance, including
cash flow generation.

Inanextreme
circumstance, reduced
cash flow generation
couldlead to a failure of
the Group to continue
8$ a going concerr.

The diverse markets in which the Group operates,
bothin terms of geography and market segment,
provide protectionto individual gecgraphic or
segment slowdowns.

COVID-19 has continued to cause disruptionin
economic activity in several of the markets inwhich we
coperate. Whilst the Group has shown good resilience
to this change in 2021, it is likely that COVID-13 will
continue to depress the economies in affected
markets over the next 12 months. This may cause a
reduction in activity in the construction sector which
adversely affects the Group's order book.

Having strong local businesses within-depth
knowledge of the local markets enables early
detection and response to market trends.

Leveraging the global scale of the Group, talent and
resources can be redeployed to other parts of the
cornpany during individual market slowdowns.

The diverse customer base, with no single customer
accounting for rmore than 3% of Group revenue.
reduces the potential impact of individual customer
failure causedby an economic downturn,

As expected, we saw a
slight shrinking of the
construction marketin
2021, withrecovery moving
at different speeds in each
geography. Nerth America
was themost advancedin
recovery, with Eurcpe inline
with expectations and
AMEA remaining the most
challenging. We will
continue to mitigate
through our market position
across anumber of sectors
of the construction market
and are well placed to take
advantage of opportunities,
especially ininfrastructure.
We will continue to monitor
this risk closely, paying close
attention to anyimpact on
the size of our order book,
which has recoveredtoa
record level, and take
appropriate mitigating
actions.
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Strategicrisks

Risk Potential impact
Failure to procure

new contracts on
satisfactory terms

Failure to negotiate
satisfactory and
appropriate contractual
terms may resultin
delays and disputes
during project delivery,
negatively impacting
cur relationships with
our customers and the
Group's reputation for
delivering quality
products and solutions,

Increasing competition,
changing customer
requirements or aloss of
technological advantage
resufts ina failure to
continue to win and retain
contracts onsatisfactory
terms and conditions in
our existing and new

target markets. Inability to enterinto

commercially viable
cortracts mayhave a

Link trategi H -
nk to strategic lever negative effect on the

Demonstrable

gation

A focus onunderstanding customers’ requirements
and competitors' capabilities,

Structured bid review processes in operation
throughout the Group with well-defined selection
criteria that are designed to ensure we take on
contracts only where we understand and can manage
therisks involved.

The Project Lifecycle Managernent (PLM) Standard has
introduced more rigour into how risks are considered
during the opportunity, contract approval and project
executionphases

Sales training, which includes a focus on contractual
and commercial terms.

Risk movement (since 2020)

Ourbusiness depends on
purchasing materials
efficiently and in a timely
manner, linked to project
execution. COVID-19
continues to disrupt supply
chains, putting pressure
both on the continuity of
supply and also on pricing.

Fluctuations inthese costs
cannot always be passed on
in fulltothe customer,
especially with increased

BBEHD profitability of our competition for a reduced
projects and prevent number of cantracts, which
the Group from achieving puts pressure on bid pricing.
its targets. Qur focus on maintaining

our supply chain and
managing material price risk
for our critical materials is
actively managed through
our business unit
procurement teams.

Losing our Deiivering sustainable A clear business strategy with defined short, medium

market share growth is a key andlong-term objectives, whichis monitored atlocal, C

companent of our
strategy. Failure to
deliver on our key
strategic objective
may result in the loss
of confidence and trust
of our key stakeholders
including investors,
financial institutions
and customers.

Inability to achieve
sustainabie growth,
whether through
acquisition, new products,
new gecgraphies or
industry-specific solutions,
may jecpardise our position
as the preferred
international geotechnical
specialist contractor,

Link to strategic lever:

divisional and Group level.

Continued analysis of existing and target markets to
ensure opportunities that they offer are understood.

An opportunities pipeline covering all sectors of the
construction market.

A wide-rangirng local branch network which facilitates
customer relationships and helps secure repeat work.

Cortinually seeking to differentiate our offering
through service quality, value for money and
innovation.

North American businesses reorganisation delivering
oncross-selling opportunities. However, due to
COVID-19 there s an ongoing econcmic squeeze
globally, increasing pressure on velume/market share.

Minimising the risk of acquisitions, including getting to
know a target company in advance, often working in a
joint venture, to understand the operational and
cultural differences and potential synergies, aswell as
undertaking these through due diligence and
structured and carefully mamagedintegration plans.

While we are seeing
Improvement across the
US, seling awhole range

of services not previously
offeredinregions before
One Kefler was
implemented, due to
COVID-19 thereisan I
economic squeeze glopally,
increasing pressure on
volume/market share. This
s being somewhnat offset by
focused, targeted MEA
activity.

The focus on sustainabihity
continues to increase from
both government and
private clients and we are
well placed to take
advantage of opportunities
supported by our wide
product offering.
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Key: Strategic lever
Balanced portfolio

B Engineered sclutions

B Operational excellence

n Expertise and scale

Key: Risk movement

Increased risk
Constant risk

Reduced risk

Link to viability

Strategic risks continued

Potentialimpact

Demanstrable mitigation

Risk movemaent (since 2020)

Ethical misconduct
and nen-compliance with
regulations

Keller sperates Inmany
different jurisdictions and
is subject tovarious rules,
regulations and other legal
requirernents including
those related to anti-
bribery and anti-corruption,
Thereis arisk that the
Group fails to maintain
the required level of
compliance.

Link to strategiclever:

Non-compliance with
relevant laws and
regulations couldlead to
subslantlal damage to
Keller's reputation and/
or large financial
penalties.

Losing the trust of our
customers, suppliers
and other stakeholders
would have an adverse
effect onour ability to
deliver against our
strategy and business
objectives.

A Code of Business Conduct that sets out minimum
expectations for all colleagues inrespect of ethics,
integrity and regulatory requirements and s backed
by a training programme to ensure that it is fully
embedded across the Group.

A clear and confidential externally run ‘whistleblowing’
facility encouraging employees toreport any
suspected misconduct.

An Ethics and Compliance Officer at every business
unit who supports the ethics and compliance culture
and ensures best practice developed by the Group is
communicated and embeddedintolocal business
practices.

Regular workshops across the Group to ensure
compliance risks are identified and addressed.

Strengthened
communication of Keller's
tone atthetop and a
renewed focus onrisk
management and internal
control have maintained the
exposure of this risk.
Refresher training on code
of conduct taking place
across the Group.

Inability to maintain our
technological product
advantage

Keller has a history of
innovation that has givenus
atechnological advantage
which is recagnised by our
clients and competitors.
inability to maintain this
advantage through the
continued technological
advancementsinour
equipment, products and
sclutions mayimpact our
positionin the market.

Link to strategiclever:

Without a structured
innovation approach,
including sufficient
investment, Keller may
lose its competitive
advantage.

Innovation initiatives developed at both Group and
divisional level to ensure a structured approach to
innovation is in place across the Group.

Keller's continued investment in both external and
internal equipment manufacture.

Glcbal product teams set standards, provide guidance
and disserninate best practice across the Group.

Digitisation initiatives focusing on strategy of
facilitating equipment and operational data capture,
bringing information together and making it accessible
on a single platform. It willinclude all technical
information from Kelfler and third-party sources at
each stage of delivery, including data analysis and
visualisations where possible, andit will also be
BIM-compatible.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategicrisks continued

Demonstrable mitigation

Risk mevement {since 2020)

Changing environmental
factors

Changes in environmental
legislation and relevant
standards that impact
our product and service
afferings and an
increasingly active

public response to
environmental concerns
inthe sectorsinwhich

we operate.

Link to strategiclever:

Potentialimpact

Inability to achieve
Keller's commitment
to deliver solutionsin
an environmentally
CONsCious manner
may have a negative
impacton our
reputation, affect
employee morale
and lead toloss of
confidence from our
customers, suppliers
and investors.

Product offerings
became ocbsclete
because they are no
longer compliant

with environmental
standards. We may be
required toremediate
at our owncostto

Collaboration with the University of Surrey’s
Centre for Environment and Sustainability to
apply sustainabiity best practice to all
business functions.

The Sustainability Steering Committee

is responsible for integrating sustainability
targets and measures into the Group business
plan to successfully arive changes impaortant
to the company.

Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions verified
by accredited external third party
{Carbon Inteligence).

Carbon calculator tool used toidentify/
improve carbon efficiency.

Project team created to develop processes to
meet Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFO} requirerments.

Further details can be found inthe ESG and
sustainability section on pages 42 to 67.

While the focus around environmental
legislationis increasing, we believe this
will also present opportunities to us
that we are well placed to exploit.
Qurincreasing activity to improve
sustainability will put usin a good
position to compete with our peers

as opportunities arise.

We have now put in place targets for
Scopes 1, 2 and 3. for Scope 3, the
target covers transportation of
materials, business travel and
waste disposal.

We have also developed a process
to capture climate-related risks and
opportunities inline with TCFD
reporting requiremeants and now
have aclimate-related risk and

rmaintain compliance.

opportunity register.

Climate-related risks and opportunities

Climate change is 3 glabal threat and, as such, will continue to have many impacts across our business over the short {1 year), medium [2--5 years)
and long term {6-30 years). Nonetheless, we believe there are also many opportunities as we, and the rest of the world, look to decarbonise. We fully
support the aims of the TCFD and are using this framework to record and communicate the impacts of climate change on our business. We also use
this to improve our disclosure of climate-related financial information. Please see our TCFD dashboard on page 52 for further information. An update
on significant climate-related risks and opportunities is provided below:

Physical-Acute

Transition

Flooding, drought, heavy precipitation and other extreme
weather events, which are expected to increase over the
medium and long term, can affect our ability to conduct
geotechnical projects. Farest fires have impacted cur
Australiarnand Western North America business, directly
delaying projectsin this area, which could lead tolost
revenue. Floodingin Europe also delayed projectsinthat

reqion. These events may also cause harm to our employees

as well as damage to our buildings. yards and equipment.

Our management and project teams take aview onthe

risk factors that rmight adversely impact their ability to
successfully deliver any given project. These are formalised
within the Group-wide PLM Standard.

Kaller continues to offer new and sustainabie techniques for
working inour markets. See pages 47, 49 and 51 for more
details. Where these markets are exposed to acute or
chronic climate extremes, aur design skills, global reach
and product range enable us to deliver some of the most
complex projectsinthe industry We believe these factors
set us apart from our competitors and therefore

also present an opportunity.

We will lcok at these impacts, alengside chronic physical

Current and emerging
legisiation could impact
our financiaf
performance over the
medium term. As
governments introduce
carbon taxes and other
legislation, operating
costs and the costs of
raw materials may
increase.

Keller1s committed to
reducingthe carbon
intensity of our work,
which will aid mitigation
of theimpact of anylaws
or regulations. For more
details onwhat Keller is
doing, please referto
page 47.

Market
Thereis arisk that our customer base Lurtracty und
switches to our competitors over the medium ar
long term as a resuit of not responding to client
demand far lower-carbon solutions. This could
prove more costly for projectsrelated to the climate
transition, such as flood defence projects. Mare
carbon-intensive projects. such as those using jet
grouting, may see a decrease in client demand.

Keller has therefore develaped a number of more
sustainable construction splutions which will help
mitigate these market risks. For example, Keller's
vibro stone column solution can be used instead

of the traditional corntinucus-flight auger piling; this
technigue canreduce the embodied carbon dioxide
produced by up to 90%. Most of this saving is
achieved by replacing the use of concrete and
reinforced steel, which have high embodied carbon,
with lower embodied carbon stone aggregate.

To highlight the benefits of these lower embodied
carbontechnigues , we use the European
standardised EFFC-DF! carbon calculator

to demonstrate the carbon savings from
alternative snintinng
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Key: Risk movement

Increased risk
Constant risk

Key: Strategic lever

B Balanced portfolio B Operational excellerce Reduced risk

B Engineered solutions n Expertise and scale Link to viability

Operationalrisks

Risk movement {since 2020}

Potentialimpact

Demonstrable mitigation

Service or
solutions failure

In designing a productor a
solution for customers,
many factors need to be
considered including client
requirements, site and
loading conditions and local
constraints {eg
neighbouring buildings,
other underground
structures). Inadequate
design of acustomer
product and/er soluticn
may lead to an inability

to achieve the required
standard.

Misinterpretation of client
requirements or
miscommunication of
requirementsby the chent
may lead to a poorly
designed solutien and
consequently failure.

Link to strategic lever:

Failure to meet quality
standards could damage
our reputation, result in
regulatory action and
legal liability, and impact
financial performance.

The liability limitation
period of our products
isgenerally 12 years;
consequently, a poorly
designed product/
solution could have an
impact on ouriong-term
profitability.

Continuing to enhance our technological and
operational capabilities through investment in our
product tearns, project managers and our engineering
Capabillties.

Employing gectechnical engineers that are focused

purely on design.

Disaster Recovery/Business Ceontinuity Plans in place
andreviewed across the Group.

The global product teams set standards, provide
guidance and disseminate best practice across
the organisation for our eight key products.

We seek to agree liability limits in our contracts
with customers.

Insurance solutions are in place to imit financial
exposure of a potential customer claim.

Ineffective execution
of our projects

Failure to manage our
projects to ensure that they
are defivered ontime and to
budget due to unforeseen
ground and site conditions,
weather-related delays,
unavailability of key
materials, workforce
shortages or equipment
breakdowns.

Link to strategic lever:

{nability to successfully
deliver projects inline
with the agreed
customer reguirements
rmay resultin cost
overruns, contractual
disputes and
reputational damage.

Ineffective project
delivery may also expose
the Group to long-term
obligations including
legal action and
additional costs to
rermedy solution fallure.

Ensuring we understand all of our risks through the bid
appraisal process and applying rigorous policies and
processes to manage and monitor contract
performance.

Ensuring we have high-quality people delivering
projects. Keller's Project Management Academy and
Field Leadershup Academy are designed to create
project managers with a consistent skill set across the
entire organisation. The academies cover a broad
range of topics including contract management,
planning, risk assessment, change management,
decision-making and finance.

Keller Data Acquisition {(KDAQ) system enabling
cornparison of performance across sites using similar
products, identification of areas of best practice and
quickly raising awareness of where improvement is
needed.

Safety Standards for operations {eg platform, cage
handling}, Equipment Standards and fleet renewal.

The PLM Standard aims to drive a consistent approach
to project delivery with robust controls at every
project phase.

Afarmal, structured approach to Leanand 55 1s being
rolled out across the organisation, whichis improving
processes and strenathening Keller's workina culture.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Operational risks continued

Causing a serious injury or
fatality to an employee or
a member of the public
Failure to maintain high
standards of health and
safety, and anincreasein
serious injuries or fatalities
leading to an erosion of
trust of employees and
potential clients,

Link to strategiclever:

Potentialimpact

Inability to maintaina
positive health and
safety culture may lead
to damage to morale,
anincrease in ermnployee
turncverratesanda

decrease in productivity.

Deterioration in health
and safety performance
may lead to loss of
custormer, supplier and
partner confidence

and damage to our
reputationinan ares
thatweregardasa

top priarity.

Demonstrabfe mitigation

Risk movement {since 2020}

Board-led commitment to drive health and safety
programmes and performance with a vision of
zeroharm.

An emphasis on safety leadership to ensure beth
RSEQ professionals and operational leaders drive
imptementation and sustainment of our safety
standards through cngoing site prasence, using
safety tours, safety audits, safety action groups
and mandatory employee training.

Ongoing improvement of existing HSEQ systems to
identify and control known and emerging HSEG risks,
which conform to internal standards.

Incident Management Standard and incident
management software driving a robust and cansistent
management pracess across the organisation that
ensures the cause of the incident is identified and
actions are put in place to prevent recurrence.

Net having the right
skills to deliver

Inability to attract and
develop excellent people to
create ahigh-qualty,
vibrant, diverse and flexible
workforce.

Link to strategiclever:

Falure to maintain
satisfactory
performance inrespect
of our current projects
and failure to deliver our
strategy and business
targets for growth.

Continuing to nvest in our people and organisationin
line with the four pillars of the Keller People agenda as
noted below.

We are seaingincreased
competition for skilled
personnel as weall as
inflationary pressure on pay
across manylocations
where Keller operates. This
isleading toincreased risk
around recruiting and
retaining staff with the right
skitls to deliver.

Ensuring that the 'Right Organisation’isinplace
with peaple having clear accountabilities; each
arganisationat unit is properly configured with a
matrix of line management, functional support
and product expertise.

As anindustry leader, that Kefler is made up of 'Great
People' that are well trained, motivated and have
opportunities to gevelop to their full potential. Project
managers and field employees receive comprehensive
training programmes which cover a broag range of
topics including contract management, planning, risk
assessment. change management, decision-making
and finance.

A strong focus on the 'Exceptionsl Performance’
ofemiployaes in defivering commercial outcomes
safely for Keller based upon project successes for

our customers, Business leaders are incentivised to
deliver their annual financial and safety commitments
to the Group.

The Keller Way' provides guidance to the company’s
employees andleaders to comply with local laws
and work within Keller's values and Code of

Business Conduct.
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Key: Strategic lever
n Balanced portfolic

B Engineeared sclutions

B Operational excellence

B Expertise and scale

Operational risks continued

Key: Risk movermnent

Increased risk
Constant risk

Reduced risk
Link to viability

Potentialimpact

Demonstrable mitigation

Riskmovermnent [since 2024}

Risk of potential
disruptioninthe business
operations, reputational
damage and/orlossor
corruption of data
through external or
internal technical threats
and malicious action

Information security and
cyberthreats are aconcern
across industries
worldwide. The introduction
of digital solutions such as
InSite and KDAQ increases
the Group'sreliance onlT
andits inherent cyber risk
exposure.

Link to strategiclever:

Cyber security breach
couldresultinleakage of
proprietary informaticn,
aperational disruptions,
andloss of employee
and customer data.

Building a cyber security and information assurance
feam and services.

Building a zero trust layered technology capability.

Creation of an Infarmation Security Management
Systern framework, referencing industry standards
to ensure appropriate gevernance, control and risk
management and then onward management for
compliance, maturity and developrnent of service.

Intraduction of technical capabillities and services to
further enable prevention, detection, prediction and
response services.

Multi-factor authentication for all users prevents
unauthorised access to Keller's networks and
applications.,

Advanced threat protection on allIT equipment
delivers comprehensive, ongaing and real-time
protection against viruses, malware and spyware.

Data protection framework to ensure compliance
with the General Data Protection Regulation {(GDPR)
and other standards of data protection.

The threat landscape
continues to evolve each
year and so we continue
to adapt our monitoring,
detection, prevention and
education processes to
maintain a balanced risk
perspective.

We assess cyberrisks and
determine appropriate
actions for our business.
Existing capabllities
continue to be deployed
and enhanced if needed.

As anexample, having seen
over the fast two years the
rise in the number of
ransomware attacks and
the increased number of
reported attacks that target
hackup aswellas
production environments
across allindustries, we
have implemented a backup
solution for key services
thatis immutable and
cannot be encrypted.
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Peter Hill CBE
Chairman

d4

We have set our first net
zero targets by 2050.

y

Our corporate purpose,
‘building the foundations
for a sustainable future', is
at the heart of everything
we do. As the Director
responsible for ESG and
sustainability on the Board
| am passionate and
committed to this topic.

To reflect the growing importance of ESG
matters and to provide greater focus and
oversight, we announcedin July 2021 that
the Board had established two new Board
Comrittees the Environment Committee
and the Social and Community Carmmitiee.
In adgition, the Audit and the Nomination
Comrittees were renamed the Auditand
Risk and the Nomination and Governance
Committees respectively, to better reflect
thelr remits.

Our key ESG and sustainability metrics

Further detail with regard to the membership
and terms of reference for these Committees
can be found on page 78. This new Committee
structure allows for greater depth of
engagement and conversation and clear focus
in driving forward our ESG agenda; a quarterly
report on all ESG initiatives and deliverables by
the Group Campany Secretary and Legal
Advisor, to the Board, assures a clear reporting
line on all ESG matters to me. In 2022 we have
putin place a number of measures and targets
to both reflect Keller's ESG priorities and meet
increased reporting and compliance obligations
in this area.

We structure our approach to ESG and
sustainability according to the four Ps —Planet,
People, Principles and Profitable projects —and
align our sustanability strategy with the United
Nations Sustanable Development Goals (SDCs).
See page 44. These provide a holistic language to
communicate our sustainability framewerk with
all our stakeholders, regardiess of size, complexity
or location. Of the 17 SDGs, we specifically focus
on those that are most closely aligned to Keller's
core business and where we can have the
greatestimpact. We actively target SDGs 3, 4,5,
10,11,12,13, 15, 16 and 17, spanning arange of
environmental, sacial and economic pricrities.

ESGand
sustainability UNSDG Further
area alignment Objective 2021 KP) performance reading
Planet Carbon We are committed to reducing the carbon intensity CDP score, B Page 47
reduction of our work and increasing the quality and granularity
of our carbon reporting. Absolute tonnes of CO,e per Emrevenue, 85 Page 48
People Safety We want every person who works for us, or with us, Accident frequency rate, Page 65
. to go home safely at the end of each day. 0.07 per 133,000 hours werked 9
;e; Total recordable incident rate, B Pagess
L] 0.63 per 100,000 hours worked 9
Gender We are Keller recognises and embraces the broadest % of women in senior leadership, 18% Fage 56
equality definition ofdw?rsuty.Genderequrautyand % of women engingers, 1 3% Page 56
empowermentis a UN sustainability development v "
B tes
goal we have committed to prograssing. s ofwoman engineering gradua 8 Page 56
and apprenticeships, 13% B rage
Quality We are committed to investing inour emerging talent  Number ofengineering graduates, Fage 63
education and building diverse capability for the future. apprenticeships, intern and co-op
opportuntties, 238
Principles Good We want an effective internal framework of systems E£SG Committee structure and reporting Page 64
‘—c- governance  and controls inplace which clearly defines authority frameworkin place
-L‘ and accountability and promotes success whilst
permitting the appropriate management of risk.
Partnerships We want to partner with like-minded’ organisations Donation to UNICEF's Vaccines Appea), Page &5

to drive change in our organisation and the wider
geotechpicalindustry.

£300.000
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This year we saw continued progress against our
four global SDG initiatives, focused on carbon
reduction, gender DE|, safety, and good
governance, There are a number of additional
local initiatives, where our business units can
focus on areas of sustainability that are most
relevant to their local markets.

Impartantly, in respect of carboun reduction,

we have set ambiticus and achievable net zero
targets by 2050, We believe that carbon targets
are essential to mitigate global climate-related
risks while we pursue climate-related
opportunities inour operations and contracts,
We divide our emission targets using the scopes
set out Inthe Greenhouse Gas Protocol. We will
be net zero across all three emission scopes by
2050; net zero on Scope 2 by 2030, net zero

on Scope 1 by 2040 and net zero by 2050 on
Operational Scope 3. We bave started the
journey to implerment the short, medium and
long-term actions required to achieve these
goals. We have also started to report against
the requirements set cut in the Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures; however,
understanding the costs and opportunities of
climate change to our business will take some
time and we are actively progressing this
understanding in 2022. Further information

can be found on page 52.

lwas pleased that our CDP score improved in
2021 to a B and would like to thank our workforce
for their efforts across the ESG agenda.

Our role in building the foundations

for a sustainable future
Sustainability is at the heart of Keller's strategy for building the foundations

for a sustainable future. At Keller, we are committed to better understanding

our contribution to sustainable development and work collaboratively with
our customers and stakeholders to improve sustainability. We define what
sustainability means to Keller using the four Ps:

How we define ESG

Planet

We are helping to build a
sustainable future by using
less resources, reducing
carbon emissions and
reducing waste across our
operations, whilst playing
a positive role in our local
communities, the

People

We operate in a way
that respects people and
their health, safety and
environment, always
striving for zero harm.
Our motivating and
inclusive cutture makes
us a good employer

Principles

An effective framework
of systems and controls
ensures we manage risk
and run our company well,
and we seek out partners
wha understand our
principles and the
standards we operate by.

environment and wider that people are proud
society. to work for.
Formare information For more Information For more information
See pages 45t0 52 See pages 531063 See pages 64 and 65
Profitable projects

We continually innovate to support more environmentally
sustainable construction, actively transforming our
product portfolio to help our customers use fewer
resources, reduce their carbon emissions and improve
their environmental impact. Making sustainability core to
our business helps differentiate us from our competitors
and helps us achieve long-term profitability and growth.

e
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ESG and sustainability continued
Beneath each of the
. Our framework
four Ps, we align our
initiatives to the
. improvement
UN Sustainable imperative
DeVE]Opment Environment Social Governance
Goals (SDGs). _ ,
Driver Keller's four Ps
These goals provide a cormmon language for
us to cormmunicate sustainability initiatives {
giobally, both to our internal and external f
stakeholders. We have four global SDG
initiatives, with the whole Keller Group
focused on carbon, gender DEI, safety and Profitable projects
good governance. We then have a number of
other local initiatives, where our business units
can focus on areas of sustainability that are
mast relevant to our local markets. To measure ™ — m—
progress on these SDGs, we use metrics from ® ‘ ® Py &S
GRland the SDG compass. . Py .
Kelier's Chairman has ultimate responsibility for .
E_SG and sustainabﬁlity on the Board, including Planet People Principles
climate change topics. This reflects the Seepages 451052 Seepages 531063 Seepages b4 and 65
importance of these issues to our core
busmess, ensuring sustainability-related risks
and opportunities are viewed at the highest Glocbal
level. We describe this further on page 64 and v mew o=
inthe Governance report initiatives
Carbon reduction Safety Good governance
Bath the Executive Committee and Keller's Seepages 451048 Seepage 58 Seepage 54
divisions are represented on the Sustainability
Steering Committee. This Managerent
Comimittee allows divisions and functions
t§ raise sustainabn)itly challenges, inclgdlng Gender DE|
climate-related topics, to the executive and Seepages 531057
ultimately to the Board. It aiso acts as a place
to share sustainability best practices between
divisions and discuss sustainability strategy. Local
Meetings are held quarterly and are structured a man_ .
around Keller's four Ps, dedicating time to Planet, Initiatives
People, Principles and Profitable projects. Resifient cities Good health and wellbeing Partnerships
See page SO Seapages 59to61 See page 65
Resqurce use and Quality education
wastereduction Seepages62 and 63
Seepage 49
Tackling pellution Race DE]
Seepage 51 See pages 54 and 55
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Journey to net zero

This year, we set our first-ever
net zero carbon targets. These
targets represent Keller's
commitment to the planet

as we build the foundations

for a sustainable future.

These absolute targets will help us mitigate future climate-related risks and recognise
climate-related opportunities. We divide our emissions targets using the scopes set out
in the GHG Protocol.

Emissions targets
1 Net zerc by 2040
2 Net zero by 2030
3 Operaticnal Net zero by 2050

Offsetting

cancontrol net
Scope 1 SMISSIoNS
Net zerc

by 2040

Scopel

Scope 1 covers our direct emissions. These mostly anse fromthe
fuet use of our rigs and Keller vehicles. Already. we have continually
decreased or maintained our Scope 1 emissions per Em revenue
year on year since 2015 In terms of Scope 1 reduction, this year
we tralled hydrogenated vegetable allbiofuelin our ngs for the
first time. This nitiative, alongside many others, represents
stepping stones in our fleet and machinery decarborisation
strategy We therefore am to reach net zero for Scope 1
ermissions by 2040

Acceleration
from rig engine
manufacturers

Scope 2

Scope2

Scope 2 caovers indirect ernissions from the electricity we use.
These emissions mostly occur as a result of electnicity use in our
offices and maintenance yards. This makes Scope 2 the srmallest
of Keller's three emission Scopes. Scope 2 is dependent on the
carbon intensity of energy generation in the countries in which
we operate, but there are many opportunities to save electricity.
These savings have already included energy efficiency

Net zero
by 2030

Final 10% of all
countries’ emissions
slower to decarbonise

Scope 3
Operational

NS

Some
clents
already
offset
projects

Client
offsetting
likely to
increase

Dependent on supplier
innovation and active
artnerships

Collaborate and
offset to make
carbon neutral
solution

improvernents to our equipment and lighting, as well as
generating our own renewable energy. Therefore, we have
set g target to be net zero Scope 2 by 2030,

Scope 3

Scope 3 represents all other indirect ernissions from Keller's
supply network. This means Scope 3 is the largest proportion of
Keller's emissions. To reflect where we believe we can have the
mostimpact, we are initially focusing on Operaticnal Scope 3,
covering business travel, transportation of materials, and waste
disposal. Whilst Keller looks to reduce Scope 3 ermissions by
changing resource and service demand, we are stil dependent on
our supply network decarbonising their activities to achieve net
zera. Whilst we work with thousands of local suppliers worldwide,
we are looking to leverage our supply network and form strategic
partnerships to help decarbonise our overall operations. We have
set anet zero target for Operational Scope 3 to achieve by 2050,

2020

2030

' Expectedemissions anduncertainty relative to baseline

P stretchtarget

2050
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The time frame and feading targets we set for
each net zero commitment reflect the size and
the level of control we have aver each emission
Scope {see below).

To achieve our net zero targets, we have set a
number of leading targets. These are mostly
initially focused on improving our measurement
and innovation. To achieve these leading and net
zero targets, we apply the carbon hierarchy to
reduce the carbon intensity across all cur
aperations. This helns us decarbonise all our
functions, from procurement to our site
operations. First, we look to eliminate emissions

completely; this includes using Microsoft
Teams rather than traveling, or using ground
improvernent to eliminate the need for
concrete and steel foundations.

Next we lock to reduce emissions, suchas
through reducing the number of piles on a
praject, reducing pile diameter and fength, and
through using mere energy-efficient equipment.
From there, we look to substitute emission
sources, such as using lower carbon cement,
recycled materials or lower carbon energy. Finally,
for those remaining emissions, we will ultimatealy
look to use accredited carbon schemes to offset

these emissions. Additionally, multiple Kelter
business units already offer clients the abffity
to purchase carbon offsets for the ermnbadied
carpon of their foundations,

Many carbon savings, such as eliminating travel,
using ground improverment or reducing the size
of piles, offer financial savings. However, we
acknowledge that some innovations, such as
the use of mofuels or upgrading our rigs, will
represent an inibial capital expenditure or cost
to the busingss. This will be capturedin the
TCFD scenario analysis in next year's annual
report disciosure.

Relative size of our emissions {approximate)

Net zero 2040 Net zerc 2030

Directly within Keller G D In supply network

On-site
diesel —rigs

Diesel -
other equipment

Scopel Scope?

Yard and office
electricity

Net zerc 2050

Transport
and travel

Site waste

The carbon hierarchy
Elimi Eliminate emissions completely
iminate eg Teams instead of travel, eliminate concrete,
cement and steel
Reduce emissions
Reduce

ag reduce number of piles and plle diameter, improve the
efficiency of our processes

Substitute

Substitute emission sources

eg low-carbon cements, recycled steel/aggregate, offices
powered by renewable power

29 0O

Compensate

e carhon-neaative solutians carbon offsetting
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Carbonreduction

As we highlight in our journey to
net zero, Keller is committed to
reducing the carbon intensity
of our work and increasing the
quality and granularity of our
carbon reporting. Throughout
2021, we continued to measure
our performance on carbon
reduction, and wider climate
change governance, ina
number of different ways.

As inprevious years, Keller disclosed our
performance to CDP: CDP assesses the

carbon intensity of Keller's operations, as wel|

as our ability to identify and mitigate climate-
related risks and opportunities. In 2021, we
achieved & score of B. This is an improverment

on our score in 2020, with improvements in all
disclosure categories. This means Keller remains
above the glubal average CDP score of a 8- Since
this COP score reflects our progressin 2020, the
score does not include our progress cn setting
net zero targets, nor our improvements on TCFD
climate risks and opportunities disclosures. These
should be reflected in next year's CDP score.

Keller has a number of ongoing initiatives to
improve the energy efficiency of our operations.
Interms of Scope 1 reductions, all the rigs we
produced in 2021 were electrohydraulic or fitted
with the latest tier 5 engines. This reduces our
emissions on site, improves fuel efficiency and
reduces our fuel consumption. Through our
in-house rigmanufacturers, we are constantly
innovating to develop the rigs of the future; this
includes developing more efficient machinery
and tnalling biofuels in our rigs. Qur vehicle fleet
is also alarge source of emissions. Therefore,

in North America, where vehicle emissions are
largest, we are trialling hybrid trucks as a way to
reduce carbon emissions and improve air quality.

Qur Scope 2 emissions are predominantly from
permanent operations in our offices and yards.
In particular, cur rig manufacturing division, KGS,
has one of the largest individual yard emissions
in Keller Group. We have therefore placed
particular focus an decarbonising this yard, with
a specific carbon reduction strategy. This has
been funded from KG5' existing rolling budget
for improving their yard and equipment. All our
European business units are implementing
recommendations from Energy Efficiency/
ESQOS audits, with improvements including
installing LED lights, replacing old single-glazed
windows and educating employees about
saving energy. Certain offices, such as the UK
and Austria, generate therr own renewable
energy using solar panels, Similarly, multiple
hranches, such as Germany and the UK, have
switched to entirely green eneargy tariffs.

Both Keller's Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions
are independently third-party verified. Thisis an
important step that we take to properly menitor
progress on our carbon targets and mitigate key
climate-related risks.

In 202 1. we started proactively monitoring our
Scope 3 emissions on key projects, training over
100 employees on the EFFC - DFlembodied
carbon calculator. This has enabiled us to offer
lower-carbon solutions to our clients, as well

as helping identify carbon-intensive Scope 3
hotspots to target with future carbon
reductioninitiatives.

Kimberly Martin joined Keller in December
2020. As Senior Engineer for Innovation and
Sustainability, she is North America’s first
engineer focused on sustainability.

Kimberly is a leading light in the geotechnical
sector's sustainability journey. She is an active
member of the Geo-Institute and Deep
Foundations Institute sustainability
committees. She has also been selected

to sit on the board for the Institute of Civil
Engineers’ Engineering Sustainability journal.

As part of this journey, Kimberly has begun to
rolt out the sector’s standard carbon calculater
in Keller North America.

“To make it easy for project managers to

use, we've connected the calculator to our
estimation spreadsheet,” says Kimberly.

"This allows us to quickly compare techniques
and highlight low-carben eptions to our

rliante mittinnicin a ctrmnnar nocitinn $a

Focusing engineering on sustainability

Kimberly is also locking at how we can reduce
the carbon footprint of our technigues. Ina
series of innovation projects, Kimberly is working
alongside the North Arnerica Scil Mixang Product
Team to investigate the use of lower-carbon
materials and mix designs. The team’s goals are
to decrease Portland cement consumption and,
in sorme cases, improve mixability which can lead
toareductionin diesel use.

4 4

As well as being the right thing to
do, sustainability is becoming more
important for clients, particularly
those who want supportin
reaching their own targets.”

Kimberty Martin

Senior Engineer for Innovation and
Qrictainahilitv Kallar Nearth Amiarica
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Third-party assurance statemeant

Independent verification in accordance with best
practices required by 150 14064~ 3 Standard on
the Scape 1 and Scope 2 GHG accounts has
been provided by Carbon intelligence. Their
summary opinion is provided below {full opinion
and recommendations are available on request).
Based on the data and information provided by
Keller and the pracesses and procedures
conducted, Carbon Inteifigence conciudes with
limited assurance that the GHG assertion:

« is materfally correct;

+ isafalr representation of the GHG emissions
data and information; and

- s prepared in accordance with the criteria
listed above.

It is our opinion that Keller has established
appropriate systerns for the collection,
aggregation and analysis of quantitative data for
determination of these GHG emissions for the
stated penod and boundaries.

Keller's 2021 Scope 1 emissions increased since
2020. Scope 1 fuel emissions are highly
dependent on the projects completed annually.
Therefore, since we have completed more work
this year than during the COVID-19 restrictions
of 2020, cur emissions have increased. However,
the carbonintensity of aur operations per Em
revenue has remained level. Ongoing COVID-19
pressures on market pricing and operational
disruption across our business meant this
relative metric remained unchanged, despite a
riumber of carbon saving irmtiatives. Scope 2
efectricity emissions are mostly from office and
vard operations. Therefore, the continued
decrease in Scope 2 location-based emissions
this year, even as some businesses returned 1o
hybirid or office working, reflects the imiproving
energy efficiency of our permanent site
operations. The growing difference between
location-based and market-based Scope 2
emissions also reflects how some of our
business units are now pracuring renewable
electricity for the first time.

Since we work with iocal suppliers oneach
project, we have thousands of suppliers in our
value chain. This complexity means that we have
initially focused our Scope 3 reporting disclosure
on business travel in key rmarkats, Scope 3
business travel has increasead since 2020 as
COVID travel restrictions were lifted. We
continue to develop our Scope 3 reporting to
include the rest of our Operational target.

Group 2021 2020 2019 2018
Energy use MWh 741,579 691,074 811881 817256
Scope 1 tonnes CO,e 183,112 169,216 198,289 202238
Scope 2 (market-based) tonnes CO,e 6,574 7,091

Scope 2 liccation-based} tonnes CO,e 6,723 7,094 9,159 9,349
Total Scope 1 & 2 (market-based) tonnes COe 189,686 176,307

Total Scope 1 & 2 {location-based) tonnes CO,e 189,835 176310 207448 211,587
Absolute tonnes of CO,e per Emrevenue 85 85 90 95
Keller UK 2021 2020 2019 2018
Erergy use MWh 19,699 12,549 16,724 16,496
Scope 1tonnes CO,e 4,961 3033 3915 3.850
Scope 2 Imarket-based) tonnes COe 0 218

Scope 2 (location-based! tonnes CO,e 69 219 265 295
Total Scope 1& 2 [market-based) tonnes CO,e 4,961 3,251

Total Scope 1& 2 llocation-based) fonnes CO,e 5,030 3252 4,180 4,145
Absolute tonnes of CO e per Emrevenue 50 53 64 66
Scaope 3 business travel tonnes CO e 97 78

Note that some of the fuelwe Use In our equibment 1s pur¢hased by the main contractor and we are urrently unable toreport on these
ersyons due to difficulties with collecting accurate data.

Keller Group 2021 and 2020 greenhouse gas emissions (¢CO, e}

North America {*000s}

N
i
o] 15 30 45 60 75

Europe ['000s)
EZR N |
EX N N |
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90 50
AMEA('000s)
“Ii B tovipmentcieser [ Pevol [l Diese
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Resource use and
waste reduction

This initiative reflects the
contribution Keller can make
towards the circular economy.
In particular, we lock to reduce
raw material use, increase our
use of secondary materials,
reduce waste to landfill and
allow for pile reuse.

We recognise the large volumes of materials
used and produced on our sites, so have started
a number of projects to improve these Impacts.
Keller routinely promotes ground improvement
solutions as a way to reduce raw material use

on site. Ground improvement uses natural or
recycled materials to improve ground load
carrying capacity. This reduces or completely
rermuves Lhe need for heavy foundations. In turn,
this reduces the volume of cement and steel
used on site, saving primary resource use, and
potentially offering a financial saving to our
clients. The reduced need for heavy foundations
also reduces the carbon intensity of the

overall praject.

As well as addressing our use of raw materials,
we are also keen to reduce waste. Of all the
geotechnical solutions we offer, our jet grouting
solutions have traditionally used the most water
and created the most waste spoil. Therefore, our
research and development teams have been

trialling ways to monitor and reduce these impacts.

Using a cormbination of filter chamber presses,
centrifuges and shale shakers. we are now able
to reduce the valumes of waste water and spoil
produced on jet grouting sites. As well as
reducing the cost of waste disposal, this has the
added benefit of reducing the number of trucks
required to transport materials off site. This
reduces congestioh around our sites, improving
air quality and reducing our impact on the

local community.

We also have a number of ongoing research
projects looking to use alternative materials
for jet grouting. Building on the success of
our Halocrete® and Neutrogel® innovations
announced in the 2020 annual report, we are
now developing other, non-toxic, low-carben
grouts for other geotechnical purposes.
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Resilient cities

With this SDG, we focus on
improving our impact onthe
local communities in which we
operate. We also focus on
ensuring our selutions offer
resifience for cities and
communities facing the physical
risks of climate change.

Mary of our business units work with local
organisations and wildlife trusts to improve
their local environment, For example, our indian
Business Unit used remaining cement left over
from one project to make bricks for local
community construction projects.

Ag subcontractors and contractors on sitein
urban areas, we make use of dust suppression
and baffling to minimise the /mpact of dust and
notse on the local environment. We also typically
use local material suppliers to support focal
businesses, reduce transport distances and
reduce congestion around our sites.

We recognise that every community and city that
we operate in has different sustainability needs.
Therefore, alongside our Group-wide
comrnitments, each of our business units have
their ownlocal sustainability priorities. We take
this same approach to our projects. For example,
on treating the physical effects of climate
change, Keller works on flood defence projects
and projects focused on ground remediation
treating desertification. We continue to develop
our product partfolio to meet these growing
markets, We promote these products both
directly ta clients and through our existing
sustainabiiity brochure.

a4

We are committed to improving our
environmental impact by offering clients
more environmentally sustainable
solutions wherever possible.
Strengthening weak soils with columns
of compacted crushed concrete, recycled
from other construction projects, is one
such solution.

Tudor Parkis an upscale housing development
project in Hoofdorp, near Amsterdam. We
proposed vibro stone columns for a multi-
storey, 31-unit apartment block as the best
technical, econornical and sustainable ground
improvement solution.

The techrigue invelves penetrating the
ground using a depth vibrator, filing the void
with crushed recycled concrete snd then
compacting it with the vibrator Each column
is then checkead faor quality, and surveys are
carnad out to ensure the soils inbetween
meet the required density.

The process is fast, easy to do and doesn't
require any additives such as cement, The
method is also ideal for contaminated ground,
as it doesn't create any spoll that would
otherwise have to be disposad of.

Sustainable solution sets Keller apart

We estimate that using stone columns on this
project. rather than a heavy foundation using
cement and steel, saved around 260 tonnes
of CO,e. This is equivalent to saving 56 cars
running for a whole year. Using recycled
materials also saved some 2,500 tonnes

of aggregate from being mined.

4 4

Solutions like this demonstrate our
commitment to a more sustainable
future. We look forward to offering
many more clients quality,
low-carbon solutions for both
infrastructure and residential
projects.”

Richard Looij
Project Manager
Central Europe




Keller Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2021 Strategic Report

Tackling pollution

Keller is committed to delivering
its solutions in a socially and
environmentally conscious
manner. Over recent years
reporting processes have
improved and performance

is generally encouraging.

We did not have any environmental prosacutions
in 2021. The overall number of envircnmental
incidents remained in line with those reported
the previous year, with most incidents being
rminor hydraulic ieaks. We have therefore begun
implementing an updated equipment inspection
process using cur site software prior to each shift
commencing, in an effort to reduce the number
of minor spills.

We continue to work on our preventative
maintenance programmes to ensure that we
address any issues before the event occurs. in
addition, we ensure that secondary containment
is in place for stored equicment and materials.
We continually seek to improve our processes

on site, specifically around jok planning, to ensure
that we 1dentify, mitigate and control our risks
and minimise our environmental impact.

Whilst as subcontractors we have minimal
cantrol on biodiversity on site, multiple business
units continue to engage with wildlife trusts to
promote local biodiversity.

Combining a range of geotechnical
products and environmental innovation,
Keller is helping create a new future for
Norway's leading cancer hospital.

The Radiumhaospitalet in Oslo is undergoing
a major transformation, replacing cutdated
buildings with a state-of-the-art treatment
centre.

Keller's foundation solution cormbined bored
piles with a jet grout seal and anchors. A
back-flow treatment plant for jet grouting
was alsoincluded. This filters the water in the
spoil, which can then be reused, reducing the
amount of spoil sent to landfill. To avoid
overconsumption of the concrete caused by
the soft clays, the ground was pre-stabilised
using deep scil mixing.

Noise reduction was a priority on the live
hospital site. Keller mitigated this through
reverse circulation drilling. This involved
water-powered, rather than air-powered,
machinery, which is guieter, and also reduces
vibraticn and the risk of settlement.

Keller brings expertise to hospital project

4 4

The government was looking for a
quality solution, but also one that
considered the environment. We
were able to design a complete
solution that reduced risk, noise
and waste, and worked in difficult
and low-headroom areas.”

Dominik Gachter

Regional Manager
South East Europe and Nordics
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TCFD dashboard (Non-financial and sustainability information statement)

In meeting the requirements of Listing Rule inthe table below we cross-refer to where the Statuskey
9.8.6.R we have conciuded that disclosures are located or provide reason for
partial compliance. On assessing compiiance 0 Completa
- We comply with recommended disciosures we took into consideration the guidance
sround Governance, Risk management, and documents referred to in the quidance ® Inprogress
Metrics and targets. notes to the Listing Rules.
+ We partially comply with recommended 0 Naot yat started
disclosures arpund Strategy,
TCFD Cross-
elements TCFD recommended disclosures reference Status  Next steps and other comments
Governance  Board's aversight of climate-related n 0 Aguarterly report on all ESG initiatives and deliverables by
risks and opporiunities Seepages 44, the Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor, to the
e » 77.and78 Board, assures a clear reporting line on all ESG matters,
including cimate change, to the Chairman and the Board.
Management’s role in assessing and n 0 The Sustainability Steering Committee oversees
managing climate -related risks and Seepages dd, environmental matters and ciimate-related risks and
opportunities 77.and 78 opportunities.
Strategy Climate-related risks and opportunities H Q As our matunty grows and we embark on scenario
Keller has identified aver the short, See pages 32 planning, we willincorporate insight from the wider
<§> medium and long term and 38 business and across cur value chain to identify and assess
climate-related risks and opportunities.
Impact of climate-reiatedrisks and ﬁ @ The impact of these risks and opportunities was
oppertunities on Keller's businesses, See pages 32 considered in the preparation of our sensitivity analysis
strategy and financial planning and 38 for the 2021 viability statement. The longer-term

impacts, including the costs of mitigation measures such
as reaching our net zero goals, will be considered in our
financial planning processes during 2022.

Resilience of Keller's strategy, taking into As above. Inaddition, some qualitative assessment has

consideration different climate-related Seepage 32 been conducted to support our COP disclosures. Thisis
scenarios. including a 2°C or fower our starting point to prepare for fuli disclosure next year.
scenario
Risk Kelier's processes for dentifying and E We continually assess our overall nsk management
management assessing climate-related risks See pages 32 processto ensureit remains fit for purpose and will review
and 38 theintegration of TCFD requirements into our existing
o Keller's processes for managing E processto ensure we continue to gain maximum benefit
chmate-related risks Ses pages 37 through harmonising our risk management processes.
and 38 We will strive to improve cur approach to identifying,

assessing and aging all risks and opportunities.
How processes for identifying, assessing n S5€55INg anG managing atr PP )

and managing climate-related risks are See pages 32

integrated into Keller's overall risk and 38

managemeant
Metrics Metrics used by Keller to assess E These metrics will continue to develop as we grow our
and targets  climate-related risks and opportunities Seepages 46 scenario analysis,

inline with strategy andrisk and 48

management process

Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 n We willbe net zero on Scope 2 by 2030, net zero on Scope

greenhouse gas {GHG) emissions ang Seepage 48 1 by 2040 and net zero by 2050 on Scope 3 Operational,

related risks We have already started to implement the actions

reguired to measure progress and achieve these goals.

Targets used by Kefler to manage E
climate-related risks and opportunities See pages 45
and performance against targets ang 46

We continue to develop internal leading targets to
mitigate climate risks and realise opportunities.

O O O OO0 o
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Diversity, equity
and inclusion (DEI)

"We are Keller' sets out our
Inclusion Commitments and
brings together what we are
doing to build a more diverse,
equitable andinclusive
workplace. While gender
equality and empowerment
remains a priority, ‘We are Keller’
recognises and embraces the
broadest definition of diversity.
This isimportant because our
ermployees represent the
broadest range of backgrounds,
cultures, experiences,
perspectives and insights.

We believe this is fundamental
to the successful delivery of our
business strategy and to best
serve our customers around
the globe.

Conscicus

Leadership

Improve accountability
through inclusive and
conscious leadership.

By empowering and
equipping our leaders
to excelin this space.

Partner

Partner with
‘like-minded’ organisations
threugh inclusivity.

To drive necessary
change in the industry.

OurInclusion Commitments

Listen T

Listen and engage
with our workforce.

Through employee-led
affinity groups and
workforce engagement
opportunities.

Evolve

Continue to evolve as
the employer of choice
inour industry.

To attract, inspire and
retain a more diverse
group of talent.

Empower ﬁ?rm

Empower and invest
in our warkforce.

By creating an environment
of continuous learning and
development to support
our people in reaching their
full potential.

=
Celebrate

Celebrate our differences
and all that unite us.

Through earmarking key
global events that
represent the breadth
of our workforce,

New reverse mentoring programme

Keller introduced a reverse mentoring
programme this year to enable senior
executives to have in-depth conversations

with employees with different backgrounds

and life experiences to them.

Jose Martinez, Vice President Operations,
Keller North America mentored Kerry Porritt,

Kerry about being treated differently because
of the colour of my skin and times when | hid
my culture to fitin”

Kerry says: "l was really fortunate to be
partnered with Jose because he was so

Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor.

Jose says: "It was alittle intimidating because
Kerry is on the Executive Committee, but with
a bit of training and time, | became more at

ease with the process.

"l was born and raised in Puerto Rico, left harme
at 17 and didn't speak good English, but [ went
to college and got my degree. | talked with

committed to the process and so open about
sharing his life experiences.

"What the sessions highlighted is that,

although the challenges and opportunities
averyone has growing up can be so different, it
seems to me everyone is looking for a sense

of belonging — of being listened to and heard.”

Conscious leadership is one of our Inclusion
Commitments, It is a unique and critical
capability that will help us adapt to diverse

customers, markets, ideas and talent.

Kerry Porritt
Group Company
Secretary and
Leqal Advisor

Jose Martinez
Branch Manager
(Texas)
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Progressin 2021
We developed ‘We are Kefler'; our commitment

to making our sites and offices more inciusive
in2020.

Fotlowing its launch, we spent a significant
amount of time delivering Inclusive Leadership
workshops to our global leadership team and
wider workforce.

This first stepwas critical to help our teams
understand the broader concept of DE! and how it
connects with our business, and to provide them
with the means to contribute to our aspiration of
becorming a diverse, equitable and inclusive workplace.

Recent progress

Diversity, equity and inclusion:

i

Established Keller Women in
Construction 'KWIC') in Europe and
AMEA and celebrated the one-yaar
anniversary of KWIC North America.

/

Developed a best practice toolkit which
provided our giobal leadership teams with
tools and resources to identify activities and
Initiatives that will help us deliver on our
strategy and drive change in the longer term.

o
Ly
o@a

Delivered an extensive DEI
communications campaign across the

Group based on our Inclusion /

Commitrnents to raise awareness.

Developed and launched our Foundations

of Wellbeing, an inclusive, people-led
approach to wellbeing (see page 571 /

/

s

Launched the Pitcairn Geotechnical
Engineering Scholarship to attract the
pest of the next generation of experts

with a particular focus an improving gender
and ethnic diversity. /

Partnered with the 30% Club, 2 global
campaign cormmitted to improving gender

and senicr management levels.

and ethnicity representation at board /

Partnered with conscious and inclusive
resourcing firms such as FOM Group,

who provide opportunities for ex-military,
returners to work and graduates. /

Keller UK continued to partner with
SCS, Women in Construction and
Tideway on a six-manth pilot programme

il

Held listening sessions to understand the
benefits, barriers and opportunities of
working on site as an underrepresented
minority. The cutcomes were shared with
local management to consider appropriate
actions to retain and attract diverse talent.

to develop their approach to gender
diversity and DEL,

it %’%@

Established a Race Advisory Committee.
This has focused on outreach events with
underprivileged schooi kids in Chicage and
raised awareness through targeted

campaigns linked to key global events

including Black History Month, Asian Pacific
Islander Heritage Month and Juneteenth/

Mandated diverse candidate slates for
leadership vacancies and introduced an
internal recruitment process that advertises
vacancies glotally to encourage mobifity
and provider broader opportunities across
the business.
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Key

P Consciousleadership
°@° Improve accountability through

inclusive and conscious leadership

Evelve
Continue to evolve as the employer
of choice inourindustry

Listen
Listenand engage with our workforce

Partner
@ Partnerwith'like-minded’ arganisations

through inclusivity

Empower

ﬁrﬁn

Empowerand invest inour workforce

i Celebrate
W2§9 Celebrate our differences and all that unites us

Y

Continued to celebrate and recognise key
global events that represent the breadth of
cur workforce. During the year we recognised
Lunar New Year, International Women's Day,
Ramadan, Eid ul-Fitr, Earth Day, Pride month,
Global Day of Parents, International Women
in Engineering Day, World Suicide Prevention
Day, Global Diversity Month, World Mental

Health Day, Diwali, International Men's Day.
Hanukkah and Chrnistmas. /

B>

Started a reverse mentoring programme
for our executive team. Pairing them with
colleagues from different backgrounds to
broaden their understanding of DEl issues
affecting our workforce and helping them

develop additional inclusive leaderships SKHIS/

&

Took part in Construction Inclusion Week
which unites the industry in celebrating
diversity and building inclusivity. Keller crew
toolbox talks covered leadership
commitment and accountability, unconscicus
bias, supplier diversity, jobsite culture and
community engagement.

/

Keller India partnered with Bhumi
to educate disadvantaged children,
including educational sessions at
schoels for girls.

Held diverse hiring webinars to share best
practice across the Group and some regions

adjusted their interview guides to /

recommend mixed gender panels.

G

Built visibility of our female talent pipeline
through the delivery of our Unearthing
Potential talent development programme
and are looking at targeted interventions te
improve representation.

Developed/enhanced inclusive workforce
policies in some regions including improved
parental leave, flexible working, phased return
to work from maternity including advising
managers on pregnancy safety, PPE
requirements and arranging designated
nursing facilities, implementing paid
domestic violence leave for Keller employees
and emergency accommodation.

i

The National Centre for Diversity
awarded Keller UK Senior Leadership
Team of the Year. This celebrates
excellence in promoting fairness,
respect, equality, diversity, inclusion
and engagement. Keller UK was also
shortlisted for five categories at the
Ground Enginaering Awards including
EDI Champicn of the Year Award.
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Measuring and evaluating our success

Having an effective feedback culture is essential
to drive improvement and monitor progress. At
Keller, inclusion is prirnarily measured via
engagerment surveys and focus groups and we
have spent a significant time during the year
checking in with colleagues to understand
whathear our working environment is ona whare
everyone feels respected, accepted, supported
and valued. The following positive data points
relating to inclusion are based on the four
surveys undertaken during the year:

Qur inclusion and diversity data

Asat Asat
31 December za21 71 December2Gz0
Gender [Fernale rapresentation} No % No %
Board members 4 57% 4 57%
Executive Cornmittee 2 18% 2 15%
Globalleadership team 5 9% 5 5%
Engineers 200* 13% 106 7%
Engineering graduates and apprentices 20 13% NR NR
Totalworkforce 1,061 11% 955 10%

‘Keller respects individual differences’

Current Kefler score:

Notes: Alldata as &t 31 December 2021, Global leadership team excludes Executive Committee members. NR. Mot reparted
*Engineers includes Engmeering, Project Management, Business Development and Estimating warkforce,

Our gender diversity statistics show anincrease in female representation at Executive Committee
{3%), engineering roles (6%) and total workforce {1%). Whilst global leadership team remains
unchanged, we are committed to improving representation in this population.

(Score above globail construction andg
heavy ndustry benchmark of 78%)

'l can voice a contrary opinion without
fear of negative consequences’

Current Keller score:

/3%

(Score above global construction and

heavy industry benchmark of 70%)

/

We acknowledge that representation matters
and are committed to measuring and monitoring
gender diversity throughout the organisation.
Building Balanced Teams, a new robust reporting
framework, will enabile us to measure
representation at every level of the organisation
andidentify specific activities that will not only
attract and retain a more diverse group of talent,
but continue to enhance our culture ofinclusion
The frarmmework includes tracking key metrics
relating to the talent cycle such as hiring.,
prometion and turnover rates which will ughlight
specific workforce processes that may need
addressing. In addition, the Executive team
provide quarterly updates on therr divisional and
functional DEl priorities and progress updates
are shared with the Social and Community
Committee (see page 8&).

TR

Keller Women in Construction (KWIC)

KWIC are committed to improving gender
representation and equality and continued
to raise the profile of women at Keller.

KWIC (North America) celebrated their first
anniversary in February and this was an
opportunity to celebrate 'Girl Day Challenge’
where emngloyees were encouragedto
engage with girls and younger werren in
engineering. The team also featured in the
external publication Piledriver Magazine,
hosted awomen's heath webinar at Keller, and
successfully launched a female mentoring
programme pilot for North America, They
hosted three webinars and faciitated a
discussion on women's health with the support
of the logal HR community. For wormen in the
field, KWIC worked alongside providers to
develop PPE specifically for women,

KWIC (Furope), established in April, are
committed to attracting, inspiring, supporting
and developing wormen in Kefler. They have
four working groups, €ach tasked with
addressing one of their key ‘pillars’. They are
currently undertaking a gender pay gap
assessment for Curope which will highlight
underlying causes that may need addressing.
I addition, they are collaborating with KWIC
{North America) to understand best practice
andlesseons learnt in developing a mentoring
scheme for the division.

KWIC (AMEA), established earlier this vear,

are committed to understanding fermale
axperiences inthe workplace, career
development, recruitment and retention and
fostering a supportive environment. They have
predominantly focused on facilitating listening
sessions with a selection of women warking
acrass the division to understand where to
focus their efforts. The outcomes of this
exercise, together with that of business unit
employee surveys, will give local management
concrete actions in terms of next steps.

KWIC (Europe) are committed to attracting,
inspiring, supporting and developing
women in Keller

Attract Inspire Support Develop
Educat Rof,
weation ole Talk Cornmunication
engagement  models
Con it
mmunity Allyshi Lesten Coachirg
engagement
O
nboarding Socal Mentoring
and new Tools and
media andreverse
starter resources
promoticn mentonng
support

Survey shd engagement
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Case study

All leading companies want to get better -
no matter how good they already are.
One of the best ways to do thisis to ask
employees for their opinions and this is
something we're now doing more of at
Keller.

Cur culture and engagement proegrarmme
encourages employees to share ther
thoughts In an anonymous survey, and then
discuss the results and decide actions to
improve as a team. One of the first business
units to be involved was Moretrench Industrial.

"If we're going to attract the best people and
get thern to stay, we have to have the right
culture. That means having a better
understanding of what employees like, what
they don't, and what's on their mind. This helps
to address issues as they arise and keep
people happy.” says John Carpenter, President
Moretrench Industrial. “The new Keller
employee survey facilitates all of this.”

Keller colleagues tellit like it is

Results across the board were broadly very
positive, with the majerity saying they were
happy with the company and their positioninit.
Attention to health and safety scored particularly
highly and people also said they believe the
company is heading in the nght direction.

Acritical part of the survey process s acting on
the results. John and his management team
discussed the findings, whichin tum were
communicated to site teams as part of morning
briefing sessions.

“The survey is very much a starting point for
discussion; once you have that mechanism you
can dig deeper and people are much more likely
toopenup”he says.

The survey made Justin Schuman, Equipment
Manager, realise the value of talking to his team
more ‘| have all these analytics telling me what
my equipment is doing, but you sometimes lose
sight of the fact that we have these incredibly
experienced operataors who can give you so
much more information when you talk to them.”

Wanting to better leverage that experience,
Moretrench is now implementing a menitor
scheme. Qther improvernents to come out of
the survey are a new employee-recognition
scheme, and the introduction of more formal
performance reviews for some colleagues.

"At the end of the day," concludes Justin, “it's
our employees who are getting the work done,
50 glving them the chance to speak freely is
the only way we're going to find cut what they
need, and what we need to do tc support
thern and grow as & company.”

93%

of employees are proud to work
for Moretrench Industrial

91%

would recommend Moretrench

as agreat place to work /
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Safety

We want every personwho
works for us, or with us, to go
home safely at the end of each
day. To achieve this, we are
committed to effective HSE
leadership and management,

cantinually developing a positive

safety ethos of understanding,
transparency and learning, and
the promotion of healthy
behavicurs to help avoid illness
or injury arising from pecple’s
work or lifestyle.

Our safety performance continues to improve.,
The Group's overall accident frequency rate
[AFR}for 2021 improved by 42% 10 0.07 per
100,000 hours worked, and our AMEA Division
had an excelent year, achieving an AFR of zero.

Cur total recordabie incident rate aiso mproved
by 32%in 2021 to 0.63 per 100,000 hours
worked, meaning we had 37 fewer recordable’
injunes.

We are very proud of our industry-leading
performance and improving track record, And,
holding safety as paramount, we continue o
push for further improvement in pursuit of our
goal of zero harm.

As our number of recordable incidents
decreases, it is ever more Important toidentify
and address near miss events that could have
caused damage or harm. Year-on-year near miss
reports are up and leadership site interactionis
strong, even with the site access challenges
created by COVID-19.

Keeping our people safe

Qur AVA Incident reporting and analysis
system helps us understand incidents and
root causes and use the lessons learned to
further mutigate risk.

This system is supplemented by our Incident
Review process that is jointly owned between
our functions and operations. This provides us
with a very healthy review of cur incidents, an
opportunity for our leadership teams to role
model expectations and to share, learn and
grow our culture collectively.

A major focus area over the last few years

has been the education on our key health and
safety risks, known as our Work Safe 6, and the
subsequent Group standards relating to these.

We held a Platform Safety day in May to keep
attention on the risks related tofarge plant and
equipment. Collective progress on this topic has
helped reduced rig topples from eightin 2018 to
one in 2021 (not platform related).

At the beginning of the year, a tragic fatality
occurred following an accident on a site in Austria
Inwhich we lost along-serving and valued
employee. Whilst it has been determined Keller
was not at fault for the accident, the incdent has
caused us ta re double our efforts and we have
continued to advance our safety programmes,

Responding to COVID-19 challenges

The local ebbs and flows of the global COVID-19
pandeimic created additional operational
challenges in 202 1, We continued to provide
guidance and support to our employees infine
with World Health Crganization guidelines,
supplemented by local autherity guidance in the
regions in which we operate. This approach
enabled us to work in a safe and productive
manner on sites wherever the local regulatory
regime allowed, using applicable personal
protective equipment and social distancing.

The Group has actively encouraged and
supported employees to become vaccinated
against COVID-19 wherever possible. in
recognition of the benefit of free vaccmation
that many of the Group's employees and their
families have received from their national
governments, we donated £300,000to
UNICEF's COVID- 19 Vaccines Appeal. This
amount approximately equates to the cost of
vaccinating the Keller workforce and their
immediate families and will help UNICEF to
deliver 1.9 billion doses of vaccines this year
for frontline health workers, social workers,
teachers and those at highest risk.
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Good health
and wellbeing

At Keller, we already have a
strong, established culture of
keeping our people physically
safe. To build onthese strong
foundations, we have increased
our focus on all aspects of our
people's wellbeing. We believe
that prioritising wellbeing not
only enhances our employees’
health and happiness, it makes
good business sense, improving
resilience, productivity and
performance.

This year we launched Qur Foundations of
Wellbeing. a giobal framework, which explaing
our overall approach to wellbeing at Keller. To
equip our leaders with the tools to carry out
wellbeing in a strategic way, we also created a
Wellbeing toolkit, based on best practice specific
in our industry.

Driving wellbeing means suppaorting our peopie’s
unique and Individua! needs. Our Foundations of
Wellbeing underpin everything we do and ensure
we give equal focus to each of them.

At Keller we define wellbeing as:

Being healthy and fulfilled — at work and at home, now and in the future

Community

"Being connected - building positive
relationships with each other and our
communities”

Qur goal - To build a sense of
belonging in the workplace and
create opportunities for shared
positive experiences

Mind

Body
“Being at your best physically by
keeping fit, eating and sleeping well”

Our goal - To encourage balanced

and healthy lifestyles and the ability
to thrve in life

Growth

Financial security

“Being financially it —managing your
money well for greater security”

Our goal - To provide educaticnal
tools and resources to help everyone
manage their day-to-day finances
and prepare for the future

"Being emotionally healthy and resilient
—positive attitudes tolife and its
challenges”

Cur goal — To create an erwironment to
support everyone's mental health and
resiience to life’s events

"Being empowered and supported in
your career — positive work experiences
that produce pride, fulfilment, meaning
and happiness”

Our geal- To encourage career
conversations and growth opportunities

+hat halrm ovssmosna ra sk, Fhair 7Ol netantial
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We will continue to listen to our people via local
focus groups and engagement surveys to
understand whether we are making animpact
and adapt our approach to support our pecple in
the best possible way.

Earlier in the year, we also delivered on our
commitment to provide global coverage of
employee assistance programmes across Keller.
This was a key and timely milestone that enables
our colleagues and their families to obtain
additional support during COVID.

Y My immediate manager(s) genuinely
cares about my wellbeing”

Current Kefier score:

/8%

Target: Score above global
construction and heavy industry
benchmark of 85%

iy ‘Generally, | believe my workloadis
reasonable for myrole”

Current Kelier score:

30%

Target: Score above global
construction and heavy industry
benchmark of 72%

Wellbeing maturity model

B Strategy W Leadership

Wl Waysofwarking l Measurement

B Engagement

Wellbeing requires long-term commitment,
consistency and regular engagement to be
effective. To help us stay focussed and measure
progress, we developed a welibeing maturity
model. This enables us to understand what
excellence loaks like and our progress towards it.
We believe we are at a Level 2 today, with an
ambition to reach Level 4 by 2025 Local
business units will use the maturity modei to
establish action plans to fulfil each step so that
we ensure collective improvement over time.

COVID~19 vaccination approach

Keller's response to the COVID-19 pandemic in
2021 began as a continuation of our activities in
2020 — protecting our people and protecting our
busingss. Our operations had become used to
the protocols we had established during 2620
and the closure of sites was less of an issue than
in preceding year. OQur attention so0on began to
establishing vaccination guidance which was
developed by the Heads of HSEQ, Legal and HR.

b 4

Local wellbeing activities but no
overarching strategy or focus.

Global focus — defined Global
Wellbeing Framework and
tooikit to empower local
strategic focus. Global
employee assistance
prograrnme in place.

h 4

plans developed.

Localised strategy and action

Wellbeing activity integrated
into business as usual activities
and budgeting in same way as
safety.

Leaders trained and skifled at

Ad-hoc leadership of wellbeing.

Active leadership sponsorship
with clear ownership giobaily
under Pecple and HSEQ

Team.

Visible role modelling on
wellbeing by Global Leadership

managing wellbeing.

Active sharing of knowledge
and collaboration on wellbeing
globalty.

A culture of trust. cpenness

Limited engagerment with
workforce onwellbeing.

Leadership cornmitments
agreed and communicated.

Guidance, tools and resources
available.

Global engagement with
workforce onwellbaing.

Wellbeing rarely considered
inways of working.

Menta! heaith and wellbeing
promoted as a focus for the
organisation.

Limited employee feedback or
data collection on wellbeing and
its impact an the business.

Policies and practices
increasingly consider and
promote wellbeing.

Welibeing refiected in ways of

working and wark environment.

and empowerment where
corwversations about mental
health are commcenplace,

Internal and external feedback
and data collected.

Seif-assessment against
maturity model. Measurement
of wellbeing via local focus
groups and engagement
SUrveys,

Welloeing integrated into
people processes and
procedures including induction,
performance managerment,
career developrnent,
recognition and reward.

Structured measurement and
reqular, transparent reporting
on wellbeing.
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Due te the multiple jurisdictions within the Keller _
portfolie, and the matter of personal choice Case StUdy

around whether to be vaccinated or not, the
company determined that its approach would be
to strongly encourage and support our warkforce
in becoming vaccinated.

Cur approach to encouraging and supporting
vaccinotion has been led by management at all
levels of the organisation and tailored locally. In
some countries we have been able to achieve
avaccination rate of 100% whilst others are
significantly lower than this. When we have
suffered the death-in-service of employees,
the vaccination status of those that have diedis
consistent with the external benchmark globally.

The outbreak of the Delta variant in India during
2021, and the potential for significant health
implication for Keller and nationally, was of
concern for the company. The approach by the
management team of Keller India in terms of
responding to the crisis was, as ever, first class.

Keller worked closed with government medical
facilities to ensure 100% of all Keller India
employees (and contract employees) were
double vaccinated. Inrecognition of Keller India’s
efforts, the Construction Industry Development
Council (CIDC } awarded the team a special
category Corona Warriors award.

Employee assistance programmes go global

We have extended our employee assistance
programmes so employees and their
farnilies In every business unit can benefit.

From time to time, everyone experiences
situations that affect their general wellbeing.
Dealing with COVID-19 over the last year or

so has been particularly challenging for many
people. This came through in Keller's COVID-19
ermployee survey, as well as its employee

focus groups.

As aresult, we extended our employee
assistance programmes to ensure global
coverage this year. The programmes offer
practical information and free counselling on
avariety of topics for employees and their
direct family.

4 4

These programmes provide more
support to our people. They help
them take the very best care of
themselves and their families and
to be more successful at meeting
their responsibilities at home and
at work. Wellbeing is a leadership
priority and we support our
people to be healthy and fulfilled
at work and at home, today and in
the future.”

Sandy-lee Connelly
Group Head of Talent and Diversity
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Quality education

We invest in our people’s
professional and personal
development and provide a
chaltenging environment for
them to exercise their skills.
We also take a leadership

role in our industry and the
communities in which we
operate to encourage personal
and economic growth.

Learning and development
programmes

Keller's ability to deliver its business strategy
depends on employees with relevant skills,
knowiedge and experience. Our group-wide
learning and development programmes promote
a culture that empowers our people to drive
innovation and focus on Keller's principal activities
of winning and executing work on behalf of clients.

From rid-2021, the North America division was
able to reactivate its learning and development
programmes with the workferce. These started
with some online refresher training for those that
had previously attended the Project Manager
academy prior to the pandemic to ensure that
the previous learning outcomes realsed
remained relevant and current. In person
academies then followed for Project Managers
and Field Superintendents; as well as a cohort
of sales training.

Amajor focus for North America following the
One Keller rearganisation has been cross-
traning our teams in new products offerings for
clients. An online offering has been developed
that supports our sales, engineering and project
managernent teams develop awareness of the
full catalague of technical capabilities that Keller
has. This has been a valuable tool in upskilling our
teams to be able to offer multiple solutions for
our clients projects

AMEA have prioritised leadership development
and introduced a new Conscious Leadership
Programme, developed an Emerging Leaders
Programme and delivered on an intensive
inclusive Leadership warkshop during the year.

Europe continued to adapt their approach to
deliver Jocal programimes via digital platforms
due to mobiity restrictions related to COVID.
Leadership on Site training as wefl as Leading
Teams Remnctely were delivered during the
course of 2021. The Sales Counsellor
Programme is well established and seeks to
increase the company's capabilities inwinning
higher quality work from aur clients.

We are committed to developing our future talent
pipeline of leaders and investing in our people to
ensure they are equipped with the skills to drive
the organisation forward within an ever changing
and complex market. Our Unearthing Potential
talent development programme enables us to
build this capability and to respond to the future
needs of the busness. It also allows us to actively
engage a diverse range of talent as well as develop
future leader learning for all. We believe that every
employee should have the opportunity for regular
career conversations and deveioprment plans, and
during the year, included an additional module to
facilitate discussions that form part of the talent
developrment programime.

Keller teams up with children’s charity

We are partnering with Bhumi, one ofindia‘s
fargest charities, to support and educate
disadvantaged children and encourage
future generations to protect the
environment.

Bhurmi has over 30,000 mainly youth
volunteers and has helped educate more
than 25,000 children across India since 1ts
formation irt 2006. The new partnership wil
see us supporting scholarships for young

as well as sponsoring education for girls and
promoting eco workshops.

COVID has had a devastating impact on
farmilies throughout India, so Keller will be
working with Bhumi to identify children who
have lost a breadwinner to the coronavirus or
terminal iliness over the past two years. This
will include asking for nominations from

employees, subcontractors and others with
limlo b Walor Tho colartad ~hilArsn il thon

people affected by COVID and terminal iliness,

We will also be sponsaring Bhumi educational
sessions at schoois for giris and donating IT
equipment. And employees will be encouraged
to getinvolved in the charity's Eco-Champs
prograrmme, where children plant trees, learn
about racycling and take part in art workshops
with an ervironmental focus.

Yy f

Wae really hope to be able to
make a positive difference
to people’s lives.”

J’Subbu’ Subramanian
Head of HR, Keller India
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Keller has set up an annual scholarship to
attract the best geotechnical engineers and
strengthen ties with lcading universilies,

The Pitcairn Geotechnical Engineering
Scholarship commermorates Colin Pitcairn,
the architect of Keller's global learming and
development programmes, who sadly died
in 2020,

Each year the scheme offers agrant of up to
£10,000 each to three promising engineering
undergraduates looking to take amaster's
degree in geotechnical engineering.

Jorge Malave is one of the first recipients
ofthe schalarship and recently began his
master's programme in Structural and
Geotechnical Engineering at the University
of Central Florida.

"Ifind structural and geotechnical engineering
projects more interesting than any other area
of civil engineering and receiving this
scholarship means the worldto me.”

Keller launches engineering scholarship

4 4

To fultit our ambition to be the leading
provider of specialist geotechnical
solutions, we have to attract the

best engineers with potential to
become our future leaders.

Partnership is one of our Inclusion
Commitments. It recognises the
importance of collaborating and
partnering with like-minded
organisations through inclusivity
to drive change in the industry.”

Graeme Cook
Group People Director

In Novermber 2021, we held our Project
Managers' conference in Texas. This brought
together some 380 people from across North
America Division to learn, network and share
ideas and best practice. Attendeas were abie to
learn and grow their expertise through technical
and leadership presentations, workshops,
exhibitions and group activities.

Emerging talent

We are committed to investing in our emerging
talent and building diverse capability for the
future. This year we took onover 104
engineering graduates and provided 53
apprenticeship and 81 intern and co-op
opportunities across the group.

Over the last few years we've seen progress
with a diverse intake for entry-level engineering
roles and cultivating refationships with key
universities that have a higher proportion of
underrepresented minorities. For example, North
America, as part of a piiot, put more focus on
balanced representation with early career
recruitrment during 2021 (5% increase of female
interns and co-ops and a 10% increase of black
engineers). The biggest contributing factors of
success have been leader sponscrship, targeted
recruitment focussed on DEl initiatives and the
adontions ofinclusive werkforee nolicies such

The progress achieved in North Amenca will
serve as a blueprint for other divisions to consider.

The Pitcairn Geotechnical Engineering
Scholarship was launched during the year which
is designed to attract the best geotechnical
engineers and strengthen our ties with leading
universities. Each year the scheme will offer
agrant of up to £10,000 to each of three cwvil
engineering graduates considering a masters’
degree in geotechnical engineering. An
opportunity to not only strengthen our future
talent pipeling, but to improve diversity at Keller
by attracting more women and other individuais
from under-represented minority groups.

Workplace mentoring programme

We pride ourselves on creating a company
culture that values learning and development
and giving our colleagues the opportunity to
grow and thrive. During the year, a workplace
mentoring programrne was launched in North
America for the purposes of accelerating
perscenal and professional development,
encourage and empower employees to
realise their potential and to strengthen
leadership capability.

Global product teams

Keller's global product teams focus on sharing
product-specific knowledge around the world,
making sure we are best equipped to offer safe,
productive, market-leading technologies to our
customers. We have a team for each of our eight
major product lines. This year, we continued
monthly educational webcasts, each attended
by several hundred pecple from our globat
engineering and operations communities.

Geotechnical community

Cur businesses take a leadership role within their
industry by providing employees, customers,
suppliers and potential employees with technical
papers, seminars, field trips and site visits. Staff
from companies throughout the Group maintain
close contact with partner universities to share
best practice and provide examples of their
leading-edge engineering.
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Good governance

Good governance is about
helping to run the company well,
It involves being satisfied that an
effective internal framework of
systems and controls is in place
which clearly defines authority
and accountability and
promotes success whilst
permitting the appropriate
management of risk.

Keller's ways of working

Our Code of Business Canduct { Code’)
sets out clear and common standards of
behaviour for everyone who works in and
with Keller. as well as a frarnework to guide
decision-making when situations aren't
clear-cut. It also ensures a positive culture
that keeps us successful. operating in a
way we can all be proud of. it is a public
staternent of our commitment to high
standards that tells others they can rely
on our integrity.

The Code is supported by our Group
policies, our madern slavery and human
trafficking statement for 2022, our tax
strategy and our new Supply Chain Code
of Business Conduct. Qur ethics and
compliance programme, which comprises
training of our employees across the
business. is now in its sixth year of
supporting our employees to do the right
thing — maintaining ethical and honest
tehaviour, respecting employees’rights
and diversity, and staying free from bribery
and corruption,

Kelier's Code of Business Conduct and
Group policies, can be found at:

www.keller.com under "How we work'/

Committee structures

To reflect the growing impertance of
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
matters and provide greater focus and oversight
on these issues, we announced on 30 July 2021
that the Board had established two new Board
Committees: the Environment Committee and
the Social and Community Committee. In
addition, the Audit and the Nomination
Committees were renamed the Audit and Risk
Committee and the Nomination and Governance
Committee respectively to better reflect their
rermnits. Further detail on the membership and
terms of reference for these Committees canbe
found on our wehsite and onpages 78 and 79 of
this repart.

This new Committee structure aliows for greater
depth of engagement and conversation and
clear focus in driving forward our ESG agenda.

ESG reporting framework

I addition to the new Committee structure,
the Board agreed a reporting framework on
ESG matters.

ESGis the responsibility of the Board as a whaole,
with the Chairman as designated Director for
ESG matters, reporting through the Group
Company Secretary and Legal Advisor to the
Roard. The Board receives quarterly reports
which summarise the activities, intiatives and
challenges on ESG during the period and track
progress. These quarterly reports inform the
content of this section of the annual report and
assures a clear reporting line on all ESG matters
te the Chairman,

Net zero targets

The company has identified safety, good
governance, gender DEl and carbonreduction as
the most important areas of sustainability that
the Group can focus on globally. These align with
UN Sustainable Development Goals 3,5, 13 and
16. In respect of carbon reduction, the Executive
team has set ambitious but achievable net zero
targets by 2050. We will be net zero across all
three ermission scopes by 2050; net zero on
Scope 2 by 2030, net zero on Scope 1 by 2040
and ret zero by 2050 on operational Scope 3 {as
opposed to client-originated Scope 3). We have
started to implerment the short, medium and
long-term actions required to achieve these
goals. More information on pages 45 and 46—
Journey tonet zero.

Humanrights

Keller expects all employees and suppliers to
adhere to international standards on human
rights, including with respect to child and forced
labour, land rights and freedom of association,
among other elements. We take a zerc-tolerance
approach to slavery and human trafficking and
are strongly committed te ensuring that afl
employees, as well as the people who work on
our behalf, are protected. Our full expectations
are included in our Supply Chain Code of
Business Conduct and modern slavery and
human tratficking statement, which are available
on our website. We conduct appropriate due
diligence on our partners, and all of our suppliers
are obliged to adhere to the pninciples set out in
the Code, including en human rights.

Anti-bribery and corruption

Keller's Anti-Bribery and Anti-Fraud Policy and
whistleblowing procedures are designed to
ensure that emnployees and other parties
including contractors and third parties are able
to report any instances of poor practice safely
through an independent organisation

All reports received via this or any other reporting
mechanism are thoroughly investigated and
reported to the Audit and Risk Committee, which
reviews each case and its cutcormes. None of
our investigations during 2021 identfied any
systemic issues or breaches of our obligations
under the Bribery Act 2010. The Anti-Bribery
and Anti-Fraud Folicy is supported by pericaic
audits and reminders.

Governance and oversight

We recognise that assurance over our business
activities and those of our partners and suppliers
is essential. In 2021 our employees completed
rmandatory training on cempetition compliance
and data privacy and in 2022 willcomplete
rmandatory Code of Business Conduct training.
You can read mare about our risk management
and principal risks from page 32 onwards.

Tax strategy

We publish our tax strategy on our website
and are committed to managing our tax affairs
responsibly and in compliance with relevant
legislation. Our tax strategy 15 alighed to our
Code of Business Conduct and Keller's values
and culture and is owned and approved by

the Audit and Risk Committee and the

Board annually.
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Partnerships

At Kelter, we recognise the
importance of collaborating with
organisations that understand
our values and commitments,
and the ways of working and the
standards by which we cperate.
Partnering with these 'like-
minded’ organisaticns helps us
drive change in our organisation
and the wider geotechnical
industry.

Industry partnerships

Many of our senior managers play key roles
in the gectechnical professional associations
and activities around the world.

In Europe, a number of employees are part of the
European Federation of Foundation Contractors
{EFFC), which is also chaired by Andreas Kérbler
from Keller. In Keller North Amernica, employees
are active participants in geotechnical
engineering and construction trade groups,
including the Deep Foundations Institute (DF),
ASCE/Geo-Institute and ADSC International
Association of Foundation Drilling. Qur North
Arnerican engineers also hold leadership
positions cn multiple naticnal technical
committees {including committees on
sustainability) and local and university chapters;
raany have served as members of the board of
directors for these organisations.

Finally, in AMEA, Keller plays animportant role
inthe local professional societies, with Keller
employees holding leading positions in multiple
trade associations, including in ASEAN and India.

We also support trade conferences across our
divisicns, including the combined American and
European trade conference.

Sustainability is an increasing focus in the
industry. We work with a number of universities
on sustainability initiatives, focusing on
whole-cormpany innovation, specific
geotechnical products like grouting and vibro
stone columns, and key geotechnical projects.

We wrote the sustainability overview for the
European Federation of Foundation Contractors
and helped with the drafting of the Amencan DF|
sustainability guide,

We are also helping to compile sustainability best
practice quides with the European and American
trade associations.

Charitable partnerships

Qur business units support a broad range of
groups and charities, depending on what is most
important to them locally. This may invoive
fundraising or donating mecney, time or skills.

In recognition of the benefit of free vaccinations
that many of the Group's empicyees and their
famnilies have received from their naticnal
governments, following a recommendation

of the Social and Community Committee.

the Board approved afunding contribution

of £300,000 to UNICEF's COVID-19

Vaccines Appeal.

We again supported The Brilliant Breakfast in
2021 with a donation of £5,000. Working with
The Prince's Trust, this UK initiative aims to
change the lives of young women by helping
them gain the skills needed to Ive, learn and earn.
More infarmation on this can be found in the
repart of the Social and Community Committee
on page 86.

This year we mare clearly defined the structure
and approach for charitable and community
giving in Keller in a new Charitable Giving Policy.

Keller has donated €300,000 to UNICEF's
COVID-19 Vaccines Appeal. This has helped
UNICEF deliver more than two billion doses
of vaccines for frontline health workers,
social workers, teachers and those at
highest risk.

This funding contribution recognises the
benefit of free vaccination that many Keller
employees and their families have received
from their national governments. It roughly
equates to the cost of vaccinating the Keller
workforce and their imrmediate families.

Keller donates £300,000 to Vaccines Appeal

4 4

We have actively encouraged and
supported our employees to
become vaccinated against
COVID-19 wherever possible,”

Mike Speakman
Chief Executive Officer
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Non-financial reporting statement

Introduction

Pursuant to the Non-financial Reporting Regulations, which apply to the Group, the tables below summarise where further information on each of the key
areas of disclosure can be found. Further disclosures, including our Group policies, can be found on our website at www kellercom

Reporting requirement Relevant section of this report

1. Description of our business model « Business model—pages 12and 13
« Qurstrategy—pages 18and 19

2. The main trends and factors likely to affect the future .
development, performance and position of the Group’s business .

Qur market —pages 10 and 11
Divisional reviews —pages 20 to 25

3. Description of the principal risks and any adverse impacts -
of business activity

Principal risks and uncertainties —pages 32 to 41

4. Non-financial key performance indicators - Customer satisfaction ~page 13
« Safety, goodheaith and welibeing—pages 58 to 61
- Genderdiversity —pages 5310 56
- Greanhouse gas emissions and energy —page 48

Policies, processes and standards
which governout appreach’

Embedding due diligence, cutcomes of cur
approach and additional informatien

Reporting requirement

Risk management

5. Environmental - ESGand sustainability — + Changing environmental factors —page 38 « Ourmarket ~pages 10and 11
matters pages 4210 67 - Ethical misconduct and non-compliance - Divisional reviews — pages 20to 25
with requlations —page 37 - Greenhouse gas emissions and
» Losing market share —page 36 energy data, trend analysis and
« Inability to maintain technalogical product assurance -pages 47 and 48
advantage ~page 37 - Environment Committee report —
pages 84 and 85
« Section 172 statement ~ pages 76
and 77
6. Employges + HRPolicy « Seriousinjury or fatality to employees or public » Diversity, equity and inclusion -
- Code of Business -page 40 pages 5310 56
Conduct + Ethical misconduct and nan-compliance with « Training and development — pages 62
+ Whistleblawing Policy regulations —page 37 and63
« Wellbeing Foundations - Not having the right skills to deliver -page 40 + Heaith and wellbeing —pages 59 to
s Sustainability Policy » Changing environmental factors —page 38 61
+ ESG and sustainability - + Employee engagement —page 57
pages 42 to 67 + Section 172 statement - pages 76
and 77
» Socialand Community Committee
reprort -—-pages 86 and 87
7. Socialand + Code of Business « Ethical misconduct and non-compliance with « Businessmodel-pages 1Z2and 13
community Conduct regulations -page 37 - Divisional reviews - pages 20t 25
matters . .

+ Sustalnability Polcy

+ £5G and sustainability ~

pages 42 to 67
= Procurement Policy
« Supply Chain Code of
Business Conduct

Wellbeing Foundations

Changing environmental factors —page 38

Safety. good health and wellbeing
—pages 58 to 61

Sodclal and Community Committee
report—-pages 86 and 87

Section 172 statement —pages 76
and 77
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Policies, processes and standards Embedding due diligence, outcomes of our
Reportingrequirement which governour approach® Risk management approach and additional information
8. Humanrights + Code of Business + Ethical misconduct and non-compliance with « Safety, good health and wellbeing
Conduct regulations —page 37 —pages 58tc 61
+ Supply Chain Code of - Serious injury or fatality to ernployees or public  « Social and Community Committee
Business Conduct —page 40 report—pages 86 and 87
+ Moedernslavery and « Changingenvironmental factors - page 38 » Section 172 statement —pages 76
human trafficking and 77
statement

« Wellbeing Foundations
+ Sustainability Palicy
-« Privacy Policy

9, Anti-corruption . Anti-Briberyand = Ethical misconduct and non-compliance with » Audit and Risk Committee report—
and anti-bribery Anti-Fraud Policy regulations —page 37 pages 90to 85
» CompetitionLaw
Compliance Policy
+ Conflicts of Interest Policy
. Whist\eblowiﬂg Folicy

Some policies. processes and standards shown here are not published externally.

The Strategic repart has been approved, authorised for issue
and signed by order of the Board by:

oy

Kerry Porritt
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor

7 March 2022
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Chairman’s introduction

Governance

Peter Hill CBE
Chairman

44

We have met or
exceeded the diversity
targets we set
ourselves in the Board's
Diversity Policy
approved in January
last year.

A4

Dear shareholder

On behaif of the Board, | am pleased to
introduce cur Governance report for the
year ended 31 December 2021. This
report sets gut our approach te effective
corporate governance and outlines key
areas of focus of the Board and its activities
undertaken during the year as we continue
1o drive long-term value creation for all

our stakeholders.

Board succession and diversity

Whenlarrived in 2016, | set out an ambition

to have a Board from multiple industries and
geographies that had varied and valuable
experiences as well as gender and ethnic
diversity. | believe that different viewpoints

and different experiences ensure that better
informed decisions are made when applying
Judgements in challenging business-related
circumstances. We have met or exceeded the
diversity targets we set ourselves inthe Board's
Diversity Policy approved in January last year and
as recommended by the Hampton-Alexander
and Parker Reviews, which set targets ofa 33%
female share of Board Divectors by 2020 and a
minimurm of one Beard Director from an ethnic
rminority background by 2022.

On 1 February 2022, we anngunced the
appointment of Juan G. Hemandez Abrams,
who has joined the Board as an independent
Non-executive Director and wilf be Char of the
Environment Committee. Our Nomination and
Governance Committee, led by me, with support
from the whole Board and the Group Company
Secretary and Legal Advisor, aversaw the
appointment process. Juan's biography is set
outon page 70. Juan brings rich and diverse
exparience 1o the Board and b warmly weicome
him to Keller.

On behalf of the Board | would like to pay

tribute to Nancy Tuor Moare for her significant
contribution since joining the Board as a
Non-executive Director in 2014 and her valuable
input at various Committees — the Audit and Risk,
Nomination and Governance, Remuneration and
Social and Community - and as Chair of the
Ervironment Committee. The Board and the
wider Group have benefitted greatly from her
extensive knowledge and experience, particularly
of the US engineering and construction sector.
Nancy will retire from the Board following this
year's AGM, and we wish her wefl,

The Board and the Nomination and Governance
Committee will continue to drive the agenda of
diversity, equity and inclusion across the Group.

Planet, People and Principles

To reflect the growing importance of ESG
matters and to provide greater focus and
oversight, we announced in July 2021 that

the Board had established two new Board
Committees: the Environment Committee

and the Social and Community Committee.

In addition, the Audit and the Momination
Committees were renamed the Audit ang

Risk Committee and the Normination and
Governance Committee respectively, to better
reflect their remits. Further detail with regard
to the membership and terms of reference for
these Committees can be found on pages 78
and 79. This new Committee structure allows
for greater depth of engagement and
corversation and clear focus in driving forward
our ESG agenda; a quarterly report on all ESG
initiatives and delverables by the Group
Company Secretary and Legal Advisor, to the
Board, assures a clear reparting line on all ESG
matters to me. in 2022 we have put in place a
number of measures and targets to both reflect
Kelfer's £SG priorities and meet increased
repoerting and compiiance obiigations in this
area and lam proud that we have set ambitious
and achievable net zerc carbon targets by 2050
We believe that carbon targets are essential to
mitigate global climate-related risks while we
pursue climate-related opportunities in our
oberations and contracts.

‘We will be net zero across all three ermission
scopes by 2050; net zero on Scope 2 by 2030,
net zero on Scepe 1 by 2040 and net zero by
2050 en operational Scope 3. More information
can be found inthe ESG and sustainability report
onpages 42067,

Company purpose and culture

The Board is cognisant that it has the ultimate
responsibility for ensuring an appropriate
company culture to act as a backdrop to the
way in which Keller behaves towards ali its
stakeholders. Our culture provides the
foundation te drive our purpose and delivery of
our strategy. As a Board, we continue to spend
time focused on ensuring that our culiure
enables us to build the organisalional capability
required to deliver on our promises to our
stakeholders, customers, emnployees, society
and shareholders. More informatian or our
purpose and culture can be found on page 2.
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Engagement with our stakeholders
Balancing stakeholders’ needs and views is a

key part of Board decision-rnaking. The Board
recognises the importance of two-way
communications with our employees. The role of
our designated workforce engagement director
has beenin place since 2017 and, supported by
the Socialand Cormmunity Cormmittee, continues
to be a successful way of ensuring that the Board
appropriately considers the interests of
employees inits deliberations and, in doing so,
makes better decisions.

Towards the end of 2021 we commissicned

a third party to undertake an independent
perception audit of 8 number of iInvestment
managers, The outcome has not only enabled
the Board to obtain a deeper level of
understanding of the views of cur shareholders
and potential investors, but also gives the
executive management additional input as

they formulate the strategy for the years ahead.

Whilst for much of the year it has not been
possible to meet physically with employees
and other stakeholders, the Board has recently
resumed face-to-face Board meetings and
activities, and all Board members are looking
forward to meeting and connecting more
personally with stakeholders in s COVID-19
safe environment over the next year.

Board evaluation

It 1s extremely important that the Board, its
Committees and individual Directors rigorously
review their perforrmance and embrace the
opportunity to deveiop, where necessary.

This year an external effectiveness review

was undertaken with support from the Group
Company Secretary and Legal Advisor.
Progress onlast year's areas of focus as well

as the outcome of this year's effectiveness
review can be found on pages 82 and 83.

Looking forward

We continued to make gond strides as a
business in 2021, with cur performance
exceeding market expectations. As a Boardwe
are focused onfurther driving the delivery of cur
strategy over 2022 and beyond, whilst
maintaining the highest standards of corporate
governance expected by our stakeholders, The
outcome of the BEIS consultation on audit and
corporate reform, and its impact on the way we
work, will be akey theme on our agenda as well.

| encourage all our stakeholders to take every
opportunity presented to engage with the
cempany and, subject to any COVID-15
restrictions in place at the time, | wouid
welcorme you to attend, and in any case

vote at, the forthcoming AGM.

Needless to say that if we cannot meet in person
in May, If you wish to ask a question of the Board
relating to this report or the business of the
AGM, please feel free to do so by emailing the
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor

at secretariat@keller.com. We wili consider

and respond to all questions received and, te

the extent practicable, puhlish the answers

on cur website.

Yours faithfully,

Peter Hill CBE
Chairman

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authonsed forissue on 7 March 2022,

Compliance with the Code

The company was subject to the Code in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 {the
full text of which can be found at www.frc.org). The Board is pleased te confirm that the Group
applied the principles and complied with the provisions of the Code. The remainder of this
report contains the narrative reporting variously required by the Code, the Listing Rules and
the Disclosure, Guidance and Transparency Rules, setting out in greater detail the framework
and processes that Keller has in place to ensure the highest levels of corporate governance.

Board leadership Division of Composition,
and company responsibilities succession and
purpose evaluation

n Read more on E Read moreon .‘ Read more on

page74 page 80 page 82

Audit, risk and Remuneration
internal control

N Readmoreon N Read morcon
page 83 page 96
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Peter Hill CBE Paula Bell David Burke Juan G.Hernandez
Non-executive Chairman Nan-executive Director Chief Financial Officer Abrams

Nationality: British

Appointed:
2016

Keller Committees:
Chairman of the Nomination and
Governance Comimittee

Skills and experience:

A mining engineer by background, Peter
was Non-executive Chairman of
Volution Group ple until January 2020;
Non-exacutive Chairman of
Imagination Technaologes ple from
February 2017 untilits sale to Canyon
Bridge Partners in September 2017
Non-executive Chairman of Alent plc
from 2012 to the end of 2015; Chief
Executiva of the electronics and
technology group Laird PLC from 2002
tolate 2011 a Non-executive Director
on the boards of Cookson Group pic,
Meggitt plc and Oxford Instruments plc.
He has been a non-executive board
member of UK Trade and Investment,
and a Non-executive Director onthe
hoard of the Royal Air Force, chaired by
the UK Secretary of State for Defence,
His early career was spent with natural
resources cormpanies Anglo American,
Rio Tinto and BP; he was an Executve
Director on the board of the
engineering and construction company
Costain Group plc, and ke has alse held
management positions with BTR plc
and Invensys plc.

Other appointmants:
Peter is the Non-executive Chairman
of Petra Diamonds Limited.

Nationality: British

Nationality: insh

Appointed: Appointed:
2018 2020
Keller Committees: Keller Committees:;

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee
and member of the Nomination and
Governance, Remuneration,
Environment, and Social and
Comrunity Committees

Skills and expetrience:

Paula has extensive FTSE 250 board
experience as both an Executive and
Non-executive Director, From 2013 to
2016 she was Chief Financial Officer
of support services group John
Manzies plc and between 2006 and
2013 was Group Finance Director of
the advanced engineering group
Ricardo plc. Prior to that Paula held
senior management positions at BAA
ple, AWG ple and Rolls-Royce plc.
Pauda was a Non-executive Director
and Chairman of the Audit Committee
of the global engineering and
technology group Laira PLC fram
2012 untllits acquisition and delisting
in July 2018, including aperiod as
Senior independent Director.

Paulais a Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants
and a Chartered Global Management
Accountant.

Otherappointments:
Paulais the Chief Financial and
Operations Officer of Spirent
Communications ple.

Kerry Porritt

Group Company Secretary

and Legal Advisor

Member of the Executive Committee

Skills and experience:

David is a highly experienced finance
executive who has worked in @ variety
of industries and geographies over the
last 3G years, Most recently he was
Chief Financial Officer of J. Murphy &
Sons Limited, a leading international
specialst engineering and
construction company. He has held
senior finance roles at Serco Group plc
and at Barclays plc.

David traned as an accountant with
KPMG in London and is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants ir
England and Wales.

Non-executive Director

Naticnality: American

Appointed:
1 February 2022

Keller Committees:

Member of the Environment, Audit
and Risk, Nomination and
Governance, Remuneration, and
Social and Community Committees

5kills and experience:

Juan has served in multiple semor roles
with Fluor Corporation, including
General Manager and Vice President
of the Mining and Metals business in
South America, as well as President

of the Industnal Services business
including the Operations and
Maintenance group. H's responsibilities
included the strategic direction,
operations and financial perforrnance
across awide range of industries and
sites throughout Europe, USA, Asia.
Australia, and the Middle East.

Juanwas born and rased in Puerto Rico
and holds 8 Bachelor's degree n
Environmental Sciences fromthe
University of Maine. He is a graduate of
Thunderbird University Intemational
Management Program, the INSEAD
International Competitive Strategy
Program, and the London Business
School's International Business Program.

QOther appointments:

Juanis President of Fluor
Corporation's Advanced Technologies
& Life Sciences business. MHe s a
member of the Board of Directors for
the US National Association of
Manufacturers.,
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Eva Lindqvist

Non-executive Director

Nationality: Swedish

Appointed:
2017

Keller Committees:

Chair of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the
Audit and Risk, Nomination and
Governance, Ervironment, and
Social and Cormmunity Cormmittees

Skills and experience:

Eva graduated with a Master of Science
in Engineering and Applied Physics
from Linképing Institute of Technology
and haids an MBA from the University
of Melbourne. She is amember of the
Royal Swedish Academy of Engineering
Sciences. fva began her career in
various positions with Encsson working
in Continental Europe, Narth America
and Asiafrom 1981 to 1990 followed
by director roies with Ericsson from
1993 to 1999. She joined TeliaScnerain
2000 as Senior Vice President before
meving to Xelerated, initially as
Charrperson and later as Chief
Executive from 2007 to 2011.

Other appointments:
Evais a Non-executive Director of
Bodycote plc and TeleZ AB.

Baroness Kate Rock

Senior Independent Director and
designated Non-executive Director
with responsibility for workforce
engagement

Mationality: British

Michael Speakman

Nancy Tuor Moore

Chief Executive Officer Non-executive Director
Nationality: British Mationality: American
Appointed: Appointed:

2018 and CECin 2019 2014

Appointed;
2018

Keller Committees:

Chair of the Social and Community
Committee and rrernber of the
Audit and Risk, Nominatien and
Governance, Remuneration, and
Envircnment Committees

Skills and experience:

Kate was a Non-executive Director
and Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of Imagination
Technologies ple, the former global
FTSE 250 high technology company,
until Novermber 2017. She s a Board
member of the world's first Centre for
[3ata Fthics and Innovation, She sits
on the House of Lords Science and
Technology Select Committee and
from 2017 to 2018 was a member of
the House of Lords Select Committee
on Artificial Intellgence. Kate was a
partner at College Hill for 12 years
from 1996 and was Vice-Chairman of
the Conservative Party with
responsibility for business
engagement until July 2016. She
holds a BA in Publishing and History.

Other appointments:

Kate 1s a Non-executive Director of
Unbound Group pic {(formerly Electra
Private Equity plc). She s also a
Director and Trustee of The Prince's
Countryside Fund. She was appointed
aLife Peerin 2015 and is alsc a Senior
Adviser at Instinctif Partners and at
Newton Europe.

Keller Committees:

Chairman of the Executive Cormmittes
and member of the Environment, and
Social and Community Committees

Skills and experience:

Michael joined Keller from Cape plc, a
leading international provider of
industnal services, where he was Chief
Financial Officer. He has cver 30 years
of experience across arange of
industnes, halding senior operational,
divisional and corporate roles within Tl
Group pic and Smiths Group plc
between 1982 and 2004, before his
appointment as Chief Financial Officer
for the cilfield services company
Expro International Group plc. Michael
holds a BSc inEngineering and is a
Fellow of the Chartered institute of
Management Accountants.

Keller Committees:

Chair of the Ervironment Committee
and member of the Audit and Risk,
Nomination and Governance,
Remuneration, and Social and
Cornrnunity Committees

Skills and experience:

Nancy's extensive international
business experience, together with a
proven recard in winning and safely
delivering both global and local
contracts, was gained at CH2M Hil,
inc., where she held the board position
of Group Presigent and Corporate
Sponsor for Sustainability before
retiringin 2013.

Other appointments:

Nancy is a Non-executive Director of
Terracon, Inc. and IMA Financial Group,
Inc., and 15 a member of the Board of
Governors for Colorade State University.
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Executive Committee
Graeme Cook Jim De Waele Eric Drooff Kerry Porritt
Group People Director Presidert. Europe Prasident, North Armerica Group Company Secretary
. . and Legal Advisor

Nationality: British Nationality: Britsh Naticnality: American

Nationality: British
Member since: Member since: Member since:
2017 2018 2018 Member since:

2013
Skills and experience: Skills and experience: Skills and experience:

Graeme joined Keller from EnQuest, a
FTSE oil and gas production company.
whera he was the Group HR Director.
He has significant international
experience having been assigned to
management roles inthe UK, Africa
and the Middle East. Graeme has over
30 years experience inboth finance
and HR leadership rofes in a number of
blue-chip companies. Graeme was
Group Head of Talent and Leadership
for Legal & General, HR Director,
Mediterranean Basin and Africa region
far BG Group, and spent most of his
early career with Schlumberger in
varicus HR and financial controller
roles.

Graeme received an MA (Hons) In
Accountancy and Economics from the
University of Dundee.

Before his appointment as President,
Europe i January 2021, Jim was
Group Strategy and Business
Development Director from fanuary
2019 until Decermber 2020. Jim has
aver 30 years' experience inthe
industry and has held various senior
positions, including 10 ygars as
Managing Director of Kelier's
North-Wast Eurcpe business. He has
served the UK trade association, the
Federation of Piling Specialists, for
many years, including two as
Chairman

Jimis a Chartered Engineer and a
feliow of the ICE and RICS.

Michael Speakman

Chief Executive Officer

For full biography

Seepage 71

David Burke

Chief Financial Officer

Eric has beeninvolved in the design
and construction of foundation and
ground stabilisation projects for over
35 years. He managed the successful
acquisition and integration of Catoh
Driling, Inc. in New York, G. Donaldson

and Geo-Instruments in Rhode Island:

Gee-Foundations in Ontario, and
Moretrench American in New Jersey.
With a technical specialty in grouting,
notable projects managed by Enc
include North Amierica’s first
compensation grouting project at the
St. Claire River Tunnel in Gntario,
compaction grouting for seismic
rmitigation for the Paiton Power
Station in Indonesia, and chemical
grout ground stabilisation for the
CA/T C11A1, Atlantic Avenue Tumnel.

Eric holds a BSCE frem Bucknell
University and he is a member of the
ASCE GeoInstitute, the Deep
Foundatiors Institute, and The Moles.

Skills and experience:

Kerry has over 25 years' experience of
company secretarial roles within large,
complex £ TSE listed companies across
abroad range of sectors. Kerry s a
Fellow of the Chartered Governance
Institute and holds an Honours degree
in Law. She is also a member of the
furopean Corporate Governance
Council and the Chartered Governance
Institute's Company Secretaries’ Forum.
Kerryis an Armbassador for Woman
Supporting Women, a group enabling
The Prince’s Trust to support mora
young womenthrough its prograrnmes.

Kerry hias been Kefler's Group Ethics and
Compliance Officer since 2015 and she
1s also a mernber of the Bisclosure
Committee,
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John Raine
Group HSEQ Director

HNationality: British

Venu Raju

Engineering and Operations Director

Nationality: Singaporean

Katrina Roche
Chief Information Officer

Nationality: British

Peter Wyton

President, AMEA

Nationality: Australian

Member since:
2018

Member since:
2012

Member since:
2020

Member since:
2018

Skills and experience:

John is an experienced HSEQ
practitioner who has lived and worked
in Europe. Asia-Pacific and the US. He
was, most recently, at AMEC Foster
Wheeler, an international engineering
and project management campany,
where he was Chief HSSE Officer.

Before that, he was Vice President
QHSSE for Weatherford International,
ore of the world's largest multinational
oil and gas service companies.

Skills and experience:

Veru began his career with Kellerin
Germany n 1994 as a geotechnical
engineer. He has held the roles of
Managing Director Keller Singapore,
Malaysia and India; Business Unit
Manager, Keller Far East in 2009; and
Managing Oirecter, Asia. Venu has
extensive operational and strategic
management expenence. He served
as an Executive Director from January
2017 until June 2020.

Borninindia, Venu studied civil
engineering i India and the USA, has
a PhD in structural engineering from
Duke University and a Doctorate in
geotechnical engineering from the
University of Karlsruhe in Germany.

Skills and experience:

Katrina has over 25 years of
exparience in deilivering technology-
driven change and business
transformation in multiple industnes
such as Aerospace Defence,
Telecommunications. Transport and
Technology. She joined Keller from
Cobharm Ple, where she held the
pesition of Executive Vice President
IT. Katrina has also held senior IT roles
in Raytheon, Systems Union and MCI
WoridCormn as well as senior roles in
Product Development and
Transformation at Cable & Wireless
and Verizon.

Katrina has a BSc in Mathematics and
an MSc In Operational Research.

Former member:

Skills and experience:

Peter joined Keller after 25 years at
AECOM, a leading global infrastructure
firm. He is an experienced business
leader and engineering professional
with extensive knowledge cf the
Asia-Pacific region. He has supported
the delivery of major infrastructure
projectsin transport, bullding, utilities,
mining and industral markets across
APAC. Peterreceived a Bachelor of
Cwil Engineenng from the Queensland
Unpversity of Technolegy.

James Hind

President, North America

Nationality: British

James served as an Executive Direcror from July 2003 until June 2020, and
was a member of the Executive Committee from its formation in 2012 until
December 2021, Prior to his appointment as President, North America,
James had been Group Finance Director of Keller Group pic for 15 years,
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Board leadership and company purpose

Leadership

Board and Committee meetings and attendance

All Directors are expected to attend each Board meeting and each Committee meeting for which they are members, unless there are exceptional
circumstances preventing them from participating. The table below shows that during the year the Directors attended all of the meetings they were eligible
to attend, except for Nancy Tuor Moore who missed the December Audit and Risk Committee meeting due to the fast minute rescheduiing of her flights as
aresult of the Omucron variant of COVID- 1% outbreak in the UK. On that cccasion, she reviewed the supporting papers and provided cornments to the

Chairman and the Committee Chair,

Nomination and Workforce Social and

Audit and Risk HSEQ Envirenment Governance Remuneration Engag Ci y

Board Committee Committee C itt: [ c i c ittee Committee
PaulaBell S/9 4/4 1/1 1/1 242 3/3 - 1/1
David Burke 9/9 - - - - - - -
Peter Hill 9/9 - - - 212 - - -
Eva Lindquist 9/9 4/4 1/1 1/1 272 3/3 - 1/1
Nancy Tuor Moore 9/9 3/4 171 1/1 2/2 3/3 1/1 171
Kate Rock 9/9 474 1/1 1/1 2/2 3/3 1/1 171
Michael Speakman 9/9 - - 1/1 - - 171 1/1
Graeme Cook - - - - - - 1/1 -
Kerry Porritt - - - - - - 1/1 -

The Environment and Soctal and Community Committees were estabhshed in July 2021 and assumed, where ralevant, the resoonsibiities of the former Heaith, Safety, Crvironment and Qualty (HSEQ]

and Workforce Engagement Committees respactvely

Effectiveness

Directors and Directors’ independence

The Board currently comprises the Chairman, five independent
Non-executive Directors INEDs) and two Executive Directors. The
names of the Directors at the date of this report, together with their
biographical details, are set out on pages 7Qand 71.

The NEDs constructively challenge and help to develop proposals on
strategy and bring strong independent judgement, knowledge and
experience to the Board's deliberations. Periodically, the Chairman meets
with the NEDs without the Executive Directors present. Apart from formal
contact at Board meetings, there s regular informal contact between

the Directors.

Paula Bell, Eva Lindgvist. Baroness Kate Rock, Nancy Tuor Moore and
Juan G. Hernandez Abrams are all considered to be independent NEDs.

Their other professionat commitments are as detailed on pages 70 and 71.

Peter Hill was independent at the time of his appointment as Chairman on
26 July 2016. Peter's other professional commitments are as detailed on
page 70.

All Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first AGM
following their appointment and to annual re-election thereafter,
in accordance with the Code.

Directors’ conflicts ofinterests

Linder the Cormparies Act 2006 (the 2006 Act’), a Director must avoid g
situation where they have, or could have, a direct or indirect interest that
conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with Keller's interests. The 2006 Act
allows Directors of public companies to authorise conflicts and potential
conflicts, where appropriate, where the Articies of Association (the
Articles'} contain a provision to this effect. The Articles give the Directors
authority to approve such situations and to include other provisions to
allow conflicts of Interest to be dealt with. To address thisissue, at the
commencement of each Board meeting, the Board considers its register
of interests and gives, when appropriate, any necessary approvals.

There are safeguards which will apply when Directors decide whether to
autherise a conflict or potential conflict, Firstly, only Directors who have

na interest in the matter being considered will be able to take the refevant
decision and, secondly, in taking the decision, the Directors must act
inaway that they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to promote
Keller's success. The Directors are able to impose limits or conditions when
giving authorisation if they think this = appropriate. These procedures on
conflicts have been followed throughout the year and the Board considers
the approach to operate effectively.
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Board activities and principal decisions

Evaluated and further focused the Group's
strategy.

= Restructured the Europe Division.

+ Reviewed divisional performance.

» Evaluated and approved the 2022 business
plan and budget, and the approach and
process for the viability and going concern
statements.

Reviewed the company's forecast net debt
levels, facility headroom and covenants and
working capital.

« Considered and agreed the
recommendation of the 2021 final dividend
and the payment of the 2021 intenm
dividend.

» Commenced the appointment of a new
Non-executive Director.

» Considered the Executive Committee
succession plan.

« Participatedin employee engagement
workshops.

- Considered the principal and emerging
risks and uncertainties which couldimpact
the Group.

with particular regard toits going concern
and impact on making the viabllity
statement.

+ Implemented actions following the 2020
external Board and Commiittees’
performance evaluation.

» Received updates onlegal and regulatory

changes.

Summary of Committees’ activities and initiatives

The table below summarises the activities carried out and initiatives promoted by the Main Board Committees following the restructuring put in place in
July 2021 to better reflect the growing importance of ESG matters and to provide greater focus and oversight.

Operational performance

« Reviewed and considered the monthly
operational performance of the divisions.

« Reviewed the company's contracts
performance and revenue over the year.

» Revised the company's delivery of

initlatives against its sustainability and ESG

objectives.

initiated an investor perception audit and

received feedback.

Reviewed the risk management framework

Further
What Status  When information  What's next
ESG reporting framework formalised, with terms of v  July2021 Page 64 ESG website disclosures to be reviewad with an
reference in place for ail new and rebranded Committees. airmn to improve transparency.
Stack Exchange announcement issued, along with
website disclosures
Charitable Giving Policy approved July 2021 Page 87 The Charitable Giving Policy will be communicated across
v ) .
the Group and implermented fully during 2022.
To complement the policy, a standard setting out the
protocels and rules for applying and granting charitable
donations will be created and communicated.
Regular reperting of charitable giving will be made to both
the Executive and the Social and Community
Committees by the Group Company Secretary.
TCFD reporting framework agreed v July 2021 Page 52 Develop disclosures to ensure full compliance in 2022
UK MAR refresher training for Executive Committee June 2021 n/a Session on the treatment of inside information
v .
members scheduled for laterin 2022,
Reinfarcement of subsidiary governance standard and v Novernber 2021 nfa Mora jurisdiction-specific training is currantly being
training of directors of the three divisiong and February 2022 developed, to be delivered during 2022 along with
training on Directors and Officers’ lability insurance.
Review, relaunch and refreshed training — v December 2021 Page 64 German, Spanish, French, Polish and Czech versions of the
Code of Business Conduct (Keller Ways of Working) training will be launched in March 2022.
Board Diversity Policy implementation v February 2022 Page 82 Work by the Nornination and Governance Committee

wall mevnbirn s Heee inbhe o Haeoos e
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As a Board, we have always taken decisions for
the long term. Collectively and individually, our
aimis always to uphold the highest standards of
conduct. We understand that our business can
only grow and be successful over the long term
if we understand and respect the views and
needs of our employees, customers and the
communities in which we operate, as well as our
suppliers, the environment and the shareholders
to whorm we are accountable.

In summary, as required by section 172 of the 2006 Act, a
director of a company must act in the way they consider, in good
faith, would most likely promote the success of the company for
the benefit of its shareholders. In doing this, the director must
have regard, amongst other matters, to the:

» likely consequences of any decisions in the long term;

* interests of the company's employees;

» need to foster the company’s business relationships with
suppliers, customers and others;

+ impact of the company’s operations on the community and
environment;

+ company’s reputation for high standards of business conduct;
and

+ need to act fairly as between members of the company. /

The Directors of Keller — and those of all UK companies — must actin
accordance with a set of general duties. These duties are detailed inthe
2006 Act and include a duty 1o promote the success of the company,
which is summarnised above. As part of thefr induction, the Directors are
briefed on their duties and they can access professional advice on these
- either through the company or, if they Judge it necessary, from an
independent provider. The Diractors fulfil their duties partly through a
governance framework that delegates day-to-day decision-making to
employees of the company. The Board recegnises that such delegation
needs to be much mere than simiple financial authorities and, in this
section of the report, we have summarised our governance structure.
This covers: the values and behaviours expected of our employees; the
standards they must adhere to, how we engage with stakeholders: and
how the Board looks to ensure that we have a robust systerm of contral
and assurance processes.

For more detail an our governance framework, see pages 78 and 75,
Details about the principal decisions the Board made during the year
and the activities of the Committees can be found an page 75.

Our stakeholders, why they are important
to us and the duties we perform

“#  Shareholders

Delivering for our shareholders
ensures that the business
continues to be successfulin
the long term and can therefore
continue to deliver for allour
stakeholders.

Strategy

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer met major
shareholders following the preliminary anncuncement of the Group's 2020
results to discuss a number of matters, including progress against the
Group's strategy. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer had calls with major shareholders following the announcement of
the Group's 2021 interim results. Following these announcements,
analysts’ notes were circulated to the Board

Performance

The Boardinitiated an investor percention audit and received feedback.

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer had calls with
major shareholders following the Group's trading update announcernent in
November 2021. The Chairrman and the Senior independent Director had
calis with shareholders to discuss Group performance and risk
management throughout the year.

Website

The investor relations section of our website provides information on the
financial calendar, dividends, AGMs and other areas ofinterest to
shareholders. Copies of annual reports and investor presentations are
available to view and download. Shareholders can also register to receive
‘news alerts' relating to the Group's activities.

AGM

The Board uses the AGM as an opportunity to commiunicate with
shareholders, who are invited to attend, ask questions and meet Directors
prior to, and after, the formal proceedings The Chairs of the Main Board
Cammittees are present at the AGM to answer questions on the waork of
their Committees,

The results of the voting at the 2021 AGM can be found on our website.

Dividend

We have consistently either grown or maintained our dividend in the

27 years since listing We have strong cash generation and a robust balance
sheet, which tegether support cur ability to continue to increase the
dividend to shareholders sustainably through the market cycle,

Outcomes for our shareholders:
» Kefleris a stable business with a long-term track record.
= Continued growth opportunities.
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“ Employees

Our people are our most valuable asset.

We want themn to be inspired and mativated,
equipped with the right skilis, tools and
standards to be successful.

Customers

Qur custorners are central to our business
—without them we would Nt exist. We want
to deliver a consistently high performance in
an efficient and continuously imgaroving way
across all our strategic levers sa as to meet
our customers' needs.

Contact

The Chief Executive Officer and the Divisional
Presidents are in regular contact with cur
customers, and they reguiarly brief the Board
on our perfermance in delivering an our
commitrments to custormers and the quality
of these critical relationships.

Research

We conduct & wide range of customer research
to better understand their expectations of us.

During the year, our local teams engaged with
our customer netwark to better understand
their requirements throughout the pandemic.

Outcomes for our customers:

+ Benefit from Keller's global strength and
iocal focus.

« Provision of cost-effective geotechnical
solutions.

Workforce engagement

During 2021, the Board continued its approach to
engagement with the workforce led by Baroness
Kate Rock, Keller's designated Non-executive
Director for employee engagerment matters,

Our Non-executive Directors each led
engagement focus groups on topics ranging
from safety teinnovation.

Also in 2021 we introduced our Diversity, Equity
and Inclusion commitments and implemented
our Wellbeing Foundations.

' Suppliers

Building strong relationships with our
suppliers enables us to obtain the best
velue, service and quality. We want to work
with suppliers who understand us and
adhere to our ways of working.

Procurement

Established in 2016, our procurement function
continued to work hard to understand our
supply chain and how to develop deeper and
more strategic relationships with key supgpliers.

Working together to do the right thing

Keller's Supply Chain Code of Business Conduct
sets out our expectations that our supply

chain should respect the human rights of their
employees and contractors and treat them fairly,
in accordance with all applicabie laws.

Increased communications with cur suppliers
during the year has assisted us in managing our
resources and materials on site.

Outcomes for our suppliers:
« {ocal relationship with a financially strong
global company.

Support in meeting global supply chain
standards.

Communications

We communicate regularly with our employees
through face-to-face meetings, webcasts, our
company intranet and newsletter and site and
office visits.

Qutcomes for our employees:
« Localand global oppertunities.
« Development and training.

« Long-term employment.

# Communities

What we dois an integral part of the
community and the community is ultimately
our customer. Poor relationships can
darmage and even destroy our reputation,
Goodrelationships wm us goodwill.

Contributing to the cammunity

The Boeard recognises the impartance cf leading
a company that not only generates value for
shareholders but also contributes to wider
society.

The Board adopted a Charitable Giving Policy in
2021 and approved a donation of £300,000 to
UNICEF in support of COVAX.

Our environmentalimpact

As a geotechnical engineering specialist, we
understand that environmental and climate risks
could impact us directly. We are committed to
protecting the environment, and aimto have a
positive impact on it — 50 we safeguard the future.

QOutcomes for our communities:
« Local employment,
» Charitable partnerships.

« Participation by our employees in community
events.

« Sustainable commitrments.
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The Boardis appointed by shareholders, who are the owners of the company.
The Board's principal responsibility is to act in the best interests of shareholders
as a whole, within the iegal framework of the 2006 Act and taking into account
the interests of all stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers

and communities. Ultimate responsibility for the management and long-term
success of the Group rests always with the Board, notwithstanding the
delegated authorities framework detailed below.

Board

Develaps strategy.
grows shareholder
value, provides
oversight and corporate
governance, and sets

Provides entreprensurial
leadership of the Group,
driving it forward for the
benefit, and having
regard to the views, of

Gowverns the Group
within a framework of
prudent and effective
controls, which enable
risks to be assessed

Approves the Group's
strategic objectives.

Ensures that sufficient
resources are available
to the Group to enable
it to meet strategic
objectives,

the tone from the top. 15 shareholders and

other stakeholders.

and managed toan
appropriate level.

The Board delegates authority to manage the business to the Chief Executive Cfficer (CEO) and also delegates other matters toits Committees and
management as appropriate. The Board has formally adopted a schedule of matters reserved toit for its decision, which is available on our website.
Details about the principal decisions the Board made during the year can be found anpage 75.

The CEQ in turn chairs the Executive Committee for day to day management matters and delegates other matters to various Management
Committees,

Main Board Committees

Committees Remit Membership Quorum

Audit and Risk Committee Oversight of the Group's financial and non-financial  Independent Non-executive Two
reporting, risk management (including TCFD) and Directors (NEDs})

internal control procedures and the work of its

internal and external auditor.

Nominationand
Governance Committee

Review of the composition of the Board and senior  Chairman and independent NEDs Two
management, and plans for its progressive

refreshing with regard to balance and structure as

well 3s succession planning, taking account of

evolving legal and regulatory requirements as well

as stakeholders’ expectaticons.

Responsibility for governance matters.

Remuneration Committee Framework, policy and levels of remuneration of

the Executive Directors and senior executives,

Independant NEDs Two

Inside information deterrmination and advice on
scope and content of disclosures to the market.

Disclosure Committee Any two Directors lincl. CEOQ or Chief Two
Financial Officer] and the Group

Company Secretary and Legal Advisor

Environment Committee Oversight of the Board's respensibilities inrelation  Independent NEDs and CEQ Two
to environmental matters, incl. climate-related

matters and TCFD.

Social and Community Committee Understanding of the key concerns of the Independent NEDs and CEQ Two
waorkforce and wider stakeholders, apart from

shareholders.
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Other Board Committees

Committees Surnmary Membership Quorum
Share Plans Committee Consideration of administrative matters relatedto  All Directors and the Group Company  Two
the provision of share-based employee benefits for  Secretary and Legal Advisor
the company and its subsidiaries.
Bank Guarantees and Consideration of matters related to the provision of  All Directorsand the Group Company  Two
Facilities Committee bank guarantees and facilities for the companyand  Secretary and Legal Advisor
its subsidiaries.
The terms of reference for each of these Other Board Committees can be found on our website.
Main Management Committees
Committees Remit Membership Chair Quorum
Executive Committee Day-to-day management  CEOQ, CFO, Group Company Secretary and CEO or Chief Four (incl.
Legal Adviser and any other officers asinvited  Financial Officer CEQor CFO)
by the CEO. Minimum of six. (CFOIinCED's
absence
Safety Leadership Safety cuiture CEQ. Divisional Presidents of Europe, North CEO Four (incl. CEO
Committee America and AMEA, Group HSEQ Director, or Group HSEQ
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor Director)

and any other direct reports as required by
the CEQ. Minimum of six.

Sustainability Steering Mostly climate-relatedand A minimum of six representatives of each Group Engineering  Four {incl. Group
Committee environmental mattersbut  division and Group's relevant functions. and Operations Engineering
also people, community, Director and Operations
governance and Director)
reputational matters.
Other Management Committees
Committees Remit Membership Chair Quorum
Treasury Committee Management of the CFO, Group Financial Controller, Group Head Group Head of Two (incl. CFQ)
Company's financialrisksin - of Treasury, Group Head of Tax Treasury
accordance with the
objectives and policies
approved by the Board.
Data Protection Steering Implementation of Keller's  Legal representatives from each division n/a n/a
Committee strategy for compliance {Eurcpe, North America, AMEA}and Group

with data protection laws.
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Keller Group Charter of
Expectations and Role Profiles

The Charter of Expectations and Role Profiles
document sets the role profiles for all of the key
positions on the Keller Group plc Board, and
states the expectations that are demanded of
each of the Directors.

Chairman

1t 1s available on our webisite so that theres
complete transparency of the standards we set
ourselves for all our stakeholders. The
performance of the Board and Board
Committees and of each of the Directors
Indlivicually 1s measured against these
expactations.

Keyroles Responsibilities

Responsible for leading the Board, its effectiveness and governance.

The Chairmanis alsa responsible for the following matters pertaining to the

leadership of the Board:

+ Being the uitimate custodian of
sharehoiders' interests.

» Ensuring appropriate Board
composition and succession.

« Ensuring effective Board processes.

Setting the Board's agenda.

«  Attends meetings with major
shareholders to obtain an
understanding of their issues and
concerns, ensuring effective
communication with them.

+ Ensuring that Directors are

properly briefed inorder to take a
full and constructive partinBoard
and Board Committee discussions.

- Ensuring constructive relations

between Executive and
Non-executive Directors.

+ Being the designated Director for

ESG and sustainability matters, in
particular climate-relatedissues

Chief
Executive
Officer

Responsible for the formulation of strategy, and the operational and financial

pusiness of the Group.

The CEQ1s also responsible for the following matters,

» Formulating strategy praoposals for
the Board.

« Formulating annual and medium-
termplans, charting how
this strategy will be delivered.

- Apprising the Board of all matters
which materiaily affect the Group
andits performance, including any
significantly underperforming
business activities.

« Leading executive managementin

order to enable the Group's
businesses to meet the
requirements of shareholders.

= Ensuring adequate, well-motivated
andincentivised management
resources.

« Ensuring appropriate succession
planning.

« Ensuring business processes for
long-termvalue creation.

The roles of the Chairman and the CEQ are quite distinct from each other and are
clearly defined in written terms of reference. They do collaborate and have a ¢tlose
warking relationship.

Senior

independent

Director

= Waorks closely with the Chairman,
acting as a sounding board and
providing suport.

+ Acts as anintermediary for other
Directors as and when necessary.

NEDs to address any concerns or
issues they feelhave not been
adequately dealt with through the
usual channels of communication.

« Meets at least annually with the
NEDs toreview the Chairman's
performance and carries Gut
succession planning for the
Chairman’s role.

Is available to shareholders and other - Attends sufficient meetings with

major shareholders to obtaina
balanced understanding of their
issues and concerns.
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Keyroles Responsibilities

Chief
Financial
Officer

Responsible for financial management and control, budgeting and forecasting.
tax and treasury and investor relations.

The CFQO s also responsible for the following matters:

- Agdherence within the company to all

applicable accounting standards.

« Internal financizl controls within the

company.

« Custodian of the Group's financial

resources.

-

Qversight of the company’s
financial functions and staffing
including motivaticn, development
and succession.

Maintaining adequate financial
liquidity and ensuring the viability
and resilience of the Group.

Group
Company
Secretary and
Legal Advisor

- Ensures goodinformation flows to
the Board and its Committees and
between senior management and
NEDs.

- All Directors have access to their
advice and services.

- Responsible for ensuring that the
Board operatesinaccordance with
the governance framework it has

adopted and that there are effective

information flows to the Board and

its Committees and between senior

management and the NEDs.

Advises anevolving standards and
supports the Chairman onthe
continuing development of the
Beard.

Their appeintment and resignation
is a matter for consideration by the
Beard as awhole.

Committee
Chairs

Responsible for the effectiveness of each Committee and individual member

Directors.
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Board composition, succession and evaluation

Nationality (%)
W Brivsh 57%
l Cther 43%

Gender (%)

W Female 57%
B Male 43%
Length of tenure (%)

W 1 3years 57%
W 2-6years 29%
M 7Svyears 14%

MNumber of Board members
with relevant experience

W OlandGas 3
B Technology 5
B Construction  §

5

B Engireernng

Number of Board members with
relevantinternational experience

Americas &
Europe 7
Middle East 4
3
5

Africa

Asla Pacific

Data as at 31 Decernber 2021

Board composition

At the beginning of 202 1, the structure of the
Board Committees and their operation were
considered by the Board and, in recagnition of
the increased focus on Environmental, Social and
Governance lESG) matters, were realigned and
reconstituted from May 2021 to allow more
focus on Keller's ESG priorities.

Mere infarmation can be foundin the ESG and
sustainability section of this repart.

Board diversity

Building on the work of our Group-wide Inclusion
Commitments, our Board Diversity Policy has
been in place since January 2021.

In 2021, Keller's Board or Uireclurs Lad o 577
fermale share (2020: 44%), meeting the
Hampton-Alexander Review target of 33%
fernale share of Board Directors by 2020.

With the appointment of Juan G. Hernandez
Abrams to the Board from 1 February 2022, we
also meet the Parker Review target with one
Board Directar from an ethnic minority
background by 2022.

The selection of candidates to join the Board
continues to be made based on merit and the
individual appontee’s ability to contribute to the
effectiveness of the Board, which in turnis
dependent on the pool of candidates available
All sppointiments and succession plans will seek
to promote diversity of gender, ethinicity, skills,
background, knowledge, international and
industry experience and ather qualities.

Our commitment to equality, diversity and
mclusion aligns with our values of integrity,
collaboration and excellence and is underpinned
by our Inclusion Commitments.

The Board is committed to promoting equality,
diversity and inclusion in the boardroom, to
ensure ait are able to cantribute to Board
discussions, and aims to meet industry targets
and recommendations wherever possible. This
includes our chjective of meeting the diversity
targets recommended by the Hamptan-
Alexander Review and Parker Review.

The Board, supported by the Nomination and
Governance Committee, is also committed to:

+ ensuring that the Board is comprised of a
good balance of skills, experience, knowledge,
perspective and varied backgrounds;

- only engaging search firms who are signed up
o the Voluntary Code of Conduct for
Executive Search Firms;

+ ensuring that Board appointment iong lists’

« considering candidates for Non-executive
Director Board appointments from a wide
pool, including thaose with ne listed company
board-lavel experience; and

+ reporting annually on the diversity of the
executive pipeline as well as the diversity of the
Board.

The armua! evaluation of the Board effectiveness
considers the composition and diversity of the
Board.

We also aim to develop a strong pipeline of
diverse candidates for executive Board roles and
for the Executive Committee with & goal of
ensuring that it is made up of an appropriate
balance of skills, experience and knowledge
required Lo effectively oversee the management
of the company in the delivery of its strategy.

Our gender diversity statistics across the Group
are shown on page 56.

Board evaluation and review of the
Chalrman’s performance

The 2021 Board evaluation was conducted by
Donata Denny, Leadership Coach and
Professional Development Advisor.

Building on the 2020 Board evaluation, feedback
of the performance of the Board as a whole and
its Committees, the Board's 2021 Strategy Day,
and the Chairman and indnidua) Directors was
sought from the Board and. in the case of the
Chairman, aiso from key externai advisers.

Feedback on the Board and its Committees and
the Board's 2021 Strategy Day was reviewed at
the Board's meeting in January 202 2. Individual
feedback sessions for the Directors with the
Chairman, and feedback on the Charman, willbe
carried out in the first quarter of 2022.

The evaluation of the Chairrman and his
performance in 2021 will be led by Baroness
Kate Rock, the Senior independent Director.

Participants provided full and frank feedback
and reported that the dynamics of the Board
continued to improve and progress over the
year with recagriitton that this was an ongoing
process.

The new Board Committees’ structure,
membership and operation were felt to be
working well and, in particular, the Chair of each
Committes received praise from the members
for their role and effectiveneass.

Whilst the 2021 Board Strateqy Day was felt to be
the best for a number of years, suggestions for
further improvement of the event were fed back
to the Executive Directors and the Group
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The Company expects ta update shareholders
on the progress made in relation to the matters
identified above in its 2022 annual report.

The Chairman has confirmed that the Directors
standing for election and re-election at this
year's AGM continue to perform effectively and
to demonstrate commitrnent to therr roles.

Board development

Onappoiritment, Directors are provided with
induction training and information about the
Group, the role of the Board and the matters
reserved for its decision, the terms of reference
and membership of the Board Committees and
the latest financial information about the Group.
This is supplemented by meetings with the
company’s legal and other professional advisers,
and, where appropriate, visits to key locations
and meetings with certain senicr executives to
develop the Directors’ understanding of the
business.

Throughout their period of office, Non-executive
Directors are continually updated on our
business, markets, social responsibility matters
and other changes affecting the Group and the
industry in which we operate, including changes
to the legal and governance ervironment and the
cbligations on themselves as Directors. Specific
updates this year revolved around ESG and TCFD
and were provided by the Keller Sustainability,
Risk and Company Secretariat teams.

Board visit to HS2 site

In October 2021, the Board visited the site of
one of the ventilation shafts that services the
main tunnels running under London to and
from Euston Station,

Keller is carrying cut grouting to seal off
fissures inthe chalk and jet grouting to
stabilise the ground, working for the Principal
Contractar SCS (Skanska Costain Strabag
Joint Venture) as part of the $1/52 section of
HS2. GEO-Instrurments is also on the site
maonitoring the adjacent infrastructure.

Information and support

The Board and Committees are satisfied that
they receive sufficient, reliable and timely
information in advance of meetings and are
provided with all necessary resources and
expertise to enable thern to fulfil their
responsibilities and undertake their duties n
an effective manner.

The Chairman and the Group Company
Secretary and Legal Advisor keep under review
the forward agendas for the Board and the
content and construct of management papers to
allow for greater focus by the Board as & whole on
strategic matters and avoiding unnecessary
operation detail.

For each Board and Committee meeting.
Directors are provided with a tailored Board pack
in advance of the meeting. To improve the
delivery and security of meeting papers, we use
an electronic system that allows the Board to
easily access information, irrespective of
geographic location. Directors regularly receive
additional information between Board meetings,
including a monthly Group performance update
which from 2022 will include carbon reduction,
gender DEl and good governance performance.
If a Director is unable to attend a meeting, they
are provided with all the papers and information
relating to that rmeeting and have the opportunity
to discuss 1ssues arising directly with the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

The picture below shows the Chairman, the
Non-executive Directors and the Chief
Executive Officer accompanied by the
President, Europe and Contracts Engineer
Kanan Garayev and Contracts Manager Sam
Cawthorne.

Accountability

Internal controls

The Board is ultimately responsible for the
Group's system of internal control and for
reviewing its effectiveness. However, such a
systemis designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance against material
misstatement orloss.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing
process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the principal risks faced by the Group, which has
beenin place for the year under review and up to
the date of approval of the Annual Report and
Accounts. This process Is regularly reviewed by
the Board and accords with the guidance of the
Financial Reporting Council.

Details on the identification and evaluation of
risk, as well as on the management of project
risk, can be foundin the section headed Principal
risks and uncertainties onpages 32to 41.

The key elements of the Group's system of
internal controls are explained inthe Audit and
Risk Committee report on page 94,

The management of financial risks is described
in the Chief Financial Officer's review on pages
26to 31,

Informationincludedin
the Directors’ report

Certain informaticn that fulfils the
requirements of the Corporate governance
statement can be found in the Directors'
report in the sections headed 'Substantial
shareholdings’ ‘Repurchase of shares’
‘Amendrment of the company’s Articles

of Association’ ‘Appoirtment and
replacernent of Directors’ and 'Powers

of the Directors” and is incorporated

inte this Corporate governance section
by reference.
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Environment Committee report

Nancy Tuor Moore
Chair of the Environment Committee

44

The Committee will

work with management to
oversee ways ofimproving the
environmental performance of
the Group, and to agree priorities
that consider the needs of our
stakeholders and drive the right
behaviour.”

Composition of the Committee
Nancy Tuar Moore, Paula Bell, Eva Lindgvist,
Baroness Kate Rock, Michaet Speakman, Juan
G. Hernandez Abrams {from 1 February 2022)

N For full biographies
Seepages 70and 71

Role of the Committee

The role of the Committee is to help the
Board of Directors fulfil its oversight
responsibilities in relation to environmental
and related sustainability matters arising out
of the activities of the Group.

Highlights of the Commiittee’s
activities in 2021

» Recommended new terms of reference of
the Cormmittee to the Board.

« Approved the Group's approach to TCFD
reporting,

- Recommended carbon targets.

« Monitored progress against the year's
environment objectives.

+ Monitored progress of the Group's

sustainability initiatives.

Reviewed the effectiveness of the

Committee.

« Reviewed the Committee's prionties for
2022.

Dear shareholder

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present
the first report of the Ervironment Committee
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

A new Committee

The Committee was establishedin July 2021 and
assumed, where relevant, the responsibllities of
the former Health, Safety, Environment and
Quality Committee. Since then, the Board has
continued to aversee Safety and Quality via the
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive
Committee. Further information can be found in
the ESG and sustainability section of this report.

The purpose of the changes was to reflect the
growing emergence of Environmental, Sccial and
Governance matters and to provide greater
focus and oversight on these issues which the
Board considers of key importance

Carbon targets and TCFD

At its first meetingin July, the Committee
approved Keller's first net zero carbon targets for
recommendation to the Board.

These targets, covering Scopes 1to 3, setout
Keller's ambition to build the foundations for a
sustainable future. For more information on the
specific carbon targets and reduction initiatives,
please see the ESG and sustainability section of
this report.

The Committee also oversaw the strengthening
of Keller's cimate-related risks and opportunities
process, inline with TCFD guidance, to ensure
Keller is betier equipped to manage and mitigate/
realise these key risks and opportunities.

The Committee is ideally placed to provide
Board-level governance and scrutiny of strategic,
climate-related topics,

For more information on the specific cimate-
refated nisks and cpportunities, please see page
38 inthe Principal risks and uncertainties section
of this report.
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CDP score

We were pleased to see that our CDP score went
up this year, froma C to a B, putting us in line with
the construction sector average and above the
global average.

This increase reflected the fact we:

- Planned o set net zero targets.

« Could account for a small proportion of our
Scope 3 emissions.

» Could explain more about our change in
emissions over 2020.

Corporate governance

The remit of the Cormmittee Is set out Inits new
terms of reference which were approved during
the year and are available on the Group's website
(www.keller.com)} and cn request, from the
Committee Secretary. During this financial year
we met once, with attendance at this meeting
shown on page 74. We had another meeting
scheduled for December but this had to be
rescheduled to January due to the Omicron
variant of COVID-19 outbreak in the UK.

The Committee is comprised of the independent
Non-executive Directors of the company and the
CEQ. The Committee may invite members of the
senior management team to attend meetings
where it is felt appropriate and the Board
Chairman, the CFQ, the Group Company
Secretary and Legal Advisor and the Engineering
and Operations Director regularly attend
meetings of the Committee.

The Committee conducted an effectiveness
review of the business covered during the year
aqgainst its terms of reference.

In addition, the Committee's performance, and
that of its members, was evaluated in an exercise
facilitated by Donata Denny, a highly respected
Leadership Coach and Professional
Development Advisor. The Committee andits
members were found to be operating effectively.
The outcome of this exercise can be found on
pages 82 and 83.

The new Board Committees' structure,
membership and operation, 1o respond to
ever-increasing ESG demands, were felt to be
working well and, in particular, the Chair of each
Committee received praise from the members
for their role and effectiveness.

Looking forward

We are a new Committee and we are still
developing our programme of work. Our
priorities for 2022 will revolve arcund:

+ Horizon scanning on climate-related and
environmental matters, in particular the
implications of the Task Force on Nature-
related Financial Disclosures.

- Supporting the company inits progress
towards net zero,

« Agsisting the Rermuneration Committeein
monitoring the impact of ESG targets on
remuneration.

+ Supporting the company In developing its
disclosures under TCFD, in line with the
framework we agreed this year, and working
closely with the Audit and Risk Committee
on scenario analysis.

Public health and safety legal requirements
permitting, | look forward to meeting
shareholders who attend our AGM this year to
answer any guestions on this report or onthe
Committee’s activities. Shareholders are also
encouraged to email their questions te the
Committee Secretary at secretariat@kellercom.

This will be my last AGM and at that time Juan G.
Hernandez Abrams will replace me as Chair of
this Committee. It has been a privilege to serve
at the Keller Board and to chair the HSEQ and the
Environment Committees.

Nancy Tuor Moorea
Chair ofthe Environment Committee

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised forissue on 7 March 2022.
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Social and Community Committee report

Baroness Kate Rock
Chair of the Sodial and Community Committee

Yy

The Committee will continue
to ensure that our workforce
and wider stakeholders are
represented apprepriately in
the Board’s decision-making
process.”

Composition of the Commiittee
Raraness Kate Rock, Paula Bell,

Michael Speakman, Nancy Tucr Mocre, Juan G.
Hernandez Abrams (from 1 February 2022)

For full biographies
Seepages 70and 71

Role of the Commiittee

The role of the Committee is to understand
key concerns of the workforce and wider
stakehoiders, define the term ‘workforce’ in
the context of Keller, and review relevant
people, social and community policies and
practices.

We are also responsible, along with the Audit
and Risk Committee, for ensuring that the
company has policies in place to encourage,
understand and address employee concerns
and feedback.

Finally, we work closely with the
Remuneration Cornmittee, making
recornmendations to the Board on whether
Keller's policies and practices are inline with
the purpose and values, and support the
dasired culture.

Highlights ofthe Committee's

activitiesin 2021

« Cversaw the implementation of DEl
Initiatives.

= Reviewed and challenged management on
the delivery of the employee engagerment
programme.

+ Recommended a Charitable Giving Policy to
the Beard.

- Recommended new terms of reference of
the Committee to the Board

« Reviewed the effectiveness of the
Committee.

Dear shareholder

Itis my pleasure as Chair, to present this, our first
report of the Social and Community Committee,
for the year ended 31 December 202 1 on behalf
of the Board,

A new Committee

The Cormmittee was established in July 2021 and

assumed, where relevant, the responsibilities of

the former Workforce Engagerment Committee.

I continued in my role as Senior Independent '
Director and designated Non-executive Director

for workforce engagement, with responsibility to

ensure that the Board engages effectively with

cur workforce and understand and learns from

the views of all our stakeholders,

The purpose of the changes was to reflect the

growing emergence of environmental, social and

governance matters and provide greater focus

and oversight on these issues which the Board

considers of key importance in support of ‘
delivering the Group's long-term strategic

objectives and 1s commutted to understanding and

learning from the views of all our stakeholders.

Our obligations are delivered by:

« Ensuring that the voice of the employee’
is considered within the boardroom.

= Reviewing forimal data and informal feeaback .
that has been obtaned from the warkforce
with management.

« Regularly reviewing Keller's HR strateqgy as
toits appropriateness in delivenng the
strategy and supporting our values and
desired culture.

» ldentiying consistent themes recelved via
feedback from employees.

« Ensuring that they are incorporated within s
Keller's updated HR strateqy, along with the '
introduction of any Board identified topics that
support the company's business strategy and
desired culture, ;
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Supporting The
Brilliant Breakfast
2021

Kefler supported The Brilliant Breakfast with
a donation of £5,000. Working with The
Prince’s Trust, this UK initiative aims to
change the lives of young women by
helping themn gain the skills needed to

live, learn and earn.

44

The Julia and Hans Rausing Trust
has pledged to match fund all 2021
donations of £5,000 or over to
The Brilliant Breakfast, meaning
that Keller's donation will allow
an incredible £10,000 of support
for young women in the UK.”

Kerry Porritt
Group Company Secretary
and Legal Advisor

Cur Committee met once this year since

its establishment and | reported on the
Committee's activities at the Board meeting
the following day. We had ancther meeting
scheduled for December but this had to be
rescheduled to January due to the Omicron
variant of COVID-19 outbreakin the UK.

The Committee's new terms of reference can
be found on our Group website lwww.keller.com)
and on request from the Cormmittee Secretary.

Activities

Further detail on the Committee’s activities can
be found in the ESG and sustainability section of
this report, but lwould like to highlight the
following topics considered during the year.

The Committee reviewed and challenged
rnanagement on the delivery of the employee
engagement programme, which comprised
focus groups led by each of the Non-executive
Directors. The themes were heslth, safety and
wellbeing; systems, processes and ways of
working, communications; and diversity, equity
and inclusion,

During 2021, management introduced Keller's
Wellbeing Foundations, which focused on
equipping cur workforce to be healthy and
fulfilied across five key pillars, including body.
rmind, community, growth and financial security.
The Committee reviewed this framework prior
to launch.

We also designed and agreed a Charitable Giving
Policy for recommendation to the Board. Under
such policy we were proud to make a funding
contribution of £300,000 to UNICEF's COVID-19
Vaccines Appeal. This helped UNICEF to deliver
two billion doses of vaccines by the start of 2022
for frontline health workers, social workers,
teachers and those at highest risk.

The Committee was kept abreast of the
implementation of our Diversity, Equity and
Inclusion Commitments, which continued at pace,
with a focus on investing in our workforce and
strengthening and diversifying our talent pipeline.

In line with best practice, the Committee
conducted an effectiveness review of the
business covered during the year against its
terms of reference.

In addition, the Committee's performance,

and that of its members, was evaluated inan
exercise facilitated by Donata Benny, a highly
respected Leadership Coach and Professional
Development Advisor. The Cormmittee and its
members were found to be operating effectivaly.
The outcome of this exercise canbe found on
pages 82 and 83.

The new Board Committees' structure,
membership and cperation, to respond to
ever-increasing ESG demands, were felt to be
waorking well and, in particular, the Chair of each
Committee received praise from the members
for their role and effectiveness.

Looking forward

We are a new Committee and we are still
developing our programme of work.

As we evolve towards becoming a company that
is representative of the local communities in
which we cperate, it's essential to ensure that cur
talent programmes and promotion practices
continue to be based on merit and are inclusive.
As such, one of our prionities for next year will be
talent and skills develocpment.

fwill continue to give the Board feedback cnthe
thoughts and ideas of our employees, ensuring
that our workforce and wider stakehclders are
represented appropriately in the Board's
decision-making process.

Baroness Kate Rock
Chair cf the Social and Community Committee

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue on 7 March 2022,
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Pater HillCBE
Chairrman of the Nomination
and Governance Committee

4 4

The Board is committed to
promoting equality, diversity and
inclusioninthe boardroom, to
ensure all are able to contribute to
Board discussions.”

Composition of the Committee
Peter Hill CBE, Paula Bell, Eva Lindgvist,

Nancy Tuor Moare, Baroness Kate Rock, Juan
G. Hernandez Abrams (from 1 February 2022)

For full biographies
See pages 70and 71

Role of the Committee

The role of the Nomination and Governance
Committee is to recommend the structure,
size and composition of the Board and its
Committees. it is also responsible for
succession planning of the Board and
executive management, for promoting the
overalt effectiveness of the Board and its
Committees, and for governance matters
ingeneral.

Highlights of the Committee’s
activities in 2021

» Recrutment of Juan G. Hernandez Abrams
as a Nen-executive Director.

+ Evaluation of the Board and its Committees,

the Board Strategy Day and the Chairman
and Directors.

+ Continued to develop and moenitor
succession plans for the Board and senjor
management.

+ Monitored the length of tenure of the
Non-executive Directors.

- Reviewed and refreshed the terms of
reference of the Committee and changed
the Committes’s name to better reflect its
responsibility for governance matters.

Dear sharcholder

Welcome to the report of the Nomination and
Governance Committee for the year ended
31 December 2021,

The Committee has continued to review the
balance of skils an the Board as well as the
knowledge, experience, length of service and
performance of the Directors. Dunng the year,
we held two meetings. The attendance at the
meetings is shown on page 74.

Particular areas of focus this vear included the
recruitment of a new Non-executive Director,
Juan G. Hernandez Abrams, whe joined the
Board with effect from 1 February 2022.

Nancy Tuor MogGre, who has been on the Board
since 2014, will retire after the Annual General
Meeting in May 2022.

Board evaluation

The 2021 Board evaluationwas conducted by
Donata Denny, Leadership Coach and
Professional Development Advisor. Building on
the 2020 Board evaluation, feedback of the
performance of the Board as awhole and its
Committees, the Board's 2021 Strategy Day, and
the Charman and indnviduat Directors was
sought from the Board and, in the case of the
Chairman, also frorm key external advisers,

Feedback o the Board and its Committees and
the Board's 2021 Strategy Day was reviewed at
the Board's meetingin January 2022. Individual
feedback sessions for the Dirgctors with the
Chairman, and feedback on the Chairman, wili be
carried out in the first quarter of 2022,
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We welcomed the full and frank feedback
received from ali participants, who reported that
Board dynarnics continued to improve and
progress over the year with recognition that this
was an ongoing process. The Board Committees’
structure, membership and operation were felt
to be working well end, in particular, the Chair of
each Committee received praise from the
rmembers for their role and effectiveness. Whilst
the 2021 Board Strategy Day was felt to be the
best for a number of years, suggestions for
furtherimprovernent of the event were fed back
to the Executive Directors and the Group
Company Secretary and Legal Advisor.

Board effectiveness and skills

As part of our work regarding Board
effectiveness, Committee activities included:

« Considering the number of Executive and
Non-executive Directors on the Board, and
whether the balance is appropriate to ensure
optimum effectiveness.

+ Reviewing the baiance of industry knowledge,
relevant experience, skills and diversity onthe
Beard.

» Assessing and confirming that all the
Non-executive Directors remain independent.

We are confident that each Director remains
committed to their role. In our view, the Board
continues to work well and benefits from an
appropriate and diverse mix of skills and industry
knowledge. Collectively, the Directors bring a
range of expertise and experience of different
husiness sectors to Beard deliberations, and this
encourages constructive and challenging debate
around the boardroom table.

Qur Committee continues to work to balance the
skills and experience of the Board members to
meet the changing needs of the business.

Having a good mix of skills plays an important role
in keeping the Board relevant and up to date with
the market.

Board diversity

InJanuary 2021 the Board and the Nomination
Committee approved a Board Diversity Policy.
Keller's Board Diversity Policy sets out the
approach to diversity both on the Board of
Directors of Keller Group plc and more widely
across the organisation.

Qur commitment to equality. diversity and
inclusion aligns with our values of integrity,
collaboration and excellence and is underpinned
by our Inclusion Commitments.

The Board is committed to promoting equality,
diversity and inclusion in the boardroom, to
ensure all are able to contribute to Board
discussions, and aimn to meet industry targets
and recommendaticns wherever possible. This
includes our objective of meeting the diversity
targets recommended by the Hampton-
Alexander and the Parker Reviews.

In 2021, Keller's Board of Directors had a 57%
fernale share (2020 44%) meeting the
Hampton-Alexander Review target of 33%
female share of Board Directers by 2020, With
the appointment of Juan G. Hernandez Abrams
to the Board from 1 February 2022, we alsc meet
the Parker Review target with one Board Director
from an ethnic minority background by 2022.

For further information on diversity at Board level,

as well as more generally at Keller, please see the
ESG and sustainability section of this report.

Non-executive appointments
and time commitments

When we make recommendations to the

Board regarding Non-executive Director
appointments, we will consider the expected
time cormmitment of the proposed candidate,
and any other existing commitments, to ensure
that they have sufficient time available to devote
to the company.

Before accepting any additional commitments,
Non-executive Directors will discuss them with
the Chairman of the Board, or inthe case of

the Chairman, with the Senior Independent
Director and the CEQ. Board agreement is
required to ensure that any conflicts of interest
areidentified and that the individual will continue
to have sufficient time available to devote to
the company.

Corporate governance

The Committee's terms of reference are
available on the Group's website (www.keller.
com) and on reguest from the Group Company
Secretary and Legal Advisor. The terms of
reference were amended this year and the
name of the Committee changed to better
reflectits remit.

Only the Chairman and Non-executive Directors
are members of the Committee, and no other
personis entitled to be present at Cormmittee
meetings. We may invite members of senicr
management to attend meetings where we feel
it is appropriate, and the CEQ and Group People
Director both attended certain meetings during
the year.

Qur 2021 evaluation of the Committee
concluded that, consistent with the Code and
our own terms of reference, the Committees
discharging its obligations in an effective manrer.

In accordance with the requirements of the
Code, allmembers of the Board will seek
election/re-election at the AGMin May 2022,
with the exception of Nancy Tucr Moocre, who
will retire after the AGM.

Peter Hill CBE

Chairman of the Nomination

and Governance Committees

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised forissue on 7 March 2022,
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Audit and Risk Committee report

Paula Bell
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

4 4

This has been another busy year
and we expect the momentum
gained will carry the progress
forwardinto 2022."

Composition of the Committee
Paula Bell, Eva Lindgvist, Nancy Tuor Moare,
Baroness Kate Rock, Juan G. Hernandez
Abrams (from 1 February 2022)

For full bingraphies
Seepages 70and 71

Dear shareholder

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee, | am
pleased to present cur report for the financial
year ended 31 Decernber 2021.

The Group operates within a large, global and
fast-changing environment. which requires an
adaptive approach to assurance. The COVID-19
pandemic continued to pose challenges to

the Group so it was important to ensure that
the Group's risk management and internal
control systems cperated effectively. We

were pleased with the actions delivered by
mananemeant in narticiiar the faros an

Role of the Committee

The Committee is responsible for overseeing
the internal risk managernent framework,
ensuring effective internal controls

arein place, financial and non-financial
reporting and appropriate external and
internal audit arrangements.

Highlights of the Committee’s
activities in 2021

« Continued to oversee the development of
the Group's financial control framework,

» Monitored the implementation of the
Group's risk management framework.

.

Menitored the implermentation of key business
change initiatives including Platform for
Success, new Group-wide operating model
and cyber risk review.

+ Reviewed and challenged the output of
management's assurance map to asscss
controls maturity in the context of the
forthcoming audit and corporate governance
reform,

Reviewed the company's response to the
audit and corporate governance reform
proposals, and monitored and challenged
management plans in preparation.

Reviewed the detailed cutput of the
evaluation of the external auditor, EY.

» Reviewed and challenged the
implementation of the internal audit
pragramme to ensure appropriate coverage
of matters of business risk,

» Reviewed and approved the results of the
Group's annual Electronic Internal Control
Questionnaire.

- Reviewed its terms of reference and
recommended changes to the Board.

Reviewed the effectiveness of the Committee

The Committee retained its focus onthe
development of the risk management and
internal control systems. Being mindful of the
increasing depth of review and reporting required
of audit committees, we continued to follow a
detailed programme of work which ensured the
personnel and systems were in place to enable
the Board to perform arobust assessment of
principal and emerging risks and the Group's
responses to them. The continued focus onrisk
rmanagement activity, following the appointment
of the Group Head of Risk and Internal Audit in
2020, resulted n a more integrated and consistent
approach to nsk identification, assessment and

Throughout the year the Committee received
regular updates from management on the
development of the financial control
environment and systems of internal control.
The Committee remains fully committed to
champicning good financial and nsk reporting
and to ensuring we have in place an effective
internal control frarmewaork. The internal and
external assurance programmes operated
effectively during 2021,

The Committee ensured that the internal audit
programme delivered appropriate coverage of all
areas of business risk and reviewed an
assessment of the internal auditor to ensure that
the services provided continued to provide
required assurance.

The Committee reviewed the output of a
detaled assassment of the external auditor. The
external auditor was deemed to be effective and
development points were noted that ensured a
more efficient process for the audit of the 2021
year-end accounts.

In addition, during the year we devoted alot of
time to consider the BEIS consultation,
‘Restoring Trust in Audit and Corporate
Governance, and reviewed the company’s
response and preparation plans. We also
supported managerment in addressing the
requirements of TCFD.

This has been another busy year for the
Committee and management has worked hard
to drive improvements in the areas of risk,
internal control, financial reporting and external
audit. We are confident in the progress that has
been made and expect the momentum gained
will carry this progress forward into 2022, when
our pricrities will revolve around assessing the
impact of the audit and corporate governance
reforrm and ensuring the company is prepared
and compliant.

Public health and safety legal requirements
permitting, | look forward to meeting
shareholders who attend our AGM this year to
answer any questions on this report or on the
Committee’s activities. Shareholders are
encouraged to emailtheir questions to the
Committee Secretary st secretariat@kellercom

PaulaBell
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue on 7 March 2022
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Activities ofthe Committee

The Committee has an extensive agends of
itemms of business. aligned with the financial
reporting cycle, focusing on the audit,
assurance and risk processes within the
business which it deals with in conjunction with
senior managoment, the external auditor, the
intermal audit function and the financial
reporting team.

The Committee's role is tc ensure that
management's disclosures reflect the
supporting detail provided to the Committee
or challenge them to explain and justify their
interpretation and, If necessary, re-present
the information. The Committee reports its
findings and makes recommendaticons tc the
Board accordingly.

The Committee is supported in this role by
using the expertise of EY. In doing so it ensures
that high standards of financial governance, in
line with the regulatory framework as well as
market practice for audit committees going
forward, are maintained.

Furthermore, PwC in their role as internal
auditors contribute to the assurance process
by reviewing compliance with internal processes.

The Committee met four times during the
year, with attendance at these meetings
shown in the table on page 74, and considered
the items of business shown on the table on
the right.

The Committee also reviewed the information
presented in the Group's preliminary
announcement, the company's processes for
the preparation of the Annual Report and
Accounts and the outcomes of those
processes to ensure that we were able to
recommend to the Board that the 2021
Annual Report and Accounts satisfied the
requirement of being fair, balanced and
understandable, The following processes

are in place to provide this assurance:

- Coordination and review of the Annual
Report and Accounts performed alongside
the formal audit process undertaken by EY.

- Guidance issued to contributors at an
operational level.

« Internal challenge and verification process
dealing with the factual content of the
information within the Annual Report
and Accounts.

- Comprehensive review by senior
management and external advisers to
ensure consistency and overall balance.

Item of business When

Regular updates on management plans to effectively managerrisk
pertaining to the impact of COVID-19

Regular updates on the Group's system of internal controls and its
effectiveness

Impact of audit and corporate governance reform and plan of action,
including review of response to consultation, alignment with work under
way Under the Platform for Success programme, ERPimplementation
and impact on principal risks

Progress review of the work undertaken to strengthen the financial and
business control landscape across the Group

Review and challenge of the output of management’s assurance map to
assess controls maturity

Management reports on the status of remediation actions identified
from completed internal audit reviews

Responses and key themes arising from the Group's annual Electronic
Intarnal Control Questionnaire

Review of the Board delegated authorities

Rewview of the Group's principal and emerging risks and definition of the
Group’s risk appetite

Updates on the risk management framewerk including oversight of
work to develop a solution to ensure compliance with TCFD

Cyber risk review aligned with Platform for Success
Effectiveness and scope review of the internal audit function

Regular updates on key findings from the reviews performed as part of
the 2021 internal audit programme

Review and approval of the prograrmme of internal audit reviews of the
Croup’s operations and inancial controls for 2022, building on the
learnings from the 2021 programme and findings, which resultedina
more operationally focused programme for the year

Review and approval of areas of significant accounting judgerments

Management report on the process for assessing the Group's going
concern and viability

Basis of provisioning within the Group's captive insurance vehicle

Review and approva! of the EY engagement letter, audit fee and their
audit plan

Scope and results review of the external audit, its quality and
effectiveness, and the independence and objectivity of EY

Group's tax strategy review and approval for recommendation to
the Board

Briefings on global tax develepments which impact the Group
Review of finance function resourcing and talent

Updates onmatters relating to ethics, fraud and compliance
Review and approval of the Whistleblowing Policy

Review of the Executive Directors' expenses

Review of the Committee's effectiveness

Review and recommendation for changes to the Committee's
terms of reference

Interactionwith the regulator

NAan-audAit earnvicas nnlicy raview and amandmant

At every meeting

At every meeting

July, September
and December

At every meeting

At every meeting

At every meeting

Atevery meeting

February

December and February

At every meeting

February and September
Decemberand July

At everymeeting

December

December and February

December and February

February

December and February

December and July

February

Asnecessary
September

Al every meeting
February
February
December

July

December

Lantamhar
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Audit and Risk Committee report continued |

Significantissues

The significant issues that the Committee considered during the year included those identified in the independent auditor’s report on pages 120to 123,
They related to the financial statements and focused on the Group's approach to key estimates and judgements in connection with:

Significant issues and judgements How the Committee addressed theseissues

Accounting for construction contracts

There has been no change to the revenue accounting policy approvedin
2019 and set outin the Group Finance Standard issued in 2019. The policy
has been in effect and operational throughout 2021 and we have seen
consistent application of the revenue recognition methodology appliedin
the businesses and across contract types. Significant judgements are still
required to e made on contracts for which a degree of uncertainty remains
after application of the methodology.

Buring the year the Cormmittee monitored revenue recorded.
Thisincluded material revenue related to contracts that were
subject to settlement agreements and variation orders. The
treatment recommended by management was inline with the
approved policy and consistent with previous practice.

The Committee considered theseissues at all ofits meetings

during the year and, In particular, in December 2021 and February

2022 when it agreadwith management’s recommendations. The !
reasonableness of the recommendations made by management

was also discussed with EY.

Carrying value of goodwill

The Group tests goodwill annually, to assess whether any impairment has been
suffered. This testis carried out in accordance with the accounting policy set
outinnote 2 to the financial statements. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount based on value-in-use calculations, These calculations require the use
of assumptions, the most important being the forecast operating profits,
forecast reliability and the discount rate applied. The key assumptions used for
the value-in-use calculations are set outin note 14 to the financial statements.

The Committee considered the results of impairment tests of ,
goodwill prepared by managerment atits meetings in December ‘
2021 and February 2022. Following discussion, consultation

with EY and challenge, the Committee agreed with the

recommendations made by management.

Provisioning

Given the nature of the contracts undertaken by the Group, there is an
inherent risk of claims being made against cne or more of the Group's
businesses inrelation to performance on specific contracts. These claims can
include risks for which the Group has external insurance coverage.

Recognition of liabilities for these claims requires judgement and coordination
between different Group functions. In particular, following the Group's
carrespondence with the FRC noted on page 94, the presentation of liabllities
expected to be covered by external insurance and any relatedinsurance
resnbursement assets has been an area of focus. Inthe year the Group

has standardised the methodology used torecord claims and to make
judgements onthe amount of liabilities to be recognised.

The Committee receved reqular updates onlegal clams and
assurance was provided by the divisional legal teams who
reviewed the claims, with provisioning being assessed with
input from divisichal and Group finance.

The Committee was involved inthe response to the FRC

queries and reviewed the related prior year restatement ;
disclosure as well as the updated process for valuing the

estimated settlement value of claims subject to external

nsurance coverage.

Details of provisions are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements.

Non-underlying items

The disclosure of non-underlying items requires significant judgement given
that no accounting standard defines specifically what iterns should or what
items should not be presented as non-underlying.

The Committee considered management's presentation of
non-underlying itemns at its meetings in July and December
2021, and February 2022. The reascnableness of the
assumptions made by management was discussed with EY.

The Committee agreed with the recommendations made by
management.

Going concern

Assessing the Group's ability to meet its obligations as they falldue in the

near termrequires estimates and judgements to be made about the likefy
performance of the Group. The Group, like many businessesin 2021, continued
to operate within a global economy that faced significant uncertainty caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic. Through this period. going concern received
enhanced attention from external and internai stakeholders, On each occasion
that the Group has assessed its ability to continue as a going concern,
judgements and estimates have beenmade on prevailing market conditions.

The Committee considered the jJudgements and estimates
made by management in their assessment of the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern for the period through to the
end of March 2023, a period of at least 12 months from when
thefinancial staterments are authorisedforissue, atits
meetingsin July and December 2021, and February 2022.




Keller Group ple Annual Report and Acccunts 2021

Governance 93

Internal audit

The Keller internal audit programme Is risk-
based, ensuring appropriate coverage
dependent upon the size of the entity and the
perceived risks associated with that operation.
It alsoincludes theme-based audits to review
adherence to Group policies across the
organisation.

The programme carried out by PwC during the
year consisted of 18 operational entity audits
and themed audits across 16 countries, which
together represented approximately 16% of the
Group’s revenue for the year.

The Committee received and considered reports
from PwC which detailed the progress against
the agreed work programme and the findings. In
the majority of reviews, following the successful
update and deployment of the Group Finance
Standards, findings were limited to the need for
formalising maintenance of evidence of controls
performed. Where more significant control
issues were identified, we reviewed the findings,
discussed the remediation plans with
management and received updates on the
progress of rerediating the contral deficiencies.
None of the control deficiencies identified are
significant in relation to the preparation of

the 202 1 Annual Report and Accounts.

The audits carried out during 2021 have been
performed against updated control standards
wherever they have beenissued and any
improvement actions aligned to them. The
majority of control standards are now in place
and embedded across the Group, helping to
improve the control environment and enable
early identification of potential control
breakdowns.

Overall progress has beenmade across business
urits and we have observed a demonstrably
stronger control environment.

During the year, the Committee completed an
Iinternal effectiveness assessment of the internal
audit function, which measured its performance
against the quality assessment criteria provided
by the Institute of Internal Auditars. The work of
the internal audit function was rated as fully
conforming.

External audit

The Committee places great importance on
ensuring there are high standards of quality and
effectiveness.

EY was appointed by shareholders at the AGM
held in May 2019. The lead EY partner during the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 was
Kevin Harkin, who had no previous involvernent
with the Group in any capacity prior to
appointment.

The Committee considered the effectiveness of
the external audit process and of EY as external
auditor. This review included consideration of
comprehensive papers from both management
and the external auditer, and meetings with
management in the absence of the external
auditor. [t considered matters including: the
competence of the key senicr members of the
team and their understanding of the business
and its environment, the planning process;
effectiveness in identifying key risks; technical
expertise displayed by the auditor over complex
accounting matters; communicating and
resolving audit issues; timeliness of the audit
process; cost; and communication of issues and
risks to management and the Committee.

There are a number of checks and controls

in place for safeguarding the objectivity and
independence of EY. These include open lines of
communication and reporting between EY and
the Committee and, when presenting their
‘independence letter, EY discuss with the
Committee their internal process for ensuring
independence.

We assess the effectiveness of the external audit
process on an ongeing basis, paying particular
attention to the mindset and culture, skills,
character and knowledge, quality control and
judgement of the external audit firm in their
handling of key judgements, responsiveness to
the Committee and in their commentary where
appropriate on the systems ofinternal control.

We hold regular private meetings with the
external auditor, during which we discuss:

How the auditor has identified and addressed
potential risks to the audit guality.

+ The controls in place within the audit firm to
identify nsks to audit quality.

« Thelevel of challenge the auditor has
discussed with the management team and
their confidence on the control landscape.

= Whether the auditor has met the agreed audit
plan and how it has responded to any changes
that have beenrequired.

« Feedbackfrom key people involved in the
audit.

» The content of the auditor's management
letter.

A detailed assessment of the amounts and
relationship of audit and non-audit fees and
services is carried out each year and we have
developed and implemented a palicy regulating
the placing of non-audit services to EY. This
should prevent any impairment of
independence and ensure compliance with the
updates to the Code and revised Auditing and
Ethical Standards with regard to non-audit fees.
The approval thresholds were amended in 2021
and now any work awarded to EY. other than
audit, with a value in excess of £50,000, reguires
the specific pre-approval of the Beard. In 2021,
non-audit related fees paid to EY were less than
5% of the total audit fee, These relate to the
half-year report review and are considered to be
permitted services.

The external audit contract is put out to tender
at least every 10 years. As part of the review of
the effectiveness and independence of the
external auditor, we recommend the
reappointment of £Y for the year ending

31 December 2022.

We confirm compliance with the provisions of the
Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market Investigation {Mandatory Use of
Competitive Tender Processes and Audit
Committee Responsibllities) Order 2014.
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Risk management and internal
control

The Committee has a key role, as delegated by
the Board, in ensuring appropriate governance
and challenge around risk management. We also
set the tone and culture within the organisation
regarding risk management and internal control,

The Committee’s name and terms of reference
were amended in 2021 to clearly define its remit
relating to risk,

Further information on the Group's risks can be
found o pages 32 to 41

The system of internal controlis designed both
to safeguard shareholders’ investrent and the

Group's assets, and to facilitate the identification,

evaluation and management of the significant

risks facing the Group. Key elements of the

Group's system of internal control include:

- Anexperienced and qualified finance function
which regularly assesses the possible financial
impact of the risks facing the Group.

+ Monthly dashboard packs reviewed by the
Executive Cornmittee and the Board.

- Detalled business unit budget reviews with
updates provided to the Board.

Regular reports to the Board on health and
safetyissues.

» Regular visits to operating businesses by head
office and divisional direciors.

« Annual completion of internal control
questionnaires by business unit management.

» Reports to the Committee by PwC on the
findings of their internal audit reviews of the
controls, processes and procedures in place at
each of the Group’s in-scope units.

The Group aims to continuously strengthenits
processes, with the involvernent of the
Commitiee, to ensure these processes are

embpedded throughout the organisation. in 2021,

we worked with management to continue to
enhance the systern of internal cantrols, defining
the fallowing priorities and receiving updates on
their progress:

« Continued development of the Group's
financial control framework and setting of
minimum control standards for all areas of
financial reporting and operational finance.

« Monitoring of the implementation of the
monthly sign-off checklist at each business to
certify that accounting controls have been
performed/complied with for the month.

« Raview of internal control questionnaires, to
dentify common areas for improvernent as
well as to address specific risks and direct
assurance efforts.

« Mapping of the Group's control environment
to assess controls maturity across al
functions within the Group.

Although we review the Group's system of
internal cantrols, any such system canonly
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against any material misstatement orloss.

The effects of cash and profit containment
initiatives during the COVID-19 pandemic were
reported regularly, along with scenario analysis,
to ensure that management had near real-time
understanding of the impact.

Significant progress has been made during 2021
to enhance the Group's enterprise risk
management framework, despite the continuing
restrictions placed on us due to COVID-19.

This has included developing a process 1o
identify, manage, review and report on climate-
related risks and opportunities in ine with TCFD
risk reporting requirements. These rnsks and
opportunities were then incorporated into the
existing emerging risk register as, by their nature,
the vast majority of therm are emerging risks and
oppartunities. This allowed the business 1o
review all emerging risks and opportunities
together. More information about this work can
be found In the Principal nsks and uncertainties
{pages 32 to 41) and the ESG and sustainability
(pages 42 to 67} sections of this report.

In addition, the Committee reviewed and
challenged the output of management's
assurance map Lo assess contrels maturity in the
context of the forthcoming audit and corporate
governance reform. This will be an area of
considerabie focus for the Cormmittea next year,
atong with the implementation of the new ERP
systemn and its impact on principa) risks.

Interaction withthe FRC

During the year, the FRC included the company's
Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended
31 Decernber 2020 in their thematic review of
1AS 37, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets’ which resulted principally in
requesting further information inrespect of
provisions for insurance and legal claims, as well
as minor ohservations on other areas of the
accounts.

The Group responded fully to the matters raised
in the correspondence and has restated the
relevant sections of this year's accounts to
reflect this. The restatement impacted the
balance sheet reportedin the 2020 Annual
Renort and Accounts as detailed inthe
accounting policies note onpage 133. The FRC's
enquiry did not result in any changes to reported
prafit, earnings per share, net assets or the cash
fows reported i the 2020 financial year.

The Charr of the Committee has been involved
in reviewing the Group's response 1o the points
raised and is satisfied that the matters have
been addressed effectively, with additional or
amended disclosure adopted in this year's
Annual Report and Accounts.

In addition, during the year the FRC's Audit
Quality Review tearm selected for review the audit
of the Group's financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020 At the conclusion of
the review, the Committee considered the
findings and the actions taken by EY to address
the matters raised.
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Corporate governance

The Committee's terms of reference, which were
reviewed and updated during the year, are
available on our website {www.kellercom) and on
request from the Committee Secretary.

It is intended that the Committee is comprised of
at least three members, all of whom are
independent Non-executive Directors of the
company with the necessary range of financial
and commercial expertise to challenge
rmanagement. The Code requires the inclusion of
one financially qualified member (as recognised
by the Consultative Committee of Accountancy
Bodies) with recent financial expertise. Currently,
the Committee Chair fuilfils this requirerment.

We invite the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Group Financial Controller,
Group Head of Risk and Internal Audit, the Group
Company Secretary and Legal Advisor, the
company's external auditor, EY, and PwC, in their
role as internal auditor, to allmeetings. On three
occasions, the Committee met privately with EY
without management being present and we also
met with PwC and the Group Head of Risk and
Internal Audit without management present.

In ine with best practice, the Committee
conducted an effectiveness review of the
business covered during the year against its
terms of reference.

In addition, the Committee’s performance,
and that of its members, was evaluated inan
exercise facilitated by Donata Denny, a highly
respected Leadership Coach and Professional
Development Advisor. The Cormmittee and its
members were found to be operating
effectively. The outcome of this exercise can
be found on pages 82 and 85.

The new Board Committees’ structure,
membership and operation, to respond to ESG
requirements, were felt to be working well and,
in particular, the Chair of each Committee
received praise from the members for their
role and effectiveness.

Collectively, the Committee has the
competence relevant to the sector as required
by the provisions of the Cede, as well as the
contracting and international skills and
experience required to fully discharge its
duties, The Committee is autharised by the
Board to seek any information necessary to
fulfil these duties and to obtain any necessary
independent legal, accounting or other
professional advice, at the company's
expense.

Looking forward
In 2022 our priorities will be:

= Assessing the final BEIS reforms, when
published, along with the company's
proposed response to meeting the
revised reguirements.

« Supporting the company in developing
the disclosures requirements under
TCFD, in particular around risk
management and scenario analysis.

Reviewing the process for identification
and reporting of risks and the
company’s control environment.

= Supperting the company in delivering
the Platform for Success programme
and implementing the ERP systermn.
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Annual statement from the Chair
of the Remuneration Committee

Eva Lindqvist
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Keller delivered another set of
resultsin 2021 which were above
market expectations.”
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Dear shareholder

On behalf of the Committee, | am pleased
to provide an overview of Executive
Director remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Compaosition of the Committee

Eva Lindqvist, Paula Bell, Baroness Kate Rock,
Nancy Tuor Meore, Juan G. Hernandez
Abrams (from 1 February 2022)

For full biographias
See pages 70and 71

Role of the Committee

The role of the Committee is to determine
and agree with the Board the framework or
broad policy for the remuneration of the
Chairman, the Executive Directors, their
direct reports and such other members of
the executive management as itis
designated to consider. In addition, the
Committee is responsible for determining
the total individual remuneration packages of
the Chairman, the Executive Directors, the
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor
and other senior executives.

The Committee also:

» determines the measures and targets for
annual bonus plan objectives and
outcomes for the Executive Directors,
Executive Committee and other senior
executives;

exercises the powers of the Board in
relation to share plans;

« sets and oversees the selection and
appointment process of its remuneration
advisers;

+ monitors developments in corporate
goverpance and, particularly, any impacts
on remuneration practices; and

+ reperts on its activities to shareholders on
an annual basis.

The Chair of the Committee reports on the
Committee's activities at the Board meeting
immediately following each meeting,

2021 business performance and
incentive outcomes

Keller delivered another strong set of results in
2021 which were above market expectations.
Revenue increased to £2,224.4m, up 13% (at

constant currency) as a result of increased trading

activity, particularly during the second half, and

Highlights of the Committee’s
activitiesin 2021

= Monitored developments in corporate
governance and market trends, Including
alignment of the iImpact of the COVID-1%
pandemic on our employees, shareholdears,
customers, suppliers and other
stakehoiders with 2021 executive
rermuneration.

+ Consulted with shareholders and
successfully renewed the company's
remuneration policy.

+ Benchmarked and assessed the

remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and the Executive Committee,

« Determined bonus ocutcomes for 2021 and

the vesting outcome of the 2019-21
Performance Share Plan [P5P} awards

+ Setbase salaries and established Executive

Director bonus arrangements for 2022;
reviewed base salaries and bonus
arrangements for the Executive Committee
for 2022, approved 2022-24 LTIP awards to
Executive Directors and senior executives

Reviewed the arrangements for the wider
warkforce.

+ Reviewedts terms of reference and the
effectivenass of the Committee.

CCVID-19 adverse pressure on market pricing
and operational disruption across our businesses,
whilst underlying dilutec earnings per share
decreased by 8% ta 88.4p per share

{2020:96.3p per share), reflecting the decrease in
operating profit and somewhat offset by alower
tax rate reflecting the recognition of a prior year
research and development tax credit in North

several bolt-on acquisitions (up 9.7% on an
crganic basis). Underlying operating profit
dacraased 1o G2 fm areduiction of 1094 At

Armerica. After funding acguisitions, net debt [on
abank covenant IAS 17 basis) was down marginally

Lo Faam AL an s m ke mea AL IEPITRA
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The targets for the 2021 annual bonus for
executive management were set by the
Committee in February of last year and remained
unchanged throughout the year. The strong and
resitient financial performance of the Group in
2021 is reflectedinthe 2021 annual bonus
outcomes; the financial measures, Group profit
before tax and net debt, have paid out at
maxirmurn. The Executive Directors made
progress against their corperate objectives,
achieving 15% out of a possible 30% maximum.
Project performance diluted the other good work
in the year and will be a continued focus for the
senior management teamin 2022, Overall, the
annual bonus outturn was 90% of maximum.

When determining the bonus outcome, the
Committee considered overall company
performance over the period.

Considerstions included the engoing impact

of COVID-19 on our business and the broader
market. Whilst the pandemic has continued to
pose challenges for our business and cur people
like for so many other companies, our profit

and net debt performance demenstrate the
resilience of the business. We did not take

any UK furlough monies in 2021 and we have
maintained our progressive dividend levels in
2020 and 2021 to the benefit of shareholders.

During 2021, management introduced Kelier's
Wellbeing Foundations, which focused on
2quipping our workforce to be healthy and fulfilled
across five key pillars, including financial security.
We continued to train our workfarce on the
importance of safety and continued to improve
our accident frequency and total recordable
incident rates. The Group's accident frequency
rate (AFR) reduced by 42% compared with 2020,
and our total recordable incident rate (TRIR)

alse improved by 32%, anindustry-leading
performance. The Committee fully considered

a tragic fatality at the beginning of the year that
oceurred following an accident on a site in Austria
inwhich we lost along-serving and valued
employee. Whilst it has been determined Keller
was not at fault for the accident, management
has continued to advance cur safety programmes.

Cur Social and Community Committee agreed

a Charitable Giving Policy, under which we

were proud to make a funding contribution

of £300,000 to UNICEF's COVID-18 Vaccines
Appeal. This helped UNICEF to deliver two billion
doses of vaccines by the start of 2022

for frontline health workers, social workers,
teachers and those at highest risk. The
implementation of our Diversity, Equity and
Inclusion Commitments continued, with a

focus on investing in cur workforce as well as
strengthening and diversifying our talent pipeline.

As we evolve towards becoming a company that
is representative of the local communities in
which we operate, it's essential to ensure that
our talent programmes and promaotion practices
continue to be based on merit and are inclusive.

After considering all the relevant factors for the
2021 bonus, the Committee's view was that the
outcorme was fair and appropriate from both a
performance perspective and also taking into
account the wider stakeholder experience.
Therefore no discretion was exercised.

The performance of the LTIP granted to
executives in 2019 and vesting in March 2822
was improved from the previous LTIP cycle.
The continued impact of the weak financial
performance in 2018 on the company's share
price in that year, driven primarily by poorly
performing contracts in the APAC Division,
meant that the EPS targets were not met
during the performance period. However, the
TSR elerment vested at near maximum and there
was partial vesting under the ROCE element.
Therefore, overall, the 2019 LTIP awards vested
at 36.6% of maximum.

Shareholders will recall that, prior to the
company's 2019 AGM, |SS proxy advisers
highlighted that the number of shares awarded
to Executive Directors were not being scaled
pack in recognition of the fall in the Company’s
share price during 2018. We engaged with alarge
number of cur major shareholders as aresult and
the Committee undertock that, at the time of
vesting of the 2019 award, it would make a
determination as to whether to use its discretion
to reduce vesting levels as appropriate.

Against this background, the Committee
carefully considered the vesting levels of the
2019 award, with additional reference to both
the sharehclder and wider workforce experience.
It also specifically considered share price
movements and was satisfied that there had
been no inappropriate windfall gains over the
period. The Committee determined that the LTIP
outcome fairly and appropriately reflected
performance over the three years and no
discretion was exercised.

2022 salary review

Salary increases for UK-based employees across
the Group were generally around 4%, effective 1
January 2022. Michael Speakman, CEC, and David
Burke, CFO, were awarded salary increases of 3%.

As additional context, the CEQ and CFO are
aiready aligned with the wider workforce
pension rate of 7% cf salary.

2021 policy and shareholder
consultation

The Committee was gratefut to shareholders for
the time they gave to the 2021 policy consultation
which helped to facilitate a more robust decision-
making process. All of cur major shareholders
were supportive of the proposals put forward with
over 30% of vates in favour of the new palicy.

Year ahead: 2022 annual bonus plan
and LTIP metrics

As set out last year, rmanagerment's facus will be
on driving value by focusing on, and investing in,
our key markets and the sustainability of
operating profits and enhanced margins, whilst
maintaining a robust balance sheet.

In our half-year results for 2021, the company
committed to ambitious net zero targets for alf
three of our emission scopes which will culminate
in carbon neutrality by 2050 at the latest. In
recognition of the importance of achieving these
goals, we have agreed a Scope 2 reduction target
as one of managernent's corporate objectives
for 2022. Further detail on the 2022 corporate
chjectives will be disclosed in the 2022 Annual
rermungration report.

Last year we agreed a refreshed set of four
measures for the 2021 LTIP that we believe
support the delivery of the strategy. These
measures have been carried forward into 2022
and. together with the targets for the LTiP for
the year ahead, are disclosed in the 2021
Directors' remuneration report. See page 104
for further details.

2022 Annual General Meeting

We very much hope that you will support our
2021 Annual report on remuneration at the AGM
in May. | will be available at the AGM to answer any
questions you may have about our work. Please
also feel free to email your questions to the
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor

at secratariat@keller.com and we will respond

to them directly.

Eva Lindqvist
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue on 7 March 2022.
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The Committee sets the Remuneration Policy for
Executive Directors and other senior executives,
taking into account the company’s strategic
objectives over both the short and the jong term

and the external market.

The Committee addresses the need to balance
risk and reward. The Committee monitors the
variable pay arrangements to take accourit of rigk
levels, ensuring an emphasis on long-term and
sustainable performance. The Committee
believes that the incentive plans are appropriately
managed and that the choice of performance
measures and targets does not encourage
undue risk-taking by the Executives so that the
long-term performance of the business is not
compromised by the pursuit of short-termvalue.
The plans incorporate arange of internal and
external performance metrics, measuring both
operational and financial performance over
differing and overlapping performance periods,
providing a rounded assessment of overall
company performance.

Linkage to all-employee pay

The Committee reviews changes in
remuneration arrangements in the workforce
generally as we recognise that all our people play
animportant role in the success of the company.
Keller is committed to creating an inclusive
working environment and to rewarding our
employees throughout the organisation in a fair
manner. In making decisions on executive pay,
the Cormmittee considers wider workforce
remuneration and conditions to ensure that
they are aligned on an ongoing basis.

As part of our commitment to fairness, we have a
sectionin this report (see ESG and sustainability)
which sets out more information on our wider
workforce and cur diversity initiatives. We
recognise there is always an opportunity to
Improve inrelation to these issues.

Shareholder views

The Committee engages proactively with the
Company's major shareholders and Is committed
to maintaining an open dialogue. The Committee
reviews any feedback received from shareholders
as aresult of the AGM process. Committee
members are available to answer gquestions at
the AGM and throughout the rest of the year.
The Commiittee takes into consideration the
latest views of investor bodies and their
representatives, including the Investment
Association, the Pension and Lifetime Savings
Association and proxy advice agencies such as
Institutional Shareholder Services.

Remuneration principles

We strongly believe in fair and transparent reward
throughout the organisation and when making
decisions on executive remuneration the
Compnittee considers the context of wider
workforce remuneration, This section shaws how
the 2018 Code is embedded in our remuneration
principles and how they are cascaded throughout
the organisation. The diagram on the following
page shows how the policy is aligned with the
factors set outin Provision 40, and how our
principles and policy are aligned with the

2018 Code.
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Our purpose: Building the foundations for a sustainable future

Embedding ocur purpose and

How we address the requirements under Provision 40

vision in our remuneration

guiding principles

Culturalalignment and proportionality Simplicity, clarity and predictability

» Support our purpese, values and our
wider pusiness goals.

Drive long-term sustainable performance
for the benefit of afl our customers,
sharehaolders and wider stakeholders.

Be simple, transparent and easily
understood by internal and external
stakeholders.

Attract, motivate and retain all our

employees with diverse backgrounds,
skills and capabilities.

» The Committee ensures that the overall
rewaid lrarnework ermpeds our purpose
andvalues,

+ The Committee reviews the executive
reward framework regularly to ensure it
supports the company's strategy.

Proportionality and risk

+ A significant proportion of remuneration
is delivered in variable pay Iinked to
corporate performance.

+ Performance measures/targets for
incentives are objectively determined.

= Qutcomes under incentive plans are

The Committee ensures the highest
standards of disctosure to our internal
and external stakeholders.

The Committee makes decisions on
executive payin the context of alt
employees and the external environment.

Culturalalignment and risk

The Committee ensures that a significant
portion of reward is equity-based and
thereby inked to shareholder return.

Executives are required to build significant
personal shareholdings in the Company
and this is regularly monitored by the
Committee.

based on holistic assessment of
performance.
Clarity
The Committee ensures that Executives are
provided with a remuneration opportunity
which is competitive against companies ofa
similar size and complexity, with a strong
emphasis on the vanable elements.

Alignment of the policy to the provisions of the 2018 Code

Clarity:

The company's performance remuneration is based on supporting the implementation of the company’s strategy measured
through KPls which are used for the annual bonus and LTIP. This provides clarity to all stakeholders on the relationship between the
successfulimplementation of the cormpany's strategy, ncluding its sustainability framewaork, and the remuneration paid.

Simplicity:

The policy includes the following:

» setting defined limits on the maximum awards which can be earned;

+ requiring the deferral of a substantial proportion of the incentives in shares for a material period of time, helping to
ensure that the performance earning the award was sustainable, and thereby discouraging short-term behaviours;

« aligning the performance conditions with the agreed strategy of the company as well as our sustainability and net zero
carbonambitions;

+ ensuring a focus on long-term sustainable performance through the LTIP; and

+ ensuring there 1s sufficient flexibility to adjust payments through malus and clawback and an overriding discretion to
depart from formulaic outcomes, especially if it appears that the behaviours giving rise to the awards are inappropriate
orthat the criteria on which the award was based do not reflect the underlying performance of the Company.

Predictability:

Sharehaolders are given fullinformation on the potential values which can be earned under the annual benus and LTIP plans on their
approval. In addition, all the checks and balances set olit above under ‘Risk’ are disclosed at the time of shareholder approval.

Proportionality:

The company’s incentive plans clearly reward the successfulimplementation of the strategy and our environmental ambitions, and
through deferral and measurement of performance over anumber of years ensure that the Executives have a strong drive to ensure
that the perforrmance is sustainable over the long term. Poor performance cannot be rewarded due to the Committee's overriding
discretion to depart from the formulaic outcomes under the incentive plans if they do not reflect underlying business performance.

Alignment
to culture:

Akey principle of the company's culture is a focus on our stakeholders and their experience; this is reflected directly in the type of
performance conditions used for the bonus. The facus on long-term sustainable performance is also akey part of the company's
culture. In addition, the measures used for the incentive plans are measures used to determine the success of the implementation

nfthe atrateny
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Remuneration at a glance

Overview of Remuneration Policy —How Executive Directors will be paid in future years

Shareholders approved a revised policy at the 2021 AGM, full detalls of which can be found in our 2020 annual report, An overview of our policy and how it
is proposed to apply in 2022 15 set out below:

Fixed pay

Attract and retain high-calibre
individuals needed to execute
and gefiver on the Group's
strategic objectives.

Annual bonus

Rewards achievernent of
short~term financial and
strategic targets.

Remunerationin 2022

Salary CECr £588,300 - 3% increase from 2021, below salary increases awarded 1o UK-based employees of 4%
CFO F386,250 - 3% increase from 2021, below salary increases awarded to UK-basad employees of 4%

Pension 7% of salary — aligned with the wider workforce rate

Benefits Includes car allowance, private health care and life assurance and long-term disability insurance

25% of bonus deferred into 2022 bonus metrics:
shares for two years - 60% PBT
« 20% Net debt
20% Corporate objectives

Maximum oppeortunity - up to 150% of salary.
Awards subject to malus and clawback.

Performance share plan (P5P}

Focus on delivering value
creation for sharehaolders

and sustainable financial
performance for the company
over the long term.

Shareholding guideline

Policy

The policy approvedin 2021
introduced or farmalised a
number of good governance
features in line with evolving best
practice.

3-year performance 2-year holding 2022 PSP metrics:
period period Aligned with our strategy
Maximum opportunity — up to 150% of salary. . 25:/0 Cumulative EPS Aligned wfth shareholders
For 2022, CEQ will receive 150% of salary and * gg;’ EOCF‘ A“S”ed W'tb strategic KPis
CFO will raceive 125% of salary. ) © eratavg TSR ) Drives quaiity and
» 25% Operating margin sustainable performance

Awards subject 1o malus and clawback

In-post guideline: 200% of salary
Post-employment guideline: 100% of in-post
shareholding (or actual shareholding if lower) in
year 1 and at least 50% inyear 2

Guice
and ox

e gpplies in post,

ndte

Formalised

Introduced
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Remuneration for 2021 - What Executive Directors earned during 2021

Overall our TSR performance over 2021 was 47%, compared to the FTSE 250 returning 18% and the FTSE All-Share also returning 18%.

150
140 \_/
130
120 /A/\
4_"_____——-____:?\/
110 //:,'\
100 ]
a0
31Dec20 21Mar21 30June21 I0%ep21 31Dec21
Keller == FTSEZ25Q0 = FTSEAl-Share
Quicome
Annual bonus Weighting Threshold Target Max 1% of max}
PBT. £rm 60% 62.6 69.5 76.5 100%
Performance cutcome: §2.8!
Net debt (|AS 17 basis), £m 20% 1235 112.3 1011 100%
Performance outcome: §2.5!
Corporate objectives 20% Summary of objectives cn page 103 50%
Actual: 50% of max
Overall 90%
Quicome
P5P(2019-21) Weighting Threshald Max (% of max)
EPS 50% 300p 245p 0%
Actual: 270.6p
TSR 25% Median Upper quartile 94%
Actual: marginally below upper quartite
RCCE 25% 14% 20% 52.5%
Actusl 16.2%7
Overall 36.6%

1 Ar2021 actual exchange rates, before non-underlying items, adjusted for acquisitions.

2 Avcrage of the three-year ROCE for 2019-21.
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The following section provides details of how Keller's Remuneration Policy was implemented during the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Single total figure of remuneration for Executive Directors (audited)

The table below sets out a single figure for the total remuneration receved by each Executive Director for the financial years ended 31 December 2020
and 2021:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Michael Speakman David Burke

za21 2020 2ozt 2020

£000 £000 €000 £000
Salary 571 560 375 84
Taxable benefits! 14 14 20 5
Pensicn benefits’ 40 37 26 5]
Total fixed pay 625 511 421 95
Annual bonus? 7711 784 506 117
PSP 285 40 L] _
Total variable pay 1,066 824 506 117
Total pay 1,691 1,435 927 212

1 Tazable benefits consist primarily of a ¢ar allowante of £1 2,000 and £ 18,000 for Michael Speakman and David Burke respactivefy.
2 Pensionbenefits represant cashn beu of psnsion for Michael Speakman. Dawvid Burke's pansion contrbubion s pahintc a prvate $IPR

3 Theannual bonus represents the value of the bonus recenvable n respect of the Group's annual bonus plan for the relevant financial vear 25% of the bonus shown above will be deferred into Keller
shares for a period of two years.

4 Fortne PSP, the value shown far 2021 reflects the final vesting outcome of the 2013 PSP award with performance measured over tne three-year performance pened 1 January 2019 to 3 December
2021. The final vesting outcome of the 2019 PSP award was 36 6% of maximum, The value of the award was calculated using a three-month average closing share price ta 31 Decemnber 2021 of 321.6p,
See page 104 for further detals The 2019 award will vest on 8 March 2022 Using the average closing share price te 31 Decemnber 2021 the price appreciated from the date of the award.

Total pension entitlements (audited)

Michael Speakman and David Burke's pension rate has been set at 7% of base salary inline with the contribution rate provided to the majerity of the UK
workforce. The Committee keeps the pension entitiement of the Executive Oirectors under review in the context of any changes in pension provision
across the Group.

2021 annualbonus

The 2021 annual bonus was based 80% on the achievement of stretching profitability and net debt targets and 20% on individual corperate objectives
aligned to tha delivery of key strategic and operational prionties. Overall, the bonus autcome for 2021 was 90% of the maximum payout, for each
Executive Director, based on performance as set cut below.

2021 measurementranges and outcome Bonusas % of salary

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Threshold Target Maximm  Performance Michael Speakman David Burke
Measures 0% 50% 100% autcome! Max Outcome Max Outcame
Group PBT, £m 626 €69.5 76.5 82.8 30% 100% 100% 100%
Group net debt (IAS 17 basis), £m 1235 1123 1011 92.5 30% 20% 20% 20%
Total Group measures 120% 120% 120% 120%
Corporate objectives assessment 30% 15% 30% 15%
Total bonus 150% 135% 150% 135%
Base salary £571,200 £375,000
Bohus based on performance outcomes 135% £771.120 135%  £506.250

1 Ar2021 actual exchange rates, befare non-underkang iterns, after adjusting for scquisitons.
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Corporate objectives

Corporate objectives are measurable deliverables that are jointly shared by the Executive Directors and the Executive Committee and are focused on
supporting the delivery of Keller's key strategic activities. The Committee determined that this was an appropriate basis to incentivise management to
increase collaboration on strategic activities. Each category of the corporate objectives has a maximum of 9% of base salary that can be attained, withan
overall maximum of 30% of base salary available [20% weighting of total annual bonus plan for Executive Directors). The Committee retains the right to
apply discretion to the overall evaluation of the attainment of corperate objectives.

2021 annual bonus outcomes
The financial targets for Keller were met in fullin 2021.

The objective scoring by the Committee for performance in 2021 against corporate objectives resulted in an outcome of 15% of salary. Project
perfoarmance diluted the other good workin the year and will be a continued focus for the senior management team in 2022,

As described in the Chair's letter, the Committee consicered all relevant factors when determining the level of banus payout and concluded that it was
appropriate for the financial targets to pay out In full and the corporate objectives to pay out at half of maxirmum.

Qutcome

Corporate abjective Opportunity {maxamum} Actual performance {(maximurm 30%)
Margin enhancement 6.0% of base salary Despite the impact of the pandemic on bidding and execution of work 4.0%
Maintaining the operating inthe North America Foundations business in 2021, marginimproved
margin of the North America aganst that of 2020.
Foundations businesses during
the course of the pandemic
Loss making projects {(LMP} 9.0% of base salary LMP performance did noct meet the target for the year. 0.0%
Portfolio 6.0% of base salary The divisional headquarters were successfully rationalised to meet 4.0%
Strategic restructuring of the the requirements of the newly formed division. Further progress on
European Division rationalisation of the portfolio was completed with the merger of two

business units; however, the full programme wasn't fully completedin

the year.
Strengthening the Group's 9.0% of base salary A number of activities tock place during 2021 to strengthen the 7.0%
global governance standards Group's global governance standards and systems as the business
and systems develops and prepares to implement a Group-wide operating mode|

and the enhancement of the Group's policies and standards.

The InSite safety system, already deployed successfully across the

North America Division, successfully continued its glebalroll out

across Europe and AMEA, marking a cultural and behavioural shift

across the business.
Attainment as assessed 15% achieved
by the Committee
Discretion apphed 0% reduction

Final outcome 15% achieved
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2019--21 Performance Share Plan (PSP} outcomes (audited)
Based on EPS and TSR performance over the three years ended 31 December 2021, the PSP awards made in 2012 will vest as follows:

Vesung schedule and outcome®

% of award thatwill vest

Measures 0% 25% 100% Qutcorme Vesting %
50% weight

Cumulative earnings per share (EPS) over three years! Beiow 300p 300p 345p 270.6p 0%
25% weight

Keller's TSR ranking relative to the constituents of the Less than Upper quartile  Marginally below

FTSE 250 comparator index? median Median or higher  upper quartile 23.5%
25% weight

ROCE over three years® Below 14% 14% 20% 16.2% 13.1%
Total vesting 36.6%

1 EPSisbefore norn-underlying items on an 1AS 17 basis

2 Excluding investrment trusts and financial services.

3 The Group adopted IFRS 16 on 1 Jaruary 2019, as disclosed n note 2 to the consalidated financial statements, and comparative financial megsures have not peen restated, The outcomes have been
prepared on the basis of IAS 17. the previcus leasing standard,

4 Average of the three-year ROCE for 2019-21.

Shareholders will recall that, pricr to the company's 2019 AGM, IS5 proxy aadvisers highlighited that the number of shares awarded to Executive Orectors
were not being scaled back in recognition of the fall in the Company's share price during 2018. We engaged with a large number of our major shareholders
as aresult and the Committee undertook that, at the time of vesting of the 2019 award, it would rmake g determination as to whether to use its discretion
to reduce vesting levels as appropriate. Against this background, the Committee carefully considered the vesting levels of the 2019 award, with additional
reference to both the sharehclder and wider workforce experience. It also specifically considered share price movements and was satisfied that there had
been no inappropriate windfall gains over the pericd. The Commitiee determined that the LTIP outcome fairly and appropriately reflected performance
over the three years and no discretion was exercised.

In line with the policy. the Committee has the ability to exercise malus and clawback with regard to incentive awards in certain circumstances as outlined in
the policy. Overall, the Committee considers that the policy has operated as it was intended during 2021.

Schemeinterests awardedin 2021 (audited) 2021-23 PSP

The three-year performance period over which performance will be measured began on 1 January 2021 and willend on 31 December 2023, Awards will
vestin March 2024, subject to meeting performance conditions. Awards were made as follows:

Shares overwhich  Market price Face value of the Face vaiue at Face value at
Executive Director Oate of grant awards granted ataward (£} award at grant threshold (E) rmaximurn (€} Performance penod
Michael Speakman 15 Mar 21 102.858 8.33t 150% of salary 214,202 856,807 1Jan21-31Dec23
David Burke 15Mar21 56273 8.33! 125% of salary 117,189 468,754 1Jan21-31Dec 23

1 Theaverage of the dally closing price on 10, 11 and 12 March 2021 of the company's shares on the main market of the Lonton Stock Exchange
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Vesting of the 2021-23 Performance Share Awards is subject to achieving the following performance conditions:

Vesting schedule

% of award that will vest

Measures 0% 25% 100%
25% weight
Cumulative EPS over three years' Below 245p 245p 310p
25% weight
Keller's relative TSR performance vs FTSE 2507 Index over three years Below median Median Upper quartile
25% weight
Average ROCE over three years Below 12% 12% 18%
25% weight

Below 5.2% 5.2% 6.2%

Operating prefit margin in year three

1 EPSand ROCE arc before non-underlying items on an IFRS 16 basis

2 Excluding nvestment trusts and financial services.

Toreflect the impact of any changes in IFRS accounting standards, the Committee will consider adjusting financial targets appropriately for all subsisting
PSP awards, ensuring that they are not materially easier or harder to satisfy than the original targets. Any amended targets determined by the Committee

will be disclosed to shareholders in the next Directors’ remuneration report.

Directors’ interests {audited infermation)

The table below sets out the beneficial interests of the Directors and therr families in the share capital of the company as at 31 December 2021. None of
the Directors has a beneficial interest in the shares of any other Group company. There have been ne changes in the Directors’ interests in shares since

21 December 2021 and the date of this report.

Ordinary shares at

DOrdinary shares at

Director 31December 2021 31 December 2020
Michael Speakman 44,280 40,000
David Burke 4,872 -
Peter Hili 53,000 53,000
Nancy Tucr Moare 3,000 2.000
Eva Lindqvist - -
Kate Rock 2,500 2,500
Paula Bell 1,581 1,581

Executive Directors’ shareholding guideline {audited information)

The table below shows the shareholding of each Executive Director against their respective shareholding guideline as at 31 December 2021.

Shares held
Unvested and subject to Jnvested without Shareholding guideline % Current shareholding %°
Qwned outright orvested performance conditions perfarmance canditions? salary/fee salaryffee
Michael Speakman 44,280 28,762 200% 76%
David Burke 4,872 3,669 200% 12%

1 DBwidend accruals are includedhn these numbers.
2 Deferred awards.

3 Reflects closing price on 31 December 2021 of 385p.
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Supplementary information on Directors’ remuneration
Outstanding Performance Share options/awards

Details of current awards outstanding to the Executive Directors are detailed in the table below.

Oividend
Granted equivalents
At1January during Vested Lapsedduring accruedduring At 31 December
2021 theyear inyear” the year’ the year 2021¢ Vesting date
Michael Speakman
20 August 2018 58,258 - 6,447 52,069 258 - 20/08/21
8 March 2018 79,163 - - - 3,304 82,467 08/03/22
8 March 2019 (deferred award) 1,596 - 1.586 - - - 08/03/21
9 March 2020 110,856 — - - 4627 115,483 09/03/23
9 March 2020° 4,619 - - - 153 4,812 08/03/23
9 March 2020 (geferred award) 5,040 - - - 210 5250 0%9/03/22
15 March 2021 - 102,858 - - 4,293 107,151 15/03/24
15March 2021 ideferred award) - 23530 - - 982 24,512 15/03/23
David Burke
15March 2021 - 56,273 - - 2,348 58.621 15/03/24
15 March 2021 (deferred award) - 3.522 - - 147 3.66% 15/03/23

1 For awards granted in 2018 to 2020, parformance conditions are measured 25% on TSR autperformance of the FTSE 250 excluding investrment trusts and financial services. 30% on EPS over three
years of the performance penod. and 25% on ROCE. Awards granted in 2021 are measured 25% on TSR cutperformance of the FTSE 250 excluding investment trusts and financial services, 25% on
EPS over three years of the performance period. 25% on ROCE, and 25% on operating margin n year thrée Fach pecformance perod ends on 31 December of the third year.

2 Includes dividend equivalants added as shares since the date of grant

3 Tre Committee decided to make an additonal PSP award ta Michaei Speakman to reflect bys service as CEQ from 1 September to 31 Decemnber 2019 Thus oward will carry the sarme 2019 measures as
the 2019-21 PSP award and will vest Inthree years from date of grant The award was made at the same time as the 2020 PSP awards m March 2020, albeit the Committee considers it o be

remuneration awarded inrespect of 2019 and supplements his 2019 PSP award.

CEQ pay for performance comparison

The graph below shows the company's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the performance of the FTSE 250 Index {excluding investment
trusts and financial services) and the FTSE All-Share Index. These indices have been selected for consistency with the comparator groups used to

measure TSR performance for PSP awards.

This graph shows the growth in value of a hypothetical £ 100 holding in Keller Group plc ordinary shares over 10 years, relative to a hypothetical €100

holding in the FTSE 250 and FTSE All-Share Indices.
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The table below details the CEO single figure of remuneration over the same period.

2012 2013 2014 2015+ 2016 2017 20187 20194 2020 2021
CEO single figure of remuneration (E000} 551 1,870 1,630 1,420 715 1,427 639 921 1,433 1,691
Annual bonus as a % of maximum epportunity 57% 84% 22% 85% 129% 55% 0% 38% 93% 893%
PSP vesting as a % of maximum opportunity 0% 100% 100% 67.3% 0%  33.9% 0%  26.5% 10.6% 36.6%

1 The CEO single figure of rermuneration has been calculated using Justin Atkinson's emaoluments for the period frorm 1 January 2015 to 14 May 2015 and Alain Micheelis’ ernolurnents for the penod 14
May 2015 to 31 December 2015,

2 The Committee exercised its discretion and applied 0% bonus in 2018.

3 The CEO single figure of rermuneration has been calculated using Alain Michaelrs” emaluments for the peried frem 1 January 2019 to 30 September 2019 and Michael Speakman's emolurnents for the
period 1 October 2019 to 31 Decermber 2019,

Percentage change in CEO remuneration

Comparing 2021 to 2020 Salary Benefits Bonus
% change in CEQ remuneration 2.0% (0.8)% (1.6)%
% change in comparator group remuneration®? 0.5% (0.4)% (11.7)%

1 Thecomparator group comprises the population of Keller UK emplovees beng professional/managenal employees based in the UK and employed an more 1eadily comparable terms.

2 The% change in comparator group remuneration ‘s derived from a significant change in employea miz in the UK business. This change s due to the recruitment of a significant amount of site-based
ernployees during 2021 for the High Speed 2 mega-project. The effect of anincrease in thus category of employee has diluted the average change in rermuneration of the comparator group between
2020 and 2021,

CEQ payratio
The tabie below shows the companson of the CEC's single total figure of remuneration (STFR} to the 25th, median and 75th percentile STFR of full-time
equivalent UK employees on a Group-wide basis consistent with The Companies {Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018.

F:nancial year Meathod 25th percentile pay ratio Madian pay ratio 75th percentile pay ratic
2020 Option A 381 25:1 19:1
2020 (restated with actual bonuses) Qption A 371 24:1 18:1
2021 Option A 43:1 30:1 22:11

The employees used for the purposes of the table above were identified as based in the UK and on a full-time equivalent basis as at 31 Decermber 2021.

Option Awas chosen as it is considered to be the most accurate way of identifying the relevant employees required by The Companies (Miscellaneous
Reporting) Regutations 2018.

The CEO pay ratic has been calculated to show the remuneration of the CEO Michael Speakman, who has been CEQ on a perranent basis for the full
financial year.

Due to the timing of bonus payouts for the 2021 performance year, we have used the bonus payout for 2021 for the CECQ and the bonus payouts for the
companson population that was paidin 2021, in respect of the 2020 performance year. We will update these figures with the actual armounts paid in 2022,
in respect of the 202 1 performance year, in next year's Annual report on remuneration.



108 Kelier Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Annual remuneration report continued

Governance

The following table pravides salary and total remuneration information inrespect of the employees at each quartile.

Financial year

Element of pay

25th percentie employee

Medwanemployee

75th percentile employee

2020 reported £32,789 £37724 £63,762
Total remuneration £37,736 £575970 £74,469
2020 restated with actual bonus figures £30,3458 £50,575 £42,866!
Total rermuneration £39,150 £60.131 £79,567
2021 £31,823 £44 986 £58,806
Total remuneration £39,320 £56,531 £76,235

1 The salary shown here s lower than the median due 1o the ranking being dohe on a total remuneration basis. The empleyee that ranked at the 75th percentile had significant aperational-related

remuneration,

The Board has confirmed that the ratio is consistert with the company’s wider policies on employee pay, reward and progression.

Director percentage change versus employee group
The table below shows how the percentage increase in each Director’s salary/fees, taxable benefits and annual bonus between 2020 and 2021 compared
with the average percentage increase in each of those components of pay for the UK-based employees of the Group as a whole. The Committee has
previously monitored year-on-year changes between the movement in salary, benefits and annual bonus for the CEQ between the current and previous
financial year compared with that of employees. As required under The Companies (Directors’ Rernuneration Policy and Directors’ Remuneration Report}
Regulations 2019, the analysis has been expanded to cover each Executive Director and Non-executive Director and this information will build up to

display a five-year history.

% change 2020/21 % change 2019/20
% changein % change % ehange in Fchangein 96 change % change in
salary orfees inbenefits annualbonus salary or fees inbenefts annual bonus
Executive Directors
Michael Speakmant 2.0 (0.8} {1.6) 39.3 00 412 .4
David Burke! 364.4 300.0 332.5 n/a n/a n/a
Chairman and Non-executive Directors?
Petar Hill z2.6 0.0 0.0 8.3 0.0 0.0
Kate Rack 1.4 0.0 0.0 26.3 0.0 00
Paula Bell 1.6 0.0 0.0 8.8 0.0 0.0
Evalindgvist 1.6 0.0 0.0 265 0.0 0.0
Nancy Tuor Mocre 7.7) 0.0 0.0 6.0 o0 0.0
Paul Withars? nla n/a nfa 60.0) 0.0 0.0
Keller Greup plc employees** 5.3 22.8 23.4 155 16.7 146.4

The substantialincrease in aimeasures for David Burke between 2020 and 2021 reflects a full year of employment fallowing his start date on 12 October 2020 Inbgth 2020 and 2021 the financial

targets relating to profitabiity and cash-based performance were achieved in full. The Executive Directors and the comparater group of employees are incentivised on the same financ.al metncs.

Paul Withers retired in June 2020,

(LI NP Y]

Relative importance of spend on pay

Keller s Group head office s based in the UK and full-time equivalent emiplayees af this argamsation have been chaten as thé cormpargtor group,

The increases for Non-executive Directers reflect the changes made dunmng 2021, The reducton in MNancy Tuor Moore's fees relate to a reductionin mternational travel in 2021 comnpared to 2020

The change in components of 1he COMpPanator group remuUneraton 5 on 3 per capita hasis and tne year-an-year ncreases reflects the further strengthening of the Group head office lpadership
during 2021 n key areas of strategic capabdity such as1T and ERP.

The table below shows shareholder distributions (ie dividends) and total employee pay expenditure for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2021, along with the percentage changes.

2021 2020 %

Em £m change

Distribution to shareholders! 25.9 259 0%
Remuneration paid to all employees? 580.7 572.4 1.5%

1 The Directorys are propasing a finaldwidend in respect of *he financial year ended 31 Decerrper 2021 of 23.3p per ordinary share.

eI N o L T I T e B B T e TP
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Summary of implementation of the Remuneration Policy during 2021 and 2022

Overall, the Committee considers that the Remuneration Policy has operated as it intended during 2021, with no devistions. A summary of how
the Committee intends the policy to be operated during 2022 can be found in the remaining pages of this report.

2022 base salary and benefits

The Cornmrittee noted that salary increases for UK-based employees across the Group were generally around 4%, effective 1 January 2022. The
Executive Directors received salary increases below this amount for 2022

Benefits for 2022 will remain broacly unchanged from prior years.

2022 pensions

Pension contributions for Michael Speakman and David Burke have been set at 7% of base salary in line with the rate provided to the majority of the
workforce in the UK and on a weighted average basis around Keller's maost populous locations.

2022 annual bonus

For 2022, 80% of Executive Directors’ bonus will be based on Group financial results and 20% will be based on shared corporate objectives.

The performance measures will be profit before tax (PBT), an important indicator of the company’s financial and operating performance, and a
cash-based target, a more operational measure. Targets for each measure are challanging but realistic and have been set in the context of the
business plan. Targets will be disclosed retrospectively in the 2022 Annual remuneration report to the extent that they are no longer considered
commercially sensitive.

25% of any bonus earned will be deferred into company shares for two years.

2022-24 Performance Share Plan Award (PSP)

The 2022—24 PSP performance conditions will be assessed over three years based on the following measures: relative TSR (25% weight), cumulative EPS
{25% weight), return on capital employed (ROCE} (25% weight} and operating profit margin (25% weight). These measures strongly align potential payout
under the PSP with Keller's strategic priorities.

Relative TSR perfarmance will be measured by ranking against FTSE 250 companies {excluding investment trusts and financial services). Under a ranked
approach, a threshold vesting {resulting in 25% of that portion of the award vesting) will be for median performance against the comparator group,;
maximum vesting for upper quartile performance {or above) against the comparator group. Straight-line vesting between these points.

EPS will be measured on a cumulative basis enabling target setting to reflect business plans, market consensus and the position inthe construction cycle.

Cumulative EPS of 400p over the three-year period will enable full vesting of this performance condition, with a threshold vesting of 25% f330pis
achieved, calculated off the 2021 underlying EPS (at IFRS 16 basis) of 88.4p.

ROCE will be measured on an average basis over the three-year performance period, with a threshold level of performance of 12% (leading to 25% of that
portion of the award vesting) and a maximum of 18% straight-line vesting between these points.

Operating profit margin will be measured in year three {with a threshold vesting of 5.5% leading to 25% of that portion of the award vesting} and maximum
of 6.5% straight-line vesting between these points.

These targets have been carefully assessed and the Commiittee considers thern to be appropriately stretching, given the company’'s business plans,
apportunity set and investor expectations.
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2022-24 Performance Share Award

Vesting schedule

% of award that wall vest

Measures 0% 25% 100%
25% weight
Cumulative EPS over three years! Below 330p 330p 400p
25% weight
Keller's relative TSR performance vs FTSE 2502 Index over three years Below median Median Upper guartile
25% weight
Average ROCE over three years Below 12% 12% 18%
25% weight
Operating profit margn ip year three Below 5.5% 5.5% 6.5%

To reflect the impact of any changes n IFRS accounting standards, the Committee will consider adpuisting financial targets appropriately for all subsisting PSPs_ensuring that they are not materially easier or
harder te satisfy than the original targets. Any amended targets determined by the Committee will be disclosed to shareholdersin the next Directors’ remuneration report.

1 EPS s before non-underlying items on an IFRS 16 basis.

2 Excluding investment trusts and inancial services,

Chairman and Non-executive Director fees
Fees for the Nen-executive Directors were reviewed with effect from 1 January 2022 and it was decided that they would be increased by 3.5%.
The Chairman's fee was increased by 3%.

Single total figure of remuneration for Non-executive Directors [audited information)
The table below sets out a single figure for the total remuneration received by each Non-executive Director for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the prior year

2021 2020
Non-executive Director £ £
Peter Hill 200,000 195,000
Eva Lindgvist! 63,000 62,000
Nancy Tuor Moare? 65,500 71,063
Paula Bell® 63,000 62,000
Kate Rock® 73,000 72,600
Paul Withers® - 26,000
Totalfees 464,500 488,063

Eva Lindguist receives additional fees of £ 10,000 per annum as Chair of the Remuneration Committee,

Nancy Tuor Moore recerves additional fees of £10,000 as Chair of the Environment Comimittee and £10,000 for international travel. The fee for rmternational travel was reinstated in October 2021

Faula Bell receves additional fees of £10.000 as Char of the Audit and Risk Committee

Kate Rock recerves additional fees of E20.000 as Senior Independent Director and Charr of the Social and Cormmunty Committee

[T N

PaulWithers retired from the Board on 30 June 2020

Statement of shareholder voting
The following table sets out the results of the vote on the Remuneration report and the Rernuneration Policy at the 2021 AGM:

Votes for Vates sganst Votescast Votes withheld
Number % Number Y% Nurnber Number
Remunerationreport 54,820,261 91.15% 5324060 8.85% 60,144,321 470,165

Remuneration Policy 54,665,416 50.20% 5942 286 9.80% 60,607,702 6.784




Keller Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2021 Governance 111

Consideration by the Directors of matters relating to Directors’ remuneration

The following Directors were members of the Remuneration Committee when matters relating to the Directors’ remuneration for 2022 were being
censidered:

» Evalindquist

= Nancy Tuor Moore

» Paula Bell

» Baroness Kate Rock

» Juan G.Hernandez Abrams (from 1 February 2022)

During the year, the Committee received assistance from Kerry Porritt (Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor) and Graeme Cock (Group People
Director) on salary increases, bonus awards, share plan awards and vesting, and policy and governance matters. David Burke (Chief Financial Officer)
presented information with regard to 2021 financial performance and 2022 budget and the three-year plan for 2022-24. In determining the Executive
Directors' remuneration for 2021 and 2022, the Committee has consulted the Chairman and the CEQ about its proposals, except {in the case of the CEQ)
in relation to their own remuneration. No Director is involved in determining their own remuneration.

No member of the Committee has any personal financial interest (other than as a shareholder}, conflict of interest arising from cross-directorships or
day-to-day Involvement in running the business. Given ther diverse backgrounds, the Board believes that the members of the Committee are able to offer
aninformed and balanced view on executive remuneration issues.

Corporate governance

The Committee's terms of reference, which were reviewed during the year, are available on the Group's website (www keller com) and on request from
the Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor.

The Committee conducted an effectiveness review of the business covered during the year against its terms of reference. in addition, the Committee’s
performance, and that of its members, was evaluated in an exercise facilitated by Donata Denny, a highly respected Leadership Coach and Professional
Development Advisor. The Committee and its members were found to be operating effectively. The outcome of this exercise can be found on pages 82 and 83.

External advisers

During the year, the Committee received advice from Deloitte, an independenit firm of remuneration consultants appointed by the Committee after
consultation with the Board. The Committee 15 satisfied that Deloitte is and remains independent of the company and that the advice provided is impartial
and objective. Deloitte is a founding member and signatory of the Code of Conduct for Remuneration Consultants, details of which can be found at
www.remnunerationconsultantsgroup.com.

During the year, Deloitte also provided advice in relation to tax compliance and risk advisory services. The Comrmittee is satisfied that the provision of
these services did not impair Deloitte’s ability to advise the Committee independently. Therr total fees for the provision of remuneration services to the
Cormmittee for 2021 were £30,250.

The Committee is satisfied that the advice they have received has been objective and independent.

Evalindqvist
Chair of the Remuneration Cormnmittee

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised forissue on 7 March 2022.
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Directors’ report

Governance

Kerry Porritt
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor

Overview

The Directors present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended

21 December 2021,

This report is required to be produced by law.
The Disclosure, Guidance and Transparency

Rules and the Listing Rules also require us to
make certain disclosures.

The Corporate governance statement,
including the Audit and Risk Committee
report, forms part of this Directors’ report
and is incorporated by reference. Disclosures
elsewhere in the Annual Report and
Accounts are cross-referenced where
appropriate. Taken together, the Strategic
report on pages 1 to 67 and this Directors’
report fulfil the requirement of Disclosure,
Guidance and Transparency Rule 4.1.5R to
provide a Management report.

Results and dividends

The results for the year, showing an underlying
profit before taxation of £83.9m (2020: £96.9m),
are set out onpages 127 to 185 Statutory profit
before tax was £71.6m {2020: £63.8m). The
Directors recomrnend a final dividend of 23.3p
per share to be paid on 1 July 2022, to members
onthe register at the close of business on 6 June
2022, Aninterim dwidend of 12.6p per share was
paid on 10 September 2021. The total dividend
for the year of 35.9p (2020: 35.9p} will amount to
£25.9m {2020: £25.9m].

Going concernand

viability statement

Information relating to the going concern and
viability statements is set out on page 33 of the
Strategic report andis incorporated by reference
into this report.

Financial instruments

Full details can be foundin note 25 to the
financial statements and in the Chief Financial
Officer's review.

Post balance sheet events

Flease see page 174 for post balance
sheet events,

Change of control

The Group's main banking facilities contain
provisions that, upon 15 days’ notice being given
to the Group, lenders may exercise their
discretion to require immediate repayment of
the leans on & change of control and cancel all
commitments under the agreement,

Certain other commercial agreernents, entered
into inthe normal course of business, include
change of control provisions. There are no
agreements providing for compensation for the
Directors or employees on a change of control.

Transactions with related parties

Apart from transactions between the company,
its subsidiaries and joint operations, which are
related parties, there have been no related party
transactions during the year.

Directors and their interests

The names of all persans who, at any time during
the year, were Directors of the company car be
found onpages 70 and 7 1. The interests of the
Directors holding office at the end of the year in
the issued ordinary share capital of the company
and any interests inits Performance Share Plan
are given in the Directors' remuneration repart
on pages 105 and 106.

Ng Director had a rnaterial interest in any
significant contract, other than a service
contract or a contract for services, with the
company or any of its operating companies
during the year.

The company's Articles of Association indernnify
the Directors out of the assets of the company in
the event that they suffer any loss or liability in
the execution of their duties as Directors, subject
16 the provisions of the 2006 Act. The company
rmaintains insurance for Directors and Officers in
respect of liabilities which could arise inthe
discharge of their duties.

Powers of the Directors

The business of the camparny is overseen by the
Board, which may exercise all the powers of the
company subject to the provisions of the
company's Articles of Association, the 2006 Act
and any erdinary resolution of the company.
Specific treatment of Directors’ powers
regarding allotment and repurchase of shares

is provided under separate headings inthe
following pages.
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Amendment of the company’s
Articles of Association

Any amendments to the company's Articles of
Association may be made in accordance with the
provisions of the 2006 Act by way of special
resolution. The company’s Articles of
Association were last amended in May 2017.

Appointment and replacement
of Directors

Directors shall be no fewer than two and no more
than 12 in number. Subject to applicable law, a
Director rnay be appointed by an ordinary
resolution of shareholders in 3 general meeting
following nomination by the Board or amernber
(or members) entitled to vote at such a meeting,
or following retirement by rotation if the Director
chocses to seek re-election at a general
meeting. In addition, the Directors may appoint a
Director to fill 2 vacancy or as an additional
Director, provided that the individual retires at the
next AGM. A Director may be removed by the
company as provided for by applicable law, in
certain circumstances set out in the company’s
Articles of Association (for example bankruptcy,
or resignation), or by a special resolution of the
company. All Directors stand for re-electicn on
an annual basis, inline with the
recomrendations of the Code.

Employees

The Group employed approximately 1¢,000
people at the end of the year.

Employment policy

The Group gives full and fair consideraticn to
applications for ernployment made by disabled
persons, having regard for their respective
aptitudes and abilities. The policy includes, where
practicable, the continued employment of those
whao become disabled during their employment
and the provision of training and career
development and promotion, where appropriate.
Information on the Group's approach to
employee involvernent, equal opportunities and
health, safety and the environment can be found
in the £5G and sustainability section of this
report on pages 53tc 63.

Section 172 statement

During the financial year, the Directors have
considered the needs of the company's
stakehclders as part of their decision-making
process. Details are set out in our section 172
statement onpages 76 and 77.

Political donations

No political donations were made during the year.
Keller has an established policy of not making
donations to any political party, representative

or candidate in any part of the world.

Greenhouse gas emissions

Information relating to the greenhouse gas
emissions of the company is set out on page 48
andis incorporated by reference into this report.

Research and development

The Group continues to have in-house design,
development and manufacturing facilities, where
employees work closely with site engineers to
develop new and more effective methods of
solving problerns of ground conditicns and
behaviour. Mast of the specialised ground
improvement equipment used in the business

is designed and built in-house and, where
applicable, the development costs are included
in the cost of the equipment.

Share capital

Details of the share capital, together with details
of the movements inthe company's issued share
capital during the year, are showninnote 27 to
the consolidated financial statements. The
company has one class of ordinary shares which
is listed on the London Stock Exchange {ordinary
shares). Crdinary shares carry no right to a fixed
income and each ordinary share carries the nght
to one vote at general meetings of the company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a
shareholding, nor on the transfer of shares,
which are both governed by the Articles of
Association and the prevailing law. The Directors
are not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that may result in restrictions on
voting rights and the transfer of securities. No
person has any special rights of control over the
company's share capital and afl issued shares are
fully pard.

Details of employee share plans are set out

in note 31 to the consolidated financial
staternents. Treasury shares and shares held
by the Keller Group plc Employee Benefit Trust
are not voted.

Repurchase of shares

The company obtained sharehclder authority at
the last AGM {19 May 2021) to buy back up to
7,221,000 ordinary shares. The authority
remains outstanding until the conclusion of the
2022 AGM but could be varied or withdrawn by
agreement of sharehclders at an intervening
general meeting. The minimum price which must
be paid for each ordinary share is its nominal
value and the maximum price is the figher of an
amount equal to net meore than 5% above the
average of the middle market quotations for an
ordinary share, as derived from the London Stock
Exchange Daily Cfficial List for the five business
days immediately before the purchase is made,
and an amount equal to the higher of the price of
the last independent trade of an ordinary share
and the highest current independent bid for an
ordinary share an the trading venue where the
purchase Is carried out.

The Directors have not used, and have no
current plans to use, this authority.

Allotment of shares and

pre-emption disapplication

Shareholder authority was also given at the last
AGM for the Directors to allot new shares uptc a
nominal amount of £2,407,000, equivalent to
approximately one-third of the company's issued
share capital (excluding treasury shares} as at

g March 2021 and to disapply pre-emption rights
up to an aggregate nominal amount of £361,050.
representing approximately 5% of the company's
issued share capital as at 9 March 2021.

The Directors have not used, and have no
current plans to use, these authorities.

Auditors

The Board, upon the recommendation of the
Audit and Risk Committee, has decided that
Ernst & Young LLP (EY) will be proposed as the
Group's auditors for the year ending 31
December 2022 and a resolution to appoint EY
will be put to shareholders at the 2022 AGM.

AGM

The full details of the 2022 AGM, which will take
place on 18 May 2022, are set out in the Notice
of Meeting, together with the full werding of the
resolutions to be tabled at the meeting. We
continue to closely monitor health and safety
guidance and any changes to venue and logistics
as aresult will be notified by way of a Stock
Exchange announcement.
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Substantial shareholdings

At 7 March 2022, the company had been notified in accordance with chapter 5 of the Disclosure,
Guidance and Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority of the voting rights of

shareholders in the company as per the table below:

Porcentage
Number of ofthe total
Ordinary shares ordinary shares woung nghts
Schroders plo 7,264,752 10.046%
Gid Mutual Plc 4242670 5.96%
FIL Limited 3,881,863 5.37%
Aberforth Partners LLP 3,589,696 5%
Franklin Templeton institutional, LLC 3,557.757 4.96%
Arternis Investment Management LLP 3,561,152 4.94%
Standard Life Aberdesn plc 3,443 366 4.78%
Baillie Gifford & Co 3,327,404 4.6%
Norges Bank 2,676,017 371%
Source: TRT noufications made by shareholders o the company
Disctaimer Other information

The purpose of this Annual Report and Accounts
is to provide inforrmation to the members of the
company, as a body, and no other persons,

The company, its Directors and employvees,
agents or advisers do not accept Gr assume
rasponsibility to any other person to whom this
document is shown or into whose hands it may
come and any such responsibility or liability is
expressly disclaimed.

The Annual Report and Accounts containg
certain forward-looking statements with respect
to the operations, performance and financial
condition of the Group. By their nature, these
staterents invole uncertainty since future
events and circumstances can cause results and
developments to differ materfally from those
anticipated. The forward-looking staternents
reflect knowledge and information available at
the date of preparation of this Annual Report
and Accounts and the company undertakes

no obligation to update these forward-looking
statements. Nothing in this Annual Report

and Accounts should be construed as a

profit forecast.

The Directors who held office at the date of
approval of this Directors’ report confirrn that, in
accordance with the provisions of section 418 of
the 2006 Act, so far as they are each aware, there
is o retevant audit information of which the
company’s auditors are unaware; and eact
Director has taken all the steps that he or she
ought to have taken as a Direcior to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Kerry Porritt
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor

Approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue on 7 March 2022

Registered office:
2 Kingdom Street
London W2 6BD

Registeredin England No. 2442580



Keller Group plc Annual Reportand Accounts 2021

Governance 115

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

inrespect of the Annual Report and Lhe financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing

the Annual Report and the Group and company
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare
Group and company financial statements for
each financial year. Under that law they have
elected to prepare the Group financial
staterments in accordance with International
Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and
the parent company financial statements in
accordance with UK Accounting Standards,
including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework. Under the Financial Conduct
Authority's Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules, Group financial statements
are required to be prepared in accordance with
UK-adopted International Accounting Standards.

Under company law the Directors must nat
approve the financial staterments unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and company and of
their profit or loss for that period. In preparing
each of the Group and company financial
statements, the Directors are required to.

+ select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently;

» make judgernents and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

« for the Group financial statements, state
whether they have been preparedin
accordance with UK-adopted International
Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

+ forthe company financial statements,
state whether the applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the company
financial statements;

+ assess the Group and company's abiiity to
continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters relating to going
concern; and

« use the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the
Group or the company or to cease operations,
or have ne realistic alternative but to do co.

I'ne Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are

sufficient to show and explain the company's
transactions and disclose with reascnable
aceuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that its
financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006 They are responsible for such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are
free frem material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for
taking such steps as arereasonably open to
them to safequard the assets of the Group

and to prevent and detect fraud and
otherirregularities.

Under applicable law and regulaticns, the
Cirectors are alsc responsible for preparing a
Strateqgic report, a Directors’ report, a Directors’
rermuneration report and a Corporate
governance statement that comply with

that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and Integrity of the corporate and
financial information Included on the company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in

other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement of the
Directors inrespect of the Annual
Report and the financial statements
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

+ the financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
accounting standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation
as awhole, and

+ the Strategic report and the Directors’ report,
inciuding content contained by reference,
includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position
and performance of the company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that
they face.

The Board confirms that the Annual Report and
the financial staterments, taken as a whole, are
fair, balanced and understandable and provide
the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Group's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

The Strategic report (pages 1te 67) and

the Directors' report (pages 112 to 114} have
been approved by the Board of Directors and

authorised forissue on the date shown below,

Kerry Porritt
Group Company Secretary and Legal Advisor

7 March 2022
Registered office:
2 Kingdom Street
London W2 6BD

Registered in England No. 2442580
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Independent auditor’s report

to the members of Keller Group plc

Opinion

In our opinion:

= Keller Group pic's Group financial staternents and parent company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’] give a true and fair view of the state
of the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards;

- the parent company financial staternents have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 101, United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Keller Group ple (the 'parent company’} and its subsidiaries (the 'Group'} for the year ended 31 December
2021 which comprise.

Group Parent company
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 Decermnber 2021 Balance sheetas at 31 Decermnber 2021
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2021 Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2021

Consolidated statement of comprebensive income for the year ended Related notes 116 9 1o the company financial statements including a
31 December 2021 summary of significant accounting policies

Consclidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended
31 December 2021

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended

31 Decermnber 2021

Related notes 1 to 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
including a sumrnary of significant accounting policies

The financial reporting framework that has been applied In their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting standards and as ,
regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006,

Basis for opinion ‘
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (15As {UK)) and applicable law. Qur responsibilities under those

standards are further described in the Auditor's respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We befieve that the audit

evidence we have obitained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

independence

We are independenit of the Group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed pubiic interest entities, and we have fulfiled cur other ethical responsitilities
in accordance with these requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the parent company and we remain independent of the
Group and the parent company in conducting the audit.



Keller Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’
use cf the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial staternents is appropriate. Qur evaluation of the Directors’
assessment of the Group and parent company’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

« In conjunction with our walkthrough of the Group's financial statement
close process, we confirmed our understanding of management's going
concern assessment process and also engaged with management early
to ensure key factors were considered in their assessment, Including
factors which we determined from our own independent risk
assessment and the evaluation of any continued operational and
economic impacts of COV!ID-12 onthe Group.

« We obtained management’s Board-approved forecast cash flows and
covenant calculation covering the pericd of assessment from the date
of signing to 31 March 2023. As part of this assessment, the Group has
modelled a number of adverse scenarios in their cash ferecasts and
covenant calculations in order to incorporate unexpected changes to
the forecasted liquidity of the Group.

- We assessed the reasonableness of the cash flow forecast through
analysing management’s historical forecasting accuracy, challenging the
robustness of the group's orderbook, and censidered actual post year
end performance to date. We evaluated the key assumptions
underpirming the Group's assessment by challenging the measurement
and completeness of downside scenarios modelled by management and
how these compare with principai risks and uncertainties of the Group.

« We considered the extent tc which emerging climate-related risks may
affect the Group's assessment, including assumptions around the
long-term refiance on concrete, steel and related manufacturing
processes, heavy duty combustion machinery, and the potential for
‘Ervironmental, Social and Governance' related covenants or levies
which could impact the Group. Additionally, we considered other
macroecenomic factors such as the rising cost of materials, energy
and labour which are critical parts of the Group's operations.

« Wetested the clerical accuracy and logical integrity of the cash flow
forecast model, used to prepare the Group's going concern and viability
assessments, as well as challenging the overall appropriateness of
management’s forecast in the context of future cash flows.

« We considered whether the Group's forecasts and related key
assurmptions in the going concern assessment were consistent with
other forecasts used by the Group in its accounting estimates, including
goodwill impairment and deferred tax asset recognition,

+ We evaluated, based on our own independent analysis, what reverse
stress testing scenarios could lead either to a breach of the Group's
banking covenants or a liquidity shortfall and whether these scenarios
were plausible,

= Our analysis also considered the mitigating actions that management
could undertake in an extreme downside scenario and whether these
were achievable and in control of management.
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« We confirmed the continued availability of debt facilities through the
gaoing concern period and reviewed their underlying terms, including
covenants, by examination of executed documentation.

+ We considered whether management's disclosures, in the financial
staterments, sufficiently and appropriately capture the impact of
COVID-19, emerging climate-related risks and other principal risks and
uncertainties on the geoing concern assessment and through
consideration of relevant disclosure standards.

« Through our work performed on auditing management's viability
assessment, we extended our procedures (including inquiries of
managerment and considering the forward order book and cash flow
forecasts) to challenge whether there were any events or conditicns
beyond 31 March 2023 that may cast significant doubt over the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The audit procedures performed in evaluating the Directors’ assessment
were performed by the Group audit teamn, however we also considered the
financial and non-financialinformation cormmunicated to us from our
component teams of key locations as sources of potential contrary
indicators which may cast doubt over the going cencern assessment.

The results from both management's evaluation and our independent
reverse stress testing suggest that the Group would need te be exposed to
extrerme downside events, significantly greater than the financial effect of
the disruption caused by COVID-19, emerging climate-related risks and
other principal risks and uncertainties, throughout the going concern
period in order to breachits covenants or exhaust its available funding.

The Group has substantial borrowing facilities available te it during the
going concern period. The undrawn cornmitted facilities available as at
31 December 2021 amounted to £235.5m. These mainly comprised the
unutilised portion of the Group's £375m revolving credit facility which
expires 23 Novermber 2025,

Conclusion

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any

material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
coliectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going cencern for the period through te 31 March
2023, a period of at least 12 months from when the financial staterments
are authorised for issue.

In relation to the Group and parent company's reporting on how they have
applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing materal to
add or draw attention to inrelation to the Directors’ statement in the
financial statements about whether the Directors considered it appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect
to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this staterment. s not a guarantee as to the Group's ability to continue

as a going concern.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

to the members of Keller Group plc

Overview of our audit approach

Audit scope « We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 41 components and audit procedures en specific

balances for a further 16 components.

» The components where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 31% of profit before tax, 4% of

revenue and 88% of total assets.

Key audit matters « Improper revenue recogmition
- Carrying value of goodwill (Group}

» Quality of earnings including disclosure of non-underlying items

Materiality » Overall Group materiality of €4. 2miwhich represents 5% of profit before tax, adjusted for one-off, nan-underlying iterms

An overview of the scope of the parent company and
Group audits

Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit nsk, our evaluation of materiality and our
allocation of performance materiaiity determine our audit scope far each
camponent within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We take into account
size, risk profile, the organisation of the Group and effectiveness of
Group-wide controls, changes in the business ervironment and other
factors such as recent internal audit results wher assessing the level of
work to be performed at each entity.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial
statermnents, and to ensure we had adequate quantitative coverage of
significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 163 reporting
components of the Group, we selected components covering entities
within AMEA, Europe, and North America, which represent the principal
business uniis within the Group.

Of the 57 components selected, we perfarmed an audit of the complete
financial inforrmation of 41 compoenents ('full scope components’) which
were selected based on their size or risk characteristics. For another

16 components ('specific scope components’}, we performed audit
procedures on specific accounts within that component that we
considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the significant
accounts in the financial staternents either because of the size of these
accounts or their risk profile.

The reporting components where we performed audit procedures
accounted for 94% (2020: 96%) of the Group's profit before tax, 91% (2020:
91%) of the Group's revenue and 88% (2020: 88%) of the Group's total
assets. For the current year, the full scope components contributed 72%
(2020: 74%] of the Group's profit before tax 70% (2020: 77%} of the Group’s
Revenue and 69% (2020: 73%) of the Group's total assets. The specific
scope component contributed 22% (2020 14%) of the Group's profit before
tax, 21%:{2020: 21%) of the Group's revenue and 19% {2020: 15%) of the
Group's total assets. The audit scope of these components may not have
include testing of all significant accounts but will have contributed 1o the
coverage of significant accounts tested for the Group. The primary team also
performed centralised procedures over four further entities which included
testing over matenai cash and cash equivalents balances for existence and
valuation purposes and/or selacted revenue contract testing reflecting the
primary team's central risk assessrment performed.

Of the rernaining 102 components that together represent 6% of the
Group's adjusted profit before tax measure used to establish rmateriality,
nane are individually greater than 1% of the Group's profit before tax. For
these components, we performed other procedures, including analytical
review andfor review scope’' procedures, testing of consolidation journals
and intercompany eliminations and foreign currency translation
recalculations to respond to any potential risks of rmaterial misstatement
to the Group financial statements

The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit tearns.

Profit before tax Revenue

Tatal assets

W Fulscopacomporents 12%

l Fubscopecomponents

70% M Fulscopecomporents 69%
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Changes from the prior year

For the current year, we evaluated that the principal operating entities in
Germany and Austria to be specific scope locations, compared with full
scope in the prior year. This determination was made through our updated
risk assessment and a reflection of the low rate of misstatements identified
in the previous cycles, as wel as the relative contribution of these entities to
the Group as awhale. The current year scope continued to focus on the key
areas of audit focus and judgement, including, bul not limited, to revenue
recognition and retirement benefit obligations. There have been no other
significant changes in the scoping of our Group audit. Qur scoping reflects
the nclusion of consolidation entities representing manual adjustments
posted topside at the Group consolidated level, which we have treated as full
scope. These entities do not reflect trading businesses.

Involvement with component teams

In establishing our overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the
audit procedures required at each of the components audited by us, as the
primary audit engagement team, or by component auditors from other EY
global network firms operating under our instruction. Of the 43 fult scope
and 1& specific scope components, audit procedures were performed
directly by the primary audit team on 33 and two components, respectively.
For the remaining four full scope and 14 specific scope compenents, where
the work was performed by cormponent auditors, we determined the
appropriate fevel of involverment to enable us to determine that sufficient
audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the

Group as awhole,

In addressing the appropnateness of oversight arrangernents for
component teams, the Group audit team considered the ongoing impact
of travel restrictions and uncertainties, caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Consistent with the previous cycle. physical visits to component teams
were replaced by a series of virtual site visits for in-scepe components
executed by the primary team, enabled through the use of video
conferencing.

The virtual site visits invelved the primary team lincluding the Senior
Statutory Auditor) meeting with our compaenent teams to discuss and
direct their audit approach, reviewing key working papers and
understanding the significant audit findings inresponse to therisk areas
including revenue recognition and areas of jJudgement and estimation such
as contract liabilities and provisions and provisions for legal claims (including
insured liabilities), We also attended virtual meetings with local
management, obtaining updates on reported financial performance and
significant risk areas for the audit, including the anticipated business
outlook during the going concern period.

The primary team interacted regularly with the component teams, during
various stages of the audit, reviewed key working papers and were
responsible for the scope and direction of the audit process. This, together
with the additional procedures performed at Group level, gave us
appropriate evidence for our opinion on the Group financial statements.
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Climate change

There has been increasing interest from stakeholders as to how climate
change willimpact Keller Group ple. The Group has determined that the
most significant future impact from climate change on their operations will
be from physical acute or chronic ¢limate weather events, emerging
legislation impacting operating costs and cost of raw materials, addressing,
and adapting to customer requirement in relation to climate risk, failure to
procure new contracts on satisfactory terms and not having the right skills
to deliver on projects contracted. These are explained on page 33 and page
38 in the strategic report under ‘Risk trends' and 'Strategic risks’ which form
part of the "Cther information”, rather than the audited financial
statements. Our pracedures on these disclosures therefore consisted
solely of considering whether they are materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit
or otherwise appear to be materially misstated.

As explained in the strategic report on page 43, Keller Group plc have
started the journey to implement the short, mediurm and leng-term actions
required to achieve a number of giobal and local initiatives aligned to the UN
Sustainable Development Goals {SDGs). Itis also stated that the Group
have also started to report against the requirements set outin the Task
Force for Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD); however,
understanding the costs and opportunities of climate change to their
business will take some time and they are actively progressing this
understanding in 2022 as reported in the TCFD dashboard on page 52. The
degree of uncertainty of these changes may also mean that they cannot be
taken into account when determining asset and liability valuations and the
timing of future cash flows under the requirements of UK adopted
international accounting standards.

QOur audit effort in considering climate change was focused on ensuring
that the effects of material climate risks disclosed on pages 33, 38 and 52
have been appropriately reflected in going concern and viability of the
Group, useful economic life of plant and equipment and other ntangible
assets andimpairment of goodwill and associated disclosures where values
are determined through modelling future cash flows being the assumptions
around the iong-term reliance on concrete, steel and related
manufacturing processes, heavy duty cembustion machinery, and the
potential for 'Environmental, Soclal and Governance' refated covenants or
levies which could impact the CGU cash flows. We have also considered the
assumptions made by management around the cost of investment in
technology in order to adapt to changing regulations related to climate
change and emissions. Details of our procedures and findings on
impairment of goodwill are included in cur key audit matters below.

We alsc challenged the Directors’ considerations of climate change in therr
assessment of going concern and viability and associated disclosures.

Whilst the Group have stated their commitment to the aspirations of the
Paris Agreement to achieve net zero emissions by 2050, the Group are
currently unable to determine the full future economic impact on their
business model, operational plans and customers to achieve this and
therefore the potential impacts are not fully incorporated in these
financial statements.
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Key audit matters

Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statemenits of the current
period and include the most significant assessed risks of material risstatermnent (whether ar not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters incluged
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement
team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide

3 separate cpinion on these matters.

Risk

Qur response to the risk

Key observations communicated
tathe Audit and Risk Comrnittes

Improper revenue recognition
(2021:£2,224.4m, 2020: £2,062.5m)

Refer ta the Audit and Risk Committee
report {page 92); accounting policies (page
135} and note 4of the consolidated financial
statements (pages 142 and [43]

The Group recegnises revenue over time
fromcontracts either as earned value
loutput method? or onthe percentage of
cempletion {input method) basis,
depending on the size and nature of the
contract (in accordance with the guidelines
provided in the Group revenue recognition
policy and IFRS 15). The judgemnents
involvedin determining revenue
recognition under both recognition
methods present a significant fraud risk as
résults are susceptible to manipulation,
particularly around the estimationin
determining the cost to complete and
percentage of completion at the year end.
Management may use inappropriate
measures and assumpticns to evaluate the
Group's progress towards satisfaction of
performance obligations.

Thereis also significant judgement
involved in estimating the impact of
factors such as rising cost pressures and
the availability of necessary skills and their
impact on the cost of satisfying
outstanding performance cobligations and
the projected outcome of contract claims
and variations made both by and against
the Group and valuation of contract
provisions for both percentage of
completion and earned value bases.

The Group also provides fabricated,
unbended post-tension rnaterials to
customers in the residential and
commercial sectors. The revenue from
sales of these materialsis recognised ata
point of time, hased upon the satisfaction
ofthe performance obligations We have
identified that there is a risk that such
revenues could be manipulated at or near
to the penod end through inappropriate
‘cut-off'to meet income staterment
targets.

For all revenue recorded on the percentage of completion and earned
value bases, we:

» Performed walkthroughs of significant classes of revenue
transactions and assessed the design effectiveness of key controls,

+ Perfarmed arisk assessment of the population of contracts and
selected a sample of higher-risk [value and/or complexity) contracts
across the Group, representing both those accounted for using the
input method and those using the output method. For the sample
selected we obtained anunderstanding of the contract terms, key
operational or commercial/financial issues, significant judgements
thatimpact the contract position and the appropriateness of
revenue recognised at 31 December 2021.

« Thefactors that we considered when determining additional
higher-risk contractsto select included low margin, 1oss making and/
or contracts subject to delayed performance or commencement
and where the ability to continue work had been affected by
circumstances outside the Group's control.

For the sample selected for testing we:

- Considered the appropriateness of supporting evidence and the
requirermnents of IFRS 15 and the Group's accounting policies where
contracts included additional entitiement s to variations and ¢laims,
both for and against the Group.

- Challenged the level of unbilled revenues and the adequacy of the
evidence to prave recoverability through subsequent work
certifications and cash collections.

For the sample contracts where revenue was recogrised over time
under the percentage of cornpletion basis, we have performed the
following:

- Challenged the reasonableness of management's calculations of
costs to complete, which included understanding the risks and
outstanding works remaining on the contract, the impact of any
delays or other deliveryissues and the related cost assumptions ang
contingencies.

= We had meetings with the contract project managers to understand
the project status and outstanding works remaining on the
contracts.

« Wetested the cost build up and the correct allocation across
contracts leg to verify no manipulation of costs between profitable
and ioss~-making contracts) through a combination of cost
verification and analytical procedures on contract margins.

+ Evaluated the expected margin andrevenue recognised to date
aganstiatest contract progress.

Fromthe audit
procedures performed,
we conclude thatthe
recognition of revenue
was appropriate, that the
judgements made by
management are
consistent with the
accounting policy to be
applied to all contracts
with customers, and that
the presentation and
disclosure of revenueis
materfally correct.
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Risk

Qurresponse totherisk

Key ohservations camrnunicated
to the Audit and Risk Committee

Improperrevenue recognition
continued

For the sample of contracts where revenue is recogrused on the earned
value basis, we performed the following procedures:

« Evaluated whether the assessment of earned value appropriately
depicted outputs actually deiivered and progress towards
satisfaction of performanre obligations.

« Wetested the cost buidup and the correct allccation across
contracts (eg to verify no rmanipulation of costs between profit-
making and loss-making contracts and recognition between periods
{eg cut-off testinghithrough a combination of cost verfication
againstinvoices and analytical procedures.

+ Tested whether revenue has been recognised inthe appropriate
period. Thisincluded checking whether revenue recegnised at the
year end on open contracts is supported by evidence (eg measured
works certificates) that demonstrates the period in which the work
was performed.

For any loss-making contracts identified, for both percentage of
completion and earned value contracts, we tested whether
management's assessment of the forecast loss ncluded appropriate
estimates inrespect of costs to completion,

For contracts where there was significant uncertainty over whether the
project would be completed, we assessed the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment of contract modifications, consideration
received and revenue recognised/deferred and the impact enthe
carrying value of related assets.

For revenue recognised at a point in time, we performed revenue
cut-off procedures at the year end to determine whether transactions
are recorded in the appropriate period based on the recognition criteria
under IFRS 15 by vouching the transactions through to third-party
support (such as shipping, delivery or acceptance documents).

Data-driven journal entry testing was also performed infull scope
locations on arisk-based approach, including focussing on entries
which were posted manually or thase which could be made to overstate
revenue.

We performed full and specific scope audit procedures over revenueg in
21lacations, which covered 95% of the risk amaount.
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Risk

Qurresponse to therisk

Key absarvations commurnicated
to the Audit anaRisk Committee

Carrying value of goodwill (Group)
(2021: £121.3m; 2020: £115.2m}

Refer to the Audit and Risk Comrmittee
report {page 92); Accounting policies (page
137); and note 14 of the consolidated
financial statements {pages 152 and 153)

Under IAS 36, an entity must assess
intangible iterms with an mndefinite useful
life annually, or whenever indicators of
impairment are present for ail other
assets.

Due to the degree of estimation involved
in calculating the expected future cash
flows frorm cash generating units (CGU}
and determining appropriate long-term
growthrates and discount rates specific
to each CGU (including those arising from
acquisitions), we have identified a
significant risk regarding the assessment
of any impairment against goodwill
carrying values, as well as the
identification of any indicators of
impairment as an area of significant risk.

Inthe prior year, we included an
associated risk over the carrying value of
investments recorded inthe parent
company. The risk has decreased inthe
current year due to the actualand
projected financial performance ofthe
Group and thus the headroom between
the value-in-use of the CGU's in toiality
and therelated carrying value of
irvestrments in the parent company
balance sheet and also the growth inthe
market capitalisation of the Group and
thus we do not consider thisto represent
a key audit matter in the current year.

We have performed the foliowing.

« Performed awalkthrough to understand the impairment analysis

and calculation process (eg. controls over the data and assumptions

used), level of review on the outlook data infuture years and how key
inputs were derived.

Evaluated the appropriateness of the CGUs identified given changes

in Group structure [iIncluding acquisitions and disposals) and the

allocation of assets and liabilities te the CGUs.

- Inrespectofeach CGU, we have challenged management over the
kay inputs and on the achievabllity of the cash flow forecasts. We
have assassed the projected financial information against
performance and other market data to assess the robusthess of
management’s forecasting process.

+ Assessed the discount rates appiied against cashflows for each CGU

by obtaiming the underlying data used in the calculation and

benchmarking against comparable organisations with the support of
our EY valuation experts.

Validated the revenue/margin growth rates assurmed for the

projected financial information for each CGU by comparing them to

economic and ndustry forecasts.

- Given the uncertainty attached to forecasts presented by rising
costs, skills shortages and the potential for suspansion or delay to
key projects, we have assessed management’s assumptions in
relation to these factars including the ongoing impact of COVID-19
and increasing costs of energy, materials and labour, in determining
the abllity to achieve cash flow forecasts.

- Analysed the historical accuracy of budgets compared with actual
results to determine whether forecast cash flows are reliable based
on past experience.

*

= Challenged the assumptions inthe approach taken to determine
working capital levels over the forecast pericd, focussing onthe
principai reasons and timing of larger fiuctuations and how this
compared with the historical trend.

+ Performed anintegrity review of the goodwill model to be able to
conclude that the formulae and construction of these models are
effective and accurate.

- Performed sensitivity analyses by testing key assumptionsin the
model to recalculate a range of potential cutcomes in relation to the
size of the headroom between carrying value and fair value.

« Considered the assumptions around the long-termreliance on
concrete, steel and related manufacturing processes, heavy duty
combustion machinery, and the potential for 'Environmental, Social
and Governance related cavenants or levies which could impact the
CGU cashflows. We have also considered the assumptions made by
management around the cost of investrment intechnology m order
to adapt to changing regulations related to climate change and
emissions.

« Considered the appropriateness of the related disclosures provided
inthe notes to the Group financial statements.

The primary team centrally executed the work performed across all
locations, covering 100% of the balance. Component teams have
supported the primary teamin assessing the growthrates and
achievability of the cash flows based on their understanding of the
business and local market and industry conditions.

Based onthe final '
forecast cash flows and

assumptions used, there

is sufficient headroom

across allCGUs to

supportthe carrying

value.

Based onthe proceduras
performed,
management’s
assessments are
considered reasonable.
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Key observations communicated

Risk Qurresponse totherisk to the Audit and Risk Cammittee
Quality of earnings, including We performed the following procedures: As aresult of our audit
disclosure of non-underlying items : ) . procedures performed,
+ Obtained the breakdown of non-underlying items to determine na ttems ware
(2021: £12.3m {pre-tax)); 2020: £33.1m whether by their nature they meet the definition of exceptional inappropriately ncluded
(pre-tax)) items, in accordance with Group policy and ESMA {European or excluded from
Refer to the Audit and Risk Committee Securities and Markets Authority) guidance. non-underlying items
Repoart ipage 92): accounting policies [page  « Tested that the amounts included as non-underlying items are
139}, andnote 8 of the consolidated supported by appropriate evidence. We performed tests of detail We have assessedthat
financial statements {pages 147 and 148} over material restructuring costs te ensure that the underlying the alternative
i i i erformance measures
The Group's acceunting policy is to eXp_endlture recorded truly relates to a specwﬁeq restructuring pAPM _ ;
. L . project and not a general expense. We were assisted by our ( stincludedinthe
classify certainincome statementitems - i - } f :
component teams in locations where these material expenditures Group financial

as non-‘underlymg‘,where they are have arisen. staternents are

exceptional by their size and/or are anoropriataly defined

non-trading in nature, including + Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures of non-underlying ppropriately denned,
reconciled to GAAP

amortisation of acquired intangibles and itemsinlight of IFRS (IAS 1) and the continued focus by the ]
other non-trading amounts. including accounting regulators on alternative profit measures (APMs) with measures and disclosed.

those relating to acquisitions and the support of our EY technical review team.

disposals. - The primary team performed centralised procedures over the

classification and disclosure of non-underlying items, and the related
As atthe year end, management risk of raterial misstaternent, in the Group consclidated financial
identified certain items totalling £12.32m statemnents as a whole.

which they believe are significant by either
size and/or nature, which warrant
separate disclosure inthe consolidated
financial statements to better reflect
underlying business performance.

The classification of suchitemsis
judgemental and thereis arisk that
materialitems are misclassified as
‘non-underlying’ and are therefore
excluded from the results presentedin
the form of adjusted profit measures,
which would mislead the users of the
financial statements in understanding
the performance of the Group.

Furthermore, thereis arisk that the
financial statements give undue
prominence to adjusted performance
measures compared with their IFRS
equivalents.

In the prior year, cur auditor's repert included a key audit matter in relation to going concern which reflected the uncertainties whichhad emerged as a
resuit of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. In the current year, this risk has reduced reflecting the opemng-up of the global economy (including reduced
social distancing and travel restrictions), the enrolment of vaccinations, and the resilience of the Group exhibited in its financial performance and in
continuing to operate in accordance with expectations despite the emergence of new COVID-19 variants during 2021. Please refer to the ‘Conclusions
relating to going concern'’ section above in respect of our work performed in this area.



124 Keller Groupple AnnualRepertand Accounts 2021

Financial 5tatements

Independent auditor’s report continued

to the members of Keller Group plc

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in
evaluating the effect of identified rmisstatements on the audit and in
forming our audit epinicn.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, indhadually or in the
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to inflience the economic decisions
of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for
deterrmining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Group to be £4.2m (2020: £4.8m), which
is 5% (2020: 5%) of adjusted profit before tax. We believe that adjusted
profit before tax provides us with an appropriate materiality basis which
excludes non-underlying items, as these were identified as a key audit
matter which resulted in specific audit facus.

We determined materiality for the parent cormpany to be £4.7m (2020
£4.8m), whichis 1% {2020: 1%) of equity. Equity Is the most appropriate
meaasure given the parent company s an investment holding company with
no revenue. The materiality determined for the standaione parent
company financial statements exceeds the group materiality asitis
determined on a different basis given the nature of the operations. For the
purposes of the audit of the Group financial staterments, our procedures,
including those on balances in the parent company that are consolidated,
are undertaken with reference to the group dassigned materiaiity and
performance materiality set out in this report.

£71.6m
Profit before tax for the year

Starting
basis

Add back~€12.3m
Non-underlying items for the year

Totals £83.9m
Materiality of £4.2m {5% of materiality basis}

Materiality

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality, noting no
significant variations from the original assessment at planning

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. ftis set
at an amount to reduce o an appropriately low level the probability that the
aggregate of uncarrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, tagether with our assessment of the
Group's overall control ervironment, our judgement was that performance
rmatenality was 50% (2020: 50%) of our planning materiality, namaly £2.1m
{(2020: £2.4m). We have set performance materiality at this percentage
based on our overalirisk assessment at the audit planning stage, including
consideration for general risk factors such as the ongoing impact of
COVID-19.

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit
coverage over significant financial statement accounts is undertaken based
on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance
materiality set for each component is based on the relative scale and risk of
the component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of
misstaternent at that component. In the current year, the range of
performance materafity allocated to components was £0.3m to £1.5m
{2020: £0.2mto £1.8m).

Reporting threshold

An amount below which identified misstaterents are considered as bemng
clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit and Risk Committee that we would report to
them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £0.2m (2020: £0.2m),
which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that
threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstaterments against both the quantitative
measures of materiality discussed above and inlight of other relevant
qualitative considerations in forming our opimion.

Otherinformation

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report and Accounts set out on pages 1 to 189, including the Strategic
report o pages 1 to 67, and Corporate governance report set out on
pages 68 to 115 other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information
contained within the Annual Report and Accounts

Qur apinion on the fnancial staternents does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Cur responsibility is 1o read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is matenally inconsistent with the financia)
staterments or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
nconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the
financial statements themselves. If. based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there s a material misstatement of the other information,
we are required 1o report that fact,

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

in our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Inour opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

= theinformation given in the Strategic repu Land Lhe Directors' report tor
the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

+ the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the
parent company and its environment obtainedin the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report or the
Directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to
which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our
opinion:

adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

+ the parent company iinancial statements and the part of the Directors’
remuneration repert to be audited are not n agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

« certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not
made; or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for
our audit.

Corporate Governance Statement

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement In relation to going concern,
longer-term viability and that part of the Corporate Governance
Statement relating to the Group and company's compliance with the
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that
each of the following elerments of the Corporate Governance Statement is
materially consistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained during the audit:

» Directors’ staterment with regards to the appropriateness of adopting
the going concern basis of accounting and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 33;

« Directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the company’s
prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is
appropriate set out on page 33;
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« Directors’ statement on whether the Board has a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and
meets its liabilities set out on page 33;

» Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set cut on
page 115;

» Board's confirmation that it has carried out arobust assessment of the
emerging and principal risks set out onpage 33;
the section of the annual report that describes the review of
effectiveness ofrisk management and internat control systems set out
on page 83; and;

- the section describing the work of the Audit and Risk Committee set out
onpage 91.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out
on page 115, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statemenits that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group and parent company's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclasing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtan reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance butis not a
quarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK} will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered materiat if. individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

'rregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws
and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities,
outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of
not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may nvolve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through coliusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud)s detailed below.
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However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of
fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the company and
management.

- We obtained anunderstanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks
that are applicable to the Group and determined that the most
significant are those related to the reporting framework (IFRS adopted
pursuant to FRS 101, United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, the Companies Act 2006 and Corporate Governance Code!)
and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the countries aof
operations of the reporting components. In addition, we concluded that
there are certain significant laws and regulations which may have an
effect on the determination of the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, being the Listing Rules of the London Stock
Exchange and the Bribery Act 2G10,

= Weunderstood how Keller Group plc is complying with those frameworks
by making enquiries of management, reviewing management
procedures for oversight by those charged with governance lie
considering the potential for override of controls or other inappropriate
influence over the financial reporting process, such as efforts by
management to manage earnings in order to influence the perceptions
of analysts as to the Group's performance and profitability}, the cutture
of honesty and ethical behaviour and whether a strong emphasis s
placed on fraud prevention, which may reduce opportunities for fraud to
take place, and fraud deterrence. We corrabarated our enquiries through
our review of Board minutes, discussions with the Audit and Risk
Committee, any correspondence received from regulatory bodies and
those respensible for legat and compliance praocedures and the
Company Secretary.

« We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's financial statements to
material risstaterment, including how fraud rmight occur by meeting wath
management to understand where they considered there was
susceptibility to fraud. We also considered performance targets and their
influence on efferts made by ranagement to manage earnings or
influence the perceptions of analysts. Where this risk was considered to
be higher, we performed audit procedures to address each identified
fraud risk. The key audit matters section above addresses procedures
performed in areas where we have concluded the risks of material
misstatement are highest (including where due to the risk of fraud).
These procedures included testing manual jourmal entries.

» Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to
identify non-comphance with such laws and regufations. Our procedures
invalved review of Board minutes to dentify non-compliance with such
iaws and regulations, review of reporting to the Audit and Risk
Committee on compliance with regulations and enquires of the
Company Secretary and rmanagement.

« Inthe case of Keller Group plc, all full and specific scope components
were instructed to perform procedures in the identfication ofinstances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations.

« Component teams did not identify any instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. Ininstances where we identified anincreased
riskin this area, we performed additional audit procedures in order to
evaluate whether the risk could have a significant effect on the Group,
its stakeholders or the financial statements. There were no identified
significant instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations at
the Group level.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at
https:/www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor's report.

Other matters we are required to address

« Following the recommendation from the Audit and Risk Committee, we
were appointed by the company on 13 May 2021 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2021 and subsequent
financial periods. We were appointed as auditors at the Annual General
Meeting of members and an engagement letter was signed on 3 March
2022 which applies to all accounting periods from the date of the
engagement letter untitit is replaced.

The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous
renewals and reappointments is three years, covering the years ending
31 December 2019 to 31 December 2021.

« The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report Lo the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’'s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Cornpanies Act 2006. Cur
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
membaers those matters we are required to state to theminan auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone ather than the company
and the company's members as a body, for aur audit work, for this report, or
far the opinions we have formed.

Kevin Harkin {Senior statutory auditer)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

Reading

7 March 2022



Keller Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2021 Financial Statements 127

Consolidated income statement
Forthe year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Non-underlying Non-underlying
items tems
Underlying (note s) Statutory Underlying (note 8) Statutory
Note £m €m £m Em £m £m
Revenue 3.4 2,224.4 - 2,224.4 20625 - 20825
Operating costs 6 (2,132.0) [9.6) {2,141.6) {1,953.2) (29.6} {1,982.8)
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets - (2.8} {2.8) - (4.2} {4.2)
Wther operatingincome - 0.7 0.7 - 0.7 0.7
Share of post-tax results of joint ventures 16 0.4 (0.6} {0.2) 0.8 - 0.8
Operating profit/{loss} 3 952.8 (12.3) 80.5 110.1 (33.1) 770
Finance income 9 0.4 - 0.4 1.1 - 1.1
Finance costs 10 (9.3} - {9.3) (14.3) - {14.3)
Profit/{loss) before taxation 83.9 {12.3) 71.6 569 (33.1) 63.8
Taxation 11 {20.1} 10.6 (9.5} (28.3} 5.6 (22.7}
Profit/{loss) for the year 63.8 (1.7) 62.1 686 {27.5) 411
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 64.7 (1.7} €3.0 70.0 {27.5) 42.5
Non-controlling interests 33 {0.9) - (0.9) (1.4 - {1.4)
63.8 {1.7) 62.1 68.6 {27.5) 41.1

Earnings per share
Basic 13 89.5p 87.1p 97.1p 58.9p
Diluted 13 88.4p 86.1p 96.3p 58.5p
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2021 2020
Note £m £m
Profit for the year 62.1 41.1
Other comprehensive income
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange movements on translation of foreign operations {4.3) {5.9]
Transfer of translationreserve on disposal of subsidiaries (0.4} 29
Cash flow hedge gains taken to equity 25 - Q0.5
Cash flow hedge transferred to income statement 25 - (0.5
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit orloss:
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension schemes 32 1.2 (2.2}
Tax onremeasurements of defined benefit pension schemes 11 {0.2) 0.4
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (3.7} 4.8}
Total comprehensive income for the year 58.4 363
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 55.3 373
Non-controlling interests {0.9) {1.6)
58.4 36.3
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note €m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill and intangible assets 14 141.5 118.8
Property, plant and equipment 15 443.4 4349
Investments injoint ventures 1€ 4.0 4.4
Deferted tax assets 11 13.0 10.3
Other assets 17 88.5 60.3
690.4 628.7
Current assets
Inventories 18 72.1 601
Trade and other receivables 19 592.0 501.9
Current tax assets 8.9 2.1
Cash and cash eguivalents 20 82.7 66.3
Assets held for sale 21 3.4 8.7
759.1 633.1
Total assets 3 1,449.5 1,267.8
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 25 {29.8) (67.0)
Current tax liabilities (17.9) (17.1)
Trade and other payables 22 (505.7) {381.7)
Provisions 23 (53.8) {54 4)
{607.2} {520 2}
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 25 (246.2} (191.8)
Retirement benefit liabilities 32 {25.7} {31.1)
Deferred tax liabllities 11 (28.6) {21.3)
Provisions 23 {77.9) {71.4}
Other liabilities 24 {21.2) (22.0}
(399.6) (337.6}
Total liabilities 3 (1,006.8) {857.8}
Net assets 3 442.7 410.0
Equity
Share capital 27 7.3 7.3
Share premium account 38.1 8.1
Capitalredemptionreserve 27 7.6 76
Translation reserve 11.6 163
Otherreserve 27 56.9 56.9
Retained earnings 318.4 280.1
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 439.9 406.3
Non-controlling interests 33 2.8 37
Total equity 442.7 410.0

1 Otherassets, trade and other recenvables and provisions presented here do not correspand to the published 2020 consolidated Anancial statements The comparative balance sheet has beenrestated
to present gross INsurance provisions with a separate reimbursement asset recognised for amounts recoverable fram insurance providers and custorner retentions recevable 1n more than one year to
other non-current assets, as outlned in note 2 to the financial statements.

These consolidated financial staterments were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 7 March 2022,

They were signed on its behalf by:

'

. !,) f /
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Caprtal Attributable Non-
Share Share  redemption Gther Hedging toequity controlling
capital premuum reserve Translauon reserve reserve Retained heldersof  interests Total
tnote 27) account [note 27} reserve {note 27) (note 25) earnings the parant (note 33) aquity
£m £m £m £m £€m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2020 73 381 7.6 19.1 56.9 - 263.2 392.2 5% 397.5
Profit/{loss] for the year - - - - - - 42.5 42.5 (1.4} 41.1
Other comprehensive Incotne
Exchange mowements on translation
of foreign operations - - - (5.73 - - - (5.7} 0.2) (5.9
Transfer of reserves on disposal
of subsidiaries - - - 29 — - - 2.9 - 2.9
Cash flow hedge gains taken to equity - - - - - a.5 - 0.5 - 0.5
Cash flow hedge transferred to
income statement - - - - - (0.5) - {0.5) - {0.5)
Remeasurements of defined
henefit pension schemes - - - - - - (2.2) (2.2} - (2.2)
Taxonremeasurements of defined
henefit pension schemes - - - -~ - - 0.4 £.4 - 0.4
Other comprehensive loss
for the year, net of tax - - - (2.8) - ~ (1.8) (4.6) {0.2) [4.8]
Total comprehensive {loss)/
income for the year - - - (2.8} - - 40.7 37.9 (1.6} 35.3
Dividends - - - - - - (25.5) {25.9) - {25.9}
Share-based payments - - - - - ~ 2.1 2.1 - 2.1
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 7.3 381 7.6 16.3 56.9 - 280.1 406.3 37 4100
Profit/{loss) for the year - - - - - - 63.0 63.0 (0.9} 62.1
Othar comprehensive income
Exchange movements ontranslation
of fareign operations - - - (4.3) - - - {4.3} - {a.3)
Transfer of reserves ondisposal
of subsidiaries -~ - - {0.4) - - - [0.4) - 0.4)
Remeasurements of defined
benefit pension schemes - - - - - - 1.2 1.2 - 1.2
Tax onremeasurements of defined
benefit pension schemes - - - - - - 0.2} (0.2} - (0.2}
Other comprehensive (loss}/income
for the year, net of tax - - - (4.7} - - 1.0 {3.7) - 3.7
Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year - - - (4.7} - - 64.0 59.3 10.9) 58.4
Dividends - - - - -~ - {25.9) {25.9) - {25.9)
Purchase of own shares for ESOP trust - - - - ~ - (37 (3.7} - (3.7)
Share-based payments - - - - - - 33 3.9 - 3.9
At 31 December 2021 73 38.1 7.6 11.6 56.9 - 3184 439.9 2.8 442.7
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021
2021 2020

Note £m £m
Cash fiows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 71.6 63.8
Non-underlying items 12.3 331
Financeincorne (0.4} (1.1)
Finance costs 10 9.3 14.3
Underlying operating profit 3 92.8 1101
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 90.6 94.3
Arnortisation of intangible assets 14 0.6 0.6
Share of underlying post-tax results of joint ventures 16 (0.4} 0.8)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment {1.8} 0.6)
Cther non-cash movements 8.3 1.8
Foreign exchange losses 0.1 1.5
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital and other underlying items 190.2 206.9
{Increase)/decrease ininventories (18.3) 7.1
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables {104.4) 111.1
Increase/|decrease) in trade and other payables 119.0 {80.0)
{Decreasel/increase in provisions, retirement benefit and other non-current habilities (7.8) 13.9
Cash generated from operations before non-underlying items 178.7 259.0
Cashinflows from nen-underlying items: contract disputes - 0.7
Cashinflows from non-underlying items: assets held for sale 2.4 -
Cash outflows from non-underlying items: restructuring costs (3.9) {11.7)
Cash outflows from nen-underlying items- acquisition costs {0.5) -
Cash generated from operations 176.7 248.0
Interest paid {2.0) (8.8)
Interest element of lease rental payments (3.1} (3.8)
Income tax paid (15.9) (24.9)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 155.7 210.5
Cashflows from investing activities
Interest received 0.4 0.6
Proceeds fremsale of property, plant and equipment 9.8 7.4
Proceeds on disposal of businesses 71 2.2
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (29.9) -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 15 (84.0}) (72.5)
Acquisition of other intangible assets 14 {o.4) {0.9)
Dividends received from joint ventures 16 - 04
Net cash outfiow from investing activities 97.0) (62.4)
Cash fiows from financing activities
Increase in borrowings 91.2 10.4
Repayment of borrowings (69.4) (131.4)
Payment of lease liabilities (25.8) (27.2)
Purchase of own shares for ESOP trust (3.7 -
Dividends paid 12 {25.9) (25.9}
Net cash outflow from financing activities {37.6] (174.1)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 21.1 (26.0)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 61.6 875
Effect of exchange rate movements {0.9) 0.1
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Corporate information

The consolidated financial statements of Keller Group ple and its
subsidiaries {collectively, the ‘Group') for the year ended 31 December
2021 were authorised for issue in accordance with the resolution of the
Directors on 7 March 2022,

Keller Group plc {the 'cormpany} s a public limited company, incerporated
and dormiciled in the United Kingdom, whose shares are publicly traded on
the London Stock Exchange. The registered office s located at 2 Kingdom
Street, London W2 6BD. The Group is principally engaged in the provision
of specialist gectechnical services. information on the Group's structure is
provided in note 8 of the company financial statements.

2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, these consclidated
financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors
in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards.
The company prepares its parent company financial staterments

in accordance with FRS 101.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared cn an historical
cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments that have been
measured at fair value. The carrying values of recognised assets and
liabilities that are designated as hedged items in fair value hedges that
would otherwise be carried at amortised cost are adjusted to recognise
changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged
in effective hedge relationships. The consolidated financial statements

are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest
hundred thousand, expressed inmilions to one decimal point, except when
otherwise Indicated.

Going concern

As part of the going concern and viability review, management ran a

series of downside scenarios on the latest forecast profit and cash flow
projections to assess covenant headroom against available funding
facilities for a three-year period to 31 Decermnber 2024. The going concern
review used the same downside scenarios and forecasts for the period
through te the end of March 2023, a period of at least 12 months from
when the financial statements are authorised for issue and aligning with
the period In which the Group's banking covenants are tested. This process
involved constructing scenarios to reflect the Group's current assessment
of its principal risks, including those that would threatenits business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. The principal nsks and
uncertainties modelled by management align with those disclosed within
this Annual Report and Accounts.

The following severe but plausible downside assumptions were modelled:

- Rapid downturn i the Group's markets resulting inup to a 10% decline in
revenues.

» Ineffective execution of projects reducing profits by 1% of revenue.
« Not having the nght skills to deliver reducing profits by 0.5% of revenue.

- A combination of other principal risks and trading risks materialising
together reducing profits by up to £84.6m over the period to
31 December 2024, These risks include changing environmental
factors, costs of ethical misconduct and regulatory non-compliance,
occurrence of an accident causing serious injury to an employee or
member of the public, the cost of a product or sclution failure and the
impact of a previously unrecorded tax liability.

-+ Deteroration of working capital performance by 5% of six months’ sales.

The financial and cash effects of these scenarios were modelled individually
and in combination. The focus was onthe ability to secure or retain future
work and potential downward pressure on margins. Management applied
sensitivities against projected revenue, margin and working capital metrics
reflecting a series of plausible downside scenarios. Against the most
negative scenario, mitigating actions were overlaid. These include arange
of cost-cutting measures and overhead savings designed to preserve cash
flows. Eveninthe most extreme downsige scenaric modelled, including an
aggregation of all risks considered, which showed a decrease in operating
profit of 42.9% and anincrease in net debt of 47.9% against the Group's
latest forecast profit and cash flow projections for the review period up to
31 March 2023. The adjusted projections do not show a breach of
covenants inrespect of avallable funding facilities or any liquidity shortfall.
Censideration was given to scenarios where covenants would be breached
and the circumstances giving rise to these scenarios were considered
extrermne and remote. This process allowed the Board to conclude that the
Group will continue to operate on a going concern basis for the period
through to the end of March 2023, a period of at least 12 months from
when the financial statements are authonised for issue. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements are prepared on a gaing concern basis.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had undrawn committed and
uncommitted borrowing facilities totalling £291.9m, comprising £219.8m
of the unutilised portion of the revolving credit facility, £15.7m of other
undrawn committed borrowing facilities and undrawn uncommitted
borrowing facilities of £56.4m, as well as cash and cash equivalents of
£82.7m. At 31 December 202 1, the Group's net debt to underiying EBITDA
ratio {calculated on an|AS 17 covenant basis) was 0.8, well within the limit
of 3.0x.

Climate change

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, managemeant has
considered the impact of climate change on a number of key estimates
within the financial statements, including estimates of future cash flows
used Inimpairment assessments of the carrying value of goodwill,
recoverability of deferred tax assets and the useful economic life of plant,
equipment and other intangible assets. These considerations did not have
amaterial impact on the financial reporting judgements and estimates,
consistent with the assessment that climate change is not expected to
have a significant impact on the Group's going concern assessment 1o
March 2023 nor the viability of the Group over the next three years.
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Prior year restatement
Insurance restatement

In October 2021, the Group received a letter from the Financial Reporting
Council (FRC) as part of its regular review and assessment of the quality of
corporate reporting in the UK, following the Group's inclusion in the
‘Thematic review on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets’ The letter included a request for further information on the
Group's Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December
2020. The review conducted by the FRC was based solely onthe Group's
published Annual Report and Accounts and does not provide any assurance
that the Annual Report and Accounts are correct in all material respects.

Following finalisation of the correspondence with the FRC, the Directors
have concluded that the insurance reimbursement receivables of the
Group should be separately presented gross on the consolidated balance
sheet, rather than netted off against the insurance and legal provision.

Retentions restatement

Separately from the above, the element of trade receivables relating to
customer retentions expected to be received in more than one year was
disclosed separately in the revenue note {note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements) but classified incerrectly within the trade and other
receivables balance sheet line. The Group has amended this disclosure and
separately categonsed this receivable within other non-current assets as
detailed below.

As aresult of these itemns, the consclidated balance sheet as at
31 December 2020 has been restated as follows:

Consolidated balance sheet

2020
{as reportec]

Insurance 2020

(restated)

Retentions

resiatement  restaterment

£&m £n tm £m

Non-current assets
Other assets 25.9 24.2 10.2 60.3
Current assets
Trade and gther receivables 503.9 8.2 {10.2) 501.9
Current liabilities
Provisions (46.2) {8.2) - (54.4)
Of which: Insurance and

legal provisions (12.6) (8.2) - (20.8)

Other previsions {33.6) - - (33.6)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 47.2) {24.2) - (71.4)
Of which: Insurance and

legal provisions {26.9) {24.2) - {51.1)

Other provisions {20.3) - - {20.3)

The restatement did not result in any change to reported profit, earnings
per share, net assets or cash flows reportedin the 2020 financial year.
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The impact on the opening consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2019 is as follows:

Consolidated balance sheet

2014 Insurance Retent ons 2019
lasreported)  restatement  restaterment {restated}
£m £ Em £m
Non-current assets
Cther assets 223 9.1 324 £3.8
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 626.7 2.5 (32.4) 596.8
Current liabilities
Provisions (28.6) (2.5) - (31.1)
Ofwhich: Insurance and tegal
provisions 6.9) {2.5) - {9.4)
Other provisions (21.7) - - (21.7)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions (46.4) (9.1) - {55.5}
Of which: Insurance and legal
provisions (25.8) (9.1) - (34,9}
Other provisions (20.6) - - {20.6}

The restaternent did not result in any change to reported profit, earnings
per share, net assets or cash flows reported in the 2019 financial year.

Further details of the impact of the restaterent can be found in notes 17,
19 and 23 to the consoiidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements consolidate the accounts of the
parent and its subsidiary undertakings to 31 December each year.
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the company. Control exists when
the cormpany has power over an entity, exposure to variable returns fromits
involvement with the entity and the abifity to use its power over the entity
to affect its returns. Where subsidiary undertakings were acquired or sold
during the year, the accounts include the results for the part of the year for
which they were subsidiary undertakings using the acquisition method of
accounting. Intra-group balances, and any unrealised incorme and expense
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

Joint operations

Where the Group undertakes contracts jointly with other parties, these are
accounted for as joint operations as defined by IFRS 11, In accordance with
IFRS 11, the Group accounts for its own share of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses measured according to the terms of the joint operations
agreement.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Joint ventures

Ajoint venture 1s a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangerment. The consolidated financial statementsincorporate a
share of the results, assets and lisbilities of joint ventures using the equity
method of accounting, whereby the investment is carried at cost plus
post-acquisition changes in the share of net assets of the joint venture,
less any provision for impairment. Losses in excess of the consolidated
interest in joint ventures are not recognised except where the Group has
a constructive commitrment to make good those losses. The results of
joint ventures acquired or disposed of during the year are included inthe
consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or
up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Changes in actounting policies and disclosures
New and amended standards and interpretations

The following amendments became effective during the year to
31 December 2021.

+ Amendments to IFRS 9,1AS 39,IFRS 7, [FRS 4 and (FRS 16 ‘Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform Phase 2" {effective 1 January 2021).

« Amendments to IFRS 16 ‘COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyand
30 June 2021 (effective 1 Aprd 2021}

These amendments have a limited impact on the consoclidated financial
statements of the Group.

The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or
amendments that have beenissued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2° (IBOR)

In September 2019, the 1ASE issued the first accounting amendment to
IFRS 9,1AS 39 and IFRS 7 related to the IBOR reform, which addresses the
impact that the current uncertainty could have when applying specific
hedge accounting requirements on appficable hedge refationships. The
first phase of amendments to IFRS 9 provides temporary relief from
applying specific hedge accounting requirements to hedging relationships
directly affected by the IBOR reforms. In accordance with the transition
provisions, the amendments have been adopted retrospectively to hedging
relationships that existed at the start of the current reporting period. The
reliefs have meant that the uncertainty over the IBOR reforms has not
resultedin the discontinuation of hedge accounting for any of the Group’s
fair value hedges.

Phase 2 amendments to IFRS 9 1A% 39, IFRS 7,1FRS 4 and IFRS 16 were
issued by the IASB in August 2020 to provide practical expedients and
reliefs in relation to modifications of financial instruments and leases that
arise from the transition frorn IBORSs to risk-free rates. Phase 2 also
provides further reliefs to hedge accounting requirements. These
amendments weare affective for the Group from 1 January 2021,

The Group is monitoring and managing the transition to alternative
benchmark rates that are linked to existing interest rate benchrmarks
related to borrowings, leases and derivative contracts. The impact of IBOR
reform on the Group is assessed as being limited. The changes only apply
to one hedge relationship associated with managing the fixed rate onthe
US private piacernent expiring in December 2624 {refer to note 25, for
which the Group is exposed to a six-month USD LIBOR that will be available
until June 2023. In 2021, the Group amended and restated the £375m

sunmicatad ravmhinn cradit facilibe o ranlaca amg refarcnes 0 IROR anth

Armendments to IFRS 16 'COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021"

Qn 28 May 2020, the |IASB issued COVID- 19 Relsted Rent Concessions
amendments to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ The amendments provide relief to
lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting
for rent concessicns arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess
whether a COVID-19 related rent concession from alessoris a lease
modification, Alessee that makes this election accaunts for any change in
lease payments resulting from the COVID- 19 related rent concession the
same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change
were not alease modification. The amendment was intended to apply unti!
30 June 2021, but as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is continuing,
on 31 March 2021, the [ASB extended the period of application of the
practical expedient to 30 June 2022, The amendment applies to annual
reporting penods beginning on or after 1 Apri) 2021.

The Group has not received COVID- 19 related rent concessions during the
year, but plans to apply the practical expedient if it becomes applicable
within the alowed period of application.

Summary of significant accounting policies
Foreign currencies

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds
sterling, which is also the parent company’s functicnal currency. For each
entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items includedin
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initislly recorded by the Group's
entities at their respective functional currency spot rates at the date the
transaction first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the
reparting date, Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical costina
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initfal transactions.

Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated into pounds sterling at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
reporting date and their income statements are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange movements
arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in other
comprehensive income (OTI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
comporent of the translation reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is reclassified to profit orloss.

Any goodwill arising onthe acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities ansing
on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and transiated at the average rate.
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The exchange rates used in respect of principal currencies are:

Average rates 2021 2020
US dollar 1.38 1.28
Canadian dollar 1.72 1.72
Euro 1.16 1.12
Singapore dollar 1.85 37
Australian dollar 1.83 1.86
Year endrates 2021 2020
US dollar 1.35 1.37
Canadian dollar 1.711 1.74
Euro 1.19% 1.12
Singapore dollar 1.82 1.81
Australian dollar 1.86 1.78

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group's operations involve the provision of specialist geotechnical
services. The majority of the Group's revenue is derived from construction
contracts. Typically, the Group's construction contracts consist of one
performance obligation; however, for certain contracts (for example where
contracts involve separate phases or products that are not highly
interrelated) multiple performance obligations exist. Where muitiple
perfarmance obligations exist, total revenue is allocated to performance
obligations based on the relative standalone selling prices of each
performance obligation.

For each contract, revenue is the amount that 1s expected to be received
from the customer, Revenue is typically inveiced in stages during the
contracts, however smaller contracts are usually inveiced on completion.
Variable consideration and contract modifications are assessedon a
contract-by-contract basis, according to the terms, facts and
circumstances of the project. Variable consideration is recognised only to
the extent that it is highly probable that there will not be a significant
reversal. The effects of contract modifications are recognised only when
the Group considers there is an enforceable right to consideration. In
certain circurmnstances, uncertainty over whether a project will be
completed or not will mean that it is not appropriate to recognise
contracted revenues.

Revenue attributed to each performance obligation is recognised based on
either the input or the output method. The output method is the Group's
default revenue recognition approach. The input method is generally used
for longer-term, more complex contracts. These methods best reflect the
transfer of benefits to the customer.

+ Output method: revenue is recognised on the direct measurement of
progress based on output, such as units of production relative to the
total number of contracted production units.

+ Input method: revenue 1s recognised on the percentage of completion
with reference to cost. The percentage of completion is calculated
based on the costs incurred to date as a percentage of the total costs

expected to satisfy the performance obligation. Estimates of revenues,

costs or extent of progress towards completion are revised if
circumstances change. Any resulting increases or decreases in
astimated revenues or costs are reflected in the percentage of
completion calculation in the peried in which the circumstances that
give rise to the revision become known.

Financial Statements 135

Where the Group becomes aware that a loss may arise on a contract, and
that loss is probable, full provision is made in the consolidated balance
sheet; based on the estimated unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations of the contract, where these exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect
the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the
cost of fulfilling 1t and any compensation or penalties arising from faiture
to fulfilit.

Incremental bid/tender costs and fulfilment costs are not material to the
overall contract and are expensed as incurred.

Any revenues recognised in excess of billings are recognised as contract
assets within trade and other receivables. Any payrnents received in excess
of revenue recognised are recognised as contract liabilities within trade and
other payables.

Revenue from the sale of goods and services

The Group's revenue recognised from the sale of goods and services
primarily relates to certain parts of the North America business. These
centracts typically have a single performance obligation, or a series of
distinct performance obligations that are substantially the same. There are
typically two types of contract:

+ Delivery of goods: revenue for such contracts s recognised at a pointin
time, on delivery of the goads to the customer.

« Delivery of goods with installation and/or post-delivery services:
revenue for these contracts is recognised at a pointin time by reference
to the date on which the goods are instalied and/or accepted by the
customern

Taxes
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax
rates and tax laws used to cormpute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Currentincome tax relating toitems
recognised directlyin equity 1s recognised in equity and notin the
consolidated income statement.

The Group provides for future habilities in respect of uncertain tax positions
where additional tax may become payable in future periods. Such
provisions are based on management's best judgement of the probabiiity
of the outcome in reaching agreement with the relevant tex authorities. For
further information refer tonote 11.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and their
carrying amaunts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred taxis recognised on temporary differences inline with IAS 12
‘Income Taxes' Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is considered
likely that they will be utillsed against future taxable profits or deferred
tax liabilities.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the asset s realised. Deferred taxis
charged or credited to the income statement, except whenit relates to
iterns charged or credited directly to equity or to OCl, in which case the
related deferred tax s also deaft with in equity or in OCL
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting
date and reduced to the extent thatit is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utllised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become
prabable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable nght to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a

net basis.

Interest income and expense

Allinterest incorne and expense is recognised in the income statement on
an accruals basis, using the effective interest method.

Ermployee henefit costs

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes, and
also makes payments into defined contribution schemes,

The habilty in respect of defined benefit schemes is the present value

of the defined benefit obligations at the balance sheet date, calculated
using the projected unit credit method, less the fair value of the schemes'
assets where applicable. As allowed by IAS 19, the Group recognises the
administration costs, current service cost and interest on scheme net
habilities in the income statement, and remeasurements of defined bengfit
plans in OClin full in the period in which they occur. Any surplus resulting
from this calculation is limited to the present value of any ecenomic
benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions
infuture contributions to the plans. Where there is no legal right to a
refund from the plan, the liability is calculated as the minimum funding
requirement to the plan that exists at the balance sheet date.

The Group alsc has long service arrangements in certain overseas
countries. These are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 'Employee
Benefits' and accounting follows the same principles as for a defined
benefit scheme.

Payrments to defined contribution schemes are accounted for on an
accruals basis.

Government subsidies

In an attempt to mitigate the impact of the COVID-15 pandemic, during
the year some government badies continued to provide direct subsidies to
ald companies. Where the subsidy relates to an expense item, it has been
recognised inthe consolidated income statement as an offset against the
expense for which it is was intended to compensate. [n the prior year the
Group was eligible for deferral of the employer's share of social security
taxes in the United States. NG additional deferrals took place in 2021.
Further detais are set outinnotes 6 and 7

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, Further details are
set out innote 15 for impairments recognised in the vear. Subsequent
expenditure on property, plant and equipment is capitalised when it
enhances ar improves the condition of the itern of property. plant and
equipment beyond its original assessed standard of performance.
Maintenance expenditure s expensed as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less the estimated residual
value of property, plant and equipment using the straight-line method by
reference to their estimated useful lives as foliows:

Buildings S50years
Plant and equipment 3to iZ2years
Mator vehicles 4 years
Computers 3 years

Depreciation is not provided for an freehold land.

An itern of property, plant and equipment s derecognised upon disposal (ie
at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecogmition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset} is includedin the
income statement whan the assetis derecognised.

The residualvalues, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property.
plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted
where appropriate.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contractis, or
contains, a lease. That is, If the contract conveys the right to contrel the use
of anidentified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration

Group aslessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets {less
than £3,000). The Group recognises lease liabilities to make payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of
the lease {ie the date the underlying assetis available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurernent of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets Includes the amount of lease iiabifities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives recgived.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease term and estimated useful lives as follows:

Land and buildings 3to 15years

Plant and equipment, 2to8years

Motar vehicles 3toSyears

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with 1AS 36
'Impairment of Assets’

Lease liabllities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease
lizbilities measured at the prasent value of lease payments to be made over
ihelease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease
Incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend onanindexor a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option

reacnnahlv carfain to be exarcicsed by the Gronn and navmenta of nenalties
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option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend onan
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incrernental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date, if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. The
incrernental borrowing rate applied to each lease is determined by taking
inte account the risk-free rate of the country where the asset under lease is
located, matched to the term of the lease and adjusted for factors such as
the credr risk profile of the lessee. Incremental borrowing rates applied to
individualleases range from 0.9% to 33.0%.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities 1s Increased

to reflect the addition of interest and reduced for the lease payrments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if thereis a
maodification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (eg
changes to future payments resulting from a change in anindex or rate used
to determine such lease payments) or a change inthe assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset. The Group's lease liabilities are
inciuded in interest-bearing loans and borrowings. Refer to note 26 for details.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease reccgnition exemption to its
short-term leases of plant, machinery and vehicles {ie those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are
considered of low asset value {below £3,000). Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisrtion method as
at the acquisition date, which is the date on which controlis transferred to
the Group. Control is the power to governthe financia! and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing
control, the Group takes intc consideration potential voting rights that
currently are exercisable. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at the fair
value at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred and included in administrative expenses. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at therr fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's
share of the identifiable net assets acquired, including assets identified as
intangibles on acquisition, 1s recorded as goodwill.

The results of subsidiaries which have been disposed are included up to the
effective date of disposal.

Goodwill

Goodwill 1s Initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred. After initiat recognition, goodwillis measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually and whenever there s an indication that the goodwili
may be impaired in accordance with |AS 36, any impairment losses are
recognised immediately in the income statement. Goodwill arising pror to
1 January 1998 was taken directly to equity In the year in which it arose.
Such goodwill has not been reinstated on the balance sheet. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, frorm the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
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Where goodwillhas been allocated to a CGU and part of the eperation
within that unitis disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed
operaticn s includedin the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposedin these
circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed
operation and the portion of the CGU retained.

QOther intangible assets

intangible assets, other than goodwill, include purchased licences, software
{including internally generated software), customer relationships, customer
contracts and trade names. Intangible assets are capitalised at cost and
armortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives from the
date that they are available for use and are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation andimpairment losses. The estimated useful economic lives
are as follows:

Licences 1to dyears
Software 3to 7 years
Patents 2to 7 years
Customer relationships 5to 7 years
Customer contracts 1to 2 years
Trade names 5to 7 years

impairment of assets excluding goodwill

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and other intangibles are reviewea for impairmeant when events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may be iImpaired. If any such
indications exists, the recoverable amount, being the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sel, of the assetis estimated in order to
determine the extent of impairment loss.

Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress represents expenditure on property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction. Transfers are made to other
property, plant and equipment categories when the assets are available for
use.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable
value with allowance made for obsolete or slow-moving items.

Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs
and those overheads that have beenincurred in bringing the inventories to
their present iocation and condition.

Write-downs to net realisable value are made for slow-moving. damaged
or obsclete items based on evaluations made at the local level by
reference to frequency of stock turnover or specific factors affecting
the items concerned.

Assets held for sale

Assets are classified as held for sale If their carrying amount will be
recovered by sale rather than by continuing use in the business. Assets held
for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell, with reference to comparable market transactions.,
Assets that are classified as held for sale are not depreciated.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habilities are recognised in the Group's
balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument, The principal financial assets and liabilites
of the Group are as follows:

{a) Trade receivables and trade payables

Trade receivables are initially recorded at fair value and subseguently
measured at cost and reduced by allowances for estimated irrecoverable
amounts.

Trade receivables and contract assets are stated net of expected
credit losses {ECLs). The initial ECLs are recognised on recognition of a
receivable. This provision is made for each category of receivabies with
similar risks, based on historical experience and adjusted for the effects
of expected or actual changes in customer nisk, economic risk and
performance expected inthe next 12 months. For the lifetime ECL the
Group uses a provision matrix.

Trade payables that are not interest bearing, are initially recognised at fair
value and carried at amortised cost.

{b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at barnk and
on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cashand
cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an
integral part of the Group's cash management. Bank overdrafts are
included within financial liabilites in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

{c) Bank and other borrowings

Interest-bearing bank and cther borrowings are recorded at the fair value
of the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Subseguent to initial
recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost, where applicable.

Bank or other borrowings are derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged, cancelied or expires. When an existing financial liability
is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or maodification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liabifity and the recagnition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated income statement,

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reporied in the consolidated balance sheet if therg Is a currently
enfarceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and thereis an
intention to settle on a net basis, ie to reaiise the assets and settfe the
liabilities simultaneously.

(d) Derivative financialinstruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate
nisk and to hedge fluctuations in foreign currencies in accordance with its
risk management policy. In cases where these derivative instruments are
significant, hedge accounting is applied as described below. The Group
does not use derivative financial Instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivatives are mitially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value on the
date the dervative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at reporting periods to their fair values. Derivatives are carried
as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities

Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income (OCl). Changes in the fair value of the ineffective
portion of cash flow hedges are recognised in the income staterment.
Amounts originally recognised in OC| are transferred to the income
staterment when the underlying transaction gceurs or If the transaction
resultsin a non-financial asset or liability.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement as
they arise.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or
is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging
instrument recognised in OCH is retained in equity until the hedged
transaction occurs, If a hedged transaction is nolonger expected to occur,
the net curmulative gain or loss recognised in OClis transferred to the
incomea staterment in the period.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

« {Cash flow hedges when hedging the expasure or variability in cash flows
that s either attributable to a particular nsk asscciated with a recognised
asset or lability or a highly probable transaction.

Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value
of a recognised asset or liability.

» Hedges of a net investment in a fareign operation

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and
documents the hedge relationship to which it wishes to apply hedge
accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the
hedging instrurnent, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged
and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the
hedge effectiveness requiremnents {including the analysis of sources of
hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined). Ahedging
relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following
effectiveress requirements:

N

There is 'an economic relationship’ between the hedgeditern and the
hedging instrument.

+ The effact of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that
result from that economic relationship.

s The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship s the same as that resulting
from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges
and the quantity of the hedging instrurnent that the Group actually uses
to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Provisions

Provisions have heen made for emnployes -related habilities, restructuring
commitments. onerous contracts, insured liabilities and legal claims and
other property-related commitments. These are recognised as
management’s best estimate of the expenditure requirec to settle the
Group's liability at the reporting date.
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A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a
present legal or constructive cbligation as aresult of a past event and
where it is probable that an cutflow will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount of the obligation can be estirmated reliably. If the effectis
materiai, expected future cash flows are discounted using a current pre-tax
rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to unwinding the
discount 1s recegnised as a finance cost. Detalls of provisions are set outin
note 23.

Provisions forinsured liabilities and legal claims include the full estimated
value of the liability. Any related insurance reimbursement asset that is
virtually certain to be received is separately presented gross within trade
and other receivables or other non-current assets on the consolidated
balance sheet.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations of the Group of which the
timing and amount are subject to significant uncertainty. Contingent
liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated balance sheet, unless they
are assumed by the Group as part of a business combination. They are
however disclosed, unless they are considered to be remote. If 3
contingent liability becomes probable and the amount can be refiably
measured it is no longer treated as contingent and recognised as a liability
on the balance sheet.

Contingent assets

Contingent assets are possible assets of the Group of which the timing
and amount are subject to significant uncertainty. Contingent assets are
not recognised Inthe consolidated balance sheet. They are however
disclosed, when they are considered to be probable. A contingent asset
is recognised in the financial statements when the inflow of economic
benefits is virtually certain.

Financial guarantees

Where Group companies enter into financial guarantee contracts to
guarantee the indebtedness or obligations of other companies within
the Group, these are considered to be insurance arrangements, and are
accounted for as such. In this respect, the guarantee contract is treated
as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the
guarantor will be required to make a payment under the quarantee.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled executive and employee
share plans. For all grants of share options and awards, the fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of share optionsis
recognised as an expense, calculated using appropriate option pricing
maodels. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting periodis
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions, with a corresponding
incraase inretained earnings. The charge is adjusted to reflect expected
actual fevels of options vesting due to non-market conditions.

Shares purchased and held in trust in connection with the Group's
share schemes are deducted from retained earnings. No gain or loss is
recognised within the income statement on the market value of these
shares compared with the original cost.

Financial Statements 138

Segmental reporting

During the year the Group comprised three geographical divisions which
have only one major product or service: specialist geotechnical services.
North America; Europe; and Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa continue to
be managed as separate geographical divisions. This is reflected in the
Group's management structure and in the segment information reviewed by
the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The geographical divisions were revised
with effect from 1 January 202 1; the Middle East and Africa (MEA) business
was combined with the Asia-Pacific Division, creating the Asia-Pacific, Middle
East and Africa Division, and the remaining Europe, Middle East and Africa
Division became the Europe Division. The comparative information has been
amended toreflect consistent basis of preparation.

Dividends

Interim dividends are recorded in the Group's consolidated financiat
statements when paid. Final dwvidends are recorded in the Group's
consolidated financial statements in the period in which they receive
shareholder approval.

Non-underlying items

Non-underlying items are disclosed separately in the financial statements
where it is necessary to do so to provide further understanding of the
financial performance of the Group. They are items which are exceptional
by their size and/or are non-trading In nature, including amortisation of
acquired intangibles, restructuring costs and other non-trading armounts,
including those relating to acquisitions and disposals. Tax arising on these
items, including movement in deferred tax assets arising from non-
underlying provisions, is also classified as a non-underlying tem.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Group's consclidated financial staternents in
conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies, reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and the accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabllities. The estimates are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circurmnstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other scurces. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future
pericds. Actual results may also differ from these estimates.

The estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that and prior pericds, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.
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The key assumptions congerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a sigmificant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the
consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances
and assurmptions about future developments, however, may change due
to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control
of the Group. Such changes are reflected In the assumptions when

they oceur.

Construction contracts

The Group's approach to key estimates and judgements relating to
construciion contracts s set out in the revenue recognition policy, In the
Group cansolidated balance sheet this impacts contract agsets, contract
liabilities and contract provisions [refer to notes 4 and 23). As described in
the policy the default revenue recognition approach is the output methaod.
When revenue is recognised based on the output methoed there is little
judgement involved in accounting for construction contracts as the
amount of revenue that has not been certified/accepted by the client is
typically smafl and is usually based on volumes achieved at agreed rates.
These contracts can still be subject to claims and variations resulting in an
adjustment to the revenue recognised.

When revenue is recogrised based on the input {cost) method, the main
factors considered when making estimates and judgements include the
cost of the work required to complete the contract in order to estimate the
percentage completion, and the cutcome of claims raised against the
Group by customers or third parties. The Group performed arcund 6,000
contracts during 2021, at an average revenue of appraximately £375.000
and a typical range of between £25,000 and £10min value. The majority of
contracts were completed in the year and therefore there are no estimates
involved in accounting for these. For contracts that are not complete at
year end, the Group estimates the total costs to complete in order to
measure progress and therefore how much revenue to recognise, which
may impact the contract asset or liability recorded in the balance sheet.
The actual fotal costs incurred on these contracts will differ frorn the
estimate at 31 December and it is reasonably possible that outcomes on
these contracts within the next year could be materially different in
aggregate to those estimated. However, due to the level of uncertainty and
timing across alarge portfolio of contracts, which will be at differenit stages
of therr contract life, it 1s not practical to provide a quantitative analysis of
the aggregated judgements that are apphed at a portfoiio level. The
estimated costs to complete are management's best estimate at this point
in time and no individual estimate or judgement is expected to have a
materially different outcome.

Inthe case of loss-making contracts, a full provisionis made based onthe
estimated Unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations of the contract,
where these exceed the economic benefits expected to be receved. The
process for estimating the tota! cost to complete is the same as for in
progress profitable contracts, and will include management’s best estimate
of all labour, equipment and rmaterials costs required to complete the
contracted wark. All cost to complete estimates involve judgement over
the likely future cost of labour, equipment and materials and the impact of
inflation s included if material.

As stated in the revenue recognition accounting policy, variable
cansideration is assessed on a contract-by-contract basis, according 1o
the terms, facts and circumstances of the project. Variable consideration is
recognised only to the extent that it is highly probable that there will not be
a significant reversal; ranagement judgement is required in order to
determine when variable consideration is highly probable. Uncertainty over
whether a project will be completed or not can mean that it is appropriate
to treat the contracted revenue as variable consideration.

Carrying value of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has sutfered any Impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy set cut above. Imipairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset ar cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposai and its value-in-use. The fair value less costs of disposal
calculation is based on available market data for transactions conducted

at arm's length, for similar assets or observable market prices less
Incremental costs of disposing of the asset. The Group estimates the
recoverable armount based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use
calculation is based on a discounted cash fow (DCF model. The cash flows
are derived from the relevant budget and forecasts for the next three years.
including a terminal value assumption. The recoverable amount is sensitive
10 the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future
cash inflows, growth rates and maintainable earnings assumed withinthe
caleulation. Refer to note 14 for further information.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and other timing
differences to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profiis will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement s required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future
taxable profits (based on the sarme Board-approved information to support
the going cancern and goodwill Impairment assessments). The Group uses
Judgement in assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, for which
the significant assumption is forecast taxable profits. Refer to note 11 for
further information.

Insurance and legal provisions

The recognition of provisions for nsurance and legal disputes is subject to
a significant degree of estimation. In making its estimates, management
seek specialistinput from lega! advisers and the Group’s insurance claims
handler to estimate the most likely legai outcome, Pravisions are reviewed
regularly and amounts updated where necessary to reflect developments
in the disputes. The ultimate liability may differ from the amount provided
depending on the outcome of court proceedings and settlement
negotiations or if investigations bring to light new facts. Refer to note 23
for further information.
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During the year the Group was managed as three geographical divisions and has only one major product or service: specialist geotechnical services.

Thisis reflectedin the Group's management structure and in the segment information reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker.

2021 2020
Revenue Qperating profit Revernie Operating profit
£m £m £m Em
North America 1,323.1 73.0 12275 83.2
Europe 549.2 24.3 5385 18.4
Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa 352.1 3.4 296.5 15.5
2,224.4 100.7 2,062.5 1171
Centraliterns - {7.9) - (7.0
Underlying 2,224,4 82.8 2,062.5 1101
Non-underlying items (note 8) - {12.3} - {33.1)
2,224.4 80.5 2,062.5 77.0
2021
Depreciation® Tangible and*
Segment Segment Capital Capital and intangible
assets Nabilities amployed additions amortisation assets
£m £m €m £m €m £m
North America 827.0 (349.5) 477.1 36.4 46.1 3324.7
Europe 273.9 {184.7) 89.2 23.8 25.0 133.7
Asla-Pacific, Middle Fast and Africa 218.0 {99.9}) 118.1 24.2 19.5 103.5
1,318.9 {634.5) 684.4 84.4 90.6 581.9
Centralitems? 130.6 {372.3} {241.7) - 0.6 3.0
1,449.5 {1,006.8} 442.7 84.4 91.2 584.9
202008
Depreciation’ Tangible and*
Segment Segment Ceapital Capital and intangible
assets habulities employed additions amortisation assets
£m £m £m £m £m £rn
North America 690.2 (228.2) 462.0 26.9 ar.7 304.0
Eurcpe 2755 (197.8) 7 24.% 259 147.3
Asia-Pacific, Middle Fast and Africa 224.6 {98.7) 1259 21.5 207 101.8
1,190.3 (524.7) 665.6 73.0 54.3 553.1
Centralitems? 77.5 (333.1} (255.6) - 0.6 0.6
1,267.8 (857.8) 410.0 73.0 94.3 553.7

1 From 1 Jaruary 2021 the Middle East and Africa {MEA) business was transferred to the Asia-Pacific Dmvision, creating the Asia-Pacfic, Middle East and Africa Diwision, and the remaining Europe, Middle
East and Africa Division became the Europe Division. The 2020 cormparative segmental nformation has been updated to reflect this change as it is consistent with the information reviewed by the Chief

Cperating Decision Maker

[ I )

Centraliterns include net debt and tax balances, which are managed by the Group

Depreciation and amortisation excludes amortisation of acquired intangile assets

Tangible and ntangible assets comprise goadwill. Intangible assets and property. plant and equipment.

provisions with a separate reimbursement asset recognised for amounts recoverable from insurance prowders, as outlined in note 2 to the financial staterments.

Segment assets and labilines presentad here do not correspond to the published 2020 consclidated financial staternents, The comparative balance sheet has been restated to present gross insurance
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3 Segmental analysis continued

Revenue analysed by country:

2021 2020
£m £m
United States 1,197.6 1,112.06
Austrafia 202.4 158.9
Germany 110.0 116.9
Canada 125.1 113.3
United Kingdom 106.4 59.1
Other 488.9 502.3
2,224.4 2.062.5

4 Revenue

The Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with custorners. Inthe following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary geographical market, being the

Group's operating segments [see note 3} and timing of revenue recognition:

Year ended 31 December 2021

Year ended 31 December 2020

fRevenue Revenue Revenue Revenue

recognised on v ised on recogrisedon recognised on

performance performance performance performance

obligations obligations obligatigns obhgations
satisfied over tatisfiedata Total satisfied over satisfiedata Totai
time point intime revenue time pointin time revenue
£m £m £m Em Em £m
North America 1,005.0 31a.1 1,323.1 944.0 2835 1,2275
Eurone 549.2 - 549.2 5385 - 538.5
Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa 352.1 - 352.1 296.5 - 296.5
1,906.3 318.1 Z,224.4 1,779.0 283.5 2.062.5

The final contract value will not always have been agreed at the year end. The contract value, and tharefore revenue allccated to a performance obligation,
may change subsequent to the year end as variations and claims are agreed with the customer. The amount of revenue recognised in 2021 from

performance obligations satisfied in previous periods is £28.0m (2020: £21.5m).

The Group's arder book comprises the unexecuted elements of orders on contracts that have been awarded. Where a contract1s subiect to variations,
only secured variations are included in the reported order book. As at 31 December 202 1. the total order bookis £1,296.7m (2020 £1,000.2m).

The arder book for contracts with a total duration over one yearis £402.0m (2020: £295.8m). Revenue on these contracts is expected to be recognised

as follows:

2021 2020
£m €m

Less than one year 279.7 185.0
Oneto two years 103.7 99.8
More than two years 18.6 110
402.0 29583

The following table provides information about trade receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities arising from contracts with customers:

2021 2020

£m £m

Trade receivables 448.8 383.2
Contract assets 107.6 713
Contract liabilities {46.5) (43.5)

Trade receivables include invoiced amounts for retentions, which are balances typicaily payabfe at the end of a construction project, when all contractual
performance abligations have been met, and are therefore received over a langer period of time. Included in the trade recelvables balance is £€85.9m

LT T O e S o e e Do B o S LAt I N TR B Vot T N N We RO
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Significant changes in the contract assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
Contract assets Contractliabilities Contractassets  Contractlabilbes
£m £m Ern Em
Asat 1 January 71.3 {43.9}) 1021 142.0)
Revenue recognised inthe current year 654.2 516.0 5371 619.2
Acquired with businesses 2.0 (0.3} - -
Disposal of businesses - - (2.4} 0.5
Amounts transferred to trade recevables {619.5) - {624.3} -
Cash received/invoices raised for perfoermance obligations not yet satisfied - (518.3} - (623.1)
Exchange movements (0.4} - (1.2} 1.5
As at 31 December 107.6 (46.5}) 71.3 (43.9)

5 Acquisitions and disposals
Acquisitions

On 13 Juiy 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of RECON Services Inc., a geotechnical environmental remediation and industrial
services company based in Texas, US, for aninitial cash consideration of £20.2m (US$27.8m). Following the finalisation of the acquired working capital, an
adjustment of £0.1m (US$0.2m) was agreed with the vendor, reducing the consideration paid. In addition, contingent consideration is payable in respect of
certain contract awards; the total fair value of the contingent consideration is £9.5m (US$13.1m) of which £1.5m has been paid and £8.0m s recognised as
contingent consideration payable at year end. This amount has been agreed n principle with the vendor (refer to note 34). The fair value of the intangble
assets acquired represents the fair value of customer contracts at the date of acquisition, customer relationships and the trade name. Goodwil arising on
acquisition is attributable to the knowledge and expertise of the assembled workforce, the expectation of future contracts and customer relationships and
the operating synergies that arise from the Group's strengthened market position. None of the goodwillis expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
Acguisition costs of £0.2m were expensed to the income statement as a non-underlying item.

(On 29 September 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Subterranean (Manitoba) Ltd., a geotechnical contractor in Canada. for an initial cash
consideration of £7.8m (CAD$13.4m}. Following the finalisation of the acquisition, a working capital true-up of £0.2m (CADS$0.3m} 1s receivable, resulting
in a net consideration of £7.6m (CAD$13. 1m). Goodwill arising on acquisition is attributable the expectation of future contracts and customer
refationships and the operating synergies that arise from the Group's strengthened market position. The goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes. Acguisition costs of £0.3m were expensed to the income statement as a non-underlying item.

Cn 1 November 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Voges Drilling, a gectechnical foundation company based in Texas, US, for an initial cash
consideration of £1.4m (US$2.0m) and a further £0.8m (US$1.0m) of deferred consideration to be paid over a three-year period.

For the Subterranean acquisition, £2.2m was provided for against contractual trade receivables acquired of £4.1m, resulting in a fair value of £1.9m. For
RECON and Voges, the fair value of the total trade receivables is not materially different from the gross contractual amounts receivable and is expected to

be recovered in full.

In the period to 31 December 2021, in total, acquisitions contributed £46.2m to revenue and a underlying profit before tax of £1.4m. as broken down below:

Underlying profit/
Revenue (losstbefore tax

€m £m
RECON 42.8 1.5
Subterranean 33 (0.2)
Voges 0.1 0.1

46.2 1.4
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5 Acquisitions and disposals continued

Had the acquisitions taken place on 1 January 2021, total Group revenue would have been £2,270.2m and underlying profit before tax for the period would
have been £82.5m, as broken down below:

Underlying profit/

Revenue {loss) before tax

€m £m

Group balance for the vear to 31 December 2021 2,224.4 83.9
RECON 28.9 2.4}
Subterranean 16.3 1.0
Voges 0.6 -
2,270.2 82.5

Adjustments made in respect of the acquisitions in the period to 31 December 2021 for intangible asset valuations, trade and other receivables and
contingent consideration are provisional pending completion of the valuation exercise and agreement of any contingent consideration and will be finalised
within 12 months of the acquisition date.

RECON Subterranean and Voges Total
Fair value Farvalue
Carrying amount adjustment Fair value Carrying amount adjustment Fair value Fair value
£m £m €m Erm £m £m £m
Assets
Intangible assets - 188 18.9 0.3 0.1 0.4 19.3
Property, plant and equipment 4.3 0.4 4.7 79 (1.8) 6.1 10.8
Othernon-current assets 0.1 - 0.1 - - - 0.1
Inventories - - - 1.4 (1.4} - -
Trade and other recewables 205 ©on 20.4 4.9 2.2 2.7 23.1
Currenttax assets 1.4 - 1.4 - - - 1.4
Cash and cash eguivalents 0.9 - 0.9 - - - 0.9
27.2 12.2 46.4 14.5 (5.3} 9.2 55.6
Liabilities
L ease liabilities {1.4) - {1.4) - - - f1.4)
Trade and other payables (11.0) 0.2) (11.2) (1.3) - (1.3) (12.5)
Current tax liabilities (1.1) - {1.1) - - - {1.1)
Deferred tax liabilities - (5.1} {5.1} - - - 5.1)
Provisions 0.1 1.3 {1.4) - - - (1.4}
Other non-current labilities (0.3} - [0.3) - - - (0.3)
(13.9) 6.6} 20.5} 1.3) - 1.3) {21.8)
Totalidentifiable net assets 13.3 126 25.9 13.2 (5.3) 7.9 33.8
Goodwill 3.7 1.9 5.6
Total consideration 29.6 9.8 39.4
Satisfied by:
Initial cash consideration 20.2 9.2 25.4
Contingent consideration 9.5 -~ 9.5
Deferred consideraticn - 0.8 0.8
Purchase price adjustrment {0.1} {0.2) (0.3)
29.6 9.8 39.4
Acquisition of businesses per
the cash flow statement:
Initial cash consideration 20.2 9.2 29.4
Contingent consideration paid 1.5 - 1.5
Purchase price adjustment received (0.1} - (0.1}
Less cash acquired {0.9) - {0.9)

N7 a2 sa a
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On 28 June 2021, the Group dispased of its Cyntech Anchors operation in Canada, being 100% of the issued share capital of Keller Cyntech U.S. and
Cyntech Anchers Ltd,, for a total consideration of £6.0m (CAD$10.2m), consisting of the sale price of £3.1m (CAD$5.3m} and further sale price

adjustments inrelation to working capital of £2.9m (CAD$4.9m).

Cyntech Anchors

£m

Proceeds 3.1
Sale price adjustments 2.9
Net disposal proceeds 6.0
Net assets disposed (see below) (6.6)
Currency translation gains transferred fromtranslation reserve 0.4
MNon-underlying loss on disposal {0.2)
Cyntech Anchors

£m

Property, plant and eguipment 1.4
Inventories 3.9
Trade and other receivables 13.1
Trade and other payables {10.7}
Other net liabilities {1.3}
Net assetsdisposed 6.6

The results for the period are presented below. The 2021 results represent activity prior to the sale.
Cyntech Anchcrs

2021 2020

£m £m

Revenue 111 19.1
Operating costs {10.0} (18.6)
1.1 0.5

On 8 January 2021, the Group disposed of its Cclcrete business, being 100% of the 1ssued share capital of Keller Colcrete Limited, for acash
consideration of £¢.4m. Property, plant and equipment of £0.2m and inventories of £0.2mwere disposed of. These assets were classified as held for sale
at 31 December 2020. During the prior year aloss of £0.4m was recognised, relating to the write-down of Colcrete assets and restructuring costs
associated with the exit.

Prior year disposals

On 6 April 2020, the Group disposed of its Brazil operation, being 100% of the issued share capital of Keller Tecnogec Fundacoes Ltda., for a cash
consideration of £0.5m (BRL3.0m)}. Additional consideration of £0.9m (BRL6.5m) was received in September 2020, resulting in a loss of disposal of £9.2m
at 31 December 2020. During 2021 there was a true-up to the sale price of £0.3m, increasing the non-underlying loss on disposal to £9.5m.

On 11 September 2020, the Group disposed of Wannenwetsch GmbH, a non-core business in Germany. for a cash consideration of £2.4m {EURZ.6m).
The loss on disposal at 31 December 2020 was £0.9m. During the current year contingent consideration of £0.7m was received in accordance with the
terms of the sale and purchase agreement, reducing the non-underlying loss on disposal to £0.2m.

Disposal of businesses per the cash flow statement:

£m
Cyntech Anchors net proceeds 6.0
Colcrete proceeds 0.4
Wannenwetsch contingent consideration 0.7

7.1
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6 Operating costs
2021 2020
Note €m 3
Raw materials and consumables 711.8 597.7
Staff costs 7 580.7 572.4
Other operating charges 593.5 549.8
Amortisation ofintangible assets 14 0.6 6.6
Expenses relating to short-termleases and leases of low-value assets 154.8 138.4
Depreciation
Owned property, plant and equipment 15a 64,1 56.3
Right-of-use assets 15b 26.5 28.0
Underlying operating costs 2,132.0 1,953.2
Non-underlying iterms 8 9.6 29.6
Statutory operating costs 2,141.6 1.982.8
COther operating ¢hargesinclude:
Redundancy and other reorganisation costs - 0.2
Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of the company's Annual Report and Accounts 1.1 09
Fees payable to the company s auditor for other services:
The audit of the company’s subsidiaries. pursuant to legislation 1.9 1.7
Other assurance services 0.1 0.1

During the year, the Group received £2.4m (2020: £5.6m) of direct subsidies with respect to COVID-19 related aid measures introduced by government
bodies in varicus countries. These subsidies are recognised as an offset aganst the expense item which they are intended to compensate. Ouring the year,
the amount received in 2020 in relation to the UK furlough scheme was repaid, this cost was provided for within operating costs at 31 December 2020.

7 Employees
The aggreqgate staff costs of the Group were.

2021 2020
€m £m

Wages and salares 505.6 1981
Soclal security costs 57.5 59.7
Other pension costs 13.7 12.2
Share-based payments 3.9 2.4
580.7 572.4

These costs include Directors' remuneration. Fees payable to Non-executive Directors totalled £0.5m {2020- £0.5m).

In the United States, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Econormic Security Act allowed employers to defer the payrment of the employer's share of social
security taxes otherwise required to be paid between 27 March and 31 Decermnber 2020. The payment of the deferred taxes is required In two instalments;
the first half was paid on 3 January 2022 and the remainder is due by January 2023. At 31 December 2021, the arnount deferred is £4.7m.

The average number of staff. including Directors, employed by the Group during the year was

2021 20200

Number Number

North America 4,722 4,305
Europe 2,922 3,034
Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa 2,080 1,970
9,724 G,309

1 From 1 January 2021 the Middle East and Africa IMEA) business wes transferred to the Asia-Pacific Division, creating the Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa Division, and the remaining Europe.

Middle East and Africa Dnesion betame the Eurape Divisian. The 2020 comparative mfarmatan has peen updated o reflect this change
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8 Non-underlying items

Non-underlying items include items which are exceptional by their size and/or are non-trading in nature, including amortisation of acquired intangibles,
restructuring costs and other non-trading amounts, including those relating to acquisitions and disposals. Tax arising on these items, including moverment
in deferred tax assets arising from non-underlying provisions, is also classified as a non-underlying item. These are detailed below:

2021 2020
€m £m
Exceptional restructuring casts 7.3 16.6
Less ondisposal of operations 0.5 11.6
Acguisition costs 0.5 0.3
Contingent consideration: additional amounts provided 1.3 0.8
Goodwillimpairment - 03
Non-underlying items in operating costs 9.6 29.6
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 2.8 4.2
Contingent consideration recelved (0.7} -
Exceptional contract dispute - 0.7}
Non-underlying items in other operating income (0.7} (0.7}
Amortisation of joint venture acquired intangibles 0.6 -
Total non-underlying items in operating profit 12.3 331
Non-underlying finance costs - -
Total non=-underlying items before taxation 12.3 331
Taxation (10.6} (5.6)
Total non-underlying items after taxation 1.7 27.5

Non-underlying items in operating costs
Year ended 31 Decemnber 2021

Exceptional restructuring costs for the year of £7.3m comprised £4.4min Europe, £2.5m in Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa, £1.6m of centralitems and
acreditof £1.2min North America.

In Europe, these costs arose as a continuation of the strategic project to rationalise the Europe Division. The restructuring costs during the period
comprised redundancy costs, property costs, asset impairments and costs of market exit which include project termination costs. In Asia-Paafic, Middle
East and Africa these costs arose as part of the project to rationalise the Middle East and Africa business. The restructuring costs during the period
comprised mainly asset impairments and redundancy costs. Centrally, restructunng costs were incurred in KGS, the in-house equipment manufacturer, as
a result of a restructuring plan for this business. These costs comprised redundancy costs and assetimpairments. In North America the credit arose from
the reduction in restructuring costs provided for in 2020 as costs incurred were lower than originally anticipated.

The Cyntech Anchers operation in Canada was disposed of on 28 June 2021, resulting in & net loss on disposal of £0.2m. During 2021 there was a true-up
of the sale price of the Brazil disposal reflected in 2020, resulting in an additional loss of £0.3min the year. This increased the total non-underlying loss on
disposal for this transaction to £9.5m.

Acquisition costs of £0.5m in the year comprised professional fees relating to the RECON and Subterranean acquisitions.

Additional contingent consideration payable of £1.3mrelates to the acquisition of the Geo Construction Group {Bencor) in 2015, following finelisation of
iterns referenced in the sale and purchase agreement.

Additional contingant consideration of £0.7m was received on the achievernent of performance targets in relation to the Wannenwetsch disposal in 2020,
reducing the total loss on disposal to £0.2m.
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8 Non-underlying items continued
Year ended 31 December 2020

In 2020, restructuring costs of £16.6rm comprised £5.5min North America, as a result of exiting the Prairies region in Canada and a specific market
ratiohalisation exercise in the US, £11.0m in Eurgpe, Middle East and Africa (now Europe) was incurred as aresult of the strategic project to rationalise the
division and a net charge of £0.1min Asia-Pacific inow Asia-Pacific, Middle Fast and Africa) related to the cessation of the Waterway operation, offset by a
restructuring provision release In ASEAN In relation to the activities started in the second half of 2018.

In 2020, a net loss on disposal of £11.6m was recognised during the year; comprising a loss of £3.2m on the disposal of the Group's Brazil operation, a
£1.5mloss inrelation to the Calcrete Eurodrill business, a UK machinery manufacturer (which comprised £1.1mloss on sale of the Furodrill 2ssets and
£0.4m provisions in relation to the sale of the Colcrete business which completedin 2021), and a £0.9m loss on the disposal of Wannenwetsch GmbH, a
non-core business in Germany.

in 2020, acquisition costs of £0.3m related to professional fees associated with the wind-up of an employee share ownership plan at Moretrench, following
acquisition in March 2018

In 2020, the contingent consideration paysble of £0.8m related to the acquisition of the Gec Instruments US businessin 2017, The goodwill impairment of
£0.3mrelated to the Genco business in Egypt.

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets

Amertisation of acquired intangible assets primarily relates to the Moretrench and RECCON acquisitions. The prior year charge also includes amounts
related to the Austral acquisition.

Non-underlying items in other operating income

The proceeds of £0.7min the previous year were receved on final settlement of a contributory claim relating to an exceptional contract dispute.

Amortisation of joint venture acquired intangibles

Amortisation of joint venture intangibles relates to the acquisition of NordPile by the Group's joint venture interest KFS Finland Oy during the year. Refer to
note 16 for further details.

Non-underlying taxation

Refer to note 11 for details of the non-underlying tax items.

9 Finance income

2021 2020
£m £m
Bank and other interest receivable 0.2 03
Other finance income 0.2 0.8
Q.4 1.1

10Finance costs
2021 2020
£m £m
interest payable on bankloans and overdrafts 3.1 49
Interest payable on other loans 1.3 2.4
Interest onlease liabilities 31 38
Net pension interest cost 0.2 03
Otherinterest costs 1.0 1.6
Totalinterest costs 8.7 130
Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in discount rates on provisions 0.6 13

Total finance costs 9.3 14.3
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11 Taxation
2021 2020
£m Em
Current tax expense:
Current year 14.0 24.3
Pricr years {3.0) (¢.8)
Total current tax 11.0 235
Deferred tax expense:
Current year {1.7) (1.2
Prior years 0.2 0.4
Total deferred tax {1.5) (0.8)
9.5 22.7

UK corporation taxis calculated at 19% (2020: 15%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The effective taxrate canbe reconciled to the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2020 19%) as follows:

2021 2020
Non- Non-
underlying underlying
items items
Underlylng {note 8} Statutory Underlying note 8} Statutory
€m £m £m £m £m £m
Profit/{loss) before tax 83.9 (12.3} 71.6 96.9 {33.1) 63.8
UK corporation tax charge/(credit) at 19% {2020: 19%) 15.9 (2.3} 13.6 18.4 (6.3) 121
Tax charged at rates other than 19% (2020: 15%! 5.5 (0.5} 5.0 56 (0.8) 4.8
Tax losses and other deductible temporary differences not recognised 3.3 1.2 4.5 6.5 1.6 81
Utilisation of tax losses and other deductible temporary differences
previously unrecognised {1.4} (9.1} (10.5) 1.9 (1.3 (3.2)
Permanent differences {0.5) 0.1 {0.4) 0.2) 2.3 21
Adjustments to tax charge inrespect of previous periods (2.8} - {2.8) 0.2 (0.6} 0.4)
Other 0.1 - 0.1 {0.3) (0.5) (0.8)
Tax charge/(credit) 20.1 {10.6} 9.5 28.3 (5.6} 227
Effective tax rate 24.0% 86.2% 13.3% 22.2% 16.9% 35.6%

The tax credit of £10.6m onnon-underlying losses includes £1.5m as the tax benefit of amounts which are expected to be deductible for tax purposes
and £9.1m from the partial reduction in the valuation allowance made against deferred tax assets in Canada and Australia at 31 Decermnber 2020. As the
original valuation allowance was booked through the non-underlying tax charge the credit from the re-recognition of the deferred tax assets has also been
treated as a non-underlyingitem. The 2020 tax credit of £5.6m on non-underlying items includes a partial re-recognition of Australian deferred tax assets
of £1.9m as aresult of the improved performance of the Australian business, and the benefit of a net tax credit on other non-underlying charges which are
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The Group s subject to taxation in over 40 countries warldwide and the risk of changes in tax legislation and interpretation from tax authorities in the
junsdictions in which it operates. The assessment of uncertain positions is subjective and subject to managerment's best judgement of the probablity of
the outcome inreaching agreement with the relevant tax authorities. Where Lax positions are uncertain, provision is made where necessary based on
interpretation of legislation, management experience and appropriate professional advice. Management do not expect the cutcome of these estimates
to be materially different from the position taken.

The Group is monitonng developments in the OQECD's Pillar 2 proposals to agree rminimum effective tax rates across jurisdictions participating in the
OECD programme. Altheugh the Group's activities are mainly in territories which will be unaffected by the Pillar 2 proposals it is possible that additional tax
will be charged in the future in countries where corporate tax rates are increased. Any changes are not expected to be introduced before 2024.

Under draft proposals intreduced to the US Congress in 202 1, the Group would potentially be subject to adverse changes inrespect of measures intended
to limit the tax deductibility of intra-group financing costs. The proposed measures were unable to secure passage through Congressin 2021 and the
Group is awaiting developments to see if the measures, and whether they are in original or revised form, are reintroducedin 2022. At present thereis
insufficient evidence to assess the probable financial impact on the Group's future tax position.
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11 Taxation continued

The Group has previously disclosed that it has been subject to enquiries from the UK tax authorities in relation to the recovery of tax benefits under EU
State Aid provisions. The Group has now received notification frorm HMRC that their enquines have been resolved and the original filing posihion has been
accepted, Accordingly, the contingent liability of £4m previously disclosed has been extinguished.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and the movements during the current and pricr reporting periods:

Cther
Accelerated Retirement employee- Cther?
Unused tax capital benefit related tempaorary
losses allowances obhgaticns habilities Bad debts differences Total
£m £m £m £m £rmn £m £m
At 1 January 2020 (14.8) 35.8 {2.6) (59} 4.7} 4.8 12.8
Charge/(credit) to the income statement 4.1 (0.8) 0.1 (0.8) (1.9) (1.5 (0.8)
Credit to other comprehensive income - - 0.4) - - - {0.4)
Exchange movements {0.2) {0.8) (oY} 0.2 0.3 - (0.4)
Other realiocations/transfers (0.2) - {1.0) - 0.1 0.9 {0.2)
At 31 Decermnber 2020 and 1 January 2021 110.9) 34.4 4.0 (6.5} 6.2) 4.2 11.0
{Credit)/charge to the income staterment (6.4} 3.2 0.7) 0.3 (2.4) 4.5 {1.5)
Charge to other comprehensive income - - 0.2 - -~ - 0.2
Acquisition and disposal of businesses - 0.3 — — -~ 4.7 5.0
Exchange movements 01 0.3 02 (01} (0.1 0.2 0.6
Otherreallocations/transfers - - 01 - ~ 0.2 0.3
At 31 December 2021 (17.2) 38.2 {4.2) (6.3} 8.7} 13.8 15.6

1 Othertemporary differences are mainly in respect of intangible assets,

Deferred tax assets mclude amounts of £13.0m (2020: £10.4m} where recovery is based on forecasts of future taxable profits that are expected to be
available to offset the reversal of the associated temporary differences. The deferred tax assets arise predominantly in Canada {£6.7m]), Australia
{£4.2m) and UK {£1.6m}. The amount of profits in each territory which are necessary to be realised over the forecast period to support these assets
are £25m, £14m and £8m respectively. Canadian tax rules currently allow tax losses to be carried forward up to 20 years. UK and Australia allow losses
to be carned forward indefinitely. The recovery of deferred tax assets has been assessed by reviewing the fikely tming and leve! of future taxable
profits. The period assessed for recovery of assets is appropriate for each territory having regard to the specific facts and circumstances and the
probability of achieving forecast profitability. A 10% shortfall in expected profits would have a proportional impact on the value of the deferred tax
assets recoverable,

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances:

2021 2020

£m &m

Deferred taxliabilities 28.6 21.3
Deferred tax assets {13.0) (10.3)
15.6 110

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unused tax losses of £125.0m (2020. £146.4m), mainly arising in Canada, Australia, Malaysia and the UK, available
for offset against future profits, on which ne deferred tax asset has been recognised. Ofthese losses, £74.3m (2020 £85.2m) may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate of other deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has beenrecognised was £13.9m
{2020; £24.7m). These differences have no expiry term.

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate of ternporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and joint ventures for which no
deferred tax liability has been recogrised is £124.9m (2020: £118.4m), on the basis that the Group can control the reversal of temporary differences and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeabie future. The unprovided deferred tax liability in respect of these timing
differences s £7.6m {2020: £7.4m).
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12 Dividends payable to equity holders of the parent
Crdinary dividends on equity shares:
2021 2020
£m £rn
Armounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Final dividend for the year ended 31 Decermnbor 2020 6f 22.3p (2019 23 3p) per share 16.8 16.8
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of 12.6p (2020: 12.6p} per share 9.1 9.1
25.9 259

The Board has recommended a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of £16.8m, representing 23.3p (2020: 23.3p) per share. The proposed
dividend is subject to approval by sharehoiders at the Annual General Meeting on 18 May 2022 and has not been included as a liability in these financral
statements.

13 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

When the Group makes a profit, diluted earnings per share equals the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent divided by the weighted average
diluted nurnber of shares. When the Group makes a loss, diluted earnings per share equals the loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent divided

by the basic average number of shares. This ensures that earnings per share onlosses is shown in full and not diluted by unexercised share awards.

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as follows:

Underlying earmings attnbutable tothe

eguity holders of the parent

Earmings attributable to the eguity holders

ofthe parent

zo21 2020 2021 2020
Basic and diluted earnings (Em} 64.7 70.0 63.0 425
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (m)*
8asic number of ordinary shares outstanding 72.3 721 72.3 721
Effect of dilutionfrom:
Share options and awards 0.9 0.6 0.9 0.6
Diluted number of ordinary shares outstanding 73.2 727 73.2 727
Earnings per share
Basic earnings pershare (p) 89.5 371 87.1 589
Diluted earnings per share (p} 88.4 96.3 86.1 58.5

1

The waighted average number of shares takes into account the weighted average effect of changes in treasury shares durmg the year. The weighted average nurnber of shares excludes those heldin

the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust and those held in treasury, which for the purpose of this calculation are trested as cancelled,
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14 Goodwill and intangible assets

Arising an
Goodwill acquisition Other Total
£m £€m Em Em

Cost
At 1 January 2020 228.6 59.0 23.4 311.0
Additions - - 0.5 0.5
Disposal of businesses 7.2 - - {7.2}
Exchange movements {1.8} .1 {0.6) (2.5)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 219.6 589 233 301.8
Additions, - - 0.4 0.4
Acquired with businesses {note 5] 5.6 19.3 - 24.9
Disposals - - 0.7 (0.7}
Exchange movements 1.1 05 0.6) 1.0
At 31 December 2021 226.3 78.7 22.4 327.4
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 1118 52.4 22.1 186.3
Impairment charge for the year 0.3 - - 0.3
Amortisgtion charge for the year - 4.2 0.6 4.8
Disposal of businesses {7.2) - - (7.2)
Exchange movements (0.5} Q.1 (0.5) (1.2)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 104.4 56.5 221 183.0
Amortisation charge for the year - 2.8 0.6 3.4
Disposals - - 0.7) (0.7}
Exchange movements 06 (0.1 (0.3} 0.2
At 31 December 2021 105.0 53.2 21.7 185.9
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2020 116.8 6.6 13 124.7
At 31 Decemnber 2020 and 1 January 2021 115.2 2.4 1.2 118.8
At 31 December 2021 121.3 19.5 0.7 141.5

1 Goodwil arising ort acquisition relates ta the acquisition of RECON and Suoterranean, Refer to note 5 for further details.

Intangible assets arising on acquisition represent customer contracts and relationships with a carrying amaunt of £13.9m (2020. £0.3m) and trade names

with a carrying amount of £5.6m {2020: £2.1m). Other intangibles represent internally developed software and licences. There are no indicators of
impairment for these assets at 31 December 2021
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For the purposes of impairment testing. goodwill has been allocated to nine separate cash-generating units (CGUs). The carrying amount of goodwill
allocated to the five CGUs with the largest goodwill balances is significant in comparison to the total carrying amount of goedwifl and comprises 92% of
the total (2020- 54%). The relevant CGUs and the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to each are as set out below, together with the pre-tax
ciscount rate and medium-term growth rate used in their value-in-use calculations:

2021 2020
Carrying Pra-tax Forucast Carrying Pre-tax Forarast
value discountrate growth rate valug discount rate growthrate
cGU Geographical segment €m % % £m % %
Keller US Nerth America 45.0 11.6 2.0 44.4 130 2.0
Suncoast North America 31.9 11.6 2.0 31.4 13.3 2.0
Keller Canada North America 15.0 11.8 2.0 12.8 12.6 20
Keller Limited Europe 12.1 10.1 3.0 12.1 12.7 3.0
Austral Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa 7.3 12.9 2.0 76 14.2 2.0
Other! North America and Europe 10.0 6.9
121.3 115.2

1 Pre-tax discount rates and forecast growth rates are defined by market.

The recoverable amount of the goodwill allocated to each CGU has been calculated on a value-in-use basis. The calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by management and cover a three-year period.

The Group's businesses operate in a diverse geographical set of markets, some of which are expected to continue to face uncertain conditions in future
years. The most important factors in the value-in-use calculations are the forecast revenues and operating margins during the forecast period, the growth
rates and discount rates applied to future cash flows. The key assumptions underlying the cash flow forecasts are revenue and operating marging
assumed throughout the forecast period. Revenue and operating margins are prepared as part of the Group's three-year forecast in line with the Group's
annual business planning process. The Group's budget for 2022 and financial projections for 2023 and 2024 were approved by the Board, and have been
used as the basis for input into the value-in-use calculation.

Maragernent considers all the forecast revenues, margins and profits to be reasonably achievable given recent performance and the historic trading
results of the relevant CGUs. A margin for historical forecasting error has also been factored into the value-in-use model. Cash flows beyond 2024 which
are deemed to be on a continuing basis have been extrapolated using the forecast growth rates above and do not exceed the long-term average growth
rates for the markets inwhich the relevant CGUs operate. The growth rates used in the Group's value-in-use calculation into perpetuity are based on
forecasted growth in the construction sector in each region where a CGU is located and adjusted for longer-term compound annual growth rates for each
CGU as estimated by management. The discount rates used in the value-in-use calculations are based on the weighted average cost of capital of
companies comparable to the relevant CGUs, adjusted as necessary to reflect the risk associated with the asset being tested.

Management believes that any reasonable possible change inthe key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts of the CGUs are based would not
cause any of their carrying amounts to exceed their recoverable amounts.

A number of sensitivities were run on the projections to identify the changes required in the each of the key assumptions that, inisolation, would give rise
to animpairment of the following goodwill balances.

Reductionin

Increase in' Reductionin' final year cash

discount future growth flow

cau Geographical segment rate rate %
Keller US Nerth America 24.5 393 859
Suncoast North America 63.7 740.0 108.0
Keller Canada North America 9.5 11.9 60.0
Keller Limited Europe 5.0 6.0 489
Austral Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa 21.4 358 84.8

1 The increase n discount rate and reduction In future growth rate are presented as grossmovements.,
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprises owned and leased assets.

2021 2020
Note €m Em
Property, plant and equipment ~ owned assets 15a 375.5 365.4
Right-of-use assets —leased assets 15b 67.9 £€9.5
At 31 December 443.4 4345
15 a) Property, plant and equipment —owned assets
Land and Plant, machinery Capitaiwork
buldings and vehicles nprogress Total
£m £m Em £m
Cost
At 1l January 2020 0.7 880.4 9.6 960.7
Additions 2.2 679 2.4 72,5
Disposals (1.5) (37.5) (0.7 {39.7)
Transfers to held for sale’ (0.5} (23.3) - {23.8)
Dispasal of businesses (2.3) {12 2} - (14.5)
Reclassification - 4.3 4.3} -
Exchange movements 03 0.9} 0.3 (0.3)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 68.9 878.7 7.3 554.9
Additions 3.4 79.3 13 84.0
Acquired with businesses (note 5) a7 8.7 - 9.4
Disposals (2.5) (41.4} - {43.9)
Net transfers to held for sale’ - 1.3 - 1.3
Disposal of businesses {note 5} - (1.2} {0.5) 1.7}
Reclassification - 2.4 (2.4} -
Exchange movements {1.5) (16.9) 0.2) {18.6}
At 31 December 2021 69.0 910.9 5.5 985.4
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 20.9 5551 - 576.0
Charge for the year 2.2 64.1 - 66.3
Disposals 0.2} {32.7} - {32.9)
Transfers to held for sale’ (0.5) (15.4) - {15.9)
Disposal of businesses (1.2 9.2} - {10.4}
Impairments 01 6.5 - 6.6
Exchange movements 01 (0.3} - {0.2)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 214 568.1 - 589.5
Charge for the year 1.7 62.4 - 64.1
Disposals (0.7} [35.2) - {35.9)
Net transfers to held for sale’ - 0.5 - 0.9
Disposal of businesses (note 5) - (0.3) - {0.3}
Impairments -~ 2.4 ~ 3.4
Exchange movements (0.5} {11.3) - {11.8}
At 31 December 2021 21.9 588.0 ~ 609.9
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2020 49.8 325.3 9.6 384.7
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 475 310.6 7.3 365.4
At 31 December 2021 47.1 322.9 5.5 375.5
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The Group had contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of £7.2m (2020: £7.5m) at the balance sheet date. These
amounts were not included in the balance sheet at the year end.

Impairments in the year include the write-down of surplus equipment to their value-in-use in the Middle East and Africa and KG5, the in-house equipment
manufacturer, where it is not being relacated te other more active parts of the Group. The carrying amount of these assets was £1.9m, comparedtoa
value-in-use of £0.3m, which resulted in a non-underlying impairment charge of £1.6m. Details of restructuring are set out in note 8. Also included are
impairments in the year relating to assets that are inaccessible due to a contract suspension. The carrying amount of these assets was £1.8m, compared
to avalue-in-use of £nil, which resuited in an underlying impairment charge of £1.8m.

15 b} Right-of-use assets —leased assets

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land and buildings, plant, machinery and vehicles used in its operations. Leases of land and buildings
generally have lease terms between three and 15 years, while plant, machinery and vehicles generally have lease terms between two and eight years. The
Group's obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title to the lease assets. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing its
leased assets. There are several lease contracts that include extension and termination options.

The Group has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office equipment with low value. The Group applies the
'short-term lease’ and ease of low-value assets’ recognition exermnptions for these leases.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets recogmised and the movements during the year

Plant,

Landand machinery
buwidings anavehicles Total
£m £tm £m
At 1 January 2020 47,4 285 75.9
Additions 8.4 14.3 22.7
Depreciation expense {13.4} {14.6) (28.0)
Impairment expense 0.7) - (0.7)
Contract modifications 13 {0.8) 0.5
Exchange movements {0.8) {0.1) (0.9)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 42.2 273 69.5
Additions 11.3 12.1 23.4
Acquired with businesses (note 5} 0.4 1.0 1.4
Depreciation expense (12.6) (13.9) (26.5})
Impairment expense - (4.4) (4.4)
Contract modifications 1.7 31 4.8
Exchange movements {0.1) 0.2) {0.3})
At 31 December 2021 42.9 25.0 67.9

The carrying amounts of lease habilities {included within note 25 within loans and borrowings} and the moverments during the year are set out in note 26.

Impairments in the year relate to assets that are inaccessible due te a contract suspension, The carrying amount of these assets was £4 4m, compared ta
avalue-in-use of £nil, which resulted in an underlying impairment charge of £4 4m.
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16 Investments in joint ventures

£m
At 1 January 2021 4.4
Share of underlying post-tax results 0.4
Share of non-underlying post-tax results (note 8) {0.6)
Exchange movements {0.2)
At 31 December 2021 4.0
£m
At 1January 2020 38
Share of underlying post-tax results 0.8
Dividends received (0.4}
Exchange movements Q.2
At 31 December 2020 4.4

The Graup's investment in joint ventures refates to a 50% interest in the ordinary shares of KFS Finland Oy, an entity incorporated in Finland. Refer to note
9 of the company accounts for the registered address,

In 2021, KFS Finland Oy earned total revenue of £36.8m (2020: £34.6m) and a statutory loss after tax for the year of £0.4m (2020: statutory profit after tax
of £1.6m)

Aggregate amounts relating to joint ventures:

2021 2020
Non-underlying
items
Underlying {note 8} Statutory Statutory
£m £m £m £m
Revenue 18.4 - 18.4 17.3
Operating costs’ {17.9) {0.6) (18.5]) (16.4)
Operating profit/(loss) 0.5 {0.6) {0.1) 09
Finance costs {0.1) - (0.1} -
Profit/{loss) before taxation 0.4 (0.6) (0.2} 0.8
Taxation - - - .1
Share of post-tax results 0.4 {0.6) {0.2) 0.8
1 Included within operating costs 1s depreciation on owned assets of £0 8m (2020: EQ Srn).
KFS Finland Oy {1003% of results) Group portion of the joint venture
2021 2020 2021 2020
€m €m £m £m
Non-current assets 20.4 10.0 10.2 5.0
Cash and cash equivalents 1.2 0.8 0.6 0.4
Other current assets 7.8 4.4 3.9 2.2
Total assets 29.4 15.2 14.7 76
Other current liabilities {8.4) (3.6) {4.2) (1.8)
Non-currentloans and borrowings (11.2) (2.8) (5.6) (1.4}
Other non-current liabilities (1.8) - (0.9} -
Total liabilties {21.4) (6.4) {10.7) {3.2)
Share of net assets 8.0 8.8 4.0 4.4

On & September 2021, KFS Finland Oy acquired NordPile, a driven and piling contractor, for £7.3m (EUR8.5m). The fair value of the Group's share of

intangibles acquired was £2.1m (EUR2.4m), representing the fair value of customer contracts at the date of acquisition and customer relationships
Amortisation of these assets is recognised as a non-underlying item.
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17 Other non-current assats

2021 2020

£m £m

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 2.6 5.4
Non-qualifying deferred compensation plan assets 20.6 18.3
Other assets 26.5 12.4
Insurance receivables 38.8 24.2
88.5 60.3

1 The comparative balance sheet has beeri restated to present gross INsurance prowisions with a separate rembursement asset recegrised for armounts recoverable frominsurance providers and
customer retentions recenable in more than one year to other non-current assets, as cutlned i note 2 to the financial statements

A non-gualifying deferred compenisation plan (NQJ is available to US employees, whereby an elernent of eligible employee bonuses and salary 1s deferred
over a period of four to six years. The plan alfows participants to receive tax relief for contributions beyond the fimits of the tax-free amounts allowed per
the 401k defined contribution pension plan. The plan is administered by & professional investment provider with participants able to select their
investments fram an approved listing. An amount equal to each participant’s compensation deferral is transferredinto a trust and invested in various
rmarketable securities. The related trust assets are not identical to investments held on behalf of the ermployee but are invested in similar funds with the
objective that performance of the assets closely tracks the liabilities, The investments held in the trust are designated sclely for the purpose of paying
benefits under the non-qualified deferred compensation plan. The investments in the trust would however be available to all unsecured general creditors
in the event of insclvency.

The value of both the employee Investments and those held in trust by the company are measured using Level 1 inputs per IFRS 13 {'quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date’) based on published market prices at the end of the
period. Adjustments to the fair value are recorded within net finance costs in the consolidated income statement.

At 31 December 2021, non-current assets in relation to the investments held in the trust were £20.6m (2020: £18.3m}. The fair value movermnent on
these assets was £1.1m (2020: £2.2m). During the pericd proceeds from the sale of NQ-related investments were Enil {2020 £nil). At 31 December
2021, non-current liabilities in relation to the participant investments were £15.8m (202C: £14.7m). These are accounted for as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or less, The fair value movement on these liabilities was £2.1m (2020. €2 7m). During the year £1.4m (2020: £1.2m) of
compensation was deferred.

Other assets include customer retentions receivable of £24.4m (2020: £10.2m). For further information refer to note 4. Note 2 highlights the restaterment
required in the presentation of customer recevables.

18 Inventories

2021 2020

£m £m

Raw materials and consumables 40.6 41.3
Work in progress 1.8 0.3
Finished goods 29.7 18.5
72.1 0.1

During 2021, £2.4m (2020: £3.8m) of inventory write-downs were recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement.
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19 Trade and other receivables

2021 2020°

€m £rm

Trade receivables 448.8 383.2
Contract assets 107.6 71.3
Other recefvables 15.9 21.2
Fair value of derivative financial instruments - 0.8
Prepayments 19.6 17.2
Insurance receivables 0.1 8.2
592.0 5019

1 The comparative balance sheet has been restated to prasent gross MsJrance provisions with a separate reimpursement asset recegnised for amounts recoverable frominsurance providers and
customer retentions recernable in mare than one year to other nom-current assets, as outkned i note 2 to the financial statements

Trade receivables and contract assets included in the balance sheet are shown net of expected credit loss provisions as detailed innote 2.

The movement in the provision held against trade receivables and contract assets lincluding expected credit losses) is as follows:

2021 2020

£m £m

At 1 January 42.9 381
Used during the year {3.1) {6.3)
Additional provisions 24.6 236
Unused amounts reversed {11.9} (12.1)
Acquired with businesses 2.4 -
Disposal of businesses - 0.7)
Exchange movements (1.2) 0.3
At 31 December 53.7 429

Set out below is information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's trade receivables, detailing past due but not impaired, based on agreed terms
and conditions with the customer:

2021 2020

£m Em

Overdue by less than 30 days 125.2 659
Overdue by between 31 and 90 days 59.6 31.0
Overdue by more than 90 days 20.2 259
205.0 122.8

20 Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020

£m €m

Bank balances 77.9 64.2
Short-term deposits 4.8 21
Cashandcash equivalentsin the balance sheet 82.7 66.3
Bank overdrafts (0.9) 4.7
Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement 81.8 616

Cash and cash equivalerits include £2.7m {(2020: £3.1m) of the Group's share of cash and cash equivalents held by joint aperations, and £1.7m
{2020: £0.5m} of restricted cash which s subject to local country restrictions.



Keller Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2021 Financial Statements 159
21 Assets held for sale

2021 2020
£m £m
Plant and machinery 3.1 7.9
Inventories .3 0.3
Trade receivables - 0.5
3.4 87

Assets held for sale mainly comprise plant and machinery in Waterway, as a result of the wind-down of the business, and equipment in the North America

Division following a rationalisation exercise.

22 Trade and other payables

zo21 2020
€m £m
Trade payables 268.8 169.3
Other taxes and social security payable 25.2 23.0
QOther payables 117.2 g97.3
Contract liabilities 46.5 439
Accruals 48.0 477
Fair value of derivative financial instruments - 0.5
505.7 381.7
Other payables include contingent and deferred consideration of £12.3m (2020: £0.8m}.
23 Provisions
Employee Restructuring Contract  Insurance and legal Qtker
Provisions provisions provisions Provisions pravizions Total
Em £m Em Em Em £m
At 31 December 2020 (presented) 9.3 56 353 295 37 93.4
Restatement! - - - 32.4 - 32.4
At 31 December 2020 (restated} 9.3 5.6 353 71.8 3.7 125.8
Charge for the year 4.7 5.2 22.8 12.3 0.8 45.8
Acquired with businesses {ncte 5) - - 0.5 - 08 1.4
Disposal of businesses (note 5) (0.1} - - - - {0.1)
Used during the year (4.4) {6.9) {11.6) (7.1} (0.9 {30.9)
Unused amounts reversed 0.1} (0.2) {4.9) (3.4} (09 (9.5)
Unwinding of discount and changesin the
discount rate 0.4 - - (0.1} - 0.3
Exchange movements 01 0.2} (0.2) 0.8} - {1.1)
At 31 December 2021 9.9 3.5 41.9 72.8 3.6 131.7
Current 32 3.5 34.1 9.4 36 53.8
Non-current 6.7 - 7.8 63.4 - 77.9
At 31 December 2021 9.9 3.5 41.9 72.8 3.6 131.7

1 Thecomparative balance sheet has been restated to present gross Insurance provisions with a separate remmbursement asset secognisad for amounts recoverable frominsurance providers, as outlined

nnote 2 to tne financial statements.
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23 Provisions continued
Employee provisions

Employee provisions relate to various liabilities in respect of employee rights and benefits, including the workers’ compensation. scheme inNorth America
and long service leave benefits in Australia.

At 31 December 2021, the provision inrespect of workers' compensation was £6.5m {2020: £6.8m). A provision is recognised when an employee informs
the company of a workers' compensation claim. The provision is measured based on information provided by the workers' compenisation insurer. The
actual costs that may be incurred in respect of these claims are dependent on the assessment of an employee’s claim and potential medical expenses,
with timing of outflows variable depending on the claim.

At 31 December 2021, the provision in respect of long service leave was £1.7m (2020: £1.6m). A provision is recognised at the point an employee joins the
company, with an adjiustment made to factor the likelihood that the employee will remain in continuous service with the company to meet the threshold to
receive the benefits. it is measured at the present value of expected future payments for services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The
actual costs that may be incurred are dependent on the length of service of employees and amended for any joiners and feavers. The provision is utilised
when the leave is taken by the employee or when unused leave is paid on terminaticn of employment.

Employee provisions alsc includes an amount of £1.4m (2020 £0.9m) in respect of social security contributions on share options. This provision is utilised
as the options are exercised by employees, which occurs when the awards vest.

Restructuring provisions

Arestructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detalled formal plan for the restructuring, has raised a valid expectation inthose
individuals affected and liabllities have been identified. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes anly the direct expenditures arising frorn the
restructuring.

The restructuring provisions in 2021 relate primarily to the relevant activities in the Europe and Asia-Pacific, Middle East and Africa Divisions. The
provisions comprise mainly amounts for redundancy costs, Estimates may differ from the actual charges depending on the finalisation of radundancy
armounts. These provisions are expected to be utilised within the next 12 months.

Contract provisions

Contract provisions Include onerous contracts where the forecast costs of completing the contract exceed the revenue. Provision is made in full when
such losses are foreseen, based on the estimated unavoidable costs of meeting the obfligations of the cantract, where these exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the
cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. The majority of this balance is expected to be utilised in the next 12
months, given the general short-term nature of contracts. The non-current element of the provision relates to longer-term contracts and customer
claims and disputes.

Insurance and legal provisions

Insurance and legal provisions comprises the liability for legal claims against the Group, including those that are retained within the Group's captive insurer
{the ‘captive’). The captive covers both public liability and profassional indemnity claims for the Group. The captive covers Jabilities below an upper limit
above which third-party insurance applies.

Following the identification of an error (refer to note 2 for further details) there was a change in accounting policy for the presentation of provisions for
legal claims and related insurance receivables. Provisions for insurance and legal claims are made based on the best estimate of the likely total settierment
value of a claim against the Group. Management seek specialist input from legal advisers and the Group's insurance claims handler to estimate the most
likely legal outcome. The outcome of legal negotiations s nherently uncertain: as a result, there ¢an be no guarantee that the assumgtions used to
estimate the provision will result in an accurate prediction of the actual costs that may be incurred,

A provision 18 recognised when it is judged likely that a lagal claim will result in @ payment to the claimant and the amount of the claim can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are utllised as insurance claims are settled, which may take a number of years. A separate insurance receivable is recognised to the
extent that confirmed third-party insurance is expected to cover any element of an estimated clsim value and is virtually certain to be recovered. The asset
is recognised within other non-current assets {refer to note 17) and trade and other receivables {refer to note 19). Management considers that there are
na instances of reimbursable assets which are probable in nature.

Other provisions

Other provisions are in respect of property dilapidation arising from lease obligations and other operational provisions. Where alease includes 2 'meake-
good'requirernent, provision for the cost is recognised as the obligation 1s incurred, either at the commencement of the lease or as a conseguence of
using the asset, and the cost of the expected work required can be reliably estimated. These are expected to be utlised over the relevant lease term which
ranges from 3 to 15 years acrass the Group.
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24 Other non=current liabilities

2021 2020

£m £m

Non-qualifying compensation plan liabilities 15.8 14.8
Otherliabilities 5.4 7.2
21.2 220

Other liabilities include deferred consideration of £0.4m (2020: £2 2m). and £4.7m (2020: contingent consideration of £4.5m} in respect of US social
security tax deferrals, refer to note 7 for further information.

Refer to note 17 for further information on the non-qualifying deferred compensation plan.

25 Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risks arise in the normal course of the Group's business and have been identified as risks for the Group.
Derivative financial nstruments are used to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates.

The Group does not trade in financial instruments nor does it engage in speculative derivative transactions.

Currencyrisk

The Group faces currency risk principaily onits net assets, most of which are in currencies other than sterling. The Group aims to reduce theimpact that
retranslation of these net assets might have on the consolidated balance sheet by matching the currency of its borrowings, where possible, with the
currency of its assets, The majority of the Group's borrowings are held in sterling, US dollars and Australian dollars.

The Group manages its currency flows to minimise transaction exchange risk. Forward contracts are used to hedge significant individual transactions.
The rmajority of such currency flows within the Group relate to the repatriation of profits, intra-group loan repayments and any foreign currency cash flows
associated with acquisitions, The Group's treasury risk management is performed at the Group's head office.

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of cutstanding foreign exchange forward contracts was £nil (2020: £0.5m, included in current liabilities).

Interestrate risk

Interest rate risk is managed by either fixed and floating rate borrowings dependent upon the purpose and term of the financing.

As at 31 December 2021, approximately 99% (2020: 97%) of the Group's third-party borrowings were at floating interest rates.

Hedging currency risk and interest rate risk

The Group hedges currency risk and interest rate risk. Where hedging instruments are used to hedge significant individual transactions, the Group ensures
that the critical terms, including dates, currencies, nominal amounts, interest rates and lengths of interest periods, are matched. The Group uses both
qualitative and quantitative methods to confirm this and to assess the effectiveness of the hedge.

For currency hedging, the main source of hedge ineffectiveness is the relative moverment of the forward points of the different currencies.

For interest rate hedging, the main sources of hedge ineffectiveness include changes in the US LIBOR rate and the moverment in discount factors.

Creditrisk

The Group's principal financial assets are trade and other receivables, bank and cash balances and a limited number of investments and derivatives held to
hedge certain Group exposures. These represent the Group's maximurm exposure to credit riskin relation to financial assets.

The Group has procedures to manage counterparty risk and the assessment of customer credit risk 1s embedded inthe contract tendering processes.
The counterparty risk on bank and cash balances is managed by limiting the aggregate amount of exposure to any one institution by reference to their
credit rating and by regular review of these ratings.

Custormer credit risk is mitigated by the Group's relatively smalf average contract size and diversity, both geographically and in terms of end markets.
No individual customer represented mare than 3% of revenue in 2021. The ageing of trade receivables that were past due but not impaired Is shown in
note 19.

The Group evaluates each new custormer and assesses their creditworthiness before any contract is undertaken.

The Group reviews customer receivables {including contract assets) on an ageing basis and provides against expected unrecoverable amounts.
Experience has shown the level of historical provision required to be relatively low. Credit loss provisioning reflects past experience, economic factors
and specific conditions.
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The Group's estimated exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note 19. This amount is the accumulation of several
years of pravisions for known or expected credit iosses. Consideration of future events is generaily taken into account when deciding when and how much
to provide for of the Group's trade receivables and contract assets.

Liquidity risk and capital management

The Group's capital structure is kept under constant review, taking into account the need for availability and cost of various sources of funding. The capital
structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group maintains a balance between the certainty
of funding and a flexible, cost-effective financing structure, with all main borrowings being from committed facllities. The Group's policy ensures that its
capital structure is appropriate to support this balance and the Group's operations.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to sharehalders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group's debt and committed facilities mainly comprise a $75m private placement repayable in
December 2024 and a £375m syndicated revolving credit facility expiring in Novernber 2025. These facilities are subject to certain covenantslinked to the
Group's financing structure, specifically regarding the ratios of net debt and interest to profit. The Group has complied with these covenants throughout
the year.

At the year end, the Group alsc had other borrowing facilities available of £76.0m {2020: £385.3mi. In 2020, faciities available included €300m available
under the Bank of England Covid Corporate Financing Facility, which expired on 23 March 2021,

Private placements

In October and December 2014, $50m and $75m respectively was raised through & private placernent with US institutions. The proceeds of the issue of
$50m Series A notes 3.81% due 2021 and $75m Series Bnotes 4.17% due 2024 were used to refinance maturing private placements, In October 2021
the $50m private placement was repald, inline with the agreed terrms. The US private placement notes are accounted for on an amortised cost basis,
adjusted for the impact of hedge accounting (as described below), and are retranslated at the exchange rate at each period end. The carrying value of the
private placement liabilities at 31 December 2021 was £58.1m (202C: £97 3m).

Hedging

The 2014 $50m and $75m fixed rate private placement liabilities were swapped into floating rates by means of US dollar interest rate swaps (the 2014
swaps’). The 2014 swaps have the same maturity as the private placerment liabilities and have been designated as fair value hedges. The objective s to
protect against the Group's exposure to changes in the fair value of the US prvate placement debt and to protect related interest cash flows due to
changes in US dollar interest rates.

The fair value of the 2014 swaps at 31 December 2021 was £2.6m {2020: £6.2m}; of this amount £2.6m {202G: £5.4m]} is included i other nor-current
assets. At 31 December 2020, £0.8mwas included in trade and other receivables. The effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the 2014 swaps
gave rise to a loss of £3.6m {2020 gain of £2 8m), which has been taken to the income staternent along with the equal and opposite movement in fair
value of the corresponding hedged itemns, In October 2021, the interest rate swap hedging the tranche of the private placement liability repaid in the year
was closed out inline with the agreed terms.

Allhedges are tested for effectiveness every six months. All nedging relationships remaned effective during the year.

Accounting classifications

2021 2620
£m £m

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Non-qualifying deferred compensation plan 20.6 18.3
Interest rate swaps 2.6 6.2
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Trade receivables 448.8 383.2
Contract assets 107.6 71.3
Cash and cash equivalents 82.7 66.3
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit orloss
Forward exchange contracts - (0.5
Contingent and deferred consideration f12.7) (3.0
Financialliabliities measured at amortised cost
Trade payables (268.8) (169.3)
Contract liabilities (46.5} {439}

Leans and borrowings {200.6) (185.0)
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Inrespect of financial llabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest rates and undiscounted contractual cash flows at the balance sheet date:

2021
Pug after Carryingamount
Effective Due within Due within Due within morethan as showninthe
interestrate 1year 1-2 years 2=5 years 5years Tetal balance shaet
% £m £m Em €m £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts 1.0 1.5 0.4 139.3 0.1 141.3 141.8
Bonds and cther loans 1.6 3.6 2.3 57.8 - 63.7 58.8
Lease liabilities - 30.3 17.4 27.3 7.6 82.6 75.4
Contractliabilities - 46.5 - - - 46.5 46.5
Trade payables - 268.8 - - - 268.8 268.8
Contingent consideration - 12.3 0.4 - - 12.7 12.7
363.0 20.5 224.4 7.7 615.6 604.0
2020

Due after Carrying amount
Lffective Due within Due within Oue within more thar as showninthe
interestrate 1 year 1-2years 2-5 years 5years Testal balance sheet
% Emn £m £n £m Em £Em
Banrk loans and overdrafts 21 49 - 80.1 0.5 855 853
Bonds and other loans 16 40.6 45 59.3 - 104.4 99.7
Lease liabilities - 27.4 18.7 247 11.1 819 73.8
Contract lizbilities - 439 - - - 439 439
Trade payables - 169.2 - - - 169.3 169.3
Cantingent consideration - 0.8 2.2 - - 3.0 3.0
286.8 25.4 164.1 116 488.0 475.0

Loans and borrowings analysis
2021 2020
£m em
$75mi private placement {due Decemnber 2024} 58.1 60.0
$50m private placement {repaid October 2021) - 373
£375m syndicated revolving credit facility lexpiring November 2025) 138.5 78.3
Bank cverdrafts 0.9 4.7
Other bank borrowings 2.4 23
Otherloans 0.7 2.4
Lease liabilities (note 26) 75.4 7%.8
Totalloans and borrowings 276.0 258.8

The Group has substantial borrowing facilities available to it. The undrawn committed facilities available at 31 December 2021 amounted to £235.5m
(2020: £313.2m). This mainly comprised the unutilised portion of the Group's £375m revolving credit facility, which expires on 23 Novernber 2025, In
addition, the Group had undrawn uncommitted borrowing facilities totalling £56.4mat 31 December 2021 (2020: £353.4m). In 2020 this included £300m
available under the Bank of England Covid Corperate Financing Facllity (CCFC) which expired 23 March 2021. No drawings were made on the CCFC. Other
uncommitted bank borrowing facilities are normally reaffirmed by the banks annually, although they can theoretically be withdrawn at any time. Facilities
totalling £3.2m {2020: £4.0m) are secured against certain assets. Future obligations under finance leases on a former 1AS 17 basis totalled £1.5m (2020:
£2.2m), including interest of £0.1m (2020 €nil).
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Changes inloans and borrowings were as follows:

Fareign
Acguisition of exchange Farrvalue

2420 Cash flows Other? New leases businesses movernents changes 021

£m £m £m £m £m Em £m Em
Bank overdrafts (4.7} 37 - - - 01 - {0.9}
Bank loans (80.6} {59.0 {1.2) - - [©.1) - (140.9)
Other loans (89.7) 372 0.6 - - (0.5} 3.6 (58.8)
Leaseligbilities (note 26) 173.8) 298 (7.1 [23.4} (1.4} 0.5 — {75.4}
Totalloans and borrowings {258.8) 117 (7.7) (23.4) (1.4) - 3.6 {276.0)
Derivative financial instruments 5.7 - - - - - (3.1} 2.6

1 Other comprises dispasals and contract modifications and intergst accretion on lease liabilties.

Cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2021, the Group held no instruments to hedge exposures to changes in foreign currency rates. At 31 December 2020, the Group held

the following instruments:

2020
Maturity Carrying amount Change infair value used
for calculating hedge Nominal
«1year 1-2 years 2-5years »5 years Asset Liability" ineffectiveness amaount
£m €m £m £m £m (] £m §m
Forward exchange contracts (0.5) - - - - {0.5) - 25.0
1  Included wthinother habilities
Fair value hedges
The Group held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes ininterest rates:
2023
Maturity Carrying amount Changeinfalrvalue used
for calculating hedge Nominal*
<1 year 1-Zyears 2=5 years >5 years Asset' Liability Ineffectiveness amount
£m €m £m £m £m £m £m $m
Interest rate swaps - - 2.6 - 2.6 - - 9.4
2020
Maturity Careying amount. Thange in fair value used
for calculating hedge Nominal
<] yesr 1-2 years 2-5 years »5years Agset! Liatlity ineffectiveness amoury
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m $m
Interest rate swaps 0.8 - 5.4 - 6.2 -~ - 14.4
1 Induded withun other asseéts.
2 Theaverage fired nterest rate1s 4.0%,
The Group had the following hedged items relating to the above instruments:
2021 2020
Change in fair Hedge* Change infarr
Carrying® value used for ineffectivenass Carry ng! value used for Hedge?
amount calculating hedge in prafit amount  calculating hiedge meffectiveness ir
liability ineffectivenass orlass habinty ineffectiveness profit orloss
£m £m €m £m £m Em
$75m private placements (2020: $125m) {58.1) - - 87.3) - -
Fair value hedge adjustments 3.6 - - 2.8 - -

1 Included within loans and borrowings

2 included e operating prafit for the year
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Fair values

The fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are not materially different from their carrying values. The following summarises the major
methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial Instruments; being derivatives, interest-bearing loans and borrowings, contingent
and deferred consideration and payables, receivables and construction assets.

Derivatives

The fair values of interest rate and cross-currency swaps are calculated based on expected future principal and interest cash flows, discounted using
market rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. The valuation methods of all of the Croup’s derivalive financial instruments carried at fair value are
categorised as Level 2. Level 2 assets are financial assets and liabilities that do not have regular market pricing, but whose fair value can be determined
based on other data values or market prices.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on expected future principal and interest cash flows discounted using appropriate discount rates prevaiiing at the balance
sheet date.

Contingent and deferred consideration

Fair value is calculated based on the amounts expected to be paid, determined by reference to forecasts of future performance of the acquired
husinesses, discounted using appropriate discount rates prevailing at the balance sheet date and the probability of contingent events and targets being
achieved.

The valuation methods of the Group's contingent consideration carried at fair value are categorised as Level 3. Level 3 assets are financial assets and
liabilities that are considered to be the most illiquid. Their values have been estimated using available management information including subjective
assumptions.

There are no Individually significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group's contingent consideration as at 31 Decermber 2021,

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening to closing balances for contingent and deferred consideration.

2021 2020

£m Em

At 1 January 3.0 2.4
Acquisition of businesses (note 5) 8.8 -
Additional amounts provided (note 8) 1.3 0.8
Paid during the period {0.4) -
Released during the period {0.1) -
Exchange movements 0.1 {0.2)
At 31 December 12.7 3.0

During the year, the Group acquired RECON Services Inc. Contingent consideration is payable in respect of certain contract awards; the total far value of
the contingent consideration at 31 December 2021 is £8.0m. This amount has been agreed in with the vendor {refer to note 34). The Group also acquired
Voges Drilling. Deferred consideration of £0.8m s to be paid over a three-year period. Refer to note 5 for further details.

Additional contingent consideration payable of £1.3m relates to the acquisition of the Geo Construction Group (Bencer) in 2015, following the finalisation
of items referenced in the sale and purchase agreement. This now reflects the maximurmn value payable under the sale and purchase agreement.

Contingent consideration was paid during the period of £0.4m in respect of the Geo Instruments acquisition in 2017, with an additional £0.1mreleased in
the period. In the prior period, an additional £0.8m was provided.

At 31 December 2021, contingent consideration of £11.9m {2020' £2.4m} is payable between one and two years (2020 £0.8m for Geo Instruments
payable in ane year).

At 31 December 2021, £0.4m deferred consideration, in respect of Voges Drilling. is payable in one year and £0.4m is payable between one and two years.

The fair value measurement of the contingent consideration could be affected if the forecast financial performance is different to that estimated. A better
than estimated performance may increase the value of the contingent consideration payable.

Payables, receivables and contract assets
For payables, receivables and contract assets with an expected maturity of one year or less, the carrying amount is deemed to reflect the fair value.
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Interest rate and ¢urrency profile

The profile of the Group's financial assets and financal liabllities after taking account of the impact of hedging instruments was as follows:

2021
GBP usb EUR CAD Other* Total
Weighted average fixed debt interest rate (%) - - 1.5 - 6.1 -
Weighted average fixed debt period (years) - - 4.1 - 0.3 -
£m £m £€m £m £m Em
Fixed rate financialliabilities - - 1.7} - {1.3) {3.0)
Floating rate financial liabilities (63.3) {111.8) {0.1) - {22.4) (197.6)
Lease liabilities (3.5} {45.1) (12.7) (3.2} {10.9) (75.4)
Financial assets 4.3 14.7 6.9 8.4 48.4 82.7
Net debt {62.5} [142.2) {1.6) 5.2 13.8 {193.3)
2020
GEP Ust EUR CAD Other’ Total
Weightad average fixed debt interest rate (%) - - 1.3 - 8.4 -
Welighted average fixed debt period [years) - - 4.6 - 1.4 -
Em £m Erm £m Em £m
Fixed rate financiat liabilities - - (2.6} - 2.1) 4.7
Floating rate financial liabilities {43.5} (27.3) (12.3) (5.2) (22.0) {180.3)
Leaseliabilities (1.2} (46.4) {12.2} {3.5) (10.5) {73.8)
Financial assets 37 9.7 10.1 1.8 410 66.3
Net debt (41.0} (154.0) (17.0 {(6.9] 6.4 (192.5]

1

balances of £5.6rm {2020 £4.4mjand SGD cash balances of €4 3rm (2020 £2 3m).

Sensitivity analysis

Inchuded within other floating rate financial liabilites are AUD revolver lsans of £21 5m (2020 £5.8m. Incluged within other finarcisl assets are AUD cash balances of €4 1m (2020 £1.5m). ZAR cash

At 31 December 2021, itis estimated that a general movernent of one percentage point ininterest rates would increase or decrease the Group's profit

before taxation by approximately £1.2m {2020: €1.1m).

Itis estimated that a general increase of 10 percentage points in the value of sterling against other principal foreign currencies would have decreased the
Group's profit before taxation and non-underlying items by approximately £5.0m for the year ended 31 December 2021 {2020: £12.0m). The estimated

impact of a 10 percentage point decrease in the value of sterling is an increase of £6.1m (2020: £14.6m] in the Group's profit before taxation and

non-underlying tems. This sensitivity relates to the impact of retranslation of foreign earnings only. The impact on the Group's earnings of currency
transaction exchange risk is not significant. These sensitivities assurme all other factors remain constant.

26 Leaseliabilities

Set out below are the carrying ameounts of lease liabilities (included within note 25 within loans and borrowings) and the movements during the year:

2021 2020

£m £m
At 1 January 73.8 78.4
Additions 24.8 22.5
Contract modifications 4.0 0.3
interest expense 31 38
Payments {29.8) {30.2)
Exchange movements {0.5) {1.0)
At 31 December 75.4 738
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27 Share capital and reserves

2021 2020
£m £m

Allctted, called up and fully paid equity share capital:
73,099,735 ordinary shares of 10p each (2020: 73,099,735) 7.3 7.3

The company has one class of ordinary shares, which carries no nghts to fixed income. There are no restrictions on the transfer of these shares.

The capital redemption reserve of £7.6m is a non-distributable reserve created when the company’'s shares were redeemed or purchased other than from
the proceeds of a fresh issue of shares.

The other reserve of £56.9mis a non-distributable reserve created when merger relief was applied to an issue of shares under section 612 of the
Companies Act 2006 to part-fund the acquisition of Keller Canada. The reserve becomes distributable should Keller Canada be disposed of.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of shares held in treasury was 777,917 (2020: 889,733).

During the year to 31 December 2021, 417,240 ordinary shares were purchased by the Keller Group Employee Benefit Trust {20201 nill to be used to
satisfy future obligations of the company under the Keller Group plc Long Term Incentive Plan. The cost of the market purchases was £3.7m (2020: £nil)

There is a dividend waiver in place for both shares held in treasury and by the Keller Group Empioyee Benefit Trust.

28 Related party transactions

Transacticns between the parent, its subsidiaries and joint operations, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation. Other related
party transactions are disclosed beiow:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of the Board and Executive Committee, who are the key managerment personnel, comprised:

2021 2020

£m £m

Short-termemployee benefits 8.2 83
Post-employment benefits 0.3 0.4
Termination payments 0.4 04
8.9 9.1

Otherrelated party transactions

As at the year end there was a net balance of £0.1m owed by {(2020: £0.1m owed by) the joint venture. These amounts are unsecured, have no fixed date
of repayment and are repayable on demand.

29 Commitments
Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred was €7.2m (2020 £7.5m) and relates to property, plant and
equipment purchases.
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30 Guarantees, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Claims against the Group arise inthe normal course of business, some of which lead to Wugation or arbitration procedures. Such claims aré predorminantly
covered by the Group's insurance arrangerments. The Group recognises provisions for liabilities when it is more likely than not that a settlement will be
required and the value of such a payment can be reliably estimated.

The company and certain of its subsidiary undertakings have entered inta a numnber of guarantees in the ordinary course of business, the effects of which
are to guarantee or cross-guarantee certain bank borrowings and other liabilities of other Groun companies. At 31 December 2021, the Group had
cutstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds for the Group's captive insurance arrangements totalling £26.5m (2020: £25.4m). The Group
enters into performance and advance payment bonds and other undertakings in the ordinary course of business. At 31 December 2021, the Group had
£138.3m outstanding refated to performance and advanced payment bonds (2020 £154.0ml. These are treated as a contingent liability until such time it
becomes probable that payment will be required under the ndividual terms of each agreement.

The company has provided a guarantee of certain subsidiaries’ fabilities to take the exemption from having to prepare individual accounts under section
3944 and section 394C of the Cornpanies Act 2005 and exemption from having their financial statements audited under sections 479A to 479C of the
Companies Act 2006. These are listed in note 9 of the company accounts.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had no contingent assets {2020: £rull.

31 Share-based payments

The Group operates a Long Term incentive Plan (the Plan’].

Outstanding awards are as follows:

Nurnber
Outstanding at 1 January 2020 2,090,277
Granted during 2020 788,062
Lapsed during 2020 1662,030)
Exercised during 2020 (152 893)
Outstanding at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 2,063,410
Granted during 2021 805,367
Lapsedduring 2021 {782,525}
Exercised during 2021 {111,816)
Qutstanding at 31 December 2021 1,574,436
Exercisable at 1 January 2020 -
Exercisable at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 B
Exercisable at 31 December 2021 =

The average share price during the year was 865.1p (2020 651.0p).

Under IFRS 2, the fair value of services received in return for share awards granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of share awards granted is measured based on a stochastic medel. The contractual life of the award is used as an input into this
model, with expectations of early exercise being incorporated into the model.
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The inputs Intc the stochastic model are as follows:

2021 2020
Share price at grant 856.0p 720.0p
Weighted average exercise price 0.0p C.0p
Expectedvolatility 47.3% 39.1%
Expected life Iyears Iyears
Risk-free rate 0.14% 0.11%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% ¢.00%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group's share price over the previous three years, adjusted for any expected
changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

The Group recognised total expenses (included in operating costs) of £3.9m (2020: £2.4m) related to equity-settled, share-based payment transactions.

The werghted average farr value of options granted in the year was 827.6p (202Q: 635.5p).

The awards, which are taken as shares, are intended to be satisfied from shares held under the Keller Group Ermiployee Benefit Trust {the Trust’} or from
treasury shares held. The shares held by the Trust are accounted for as a deduction from equity in retained earnings. At 31 December 2021, 417,240
ordinary shares were held by the Trust with a value of £3.7m. These shares were purchased during the year At 31 Decernber 2020, no shares were heldin
the Trust.

32 Retirement benefit liabilities
The Group operates pension schemes in the UK and overseas.

In the UK, the Group cperates the Keller Group Pension Scheme (the 'Scherne’), a defined benefit scherne, which has been closed to new membaers since
1999 and was closed to all future benefit accrual with effect from 31 March 2006, Under the Scheme, employees are normally entitled te retirement
benefits on attainment of a retirement age of 65. The Schemne is subject to UK pensions legislation which, inter alia, provides for the requlation of
work-based pension schemes by The Pensions Regulator. The trustees are aware of and adhere to the Codes of Practice issued by The Pensions
Regulator. The Scheme trustees currently comprise one member-nominated trustee and two employer-nominated trustees. An employer-nomnated
trustee is also the Chair of the trustees. The Scheme exposes the Group to actuaral nsks, such as longevity risk, interest rate risk and market (investment}
risk, which are managed through the Investment strategy to acceptable levels established by the trustees. The Scheme can invest in a wide range of asset
classes including equities, bonds, cash, property, alternatives (including private equity, commodities, hedge funds, infrastructure, currency, high yield debt
and derivatives) and annuity policies. Any investment in derivative iInstrurments is only made to contribute to a reduction in the overall level of risk in the
portfolio or for the purposes of efficient portfolio management. With effect from the most recent actuarial valuation date (5 April 2020), the Group has
agreed to pay annual contributions of £2.7m, to increase by 3.6% per annum, until 5 August 2024, subject to a review of the level of employer
contributions at the next actuarial review in 2023.

Batween 1990 and 1997, the Scheme mernbers accrued a Guaranteed Minimum Pension {GMP). This amount differed between men and women in
accordance with the ruies which were applicable at that time. On 26 Qctober 2018, there was a court judgernent (inthe case of Lloyds Banking Group
Pensions Trustees Limited v Lioyds Bank PLC) that confirmed that GMP is to be made equal for men and women. In 2018, the estimated increase in the
Scheme's liabilities was £ 1.3m, which was recognised as a past service cost in 2018 as a charge to non-underlying items. On 20 Novernber 2020, there
was an updated judgerment requiring an allowance to be made for past transfers. The estimated increase in the Scheme's liability in respect of this is less
than £0.1m. These estimates remain appropriate for 2021, The actual cost may differ when the GMP equalisation exercise is complete.

The Group has two UK defined contribution retirement benefit schemes. There were no contributions cutstandingin respect of these schemes at
31 December 2021 (2020: £nil). The total UK defined contrbution pension charge for the year was £1.4m (2020: £1.2m).

The Group has defined benefit retirement obligations in Germany and Austria. Under these schemes, employees are entitled to retirement benefits on
attainment of a retirement age of 65, provided they have either five or ten years of employment with the Group, depending on the area or fiefd they are
working in. The amount of berefit payable depends on the grade of the employee and the number of years of service. Benefits under these schemes only
apply to employees who joined the Group prior to 1897. These defined benefit retirement obligations are funded on the Group's balance sheet and
obligations are met as and when required by the Group.
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32 Retirement benefit liabilities continued

The Group has a number of end of service schemes in the Middle East as required by local laws and regulations. The amount of benefit payable depends
on the current salary of the employee and the number of years of service. These retirement obligations are funded on the Group's balance sheetand
obligations are met as and when required by the Group.

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for employees in North America, where the Group is required to match employee contributions up to
acertain level in accordance with the scheme rules. The total North America pension charge for the year was £6.4m (2020: £5.9m).

In Australia, there is a defined contribution schame where the Group Is required to ensure that & prescribed level of superannuation support of an
employee's notiona) base earnings is made. This prescribed Jevel of support is currently 10.0% (2020: 9 5%). The total Australian pension charge for the

yearwas £3.8m (2020: £3.1m).

Details of the Group's defined benefit schemes are as follows:

The Keller The Keller German®, German ',

Group Pension Group Pension Austrianand Austnanand

Scheme (UK} Scherne (UK) other schemes other schames

2021 2020 2021 2020

£m Em €m £m

Present value of the scheme liabilities (58.3) (65.0) (18.9) {219}
Fair value of assets 63.7 58.0 - ~
Surplus/(deficit} in the scheme 5.4 17.0) {18.9) {219)
Irrecaverabile surplus (12.2} (2.2} - -
Net defined benefit liability {6.8} 9.2} {18.9) (21.9)

1 Included inthis balance 1s £3.0m (20240 £2 3m) in relation to the end of service schemes in the Middle East

For the Keller Group Pension Scheme, based on the net deficit of the Schermne as at 31 December 2021 and the committed payments under the Schedule
of Contributions agreed on 17 November 2020, there s anotional surplus of £12.2m {2020 £2.2m). Management is of the view that, based on the
Scheme rules, it does not have an unconditional right to a refund of a surplus under IFRIC 14, and therefore an additional balance sheet liability inrespect of
a ‘minimum funding requirerment’ has been recognised. The minimum funding requirement is caiculated using the agreed contributions of £2.7m a year
with effact from 1 January 2021, increasing by 3.6% per annum on 1 January going forward to 5 August 2024. The contributions will be reviewed following
the next actuarial review to be prepared as at 5 April 2023,

The value of the Scheme liabilities has been deterrmined by the actuary using the following assumptions:

The Kelfer The Kelfer German and German and

Group Pension Group Pansion Austrian Austaan

Scheme (UK] Scherme (UK) schemes schemes

2021 2020 2021 2020

% % % %

Discount rate 2.0 1.2 0.8 0.3
Interest on assets 2.0 1.2 - -
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.5 24 2.0 2.0
Rate ofincrease in pensions in deferment 2.9 2.7 3.2 1.6

Rate of inflation 3.5 33 3.2 16
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The martality rate assumptions are based on published statistics. The average remaining life expectancy, in years, of a pensioner retiring at the age of 65 at the
balance sheet date1s:

The Keller The Keller German and Gerrman and

Group Penslon Group Pension Austrian Austrtan

Scheme (UK} Scheme (UK} schemes schemes

2021 2020 2021 2020

Male currently aged 65 21.0 20.9 19.5 15.4

Fermale currently aged 65 23.3 23.3 22.8 22.8
The assets of the schemes were as follows:

The Keller Thekaller German, German,

Group Pension Group Pension Austrian and Austnanand

Scheme (UK) Scherne (UK) other schemes other schemes

2021 2020 2021 2020

£m £m £m £m

Equities 16.8 17.5 - -

Target return funds’ 8.1 14.5 - -

Gilts - 101 - -

Bonds 19.7 10.0 - -

Liability driven investing {LDI} portfolios? 15.9 - - -

Cash 3.2 0.1 - -

63.7 52.2 - -

1
2

A diversified growth fund split. between mainly UK Iisted equities, bonds and alternative investmants which are capped at 20% of the total fund

A portfolic of gilt and swap contracts, backed by investment-grade credit nstrurments, that is designed ta hedge the majority of the interest rate and inflat:on risks associated with the Schernes’

obligatrons
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32 Retirement benefit liabilities continued

The Keller The Kelier German', Germary,
Group Pension Group Pension Austrianand Austrianand
Scheme (UK) Scheme (UK} other schemes othet schemes
2021 2020 2071 2020
£m £m £m £m
Changes in scheme liabilities
Cpening balance {65.0) (60.4) {21.9) (20.7)
Current service cost - - (0.6) ©.7
Interest cost {0.8) (1.2) (0.1} 0.1}
Benefits paid 2.1 7 1.5 1.2
Exchange movements - - 1.0 0.8
Experience ioss on defined benefit obligation - (0.4) - -
Changes to demographic assumptions {o.6} 27 - -
Changes to financial assumptions 6.0 5.4} 1.2 0.8}
Closing balance {58.3} 65.0) (18.9) (21.9)
Changes in scheme assets
Opening balance 58.0 52.2 - -
Interest on assets 0.7 1.0 - -
Administration costs 10.2) (0.2 - -
Ermployer contributions 2.7 2.6 - -
Benefts paid [2.1) (3.7} - -
Return on plan assets less interest 4.6 6.1 - -
Closing balance 63.7 58.0 - -
Actual return on scheme assets 5.3 71 - -
Statement of comprehensive inceme
Returnon planassetslessinterest 4.6 6.1 - -~
Experience loss on defined benefit obligation - 0.4} - ~
Changes to demographic assumptions {o.6} 2.7 - -
Changes to financial assurmptions 6.0 (9.4} 1.2 (0.81
Change in irrecoverable surplus (10.0] 0.4 - -
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans - 1.4 1.2 (0.8]
Cumulative remeasurements of defined benefit plans (25.6] (25.6) (9.2} {10.4)
Expense recoghised in the income statement
Current service cost - - 0.6 0.7
Administration costs c.2 0.2 - -
Operating costs 0.2 0.2 0.6 0.7
Net pensioninterest cost 0.1 0.2 0.1 c1
Expense recegnisedin the income statement 0.3 0.4 0.7 0.8
Movements in the balance sheet liability
Net liability at start of year 9.2 10.0 21.9 207
Expense recognisedin the income statement 0.3 0.4 0.7 0.8
Employer contributions 2.7 2.6} - -
Benefits pad ~ - (1.5} (1.2)
Exchange movements - - {1.0} 0.8
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans - 1.4 1.2) Q.8
Net liability at end of year 6.8 9.2 18.9 219

1 Other compnses end of service schemes inthe Middle East of £3 0m (2020, £2.3m).

A reduction in the discount rate of 0. 1% would increase the deficit in the schemes by £1.1m, whilst a reduction in the inflation assumption of 0.1%,
including its impact on the revaluation in deferrnent and pension increases in payment, would decrease the deficit by £0.7m. A decrease in the mortality
rate bv one vear would decrease the deficitin the schemes bv £1.4m. Note that these sensitivities do not include end of service schemes in the Middle
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The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is approximately 17 years for the UK scheme and 11 yaars for the German and Austrian

schemes. The history of experience agustments on scheme assets and liabilities for all the Group's defined benefit pension schemes, including the end of
service schemes in the Middle East, are as follows:

2021 2020 2019 2ms 2017

£m Erm £m £m Em

Present value of defined benefit obligation {77.2) (86.9) {81.1) {71.7) (75.3)
Fair vaiue of scheme assets 63.7 580 52.2 45.2 46.1
Deficit in the schemes {13.5) {28.9) (28.9) (26.5) {29.2)
Irrecoverable surplus (12.2) 2.2) (1.8) (1.4) -
Net defined benefit liability (25.7} {31.1) (z0.7) (27.9) (29.2)
Experience adjustments on scherne liabilities 6.6 (7.9) (8.2} 37 (1.8)
Experience adjustments on scheme assets 4.6 6.1 5.4 (1.5) 3.2

33 Non-controlling interests

Financial information of subsidiaries that have a material non-controlling interest is provided below:

Name Country of incorparation 2021 2020
Keller Fondations Speciales SPA Algeria 49% 49%
Keller Turki Company Limited Saudi Arabia 35% 5%

Please refer to note 9 of the company accounts for the registered addresses.

Loss attributable to non-controlling Interests:

2021 2020
£m Erm
Keller Fondations Speciales SPA (Q.5) {0.6)
Keller Turki Company Limited {0.3) 11.0)
Other interests (0.1) 0.2
{0.9) (1.4)
Share of net assets of nen-controlling interests:
2021 2020
€m £m
Keller Fondations Speciales SPA 2.9 3.5
Keller Turki Company Limited {0.3} 0.1
Other interasts 0.2 0.1

2.8 37
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33 Non-controlling interests continued

Aggregate amounts relating to material non-controlling interests:

071 2020
&m £m
Keller Keller Turki Keller Keller Turki
Fondations Company Fondationsg Company
Speciales SPA Limited Speciales SPA Limited
Revenue 0.9 4.2 08 1.5
Operating costs {1.2} {4.5) {1.4) {2.5)
Operating loss {0.3} {0.3) (0.6) (1.0
Finance costs - - - -
Loss before taxation {0.3} {0.3} 0.6} 1.0}
Taxation {0.2) - - -
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests (0.5) {0.3) (0.6} {1.0
2021 2020
£m £m
Keller Keller Turki Keller Keller Tyrki
Fondations Company Fondations Company
Speciales 5PA Limited Speciales SPA Lirited
Non-current assets 0.9 0.7 1.2 09
Current assets 2.8 2.4 40 1.0
Current hiabilities 0.8} {2.8} (L7 (1.1
Non-current liabilities - 9.6} - 0.7}
Share of net assets/{liabilities) 2.9 {0.3) 35 [¢R}

34 Post balance sheet events

On 15 February 2022, an agreement was reached with the vendor of RECON Services Inc. to finalise the amount of contingent consideration payable
in respect of the acquisition made in July 2021. A final settlement amount of £8.7m (US$11.7mi) was agreed in respect of the remaining contingent
consideration payable and other liabilihes arising from the sale and purchase agreement. This represents a non-adjusting post balance sheet event
under IFRS. The change in fair value of the contingent consideration between the 31 December 2021 balance sheet date and the agreement reached
on 15 February will be reflected in the income staterment for the period ending 31 December 2022,
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021
2021 2020

Naote £m Em
Assets
Investments 2 513.9 513.9
Deferred tax assets 0.3 0.6
QOther assets 3 2.8 5.4
Non-current assets 517.0 519.9
Armounts owed by subsidiary undertakings:
—Amounts falling due within one year 0.2 Q0.5
- Amounts falling due after one year 55.6 130.5
Current tax assets 3.6 -
Trade and other debtors 4 0.8 11
Cash and bank balances 10.9 0.8
Current assets 71.1 132.9
Liabilities
Bank and otherlcans - (37.3)
Trade and other creditors 5 (10.5) (8.5)
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings {0.4) {0.3)
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (10.9}) 46.1)
Net current assets 60.2 86.8
Total assets less currentliabilities 577.2 606.7
Bank and othericans (56.4) {72.2)
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings (44.2} (45.6)
Other creditors 6 (6.2} (5.4)
Pension liabilities 8 (0.8} 1.1)
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year {107.6} {124.3)
MNet assets 469.6 482.4
Capital andreserves
Calledup share capital 7.3 7.3
Share premium account 38.1 381
Capital redemption reserve 7.6 76
Otherreserve 56.9 56.9
Retained earnings 359.7 3725
Shareholders’ funds 469.6 482.4

The company’s profit for the year was £12.9rm {2020: £13.8m).

These financial staternents were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 7 March 2022,

They were signed on its behalf by:

’ "
Michael Speakman
Chief Executive Officer

LLIFJ o %mj’ %\‘“’*

David Burke
Chief Financial Officer
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Financial Statements

Share Capital

Shars arermium redempt.on Other Hedging Retained Total

caputal account respove reserve reserve earmNgs equity

£m £m £m £m £m Em £m

At 1 January 2020 7.3 381 7.8 56.9 ~ 382.6 492.5
Profit for the year - - - - -~ 13.8 13.8
Cash fiow gains takento equity - - - - 0.5 - 0.5
Cash flow hedge transferred to income staternent - - - - {Q.51 - (0.5)
Remeasurermnent of defined benefit pension schemes - - - - - (0.1) (0.1}
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 137 13.7
Dividends - - - - - (25.9 {25.9)
Share-based payments - - - - - 21 2.1
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 73 381 7.6 56.9 - 372.5 482.,4
Profit for the year - - - - - 129 12.9
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension schemes - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 129 128
Dividends - - - - - (25.9) (25.9)
Purchase of own shares for ESOP trust - - - - - 3.7 (3.7)
Share-based payments - - - - - 39 3.9
At 31 Daecember 2021 1.3 38.1 7.6 56.9 - I59.7 469.6

Details of the capital redermption reserva and the other reserve are included in nate 27 of the consolidated financial staternents,

Details of the shares held by the Keller Group Employee Benefit Trust and the share-based payment scheme are included in note 31 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Ofthe retained earnings, an amount of £236.8m (2020: £236.8r) attributable to profits arising on an intra-group reorganisation fs not distributabie.
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Notes to the company financial statements

1 Principal accounting pelicies
Basis of preparation

The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’). The company meets the definition of
a qualifying entity under FRS 100 {'Financial Reparting Standard 1007 issued by the Financial Reporting Council and reports under FRS 101,

Except as noted below, the company’s accounting policies are consistent with those described in the consolidated financial statements of Keller Group plc.
As permitted by FRS 101, the company has taken advantage of the disclosure exernptions available under that standard in relation to share-based
payments, financialinstruments, capital management, presentation of a cash flow statemcent, related party transactions and comparative information,
Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, disclosures in relation to share capital (hote 27) and
dividends (note 12) have not been repeated here as there are no differences to those provided in the consolidated financial statements.

These company financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention. The financial statements
are presented in pounds sterling, which is the company's functional currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand, expressedin
millions to one decimal point, except when otherwise indicated.

Profit of the parent company

The company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Act and consequently the staterment of comprehensive income (including the profit and loss
account} of the parent cormpany is not presented as part of these accounts. The profit after tax of the parent cormpany for the financial year amounted to
£12.9m {2020: £13.8m,).

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

The cornpany holds inter-campany loans with subsidiary undertakings with repayment dates being a mixture of repayable on demand or repayable on a
fixed contractual date. These inter-company loans are disclosed on the face of the balance sheet. None are past due norimpaired. The carrying value of
these loans approximates their fair valye, The expected creditloss on these loans with subsidiary undertakings is expected to be immatenial, both on initial
recognition and subsequently.

Financial instruments

Details of the company's risk managerment processes and hedge accounting are included in the disclosures in nate 25 te the consolidated financial
statements.

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate. provisions for impairment.

Audit fees

The company has taken the exermnption granted under 51 2008/485 not to disclose non-audit fees paid to 1ts auditors as these are disclosed inthe
consolidated financial staternents,

Employees

The company has no employees other than the Directors. The remuneration of the Executive Directors is disclosed in the audited section of the
Remuneration palicy report on pages 102 to 111. Fees payable to Non-executive Directors totalled £0.5m (2020: £0.5m).

2 Investments
2021 2020
£m Em
Shares at cost
At 1 January 513.9 513.9
Aliowances for impairment - -
At 31 December 513.9 5139

The company's investments are included in note 9.
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3 Other assets
2021, 2020
£m £Em
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 2.6 5.4
Other assets 0.2 -
2.8 5.4
4 Trade and other debtors
2021 2020
£m £m
Other receivables 0.2 c.2
Prepayments 0.6 0.1
Fair value of derivative financial instruments - 0.8
0.8 1.1
5 Trade and other creditors
2021 2020
£m £m
Trade creditors and accruals 10.5 83
Accrued interest -~ 02
10.5 8.5
6 Other creditors
2021 2020
£m Em
Other creditors 6.2 5.4
6.2 5.4

7 Contingent liabilities

The company and certain of its subsidiary undertakings have entered a number of guarantees in the ordinary course of business, the effects of which are
to guarantee or cross-guarantee certain bank borrowings and other liabilities of other Group companies At 31 December 2021, the company's hability in
respect of the guarantees against bank borrowings amounted to £140.2m (2020: E70.4rm). In addition, outstanding standby letters of credit and surety
bonds for the Group's captive insurance arrangements totalied £26.5m (2020 £25.4m).

{n addition, as set out in note 9, the company has provided a guarantee of certain subsidiaries’ liabilities to take the exemnption from having to prepare
individual accounts under sac